

Developing nursing students' evaluative judgement: exploring the pedagogical concept in nursing education

By

Bridget Henderson

Master of Nurse Practitioner BSc Hons Nursing Practice

Thesis Submitted to Flinders University for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

College of Nursing and Health Sciences 21^{2t} February 2025

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS	I
ABSTRACT	VI
DECLARATION	Х
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	XI
PUBLICATIONS AND CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS	XII
ARISING FROM THIS THESIS	XII
Publications:	xii
Conference presentations:	xiii
LIST OF FIGURES	XIV
LIST OF TABLES	XV
DEFINITION OF TERMS	XVII
CHAPTER ONE	1
MY POSITION IN THE RESEARCH	1
1.1 My research journey	1
1.2 Declaration of my position in the research	2
1.2.1 My world view and teaching philosophy	3
1.2.2 Social and cognitive constructivism	3
1.3 Scope and structure of the thesis	5
1.4 Chapter summary	6
CHAPTER TWO	8
BACKGROUND	8
2.1 Nurse education and accreditation in Australia	8
2.1.1 Industry expectations and work ready graduates	9
2.1.2 Nursing qualifications	11
2.2 Assessment	14
2.2.1 Assessment for, as, and of learning	14
2.2.2 The challenges of self-assessment	16
2.2.3 Authentic assessment: clinical practice	17
2.3 Feedback	19
2.3.1 Feedback a partnership, or a hierarchy of telling?	
2.3.2 Authentic, sustainable feedback – students as active participants	
2.4 Evaluative Judgement	22
2.4.1 Developing evaluative judgement; why it is important in nursing	
2.4.2 Previous literature on developing evaluative judgement	24
2.5 The objective and significance of this program of research	
2.6 Summary	
CHAPTER THREE	

METHODOLOGY	
3.1 Philosophical foundations: constructivism and pragmatism	
3.2 Constructivism and pragmatism: A framework guiding the research	
3.3 Overview of methodological approaches used in the studies	40
3.4 Strengths and limitations of the methodologies used	41
3.5 Conclusion	43
CHAPTER FOUR	44
POSTGRADUATE NURSING STUDENTS' PERCEPTIONS OF CONSENSUS MARKI ONLINE ORAL VIVAS: A QUALITATIVE STUDY.	NG WITH 44
4.1 Additional context	45
4.1.1 Postgraduate emergency nursing students	45
4.2 Abstract	46
4.3 Introduction	47
4.3.1 Background	47
4.4 Methods	49
4.5 Online viva and consensus marking approach	
4.6 Data collection	53
4.7 Results	54
4.7.1 Student perceptions of an online oral viva exam	54
4.7.2 Student perceptions of consensus marking as a grading method	55
4.8 Discussion	56
4.8.1 Limitations	59
4.8.2 Implications	60
4.9 Conclusion	60
References	62
CHAPTER FIVE	69
CONSENSUS MARKING AS A GRADING METHOD FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF EVALUATIVE JUDGEMENT: COMPARING ASSESSOR AND STUDENTS	
5.1 Abstract	71
5.2 Background	72
5.3 Methods	75
5.3.1 Design	75
5.3.2 Ethics	75
5.3.3 Participants and setting	75
5.3.4 Oral viva grading methods	76
5.4 Data collection	77
5.4.1 Anxiety	78
5.4.2 Satisfaction	79
5.5 Procedure	80
5.6 Data management and analysis	81
5.6.1 Student Perceptions	81

5.6.2 Anxiety and satisfaction	82
5.7 Results	82
5.7.1 Participant characteristics	82
5.7.2 Perceptions	83
5.7.3 Questionnaires	88
5.8 Discussion	89
5.9 Study strengths and limitations	91
5.10 Conclusion	91
References	92
CHAPTER SIX	97
DEVELOPING STUDENT NURSES' EVALUATIVE JUDGEMENT IN CLINICAL PRACTICE TERTIARY EDUCATION: A SYSTEMATIC SCOPING REVIEW OF TEACHING AND ASSESSMENT METHODS	98
6.1 Additional context	99
6.2 Abstract	. 101
6.3 Background	. 102
6.4 Method	. 107
6.4.1 Search strategy	. 107
6.4.2 Study screening and selection	. 109
6.4.3 Eligibility criteria	. 109
6.5 Data extraction	. 110
6.5.1 Data synthesis	. 111
6.6 Results	. 112
6.6.1 Results of individual studies: teaching methods in clinical practice education	. 113
6.6.2 Evaluative judgement: teaching methods in clinical practice education	. 114
6.6.3 Results of individual studies: assessment methods in clinical practice education	. 120
6.6.4 Evaluative judgement: assessment methods in clinical practice education	. 121
6.7 Discussion	. 125
6.8 Implications	. 129
6.9 Strengths and limitations	. 129
6.10 Conclusions	. 130
References	. 131
CHAPTER SEVEN	. 148
EXPLORING STUDENT, ACADEMIC AND CLINICAL EDUCATOR PERSPECTIVE OF FEEDBACK AS A PROCESS TO DEVELOP NURSING STUDENTS' EVALUATIVE JUDGEMENT IN CLINICAL PRACTICE EDUCATION: A QUALITATIVE STUDY	148
7 1 Abstract	150
7.2 Introduction	152
7.2.1 The importance of developing evaluative judgement	152
7 3 Methods	156
7.3.1 Design	156
7.3.2 Participants	157
	07

7.3.3 Procedure	157
7.4 Thematic analysis	160
7.5 Results	166
7.6 Discussion	170
7.7 Practice implications and future research	173
7.8 Strengths and limitations	174
7.9 Conclusion	175
References	176
CHAPTER EIGHT	185
DISCUSSION	185
8.1 My position in the research	185
8.1.1 Summary of the program of research	186
8.2 Strategies to develop postgraduate nursing students' evaluative judgement	191
8.2.1 Potential strategies to develop evaluative judgement in the postgraduate context	194
8.3 Developing undergraduate nursing students' evaluative judgement	195
8.4 Strengths and limitations of the program of research	201
8.5 Suggestions for future research	203
8.6 Recommendations	204
8.7 Conclusion	206
REFERENCES	207
APPENDICES	255
Appendix 2.1 Detailed Search Strategy	255
Appendix 2.2 Critical Appraisal Tables 1 - 4	256
Appendix 4.1 Authorship Declaration	259
Appendix 4.2 Journal Permission	261
Appendix 4.3 PDF Manuscript	262
Appendix 4.4 Mapping categories and initial codes to the final themes and examples of development	theme 263
Appendix 4.5 Ethics Approval	266
Appendix 4.6 Consent Form	269
Appendix 4.7 Participant Information	270
Appendix 5.1 Authorship Declaration	273
Appendix 5.2 Journal Permission	275
Appendix 5.3 PDF Manuscript	277
Appendix 5.4 Ethics Approval	278
Appendix 5.5 Consent Form	280
Appendix 5.6 Participant Information	281
Appendix 6.1 Authorship Declaration	283
Appendix 6.2 Journal Permission	285
Appendix 6.3 PDF Manuscript	207
	207

Appendix 6.5 Included studies assessment methods in clinical practice education (n	=18) 295
Appendix 7.1 Authorship Declaration	
Appendix 7.2 Ethics Approval	
Appendix 7.3 Consent Form	
Appendix 7.4 Participant Information	

Abstract

On graduation, Australian nursing students gain registration with the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia (NMBA) and enter a professional regulated workforce. It is incumbent on higher education providers to equip students with requisite skills, knowledge, and capabilities to prepare them for the transition from student to healthcare professional. An important capability is evaluative judgement where a person can make decisions about the quality of their and others' work. This capability is important for Registered nurses who need to make decisions about the quality of their and others clinical practice and recognise when they need future education or training. Registered nurses who can reflect on their clinical practice and identify where their knowledge deficits are, demonstrate competencies of a self-regulated, lifelong learner.

How educators develop students' evaluative judgement is mainly theoretical, with few studies exploring the practical application of the theory. Self/peer-assessment, peer feedback and feedback conversations have been suggested as approaches that have potential to develop students' evaluative judgement. Using exemplars or rubrics to show students what quality work looks like has also been investigated as potential avenues. Exemplars or rubrics are potential means by which students can benchmark their understanding of the required standard, comparing their work and making judgements on it merit.

Developing students' evaluative judgement supports the NMBA standards for practice through fostering reflexive practice. The concept of evaluative judgement is new to nursing education and no primary studies have been found that explore the practical application of the theoretical pedagogy in nursing curricula. To address this gap, the studies presented in this thesis aimed to explore the development of evaluative judgement in nursing education, both theoretical and practical components.

Program of research

The central research question guiding this program of research is: What are the possible strategies to develop students' evaluative judgement in undergraduate and postgraduate nursing education? A constructivist framework underpinned the design of the research by supporting the idea that students' evaluative judgment emerges through active participation, critical thinking, and the integration of prior knowledge with new experiences, all within authentic learning contexts. This program of research was undertaken in a series of four studies. Three of these studies are published in Quartile 1 peer-reviewed journals (Chapters Four to Six), with the final study (Chapter Seven) currently under review. The publications are included in the thesis as Word documents, consistent with Flinders University policy, inclusive of their respective reference lists. A reference list for the entire thesis is also included after Chapter Eight.

The first two studies in the thesis explored the practical application of developing evaluative judgement in postgraduate emergency nursing students. Study one is a peer reviewed publication that explored postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas following a retrospective thematic analysis. This study explored a new approach to grading oral viva exams using consensus marking. The design of the consensus marking approach was underpinned by the theoretical concepts of developing evaluative judgement. The findings of this study confirmed that this approach facilitated reflection, self-evaluation, and feedback dialogue. Study two is a peer reviewed publication exploring and comparing two different assessment grading methods for postgraduate nursing students, consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement and traditional grading methods. A convergent mixed methods parallel research design was used to compare the two grading methods. The findings of this study identified that students' anxiety levels were lower, and satisfaction levels were higher when students engaged in consensus marking versus traditional grading methods. The findings of

these two studies suggested that online oral vivas using consensus marking is an assessment and grading method that provides opportunities for students to develop their evaluative judgement.

Embedding the concept of developing evaluative judgement in the undergraduate nursing program was more complex and required careful consideration. Undergraduate nursing student demographics, and exposure to the nursing profession is very different to postgraduate nursing students. In addition, the large student numbers in undergraduate nursing programs meant that while consensus marking was a successful assessment method in postgraduate students, it was not necessarily generalisable or practical for the undergraduate cohort. Therefore, studies three and four in the program of research shifted focus to exploring foundational concepts in developing evaluative judgement at the undergraduate nursing level.

Study Three produced a peer reviewed publication following a systematic scoping review of the literature. This foundational work explored the features that aligned with developing evaluative judgement in nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment methods. The identification of important aspects of developing evaluative judgement were examined in the literature. The findings highlight that the evaluative judgement features of discerning quality and feedback were well embedded in nursing clinical teaching and assessment methods. However, the judgement process and calibration were rarely included. The review also identified that 41% of clinical practice education feedback is verbal and it was not reported whether the self-evaluation was reviewed in the feedback process. This finding suggests that there is a missed opportunity to facilitate students' understanding of what quality work looks like. The results of the systematic scoping review informed the fourth and final study, exploring feedback in undergraduate clinical practice.

Study four, explored feedback as a process to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement in clinical practice education. This qualitative study applied the Co-creating Knowledge Translation framework (Co-KT) to explore student, academic, and clinical educator perspectives of

feedback as a process to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement in clinical practice education. This study highlighted that student, academic and clinical educator perceptions of good feedback practice was closely aligned to the concepts of developing evaluative judgement. When feedback practice was reported by participants as working well, the feedback process described had embraced aspects necessary to develop evaluative judgement. Feedback that facilitates the development of evaluative judgement has potential to improve the quality of nursing clinical education and develop students' lifelong learning capabilities.

Significance

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first program of research that has explored possible strategies to embed the concepts of developing evaluative judgement in nursing curricula. The findings add to the understanding and practical application of the theoretical concepts of evaluative judgement in nursing education and provide a foundation from which further research and practice can explore this important capability.

Declaration

I certify that this thesis does not incorporate without acknowledgment any material previously submitted for a degree or diploma in any university; and the research within will not be submitted for any other future degree or diploma in any university; and that to the best of my knowledge and belief, does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text.

Bridget Henderson

Date: 21st February 2025

Acknowledgements

Completing this PhD would not have been possible without the unwavering support of my supervisors, Flinders University, and my husband.

First, I extend my deepest gratitude to my supervisors, Professor Lucy Lewis, Professor Lucy Chipchase and Professor Robyn Aitken. Their guidance, knowledge, and encouragement have been exceptional. I have been incredibly fortunate to learn from them as they expertly steered me through the complexities and challenges. I am forever indebted to them for helping me develop as a researcher, and continually pushing me to think deeply about the "so what" and the "why".

I would also like to express my sincere appreciation to the leadership team at the College of Nursing and Health Sciences at Flinders University. The Collage's generous "College Scholar" scholarship, which I was honoured to receive, provided me with the invaluable time and space to focus on my research. I am certain without this scholarship, completing this PhD would have been far more difficult if not impossible. For their financial support and belief in my ability, as the inaugural College Scholar, I remain eternally grateful.

To my dear and loving husband, David Hooper, thank you. Your faith in my ability to complete this PhD never wavered, even during the times when my confidence faltered. You patiently listened to every challenge that I faced, you read every draft of my work, well enough to convince me! Your encouragement, your steadfast support, cooking of most dinners, and taking our dog Sarg out to go fishing when I needed space to focus, were critical in keeping me moving forward. I will forever be grateful for your love and understanding.

Finally, thank you to all the participants who volunteered their time and engaged in the research contained in this thesis, without them none of this would be possible.

Publications and conference presentations arising from this thesis

Publications:

- Henderson, B., Aitken, R., Lewis, L. K., & Chipchase, L. (2021). Postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas: A qualitative study. Nurse Education Today, 101, 104881–104881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104881
- Henderson, B., Chipchase, L., Aitken, R., & Lewis, L. K. (2022). Consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement: Comparing assessor and students. Nurse Education in Practice, 63, 103386–103386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2022.103386
- Henderson, B., Chipchase, L., Golder, F., & Lewis, L. K. (2023). Developing student nurses' evaluative judgement in clinical practice tertiary education: A systematic scoping review of teaching and assessment methods. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 73, 103818–103818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2023.103818

Manuscript under review:

Henderson, B., Aitken, R., Chipchase, L. & Lewis, L. K., (2024). Exploring student, academic and clinical educator perspective of feedback as a process to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement in clinical practice education: a qualitative study

Conference presentations:

*Denotes presenting author

*Henderson, B., Chipchase, C., Aitken, R. & Lewis, L. Consensus Marking: Building an Educational Alliance and Fostering Evaluative Judgement.

Oral presentation at the 9th International Clinical Skills Conference (ICSC) 22nd May 2023 Prato, Tuscany.

*Henderson, B., Chipchase, C., Aitken, R. & Lewis, L. Consensus Marking: Building an Educational Alliance and Fostering Evaluative Judgement.

Oral presentation at the Higher Education Research Group Adelaide (HERGA) 26th of Sept 2023 Adelaide South Australia.

*Henderson, B., Chipchase, C., Aitken, R. & Lewis, L. Cultivating innovation by developing nursing students' evaluative judgement in clinical practice education.

Oral presentation at the Australian & New Zealand Association for Health Professional Educators (ANZAHPE) 3rd of July 2024

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Thesis overarching question, aims and objectives	7
Figure 4.1 Case based scenarios used for the online oral viva	51
Figure 4.2 Oral Viva Consensus Marking Rubric	52
Figure 6.1 PRISMA Flow diagram	112
Figure 7.1 Workshop schedules and alignment with Co-KT Framework steps	158
Figure 7.2 Pre-workshop 1 online survey results	159
Figure 8.1 Thesis structure	190
Figure 8.2 Recommendations	205

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Meeting industry and regulatory requirements by developing evaluative judge	ment in
nursing education	24
Table 2.2 Summary of primary evidence exploring the concept of evaluative judgement	26
Table 2.3 Summary of secondary evidence exploring the concept of evaluative judgeme	ent28
Table 5.1 Interview guide	77
Table 5.2 Exam Anxiety Scale (EAS)	79
Table 5.3 Satisfaction in Oral Viva Assessment Scale (SOVAS)	80
Table 5.4 Initial coding	83
Table 5.5 Anxiety and satisfaction outcomes over the two test occasions (assessor judg	gement and
consensus marking)	
Table 6.1 Statement of meaning and key features of evaluative judgement	105
Table 6.2 PCC Framework	107
Table 6.3 Search strategy (Ovid Medline)	
Table 6.4 Features of evaluative judgement identified in studies of teaching methods in	clinical
practice education (n=53)	115
Table 6.5 Features of evaluative judgement identified in studies of assessment method	s in clinical
practice education (n=18)	122
Table 7.1 Examples of methods that demonstrate the concepts of developing students'	evaluative
judgement	161
Table 7.2 Co-KT step 1: Framing the issue	162
Table 7.3 Co-KT steps 2 & 3: Refining and testing ideas, interpreting, contextualising, a	ind adapting
the knowledge base	
Table 7.4 Example of theme development	164

Table 8.1 The main findings of the studies exploring the concept of developing postgraduate	
students' evaluative judgement	192
Table 8.2 The main findings of the studies exploring the concept of developing undergraduate	
students' evaluative judgement	196
Table 8.3 Future research suggestions	203

Definition of terms

Term	Explanation
Academic	An educator and researcher or scholar employed at a university.
Assessment as learning	When students actively engage in the assessment process, using it to reflect on and guide their own learning.
Assessment for learning	Assessment conducted to inform and improve teaching and learning during the instructional process.
Assessment of learning	Evaluation that summarizes what students have learned, typically used for grading or certification.
Australian Health Practitioner Regulating Agency (Ahpra)	An agency that provides administrative support to the 15 legislated national health professional regulation boards to ensure that Australian registered health practitioners are suitably trained, qualified, and safe to practice.
Australian Nursing & Midwifery Accreditation Council (ANMAC)	An accreditation entity appointed by the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia to assess and accredit nursing and midwifery programs at universities.
Authentic assessment	A form of evaluation that focuses on measuring students' abilities through real-world tasks and activities that closely resemble the challenges they might face outside the classroom. Unlike traditional assessments, such as multiple-choice tests, authentic assessments require students to apply their knowledge and skills in practical, meaningful contexts. These assessments are designed to assess critical thinking, problem-solving, and the ability to transfer knowledge to new situations, rather than simply recalling facts. Examples of authentic assessment include projects, portfolios, presentations, and performances that require students to demonstrate their learning in ways that mirror real-life applications.
Clinical facilitator/mentor/ educator/preceptor	An educator who is a qualified nurse and is employed by the university or hospital to support students on clinical placements.

	The educator/facilitator may not possess formal teaching qualifications. May undertake formal assessment of students work.
Clinical placement/ professional placement	The component of the curriculum when a student engages in clinical practice under supervision in a hospital, clinic or surgery, or community setting such as nursing homes or home care.
Clinical practice education	Clinical practice educational activities include any direct intervention or treatment that is learnt through patient contact such as assessing blood pressure, medication administration, conducting a health or physical assessment, and therapeutic communication. Or indirect clinical practice activities such as leadership, documentation, or activities on behalf of the patient in the absence of the patient.
Clinical simulation	A method of teaching clinical skills that mimics the real clinical setting. Simulation can be conducted using manikins, actors, standardised patient scenarios. It is an educational process that can replicate clinical practices in a safe environment.
Consensus marking	A method of grading work using the key features of developing evaluative judgement.
Continual professional development (CPD)	Educational activities that are available to qualified nurses that are relevant to the clinical practice. These educational activities can range from a reflection of a journal article to a program of study such as advanced life support training. CPD is required for ongoing registration as a nurse and must be at least 20 hours per year for Registered nurses.
Course coordinator	The academic who is responsible for overseeing the implementation of a university course/program of study.
Enrolled nurse (EN)	An enrolled nurse holds a diploma qualification and is registered with the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia (NMBA). The EN must be supervised by a Registered nurse. The scope of a EN different to a Registered nurse.

Evaluative judgement	"the capability to make decisions about the quality of work of self
	<i>and others</i> " (Tai et al., 2018, p.5).
Feedback dialogue	Is an interactive process where learners and educators or peers exchange information and insights about performance, understanding, or work. This dialogue is aimed at enhancing learning, understanding, and improvement by discussing feedback openly and constructively. It's more than just receiving comments—it's an ongoing conversation that helps clarify expectations, identify strengths and areas for development, and foster a deeper understanding.
Formative	Ongoing assessment used to monitor student progress and
assessment	provide feedback during the learning process.
Graduate qualities / attributes	Statements of desirable graduate learning outcomes.
Nurse educator	A person who provides instruction or education to nursing
	students. Other terms include teacher and tutor.
Nursing & Midwifery board of Australia (NMBA)	The Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia is a legislated body
	that protects the public by ensuring that Australia's nurses and
	midwifes are suitably trained, qualified, and safe to practise.
Postgraduate (Post	A student who holds an initial qualification to practice as a nurse
entry level)	and is seeking additional specialised qualifications to further their
	professional career in nursing.
Registered Nurse	A person who has completed the prescribed education preparation,
(KN)	at university level and is registered under the Health Practitioner
	Regulation National Law as a Registered nurse in Australia.
Self-regulated	Refers to the process where learners take control of and manage
leanning	their own learning. This involves setting personal goals, monitoring
	their progress, and adjusting strategies as needed. An approach to
	effective learners.
Simulation	Simulation is a training method commonly used in nursing.
	Simulation exposes students to realistic clinical situations using
	mannequins, virtual reality or actors performing as patients.

Student agency	Refers to the capacity of students to take an active role in their own learning process. It involves students having the ability, autonomy, and responsibility to make decisions about their learning, set goals, monitor progress, and reflect on their outcomes. Student agency emphasizes self-direction, empowerment, and the development of critical thinking and problem-solving skills, allowing students to take ownership of their educational journey.
Summative assessment	Evaluation at the end of an instructional period to measure overall learning outcomes.
Supernumerary placement	The situation when a student engaging in a clinical placement/professional placement is not counted in the staffing numbers and is free to observe, learn and engage in clinical practice at the appropriate year level scope of practice.
Sustainable assessment	An assessment approach that focuses on long-term learning and encourages ongoing student development and reflection.
Technical And Further Education (TAFE)	TAFE colleges award Australian Qualifications Framework qualifications accredited in the Vocational Education and Training sector: Certificate I, Certificate II, Certificate III, Certificate IV, Diploma, Advanced Diploma, Graduate Certificate and Graduate Diploma qualifications. A Diploma is the qualification required for entry into practice as a Registered enrolled nurse. In many instances, the nursing Diploma studied at TAFE can be used as partial credit towards bachelor's degree-level university programs.
Tertiary education	Education provided post-secondary education. Other terms include university, or higher education and normally commences at the Australian Qualifications Framework qualification level 7 – bachelor's degree.
Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency (TEQSA)	An independent legislated body responsible for regulating and assuring the quality of all providers of higher education in Australia. The TEQSA Act 2011 established TEQSA as an agency.

The Higher Education Standards Framework (threshold standards) 2021 (HESF)	HESF sets out the requirements for higher education providers, entry to, and continued operations within, Australia's higher education sector.
Topic/subject/unit coordinator	Academic responsible for a topic within Flinders University course. The topic coordinators report to the course coordinator. A topic is also known as a subject, module or unit.
Undergraduate (entry to practice level)	A student who is enrolled in a nursing bachelor's degree an entry level qualification for the Registered nurse.

Chapter One

My position in the research

This chapter describes the context and factors that led me to embark on this program of research. A declaration of my position in the research, my world view, my role as a nurse educator and my teaching philosophy are then presented. Followed by an exploration of the philosophical stance that underpins the program of research. To conclude, an overview of the scope and structure of the thesis is presented. Throughout this thesis, when acknowledging my voice in the text, I have written in the first person. When I review literature and discuss scientific data, I have written in the third person.

1.1 My research journey

The end of the first semester of the academic year was fast approaching. I was the topic (unit/subject) coordinator and teacher of a postgraduate topic in an emergency nursing post graduate degree. I was also a topic coordinator of a second-year undergraduate topic that consisted of clinical based learning for the Bachelor of Nursing degree. I had a meeting arranged with a second-year undergraduate nursing student. The student had been informed that they had not passed the clinical placement, consequently, the student had requested to meet with me.

As an educator, I ensure that students completing their clinical placement meet the standards for practice outlined by the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia (NMBA, 2016). The standards for practice are the expectations of a nurse and inform the education standards for nursing students.

The student believed they had performed well on placement, meeting the required standard. The student had asked me to reconsider the grade. This student had passed the associated theory topic with 50% with a learning plan implemented two weeks into the six-week

clinical placement. A learning plan is additional support provided to students who are performing below the required standard. Feedback had been provided by many tutors and clinical educators throughout the semester, and additional support was provided through the learning plan. This concerned me and made me reflect that, despite multiple points of feedback, here I was sitting with this student in my office. The student had no insight into why they received a failed grade and was unable to identify where their performance fell below the required standard. Somewhat frustrated by the thought that this was not the first time I had encountered a student who lacked insight into their performance I asked myself:

"Did the student misunderstand the feedback?" or "Was the feedback ignored?", and "Why is the student's evaluation of their clinical performance so different from the clinical facilitators?"

Reflecting on that student encounter, I started thinking deeply and considered how I could make a difference for students like this. The encounter led me to commence this scholarly endeavour. I started this program of research because I wanted to improve students' insight into their own performance. And while I did not understand it at the time, my objective was to explore different ways to develop, a concept that I now know as, evaluative judgement.

1.2 Declaration of my position in the research

I trained as an Enrolled Nurse in South Africa and qualified with a hospital based vocational qualification. I moved to England and completed a university Bachelor of Nursing qualification and became a Registered nurse. In 2007, I emigrated to Australia and became an Australian citizen. I worked for 15 years as an emergency nurse in civilian hospitals and military settings in England and Australia. I maintain clinical currency as a reservist nursing officer in the Australian Defence Force with the rank of Captain. I am currently employed full time as a clinical teaching specialist in the College of Nursing and Health Sciences at Flinders University. I have worked at the same university for 12 years. During that time, I have taught into both undergraduate and postgraduate nursing courses. I have contributed significantly to the design and delivery of an emergency

nursing postgraduate course, the Master of Nurse Practitioner course, and the undergraduate nursing course. I coordinate five topics a year across the curriculum in the postgraduate and undergraduate nursing courses, and I am the Master of Nurse Practitioner course coordinator.

1.2.1 My world view and teaching philosophy

I acknowledge that my culture, gender, age, beliefs, values, education, and experiences influence the lens through which I view the world. My background influences the research choices I make and how I interpret data. Therefore, I present my world view and teaching philosophy for transparency around my potential biases.

At heart, I am a pragmatist seeking practical solutions to problems. I believe that knowledge is based on experiences and social interaction (Hickman et al., 2020), that life is dynamic, and change is constant. Accepting that experience and social interaction create knowledge, and that change brings new knowledge, I anticipate that the content that is included in my teaching material today may be superseded in the years to come, as research evidence and advances change clinical practice. Therefore, as an educator I do not see myself as a source of truth, rather my knowledge evolves as new information emerges, and as such, I espouse the value of lifelong learning. As a pragmatist, my approach to teaching and learning is practical, seeking to provide useful, authentic, and relevant learning experiences.

1.2.2 Social and cognitive constructivism

My teaching philosophy is based on social and cognitive constructivism (Irby, 2013), a pragmatic approach to teaching and learning (von Glasersfeld, 1989). As such, this program of research is underpinned by constructivist teaching and learning theory. The epistemological viewpoint of constructivism, as explored by Jean Piaget and John Dewey, is that learners construct meaning as they experience new information (Hickman et al., 2020). Therefore, I accept that knowledge is gained when learners make meaning of the experience, or new information, and that students are active participants in the learning process. Constructivist teaching and learning

focuses on students thinking about the new information, rather than focusing on delivering new information to students (Boghossian, 2006).

Social constructivist teaching and learning is practical, experiential, and collaborative (Ebo, 2018). A collaborative approach to teaching supports students to learn from each other, as would be seen in peer to peer learning or peer assessment activities. Social interaction is at the heart of cognitive growth and cognitive action is needed to learn and remember information (Kiven & Ristela, 2003). Cognitive development as explored in the collected works of L.S. Vygotsky (Rieber & Wollock, 1997), suggests that students' ability to independently solve problems is a better measure of the depth of their understanding. There have been suggestions that some students do not appreciate the cognitive demands of active learning and prefer to be passive recipients of knowledge (Zhang & Kou, 2012). However, adopting a content, teacher-focused approach, where teachers deliver information to students, provides superficial learning (Asikainen & Gijbels, 2017; Uiboleht et al., 2018). Whereas a deep learning, student-focused approach provides opportunities for students to reflect and explore their understanding (Asikainen & Gijbels, 2017; Uiboleht et al., 2018). A learning student-focused approach seeks to support students to gain meaningful and deep understanding of new knowledge (Mladenovici et al., 2022). A deeper understanding of knowledge means that students can apply their knowledge to new situations (Sugarman, 1987).

In summary, my approach to nurse education, and therefore the design of this program of research, is through the lens of pragmatism and constructivism where I see myself as a facilitator of learning rather than a didactic teacher.

1.3 Scope and structure of the thesis

The overarching research question of this thesis is: "What are the possible strategies to develop students' evaluative judgement in undergraduate and postgraduate nursing education?" Developing evaluative judgment in nursing curricula is a new concept and has not been extensively researched prior to this program of research.

The primary aim of this program of research was to explore various strategies for embedding the concept of developing evaluative judgment within postgraduate and undergraduate nursing curricula, as this is an emerging area of interest in the field. The focus of this program of research, therefore, was on identifying and understanding potential strategies, rather than evaluating their effectiveness, or translation to practice which were not within the scope of this thesis. Future research could build on the findings of this program of research by evaluating the outcomes of these strategies in practice, thereby contributing to a more comprehensive understanding of how to embed evaluative judgment in nursing education. This program of research is structured with four studies. Study one provided an opportunity to qualitatively explore existing data of a novel method of assessment called consensus marking. Consensus marking was an approach that sought to develop students' evaluative judgement. This first study provided foundational findings which were used to inform a prospective study, study two. Studies one and two (Chapters Four and Five) explore evaluative judgement in postgraduate nursing education in the form of an online viva assessment with consensus marking. While the approach proved effective in developing evaluative judgment in postgraduate students, it was not suitable for the undergraduate cohort due to higher student numbers and reduced time for assessment activities. Therefore, study three (Chapter Six) presents a systematic scoping review aimed at exploring the literature on teaching and assessment methods in clinical practice for both postgraduate and undergraduate nursing students and the presence of evaluative judgement. Finally, study four (Chapter Seven) explores feedback as a process to develop undergraduate nursing students'

evaluative judgement in clinical practice education. A summary of the thesis overarching question, aims and objectives is in Figure 1.1

1.4 Chapter summary

This chapter has provided the personal and contextual background that led me on this research journey and discussed my position in the research, my world view, and teaching philosophy. The philosophical stance of constructivist teaching and learning theory underpinning the program of research, and the scope and structure of the thesis was also discussed. The next chapter provides an overview of nurse education in Australia and critically reviews the current literature on assessment and feedback to provide context and to situate the research within nursing education. An explanation of the concept of evaluative judgement that informed the program of research is also presented.

Figure 1.1 Thesis overarching question, aims and objectives



Chapter Two

Background

This chapter contextualises the program of research by exploring and defining the central concepts. The primary studies in this program of research relate to the Australian context, therefore, an overview of university regulation and nursing education in the Australian setting is provided. This is followed by a review of current assessment and feedback practices in tertiary education, exploring how assessment and feedback can enhance or limit opportunities to develop reflective practice, critical thinking, and lifelong learning skills. Then, evaluative judgement is introduced as a pedagogical concept, outlining its origins, and exploring approaches to develop students' evaluative judgement. Finally, the objectives and significance of the program of research are presented, as well as the research questions.

2.1 Nurse education and accreditation in Australia

Entry to practice nursing education in Australia began as a vocational hospital-based training apprentice model in the early 1900's (Durdin, 2024). In the 1970s, the Commonwealth Government of Australia introduced a universal health scheme (known as Medicare), that included free hospital care for all citizens and a subsidised primary healthcare system (Lowe, 2020a). The introduction of the universal health scheme required a review of nurse education because hospital-based training was considered a significant financial burden (Blewett, 1985). A desire to improve nurse education, and relieve the financial burden on hospitals, resulted in the creation of nursing colleges offering nursing diplomas (Sax, 1979). In 1984, the Commonwealth Government, responsible for the higher education sector in Australia, supported a proposal that resulted in the transfer of nurse education from these colleges to universities (Blewett, 1985). Thus, universities began to offer undergraduate nursing degrees and by 1994; to be eligible for entry to practice as a Registered nurse, all candidates were trained in an accredited course situated within the higher

education setting (Lowe, 2020b). At the same time, the Diploma of Nursing qualifications continued, in Technical and Further Education (TAFE) colleges, and dual sector institutions, as entry to practice courses for registration as an Enrolled Nurse (Lowe, 2020b).

Under Australian national health professional registration and accreditation legislation nursing is a protected title (Storen & Ferris, 2023). This means that it is an offence to use the title of Registered nurse without the associated qualification and registration. Therefore, to be able to use the title of Registered nurse a person must complete an accredited nursing program of study. Accreditation of entry to practice nursing qualifications in Australian universities and TAFE is the responsibility of the Australian Nursing and Midwifery Accreditation Council (ANMAC), an entity appointed by the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia (NMBA) (ANMAC, 2024; NMBA, 2024). The NMBA details the minimum standard required of an institution offering entry to practice courses. Nursing students apply to the NMBA for registration as a Registered or Enrolled nurse on successful completion of their Bachelor of Nursing degree or Diploma of Nursing respectively, noting that some universities also offer graduate entry Master of Nursing course that leads to entry to practice and registration. In summary, nurse education has transitioned from vocational hospitalbased training to a TAFE Diploma (EN) or university degree (RN) level qualification. Whilst acknowledging the dual levels of nursing practice, this thesis focuses on Registered nurses.

2.1.1 Industry expectations and work ready graduates

An accredited program of study must meet national nursing education standards with curriculum designed in consultation with key stakeholders (ANMAC, 2024). The accreditation process of each program of study is designed to ensure that nurse graduates are prepared with the foundational skills, knowledge, and attributes to be employed as a nurse in a healthcare setting, guided by the national practice standards (ANMAC, 2024). Interestingly, Brooks and Morphet (2021) identified that while graduating Registered nursing students meet the national practice standards, they are not necessarily meeting expectations of industry to be "work-ready". Similarly, Harrison et al. (2020) explored key stakeholders, (n=67) expectations of work readiness in nursing

reporting that many and varied attributes are anticipated, such as critical thinking, confidence, resilience, commitment to learning, demonstration of safe practice and clinical competency, in addition to the ability to provide care guided by the national practice standards. This suggests that industry, professional regulators, and other key stakeholders' expectations of a graduate nurse is multidimensional (Harrison et al., 2020). The inconsistency between various stakeholders in interpreting work readiness or preparedness for practice requires collaboration and further research to find solutions (Masso et al., 2022). Divergent stakeholder expectations create a complex and often inconsistent standard for graduates to meet. As such, without a clear definition of "work readiness" the concept of what skills and knowledge a nursing graduate should possess on graduation, and entry to practice, will continue to present a challenge for curriculum development (Saghafi et al., 2023).

Graduate attributes

The concept of work readiness is not unique to nursing students. Universities responded to stakeholder requirements for work ready graduates with transferable skills by developing graduate attributes (Hill et al., 2016). Graduate attributes are qualities, skills, and knowledge that students should develop during their time studying at university (Wong et al., 2022). Graduate attributes are common in Australian, New Zealand and United Kingdom universities (Hill et al., 2016; Wong et al., 2022). Each university decides on a set of graduate qualities or attributes that their students should have on completion of their degree. For example, graduate attributes may be that students communicate effectively, work independently, or are critical thinkers and problem solvers. The most stated graduate attributes in Australian universities are self-awareness and lifelong learning (Wong et al., 2022). If students possess such graduate attributes they have potential to future-proof their knowledge and skills post-graduation and throughout their careers (Boud & Falchikov, 2007; Halttunen et al., 2014).

Recent studies have explored assessment and teaching activities that may create the conditions to foster some of the graduate attributes, such as, lifelong learning or critical thinking

10

(Howells et al., 2016; Schreck et al., 2020; Tan et al., 2022). However, uncertainty remains over how the attributes are contextualised in curriculum and if students apply the attributes once graduated (Aitken et al., 2019; Green et al., 2009).

2.1.2 Nursing qualifications

Within the Australian university sector, most universities offer two streams of nurse education for Registered nurses: undergraduate (entry level qualification) and postgraduate (post entry level qualification). Each will be discussed separately.

Undergraduate

An undergraduate Registered nursing student completes a Bachelor of Nursing degree as their entry to practice qualification (NMBA, 2024). The ANMAC requires that all undergraduate student nurses in Australia engage in theoretical learning and clinical placements (ANMAC, 2016). Clinical placements have also been termed work-integrated learning, professional placements, or workplace experiences (TEQSA, 2022). The clinical placement requirement stipulated by ANMAC is for students to complete a minimum of 800 hours of clinical practice (ANMAC, 2016). The 800 hours are provided as supervised supernumerary clinical placements (ANMAC, 2024). This means that students are not to be employed as part of the workforce while undertaking clinical placements, rather, they engage in facilitated learning activities in the clinical setting supervised by clinicians and educators.

Using Flinders University as an example of an accredited nursing bachelor's degree, students complete 1040 hours of clinical practice equating to 26 weeks of clinical placements. Simulation is not included in the 1040 hours of clinical practice. Students also engage in 600 hours of theoretical content delivered face to face or online. To achieve learning outcomes, they are expected to undertake approximately 1050 hours of self-directed learning activities. In this example, clinical placement represents more than half of students' learning interaction with educators, excluding self-directed learning, which includes preparation for tutorials, assignment

11

writing or completing online readings and quizzes (Zhang et al., 2022). A similar clinical placement to theory ratio is offered in other Australian universities, and universities in the United Kingdom, Canada, Norway, and other Western European countries (Harlow-Consulting, 2021; Johannessen et al., 2021; Warne et al., 2010).

One aim of clinical learning experiences is to prepare students for their future career with exposure to the authentic professional clinical environment. In the clinical environment, nursing students apply theory to practice with supervision from Registered nurses and clinical educators supporting students in the clinical setting. Clinical practice learning experiences include simulation and clinical placement, equipping nursing students with the skills that help them develop clinical competence (Courtney-Pratt et al., 2014). The aim of simulation is to teach students' clinical skills in a safe environment to prepare for clinical placement. In Australia, the use of simulation does not count towards the minimum of 800 hours of clinical practice required of undergraduate nursing programs (ANMAC, 2024).

Undergraduate nursing programs are foundational qualifications for students to enter the profession. Once registered and practicing as a nurse there are opportunities to specialise, such as, in emergency nursing or aged care. To provide for career progression and support safe, quality health care standards, universities offer postgraduate qualifications to meet employer and public expectations.

Postgraduate

Excepting for some graduate degrees that lead to registration, the majority of postgraduate nursing qualifications provide opportunities for Registered nurses to specialise in a particular field or gain research skills. Students enrolling in postgraduate nursing courses are often working in healthcare settings as Registered nurses (Deakin University, 2024; Flinders University, 2024). Postgraduate qualifications in Australia include, *a Graduate Certificate* (12 months of part-time study), *a Graduate Diploma* (12-18 months full-time), *a Master's degree* (12 – 24 months full-time)

and *a Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)* (36 - 48 months full-time). The postgraduate Certificates, Diplomas and Master's degrees in nursing are often professional and vocational in nature and are referred to as coursework degrees. Professional degrees are designed to prepare students for specific careers by providing the necessary skills and knowledge required in the industry. Vocational degrees focus on practical skills and training directly related to a particular occupation or trade. These programs are therefore referred to as coursework degrees, as they primarily involve structured academic courses and practical training rather than research-based learning. Nurses can also engage in a Master by Research or a PhD which involves a significant and independent research project.

While accreditation by ANMAC for undergraduate programs of study in nursing is robust, there are no regulatory requirements for most specialty postgraduate programs (McKenna et al., 2023). Apart from the Master of Nurse Practitioner, most postgraduate nursing degrees are not a pre-requisite for additional registration and therefore, are not accredited by ANMAC. For example, emergency or critical care nursing degrees do not require accreditation. In other cases, postgraduate courses are accredited by independent associations, such as the Australian Diabetes Educators Association, who accredit the postgraduate diabetes Graduate Diplomas.

Postgraduate qualifications provide Registered nurses with advanced and specialised knowledge and skills as they progress their careers, and postgraduate qualifications provide nurses with career advancement opportunities (Abu-Qamar et al., 2020). A recent systematic review (n=20 studies) suggests that the evidence to support postgraduate qualifications improving patient outcomes and improving nurses' practice is weak (Abu-Qamar et al., 2020). Whilst postgraduate education has potential to improve nurses' knowledge and skills, Abu-Qamar et al., (2020) suggest that more empirical evidence is required to support postgraduate qualifications advancing clinical practice roles, leadership positions and improving patient outcomes.

This section provided a brief overview of nursing education in Australia to provide the context for the program of research. The following section explores assessment an integral component of undergraduate and postgraduate nursing education.

2.2 Assessment

Assessment during a program of study is a function through which others can judge a nursing student's understanding, knowledge, and skill, and can offer learning opportunities. Nursing students must pass both academic and clinical assessments to successfully complete a Bachelor of Nursing degree. The following section explores the different types and functions of assessment, exploring how assessment can enhance or limit opportunities to develop reflective practice, critical thinking, and lifelong learning skills. Nursing students require these skills to make informed, evidence-based decisions in clinical settings, ensuring high-quality patient care and adapting to the ever-evolving healthcare environment (Khalil & Hashish, 2022). This is important background information to explore how assessment methods can be positioned to develop students' evaluative judgement.

2.2.1 Assessment for, as, and of learning

Formative assessment

Formative assessment was defined in Black and Wiliam (1998) seminal work as activities that provide feedback that informs future learning. Formative assessments designed **for learning** provide feedback that feeds forward to future work, supporting students to improve their future work. For example, students use feedback from the first assignment to inform the next assignment activity (Boud, 2000). Formative assessments **as learning** involves students in the assessment process, for example, self-assessment or peer assessment, or engaging in self-monitoring of performance.
Formative assessments for, and as learning, can offer opportunities for students to proactively evaluate and improve their future work, by incorporating feedback provided, reviewing rubrics and reflecting on performance to improve future work (Brenner, 2022; Broadbent et al., 2021; Carless, 2017). Formative assessment offers opportunities to develop students' reflective practice, self-regulated learning, critical thinking, and lifelong learning skills (Boud & Falchikov, 2006, 2007; Broadbent et al., 2021; Carless, 2017).

Summative assessment

Summative assessment is considered an assessment of learning. An activity that is used as judgement of a student's performance or knowledge and allocates a grade to what the student learned, for example, a written paper or exam (Irons & Elkington, 2022). Summative assessment such as exams, certifies and quantifies achievement and does not always offer feedback or opportunities to reflect on performance (Broadbent et al., 2018). Students who are focused on gaining high marks and grades to pass a summative assessment, may disregard developing important capabilities of reflection and self-evaluation (Thompson et al., 2015). Whilst summative assessment often motivates students to learn and measures students' performance, such assessments are often not designed to support student learning in a sustainable way or foster lifelong learning skills (Ismail et al., 2022). However, providing students with opportunities to engage in reflective practice, such as through pre-assessment class discussions or the use of exemplars, can help them to 'self-assess' before submitting summative work or participating in summative examinations (Fischer et al., 2024).

The ANMAC require both formative and summative assessments to enhance learning for entry to practice degrees (ANMAC, 2024). Accredited nursing programs must ensure that they meet all the standards outlined in the Registered nurse standards of practice (ANMB, 2016). This requires a blend of both formative and summative assessments, which together foster the development of a diverse range of competencies and skill sets. While evaluative judgment is an important skill for nursing students to develop, it is only one element of the complex skill set

required in nursing. A combination of various assessment methods and ongoing feedback is crucial to address the full spectrum of nursing competencies and support lifelong learning. However, in higher educational settings there is a prevalence of summative assessment, which can stifle the development of students' critical reflective thinking and self-evaluation skills (McGaghie et al., 2020; Oermann & Gaberson, 2014; Siles-González & Solano-Ruiz, 2016). It is not that formative assessment is better, or preferred to summative assessment, as both have their merits. Orientating nursing students' assessments to include more formative, sustainable activities, has potential to achieve the desired graduate qualities of lifelong learning and reflexive practice, qualities that will prepare nursing students beyond the end of the course (Barnett, 2007; Biggs et al., 2022; Boud & Soler, 2016; Lau, 2016; Taras, 2005).

2.2.2 The challenges of self-assessment

Historically, summative, and formative assessment methods have placed students in a passive role, with the student relying on the judgement of others (Boud & Falchikov, 2006; Yan & Boud, 2022). Sustainable assessment theory seeks to shift the focus from students being passive, to active participants, engaging them in activities such as reflection and self-assessment (Beck et al., 2013). However, the value of self-assessment as a mechanism to explore how closely a student can grade their performance against an educator has been questioned (Baxter & Norman, 2011; Davis et al., 2006; Jackson, 2014; Zi, 2022). Baxter & Norman (2011) explored nursing students' (n=32) accuracy in assessing their performance in a simulated emergency reporting that students perceived their ability to be much higher than reported by educators. Further, in a systematic review of 17 studies of doctors' self-assessment, reported that the lower the skill level of the student, the higher the self-rating (Davis et al., 2006). In this study overconfidence was a factor that inflated an individual's ability to accurately self-assess (Davis et al., 2006). Similarly, Jackson (2014) explored how Australian business undergraduate students' (n=1000) self-evaluation was influenced by individual backgrounds and characteristics. This study found that the more capable the student, the more likely they underestimate their ability, and the less competent

students overrated their performance. These findings align with previous research by Boud and Falchikov (1989), who conducted a critical review of self-assessment in higher education, and Lew et al. (2010), who examined self-assessments among 3,588 first-year higher education students. Their studies revealed that self-assessments were closely aligned with teacher ratings, particularly among more experienced and capable students. In contrast, less able and less mature students tended to overrate their abilities, often due to a lack of self-awareness or an understanding of the required standards.

Students' ability to self-assess their work has been raised in psychology as difficult to achieve (Epley & Dunning, 2000; Kahneman et al., 2002; Kruger & Dunning, 1999). There is some concern that students lack the knowledge on how to assess their own work, with unconscious self-serving biases in play (Eva et al., 2018). Self-serving bias, and biased recall, are cognitive processes used subconsciously as mechanisms to limit threatening information and preserve self-esteem (Karpen, 2018). Such attributes are discussed in the literature as significant limitations to students being able to demonstrate unbiased insight into their performance (Dunning et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2018). Self-assessment as a stand-alone activity that requires students to grade their performance has drawn much criticism, however, more recent investigations highlight that providing students with context, and engaging students in reflective dialogue post self-assessment, may increase the value of self-assessment as a learning activity (Ajjawi et al., 2020; McLeod et al., 2015).

2.2.3 Authentic assessment: clinical practice

Authentic assessment is an evaluation method that measures students' abilities through real world tasks, requiring them to apply their knowledge and skills in practical and meaningful ways. Nursing students are introduced to the real work environment during their clinical placements or work-integrated learning activities. Clinical placements are well positioned to provide opportunities for authentic assessment activities. Authentic assessments assist students to develop their metacognitive skills, preparing them for professional practice (Broadbent & Poon, 2015; Richardson et al., 2012; Sadler, 1989). Whilst there is a substantial body of research on the benefits of contemporary authentic assessment methods in tertiary education (Ajjawi et al., 2020; Boud & Soler, 2016; Carless, 2005, 2007, 2015, 2017; Hawe & Dixon, 2017; Joughin, 2008; Panadero et al., 2019; Sadler, 1989; Villarroel et al., 2018), aligning assignment activities to be authentic can be challenging (Ajjawi et al., 2020). Misalignment occurs when the assessment fails to reflect the students' vision of their future professional self, or the assignment activity does not reflect the activities that occur during clinical placement (Ajjawi et al., 2020). While nursing clinical assessments are based on the NMBA standards for practice (NMBA, 2016), this does not necessarily guarantee that the assessments reflect current practice.

In summary, assessment serves as an evaluation process and can be designed as a learning activity providing opportunities to develop lifelong learning skills, such as self-evaluation and reflection (Boud & Soler, 2016). Assessment, be it authentic, sustainable, formative, summative, as, for, or of learning, is inextricably connected to feedback. Feedback is often viewed as the final function of assessment (Hattie & Clarke, 2018), which can be problematic, as the two activities serve different purposes (Winstone et al., 2022). While assessment and feedback often occur together, they are not co-dependent; it is possible to have one without the other. For example, during a clinical placement, a student may receive feedback on their communication skills or clinical techniques without being formally assessed or graded. Similarly, students may be given a score or grade on an exam without receiving detailed feedback on their specific answers or performance.

The following section explores how feedback can limit or provide opportunities to actively engage students in reflective practice and develop their self-evaluation skills. Understanding how students are provided with, or are engaged in feedback, is important background information to explore the concept of developing students' evaluative judgement in this program of research.

2.3 Feedback

2.3.1 Feedback a partnership, or a hierarchy of telling?

Feedback is a means to provide timely and useful information to assist students' future learning (Hattie & Timperley, 2007). This definition of feedback focuses on the quality and timeliness of feedback, which places the educator at the centre of the process. Feedback 'as telling' often inconspicuously pervades the language used, for example, give, provide, or deliver feedback to students about their performance, and places the student in a passive role (McLean et al., 2015). A didactic teacher-centric approach to telling students what they did wrong and where they can improve is considered an inadequate strategy and does not offer students opportunities to engage in the feedback process, or foster students' ability to self-regulate their learning (Boud & Molloy, 2013a; Henderson et al., 2019a).

More recently, feedback has been defined as a process where students make sense of information to improve their future work or approach to learning changing the focus to a studentcentred approach (Carless & Boud, 2018). Contemporary ideas of feedback explore a constructivist methodology, where students are actively engaged on more equal terms with educators, constructing meaning and understanding (Boud & Molloy, 2013b; Carless, 2013; Hausman et al., 2023; Henderson et al., 2019b; Merry et al., 2013). However, despite attempts to move feedback from a hierarchy of telling towards a partnership with students, "old fashioned" ways of engaging with feedback persists, for example, Dawson et al. (2019) in a study of 4514 students and 406 educators, explored perspectives on the purpose and effectiveness of feedback. They found that educators viewed the purpose of feedback as providing students with comments that could improve future work. In contrast, students focused more on the quality of the comments provided by educators and how the comments related to their current work. Both students and educators agreed that feedback is primarily about staff providing comments to students, reinforcing the hierarchical nature of feedback. The study also highlighted a lack of clarity regarding how feedback could lead to tangible improvements in future work. A lack of time due to workload pressures and student-preceptor relationships were also identified as barriers to effective feedback (Allen & Molloy, 2017). Other barriers such as university policy and processes that fail to support a culture of effective feedback practices may also be influencing factors (Kraut et al., 2015). However, if the focus of feedback remains on the transmission of information to the student from the educator, the active role of students in the feedback process is minimised and does little to develop students feedback literacy skills. As such, feedback practices in universities often fail to offer opportunities to guide student learning and foster lifelong learning skills (Carless & Boud, 2018; Winstone et al., 2022).

2.3.2 Authentic, sustainable feedback – students as active participants

The concept of authentic feedback challenges the view that feedback is an academic output with little regard for student agency (Villarroel et al., 2018). Authentic feedback focuses on the quality and value of feedback in a students' learning journey as a student-centred, sustained, iterative process (Dawson et al., 2021). Feedback that overtly aims to develop lifelong learning skills of reflective practice and critical thinking could be considered as authentic and sustainable. Sustainable feedback requires active student participation and aims to develop students' reflective and self-evaluative skills (Carless, 2013). It is acknowledged that individual students may have different preferences for how they would like to receive their feedback (Glazzard & Stones, 2019), however, feedback dialogue is a feature of sustainable feedback, facilitating opportunities for students to discuss and understand the feedback (Carless, 2013; Mutch et al., 2018). Directive feedback has potential to undermine the goal of fostering autonomy in learning (Dawson et al., 2021). Authentic and sustainable feedback encourages students to take responsibility for their learning without relying on external guidance (Henderson et al., 2019). It could be argued that too much directive feedback could stifle the development of these metacognitive skills and the ability to self-direct (Henderson et al., 2019b). However, this depends on how feedback is framed, if feedback is directive aimed to refine specific clinical skills or to understand the standards for quality work, important for lifelong learning, ideally it should be accompanied by opportunities for selfreflection (Dawson et al., 2021). Therefore, feedback that is overly prescriptive and does not encourage reflection, may become more of a short-term fix rather than supporting long-term growth.

Verbal feedback is the primary method used to provide information to nursing students during clinical practice education (Henderson et al., 2023). Therefore, the clinical setting has potential to engage students in a feedback discussion, facilitating understanding and application of the feedback. However, Panzieri and Derham (2020) found that nursing students' (n=28) experience of verbal feedback was reported as inconsistent in quality between the different healthcare professionals they encountered on clinical placement. The study also found that the students' perception of the credibility of the feedback received, depended on the relationship they had with the healthcare professional providing the feedback. Research by Allen and Molloy (2016) and a literature review by Johnson et al. (2016) support these findings.

Feedback is often a secondary priority in a busy clinical setting. Lack of feedback skills and rushed feedback sessions at inappropriate times or places are seen as barriers to quality feedback in the clinical environment (Tuma & Nassar, 2022). Whilst there are many feedback models, such as, Pendleton's model (Pendleton et al., 1984), and debriefing models, such as, Debriefing for Meaningful Learning (Dreifuerst, 2015), or Plus-Delta Debriefing (Cheng et al., 2021), that provide useful strategies to support feedback practice, inconsistency and student dissatisfaction with the quality of feedback provided in the clinical setting highlights an evidence-practice gap (Tuma & Nassar, 2022).

This section explored how assessment and feedback practices can either support or hinder students' active engagement in their learning. To enhance assessment and feedback practice the next section introduces evaluative judgement as a pedagogical concept, outlining its origins and exploring approaches to develop students' evaluative judgement.

2.4 Evaluative Judgement

Evaluative judgement as a concept has evolved over the past three decades. At its foundation are ideas of formative, authentic, sustainable assessment, self-regulated learning, and feedback dialogue (Tai et al., 2018). The initial concept of evaluative judgement was introduced by Sadler (1989), who suggested that for students to improve their work, they must develop the ability to judge their work objectively. Black and Wiliam (1998) then explored how formative assessment could be improved, suggesting that teaching and assessment practice should help students recognise when their work is, or is not, at the required standard. Black and Wiliams' work provided a starting point for Boud (2000) who explored the concept of sustainable assessment, an approach that has potential to provide students with lifelong learning skills. The culmination of ideas around assessment and feedback practice that aim to provide students with lifelong learning skills led to the concept of evaluative judgement as defined today by Tai et al. (2018) (Box 2.1).

Box 2.1: Evaluative judgement definition

Evaluative judgement is a characteristic of competency, self-regulation, and lifelong learning (Tai et al., 2018). Evaluative judgement is a capability about "judging the work", for students to reflect on the question - *is the work at the required professional standard*? It is more than judging grades as might be the case in self-assessment (Boud et al., 2015). The term evaluative judgement, has been defined as: *"the capability to make decisions about the quality of work of self and others*" (Tai et al., 2018, p.5). Students who develop the ability to make evaluative judgements about the quality of their own, and others' work, are considered to possess the capabilities of a competent practitioner (Tai et al., 2018).

2.4.1 Developing evaluative judgement; why it is important in nursing

On graduating, nursing students no longer have educators to provide them with judgement on their performance, therefore, graduates must be able to identify their knowledge and skills deficits. Whilst some support is initially provided to new graduates by preceptors in the clinical workplace, students are expected to transition to Registered nurses, and as such, they are expected to maintain currency in clinical skills and theoretical knowledge (NMBA, 2016). Critical reflection on knowledge and skills is an important capability for graduate nurses, as rapid advances in technology and medicine require nurses to keep pace with changes to clinical practice (Booth et al., 2021; Qalehsari et al., 2017). Additionally, Zarrin et al. (2023), found that reflective practice positively impacts on nurses' work engagement, self-efficacy, and improves the patient care provided. If Registered nurses are unaware of the quality of their work and unable to identify where their knowledge is deficit, then there is the potential that they become unsafe practitioners (Zaitoun et al., 2023).

Evaluative judgement is the ability to assess the quality of work and to make informed decisions based on that assessment. This skill is foundational in the context of lifelong learning because it underpins the ability to engage in self-directed, continuous learning and improvement. Therefore, the notion of developing nursing students' evaluative judgment is appealing due to the potential to foster students' reflexive practice, self-regulation and lifelong learning skills, nursing graduate qualities that are desired by industry and regulatory bodies (NMBA, 2016). The connection between the concepts of developing students' evaluative judgement, graduate attributes/qualities and regulatory standards for practice are shown in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1 Meeting regulatory requirements by developing evaluative judgement in nursing

education

Developing Evaluative Judgement	Registered Nurse Standards for Practice (NMBA 2016)	Most Commonly Stated Graduate Attributes/Qualities	Registered Nurse Accreditation Standards 2019 (ANMAC 2019)
Recognises quality work. Reflects on performance	1.2 develops practice through reflection on experiences, knowledge, actions, feelings, and beliefs to identify how these shape practice	Self-awareness	1.7 The program's progression policies and rules ensure that only students who have demonstrated the requisite knowledge and skills required for safe practice are eligible for clinical placement. For example, reflective practice.
Self-evaluates performance	3.3 uses a lifelong learning approach for continuing professional development of self and others	Lifelong learning	3.5 The program's content and subject learning outcomes ensure: a. achievement of the NMBA Registered nurse standards for practice. For example, 3.3 lifelong learning, 1.2 reflective practice and 3.5 responds to feedback practice
Engages in feedback to calibrate self- evaluation of performance	3.5 seeks and responds to practice review and feedback	Self-awareness	2.2b Promoting high-quality teaching and learning experiences for students to enable graduate competence. For example, supporting students towards feedback literacy

Key features of developing evaluative judgement, reflection, self-evaluation, calibrating

understanding of the required standard and feedback (Henderson et al., 2023).

2.4.2 Previous literature on developing evaluative judgement

As evaluative judgement is a new concept in nursing, a review of existing literature was completed to understand how this concept was included in higher education more broadly. Seven databases were searched using terms relating to the Population (students), Concept (evaluative judgement) and Context (higher education) (Appendix 2.1 detailed search strategy). This search was initially completed to inform the program of research, and subsequently updated in July 2024. Excluding the publications arising from this program of research and subsequently presented in this thesis, 12 primary and 12 secondary research publications were identified exploring the concept of evaluative judgement in higher education.

Most of the primary research studies were from Australia (n=8), with the remaining studies from Hong Kong (n=1), Spain (n=2) and the West Indies (n=1) (Table 2.2).

Authors Year	Origin	Research design	Critical appraisal	Population & sample size	Findings
Bearman et al 2022	Australia	Qualitative	80%+	General Practitioner trainees (n=16) PG	A combination of reflective practice and feedback conversations informed by relevant quality information about their performance may help the trainees develop evaluative judgement. However, the feedback conversation in isolation did not necessarily assist trainees to develop evaluative judgement.
Cano Garcia et al 2024	Spain	Qualitative	70%+	Education students (n=114) not identified as PG or UG	Peer feedback strategies could be one way of developing evaluative judgement.
Chen et al 2022	Australia	Qualitative	80%+	Molecular genetics students honour class (n=298) UG	Engaging students more actively with identifying standards and using the criteria representing those standards may promote evaluative judgement. Exposing students to their peers' work supported them to recognise quality work through comparison.
Chong 2021	Hong Kong	Qualitative	80%+	IELTS writing workshop (n=129) UG	The use of dialogic exemplars supports students to understand the assessment standard. As such has potential to help develop their understanding of what good work looks like.
Fischer et al 2024	Australia	Qualitative	80%+	Physics students (n=5) UG	The findings do not show students' evaluative judgement developing or how they 'came to practice differently', it showed that, across the curriculum, summative assessment tasks require students to make decisions about quality as they navigate their course, even if these decisions are made idiosyncratically.
Fitzgerald et al. 2021	Australia	Quantitative	67%*	Osteopathy students (n=56) UG	Self and peer assessment and faculty feedback improved performance and increased congruence of students self- and peer-assessment marks, potentially developing their evaluative judgement skills.
Gyamfi et al 2022	Australia	Quantitative	67%*	Students in a database principles course (n=354) UG	Rubrics have a positive but slight impact on students' ability to make judgements about the quality of resources. The ability of students to not only rate the quality of the resources but also give comments to justify their ratings demonstrates their application of evaluative judgement.
Ibarra- Saiz et al 2020	Spain	Quantitative	67%*	Economics & business sciences students (n=301) UG	The findings of this study identify how evaluative judgement, in terms of trust in one's own judgement and in the judgement of others, is directly related to students' competence development.
McIver & Murphy 2023	Australia	Qualitative	80%+	Healthcare students (n=42) surveys (n=6) student interviews PG. (n=5) staff interviews	Self-assessment provided meaningful feedback. For students, this meant comments that helped them judge the quality of their own work.
Nicola- Richmond et al 2024	Australia	Qualitative	80%+	Occupational therapist students (n=21) UG	Students used a range of strategies for practising evaluative judgement, including making comparisons, acting on feedback, and reflecting on practice.
Ramlogan & Raman 2022	West Indies	Quantitative	78%*	Dental students (n=55) UG	Self-assessment requires clear guidelines, training strategies, feedback, and reflection to support students to develop their evaluative judgement.
Tai et al 2016	Australia	Mixed methods	90%+ 67%*	Medical students (n=10) observed & interviewed (n=1189) questionnaire UG	Peer assisted learning contributes to the development of evaluative judgement; further steps could be taken to formalise peer assisted learning in clinical placements to improve learners' capacity to make accurate judgements on the performance of self and others".

Table 2.2 Summary of primary evidence exploring the concept of evaluative judgement

Key: PG Postgraduate; UG Undergraduate; * JBI Checklist for Quantitative studies; + JBI Checklist for Qualitative studies

Six of the primary studies exploring the concept of developing students' evaluative judgement were in health disciplines, including allied health (n=3), medicine (n=2), and dentistry (n=1). The remaining six studies explored evaluative judgement in non-health disciplines including, education, molecular genetics, language, database principles, economics and physics. These primary studies used qualitative, (n=7), quantitative (n=4), and mixed methods (n=1) research methodologies. Only two primary research studies were situated in postgraduate education with ten being situated in undergraduate education.

The secondary research publications originated from Australia (n=9), Switzerland (n=1), Spain (n=1) and the United Kingdom (n=1) (Table 2.3). The majority were theoretical discussion papers (n=5), followed by systematic reviews (n=2), concept papers (n=3) and two case study discussion (n=2). Only one publication a systematic review, was identified that focused on nursing (Ilangakoon et al 2022).

To evaluate the rigor, credibility and relevance of each study, critical appraisal was conducted, using Johanna Briggs Institute (JBI) critical appraisal tools specific to the study designs (Johanna Briggs Institute 2024). As JBI does not provide a mixed methods appraisal tool, the one mixed methods study by Tai et al., (2016), was appraised using both qualitative and quantitative tools. Critical appraisal scores are represented as a percentage of the total maximum possible score for the relevant tool in Tables 2.2 and 2.3, and the full critical appraisal tables are provided in Appendix 2.2.

Table 2.3 Summary of secondary evidence exploring the concept of evaluative judgement

Authors Year	Origin	Research design	Critical appraisal	Discipline area	Findings
Bearman et al 2024	Australia	Conceptual paper	100%#	N/A	Learners need to apply human judgement to Al outputs as such Al can be a partner in the development of human evaluative judgement capabilities.
Bertram & Tomas 2023	United Kingdom	Redesign of a module	83%#	Chemistry degree module UG	Recommendations were to introduce activities to develop students' evaluative judgement, reduce the summative assessments in favour of formative assessments, engaging students in understanding quality and criteria, develop self-assessment skills, and enhance transparency of assessment.
Bonvin et al 2022	Switzerland	Redesign of a course	83%#	Medical degree course UG	Redesign of a medical degree course using only formative assessment. Reflective portfolios were used where students could evaluate their performance. This paper used some principles of developing evaluative judgement, formative assessment, reflection and feedback practices, in the design of the bachelor's
Boud et al 2018	Australia	Theoretical discussion	100%#	N/A	A collection of work exploring the theoretical concepts of developing evaluative judgement
Gladovic 2021	Australia	Discussion/ conference paper	50%#	N/A	"Self-assessment, peer-assessment and portfolios are more likely to contribute to the development of evaluative judgement.
llangakoon et al 2022	Australia	Systematic review	90%^	Students Nursing, midwifery, healthcare professionals (n=18 included studies) UG and PG	The findings highlighted that the feedback – evaluative judgement relationship is new in nursing education. The authors suggest that educators design feedback activities that place students as active participants in dialogic feedback, reflection, and self-assessment to develop their evaluative judgement
Molloy et al 2020	Australia	Discussion	100%#	Healthcare students not identified as PG or UG	The effects of feedback may be immediate or latent and it may change learners' evaluative judgement or professional identity.
Naidoo et al 2021	Australia	Discussion	50%#	Occupational therapy students UG	The use of peer-assisted learning, rubrics, self- assessment, and feedback methods were discussed as opportunities to develop evaluative judgement.
Panadero et al 2019	Spain	Concept Paper	100%#	N/A	Self and peer assessment is conceptualised as developing evaluative judgement needs further theorising using models of self-regulated learning. The authors believe that a pedagogy that emphasises the teaching of self-regulatory skills aligned with the development of evaluative judgement will help students practice and master key lifelong learning skills
Rung & George 2021	Australia	Systematic review	100%^	Dental students and educators (n=12 included studies) not identified if UG or PG	"Assessment and feedback are regarded crucial for developing students' evaluative judgement to become self-regulated lifelong learners. However, there is limited empirical evidence".
Sadler 2010	Australia	Concept paper	100%#	Higher education students not identified as UG or PG	Exploring feedback to develop students' capabilities
Tai et al 2018	Australia	Discussion Theoretical paper	100%#	N/A	Exploring the historical development of evaluative judgement exploring the pedagogy and ways to integrate the concept into teaching practice.

Key: PG Postgraduate; UG Undergraduate; ^ JBI Checklist for Systematic reviews; # JBI Checklist for Expert opinion

For the primary research evidence, all studies including a qualitative component (n=8) consistently demonstrated congruity between the philosophical perspective, research methodology, research questions, data collection methods, analysis and interpretation of the results, ensuring a coherent and methodologically sound approach. Only one study explored the influence of the researcher on the research (Tai et al., 2016). None of the qualitative studies provided a statement locating the researcher culturally or theoretically. For the studies with a quantitative component (n=5), all five used reliable measures and appropriate statistical analysis demonstrating credibility of the results. However, only two studies had a control group (Fitzgerald et al., 2021; Gyamfi et al., 2022) and only two studies explored pre and post intervention comparisons (Ibarra-Saiz et al., 2020; Ramlogan and Raman 2022). The limited use of control groups and pre and post comparisons suggests a need for more rigorous experimental designs to assess causal relationships and the effectiveness of the interventions in this area.

For the secondary evidence (Table 2.3), critical appraisal of the systematic literature reviews (n=2) demonstrated that both reviews clearly stated the objectives, had appropriate inclusion and exclusion criteria and search strategies. These reviews minimised errors and bias in extraction and used multiple reviewers thereby enhancing the reliability of the findings (Ilangakoon et al., 2022; Rung and George 2021). The only identified paper in nursing, the systematic review by Ilangakoon et al., (2022) scored highly in the appraisal, meeting all criteria except for assessing the likelihood of publication bias in the included studies. The two papers that reported case studies were discussion based focusing on educational improvements to modules and curricula (Betram and Tomas 2023; Bonvin et al., 2022), therefore, the expert opinion appraisal tool was chosen as the best fit for these papers. A critical appraisal of papers that expressed expert opinion (n=10) indicate a strong adherence to identifying credible sources and all but four of the authors had a strong standing in the field of expertise.

The primary studies explored peer and self-assessment, feedback, and different ways to help students identify what quality work looks like, such as, comparison to peers' work, rubrics and

exemplars as strategies to develop students' evaluative judgement. Five studies explored peer assessment and peer feedback (Cano García et al., 2024; Chen et al., 2022; Fitzgerald et al., 2021; Ibarra-Sáiz et al., 2020; Tai et al., 2016). Cano García et al. (2024) reported that the quality of peer feedback provided by students in an education subject improved over time, suggesting that this may be an indication of students developing their evaluative judgement. Chen et al. (2022) found that when students understood the required standards, they were able to apply the required standards to accurately critique peers' work. The authors suggested that if students understand the standards and have opportunity to apply the standard to others' work, this may develop their evaluative judgement. Similarly, Fitzgerald et al. (2021), Ibarra-Sáiz et al. (2020), McIver and Murphy (2023), Ramlogan and Raman (2022), and Tai et al. (2016) provided research on peer and self-assessment, suggesting that evaluative judgement might be developed through approaches that help students understand what quality work looks like and applying that understanding to their own, and others' work. The methods used to support peer and self-assessment, and feedback were PeerWise software (Chen et al., 2022), the Feedback Mark 2 model (Fitzgerald et al., 2021). Cano Garcia et al., (2024) used the feedback cycle based on the model proposed by Carless (2019).

Two studies explored approaches to help students understand the required standard. Gyamfi et al. (2022) reported that rubrics helped students in a database principles subject make judgements about the quality of peers' work. Chong (2021) explored dialogic exemplars in an English language writing workshop reporting, this method to be useful in supporting students' understanding of what the required expectations were for quality work. Whilst these studies showed an improvement in students' ability to judge their and others' work using these means, limited detail was provided on how these resources were designed. In addition, there was no clarity on whether students were using other resources in addition to rubrics or exemplars to make decisions about the quality of work (Nicola-Richmond et al., 2024).

Nicola-Richmond et al. (2024) found that occupational therapy students used a range of cues to understand the expected standard, such as, acting on feedback from educators and peers, reviewing the results of their placement assessment activities, making comparisons with others work, and engaged in reflective practice. Similarly, Fischer et al. (2024) used an ethnographyinformed approach to establish that discussions with peers and educators and summative assessments inform students evaluative judgements. Finally, general practitioner trainees were shown by Bearman et al. (2022) to draw on tacit ways of knowing, such as emotional responses of feeling uncomfortable that something was wrong. In this study, the trainees reported drawing on supervisors, senior colleagues, patient data and "gut feelings" to calibrate their understanding of the quality of their work. A "feedback community" was suggested to develop evaluative judgement where general practitioner trainees sought out trusted or credible feedback from multiple sources. Interestingly, feedback conversations with supervisors did not necessarily help trainees develop their evaluative judgement. However, as the participants in this study were qualified medical practitioners, their self-regulated learning may be more developed, therefore, the findings may not translate to undergraduate students or other disciplines.

Whilst rubrics and exemplars have been shown to be useful resources to help students recognise the standard of good work, students may use a wider range of information to make evaluative judgements. These primary studies provide empirical support for the conceptual work by Bearman et al. (2024), Bertram and Tomas (2023), Bonvin et al. (2022), Gladovic (2021), Molloy et al. (2020), Naidoo et al. (2021), Sadler (2010) and Tai et al. (2018), who suggest that active engagement in recognising what quality work looks like can develop students' evaluative judgement.

Cultivating a sustainable feedback culture and using feedback conversations has been identified as important in the process of refining students' understanding of what good work looks like (Bearman et al., 2022; Bonvin et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2022; Ilangakoon et al., 2022; Molloy et al., 2020; Rung & George, 2021; Tai et al., 2016). These authors suggest feedback conversations

that actively engage students in reflecting on their work might support the development of evaluative judgement. The concept of trust and credibility for students to engage with feedback was also raised by Ibarra-Sáiz et al. (2020) and Tai et al. (2016), suggesting that for feedback to be effective in supporting students to develop their understanding of what quality work looks like, the relationship between student and educator was important.

Only one publication was identified in nursing, an integrative systematic review by llangakoon et al. (2022). The authors llangkoon et al., (2022), did not find any literature in nursing or midwifery that explicitly used the term 'evaluative judgement'. The aim of this systematic review was to explore the relationship between current feedback methods and the concepts of evaluative judgment in undergraduate nursing and midwifery education. Seven themes were identified to help recognise the relationship between feedback and evaluative judgement (conceptions of feedback, purposes of feedback, sources of feedback, modes of feedback, conceptions of evaluative judgement, purposes of evaluative judgement and relationships between feedback and evaluative judgement). The authors suggest that feedback should be used to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement. However, it was also acknowledged that further research exploring feedback designs in nursing and midwifery education is needed to explore the concept of developing evaluative judgement through feedback.

In summary, the previous literature exploring the concept of developing evaluative judgement consists of a combination of primary and secondary research designs and is predominantly focussed on peer and self-assessment, ways to help students understand what quality work looks like, and feedback conversations, as methods that have potential to foster students' evaluative judgement. The current view on developing evaluative judgement suggests that the following elements are important: discerning quality (recognising what quality work looks like), judgement process (self- and peer-assessment/evaluation), and feedback conversations. However, there is limited evidence to support how educators adopt the concept of developing evaluative judgement in teaching and learning activities, assessment or feedback. To the best of

our knowledge, prior to this program of research, there were no published primary studies investigating the development of evaluative judgement in nursing education.

2.5 The objective and significance of this program of research

University graduate attributes, industry expectations and regulatory bodies expect that nursing students enter the workforce as critical reflective practitioners, possessing lifelong learning skills. Evaluative judgement is a concept that is well situated to provide such skills. There is limited research evaluating methods that embed the concept of evaluative judgement in teaching, assessment, or feedback practice. Prior to this program of research, there was no primary empirical evidence regarding the development of undergraduate or postgraduate nursing students' evaluative judgement.

The program of research presented in this thesis addresses the gap in the literature. The overarching goal of this program of research was to explore the concept of developing evaluative judgement in nursing education.

2.5.2 Research aim and questions

The overarching question for this program of research was "What are the possible strategies to develop students' evaluative judgement in undergraduate and postgraduate nursing education?" The primary aim of this program of research was to explore various strategies for embedding the concept of developing evaluative judgment within postgraduate and undergraduate nursing curricula. To address the overarching question and aim, a series of four studies were undertaken. The first two studies explored the concept of developing evaluative judgment in postgraduate nursing education. Studies three and four then explored the concept more broadly in undergraduate nursing education, and specifically in clinical practice education settings.

Study one retrospectively explored postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of an online oral viva using consensus marking as an assessment grading method designed to develop

students' evaluative judgement. The research question was: "What are postgraduate nursing students' perceptions about their experience of online oral viva examinations using consensus marking?"

Study two used a convergent mixed methods parallel research design to prospectively explore student perceptions, anxiety and satisfaction levels with consensus marking compared to traditional grading methods. The research question was: "What are postgraduate nursing students' perceptions, anxiety and satisfaction of consensus marking compared to traditional assessor judgement?".

Study three was a systematic scoping review, to identify the features that aligned with developing evaluative judgement in nursing clinical practice education. The review question was: *"Which of the key features of evaluative judgement are currently embedded in clinical practice teaching and assessment methods?".*

Study four used a qualitative design to explore nursing student, academic and clinical educator perceptions of good feedback practice to improve feedback in clinical practice settings, using an evaluative judgement lens. The research question was: "*What are student, academic and clinical educators' perspectives on current feedback practice in nursing clinical education and how do they align with the concepts of developing evaluative judgement?*".

2.6 Summary

This chapter presented a summary of the provision and regulation of nursing education in Australia, and a brief overview of undergraduate and postgraduate degrees, to provide context to situate the research. A review of the current literature on assessment methods and feedback practices exposed how they limit or provide opportunities to engage students in meaningful experiences that prepare them for their future professional role. The concept of developing evaluative judgement was discussed, highlighting the important elements required to foster students' evaluative judgement, and exposed the gap in the literature that this program of research will explore.

The next chapter, Chapter Three, outlines the research design choices, exploring the underpinning philosophies and that inform the research approach.

Chapter Three

Methodology

This chapter outlines the research design choices and methods employed to explore the overarching research question for the program of research, "What are the possible strategies to develop students' evaluative judgement in undergraduate and postgraduate nursing education?" The chapter begins with an overview of the underlying educational philosophies of constructivism and pragmatism that informed the overall research approach, followed by an outline of the interpretivist inductive approach used in studies one, two and four, and the positivist deductive approach used in study three, discussing how each approach aligned with the outlined philosophies. An overview of the limitations and strengths of the methodological approach is then presented. The aim of this chapter is to ensure transparency and rigor in the research process, aligning the methodology with the aims and objectives of the program of research, that includes the peer reviewed publications presented in Chapter Four (study one), Chapter Five (study two), Chapter Six (study three), and Chapter Seven (study four). Each peer reviewed study in this program of research includes detailed Methods sections. The intent of this chapter is to provide background information regarding the underlying philosophies and methodological approaches used in each of the studies, rather than repeating the detailed individual study methods.

3.1 Philosophical foundations: constructivism and pragmatism

This program of research drew on two key philosophical paradigms, constructivism and pragmatism (Dewey, 1997; Piaget, 1971). This philosophical view influenced the design and methods employed in each of the studies that explored different aspects of evaluative judgment, as it applies, or could be applied to nursing education. Both constructivism and pragmatism emphasise the active role of learners in constructing knowledge and making decisions based on

evidence, experience, and context (Boud et al., 2018; Tai et al., 2018) and so are aligned with evaluative judgement, which shares this emphasis.

3.1.1 Constructivism

Constructivism is a learning theory that emphasises the idea that individuals actively construct their own understanding and knowledge of the world, based on their experiences, interactions and reflections (Piaget, 1970; Vygotsky, 1978). Key aspects of constructivism in education explored by Brooks & Brooks (1993), Jonassen (1991), and Mascolo & Fischer (2205) include:

Active Learning: Constructivism highlights the importance of learners actively interacting with content and information provided, merging new knowledge with what they already know, rather than the passive absorption of facts. This approach fosters a student-focused learning environment, where learners are motivated to investigate, ask questions, and contemplate their understanding.

Social Interaction: Constructivist theory suggests that learning is significantly improved through social interactions. In collaborative settings, learners participate in discussions, exchange ideas, and critically evaluate each other's thoughts. This process helps them deepen their understanding to refine their perception of what quality work looks like (Boud et al., 2018).

Contextual Learning: Understanding is viewed as being contextual and situated, suggesting that learning is often connected to real-life scenarios. Learners develop knowledge through handson experiences that are pertinent to their personal lives and fields of study. Consequently, offering genuine assessment tasks aids nursing students in applying their knowledge to their future professional roles (Epp et al., 2021).

Problem-Solving and Inquiry: Constructivism promotes learning through activities like problem-solving, inquiry, and exploration, which are in line with teaching methods that foster critical thinking, reflection, and the practical application of knowledge.

Constructivism supports the idea that students can develop their evaluative skills through hands-on experiences, reflection, and social learning (Jonassen, 1992; Piaget, 1970; Vygotsky, 1978). This suggests that as nursing students engage with real-world cases or simulations, peers and educators, they actively construct their understanding of how to assess and judge their knowledge and skills in clinical situations (Epp et al., 2021).

3.1.2 Pragmatism

Pragmatism prioritises practical outcomes and real-world applications (James, 1907; 1975; Farjourn et al., 2015; Ormerod, 2006; Thompson, 1997). John Dewey's contributions to pragmatism transformed the way educators approached teaching and learning (Dewey, 1997). Dewey (1997) emphasised that education should be an interactive, experiential process, where students engage in meaningful activities that promote problem-solving, critical thinking, and selfreflection. The philosophical stance of pragmatism is that truth is not seen as fixed or absolute. Instead, truth is viewed as something that evolves through experience and action (Dewey, 1997).

Key aspects of pragmatism in education as explored by Dewey (1997) and Ormerod (2006) include:

Active Learning: Education should be an active process where students are able to interact with the content or activities in a way that promotes exploration, inquiry, and critical thinking, rather than just passively absorbing information.

Real-World Relevance: Learning should be relevant to students' lives and future roles. For example, nursing students should learn through scenarios that simulate real-world clinical environments, allowing them to use their knowledge to solve practical issues.

Collaborative Learning: Pragmatism promotes teamwork and social engagement as integral parts of the learning process. Through activities like discussions, group projects, and shared experiences, students can enhance their understanding of the subject matter.

Continuous Reflection: Students should be encouraged to reflect on their learning experiences, making sense of the knowledge they gain and considering how they can apply it in different contexts. For the nursing profession, reflection is not only a career long asset to developing expertise in a chosen field of practice but is also a requirement for meeting the Standards of Practice for the Registered Nurse (NMBA, 2016), which are a requirement for initial and continuing registration.

3.2 Constructivism and pragmatism: A framework guiding the research

Constructivism and pragmatism provide a robust framework for understanding and enhancing education, especially in fields such as nursing, where practical skills and critical thinking are essential (Mayumi & Ota, 2023). These underpinning philosophies have guided the research studies that set out to explore the overarching research question: "what are the possible strategies to develop students' evaluative judgement in undergraduate and postgraduate nursing education?"

The educational philosophy of constructivism aligns with the concept of developing students' evaluative judgement as students are encouraged to actively construct meaning through opportunities to reflect, self-assess, and calibrate their understanding through interactions with others (Boud et al., 2018). Combined with pragmatism's focus on real-world application and problem-solving, the two philosophical paradigms were integral to this program of research, as the overarching aim was to seek practical strategies to help students develop evaluative judgment and identify strategies that educators could use or adapt to support student teaching and learning activities.

3.3 Overview of methodological approaches used in the studies

This section provides an overview of the interpretivist inductive methodological approach used in studies one, two and four, and the positivist deductive approach used in study three.

3.3.1 Interpretivism

To explore strategies that develop students' evaluative judgment, an interpretivist research approach was adopted. This approach is rooted in the belief that reality is socially constructed and can be best understood through the meaning individuals attach to their experiences (Black, 2006). Interpretivism is an approach that focuses on understanding the meaning behind human actions, beliefs, and experiences (Creswell, 2008). Interpretivist research aims to understand phenomena within their specific context, emphasising the importance of the setting, culture, and experiences of individuals and avoiding imposing preconceived theories or standardised outcomes (Pervin, 2022).

3.3.2 Interpretivism: an inductive approach

Interpretivism served as the critical lens through which the program of research aimed to understand the experiences and perspectives of nursing students, clinical educators, and academics in multiple learning contexts. Using this methodological approach the research studies presented in Chapters Four, Five, and Seven, aimed to provide foundational information on how educators can best support students in becoming more autonomous, reflective, and self-regulated in their practice, by adopting strategies to develop evaluative judgement in different learning situations and with a range of nursing student cohorts. Using an inductive approach to explore participants' perspectives in these studies, themes arising from the data generated insights into how different assessment and feedback methods could develop evaluative judgement. Since evaluative judgment involves complex decision-making, shaped by a range of factors (including personal, social, and cultural contexts), interpretivism using an inductive approach was well-suited for exploring these subjective and context-dependent processes (Cohen et al., 2011; Proudfoot, 2023).

3.3.3 Positivism: a deductive approach

In the third study (Chapter Six), a positivist deductive approach was taken to systematically scope the literature on teaching and assessment methods in nursing clinical education. While a deductive approach is objective and systematic, providing clear evidence that either supports or refutes a hypothesis, it can also be enriched through the lens of constructivism and pragmatism (Foster 2023). From a constructivist perspective, the process of systematically scoping literature involves recognising that researchers actively build knowledge by connecting new information to existing understandings (Gutierrez-Bucheli 2022). The systematic scoping review categorised and summarised information, not just as isolated facts, but as evolving concepts that reflected a deeper understanding of which key features of developing evaluative judgement were present in current teaching and assessment methods, and which were absent. By synthesising existing literature based on predefined criteria, the deductive approach provided measurable, evidence-based conclusions that were not only theoretical but also had practical relevance for educators and students in clinical settings.

Together, constructivism and pragmatism underscore the importance of synthesising knowledge in a way that is both reflective and oriented toward practical improvements (Dewey, 1997; Jonassen, 1991). While the inductive approach provided insight into participants' experiences and perspectives, the deductive approach ensured that conclusions were evidence-based and objective. Using both philosophical perspectives deepened the researcher's understanding of how teaching and assessment methods in nursing clinical education can be adopted or refined to better support students to develop evaluative judgement.

3.4 Strengths and limitations of the methodologies used

The strengths and limitations of each individual study is detailed in Chapters Four, Five, Six and Seven. In line with the intent of this chapter to provide an overview, this section explores how a mix of methodologies and underlying philosophical perspectives, provided several strengths and some limitations for the overall program of research.

3.4.1 Strengths

An inductive approach, from the interpretivist studies presented in Chapters Four, and Seven allowed for exploratory insights and the development of theories grounded in the data. This approach is particularly useful for understanding complex social phenomena such as nursing education where human behaviours and interpretations are central (Epp, 2021). The mixed methods study presented in Chapter Five, integrates qualitative and quantitative data, helping to bridge gaps between subjective experiences and objective measurements. The deductive approach used in the systematic scoping review, presented in Chapter Six, ensured that this study was driven by existing theoretical frameworks, which helped to provide clear, objective evidence to guide future research or practice. By combining multiple methodologies (qualitative, mixed methods, and a systematic scoping review), this program of research provided a complete and nuanced understanding of the potential strategies that can be used to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement.

3.4.2 Limitations

The interpretivist (inductive) studies focussed on understanding meanings, context, and social constructions, which does not align seamlessly with the deductive approach of the systematic scoping review that explored the evidence for the key features of developing evaluative judgement. The interplay between the systematic scoping review and the final qualitative study presents some challenges, particularly around the different approaches to evidence synthesis (Proudfoot, 2023). While the systematic scoping review was valuable for mapping the existing literature and identifying gaps, its deductive nature may not fully capture the nuanced, contextual, and socially constructed aspects central to interpretivist qualitative inquiry. However, the value of the systematic scoping review in identifying which key features of evaluative judgement were

commonly used in teaching and assessment methods, and which key features were missing, was foundational quantitative information to support the aim and focus of the final qualitative study.

The qualitative studies in this program of research were more vulnerable to researcher bias, as they relied on interpretations of subjective experiences (Polit & Beck, 2014). Moreover, the qualitative studies may not represent the diversity of the population due to the purposeful and convenience sampling methods used (Morse et al., 2002). However, each study presented in Chapter Four, Five, Six and Seven, provided details on how researcher and sampling bias were mitigated. Finally, the qualitative studies focussed on specific contexts and contained small sample sizes, meaning their findings might not be easily generalisable to broader populations or settings.

3.5 Conclusion

This chapter demonstrated that the philosophical underpinnings of constructivism and pragmatism, guided the methodological choices and approaches across the four studies in this program of research. By combining interpretivist inductive approaches in studies one and four, a mixed methods approach in study two, and a positivist deductive approach in study three, this program of research embraced the strengths of qualitative, mixed methods, and quantitative methodologies, to explore the overarching research question: "What are the possible strategies to develop students' evaluative judgement in undergraduate and postgraduate nursing education?"

Chapter Four

Postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas: a qualitative study.

As published in Nurse Education Today

Henderson, B., Aitken, R., Lewis, L. K., & Chipchase, L. (2021). Postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas: A qualitative study. Nurse Education Today, 101, 104881–104881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104881

This chapter presents a peer reviewed paper titled: "Postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas: a qualitative study" published in *Nurse Education Today (Scimago Q1 – top 10%, 10/172 Nursing miscellaneous, Impact Factor 3.9, H-index 92)*. This retrospective study introduced a new grading method for an oral viva exam called consensus marking. Consensus marking is underpinned by the concepts of developing students' evaluative judgement. The first part of this chapter provides additional context which was not included in the published article. This is then followed by the Word-formatted full publication

An authorship declaration is included in Appendix 4.1. The publication is reproduced with the journal permission Appendix 4.2. Please refer to Appendix 4.3 for the PDF version of the article, as published in *Nurse Education Today*.

4.1 Additional context

4.1.1 Postgraduate emergency nursing students

Whilst the initial impetus to conduct this program of research was due to an undergraduate nursing student, when I started the PhD program of research I was redesigning and teaching a postgraduate emergency nursing course. This provided an ideal opportunity to explore strategies to develop students' evaluative judgement in a small cohort of students before potentially expanding to larger undergraduate numbers. At the time, the final summative assessment in a topic I coordinated was an online oral viva, an authentic assessment method designed to motivate learning. I was aware from the literature (explored in 4.3.1 background) that conducting online oral viva exams were under researched. Therefore, it was important to explore if the oral viva in the online setting was still considered by the students to be an authentic assessment method. It was also important to explore student perceptions about consensus marking as a self-assessment grading method.

4.2 Abstract

Background: Authentic assessment design that fosters self-reflection and evaluation seeks to develop evaluative judgement; a capability required of Registered nurses. A new method of grading, known as consensus marking, was introduced to an online oral viva that required postgraduate nursing students to evaluate and reflect on their performance and grade their level of competence in collaboration with the assessor. This study aimed to explore postgraduate nursing students' perceptions about their experience of online oral viva examination and the use of consensus marking.

Design: A qualitative study using retrospective student interviews.

Methods: A retrospective, thematic analysis of open-ended questions from students who had participated in an online viva using consensus marking that was recorded for assessment and quality improvement.

Results: Postgraduate emergency nursing students perceived that the online viva while creating some anxiety was relatable to their workplace and overall, they preferred this assessment method to others. Students perceived that consensus marking enabled self-evaluation and reflection, provided an opportunity for beneficial critical reflective discussions, and facilitated a positive shift in the power dynamics between the student and assessor.

Conclusions: The online oral vivas provided an authentic assessment method that, despite causing anxiety, was preferred to written assessment. The students perceived that consensus marking provided an opportunity to reflect and engage in bidirectional feedback dialogue with the assessor in a collegial discussion. Further research is required to evaluate the use of consensus marking in other assessment designs.

4.3 Introduction

Nurses once qualified and inducted into their profession, are expected to be reflective practitioners capable of making judgements of their performance to maintain and develop clinical skills and knowledge (Chaffey et al., 2012; Delany et al., 2013; McLeod et al., 2020; NMBA, 2016; Platzer et al., 1997; Taylor, 2006). The capability to make decisions about the quality of the work of oneself and others is known as evaluative judgement (Boud and Soler, 2016). Evaluative judgement is one goal of higher education that develops students and clinicians' ability to appraise their work and identify future learning needs (Tai et al., 2018). Providing learning and teaching opportunities that develop post-graduate nursing students' ability to be reflexive practitioners is fundamental to clinical practice and lifelong learning.

4.3.1 Background

Online oral viva

Assessment design is critical to enable students to develop evaluative judgement and other fundamental capabilities, such as self-reflection (Tai et al., 2018). In undergraduate and postgraduate nursing education, authentic assessment tasks provide an opportunity for students to apply academic knowledge to the context of their future or current workplace (Chong et al., 2016; Raymond et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2015). The oral viva is believed to be an authentic assessment of deep learning, applying and synthesizing knowledge and high-level clinical reasoning alongside facilitating engagement in academic, professional discourse to explore and challenge the depth and breadth of students' knowledge (Hungerford et al., 2015; Joughin, 1998; Kleiven et al., 2016; Pearce and Lee, 2009; Shenwai and Patil, 2013; Sutherland et al., 2019).

Using the oral viva as an authentic assessment method in an online forum is underresearched and the benefits and limitations in the online environment are still evolving. Only three studies have explored the use of oral vivas in fully online courses (Akimov and Malin, 2020; Okada et al., 2019; Sotiriadou et al., 2020). These studies demonstrated that online oral vivas improved communication skills and safeguarded against academic integrity breaches (Akimov and Malin, 2020; Okada et al., 2019; Sotiriadou et al., 2020). Also, students enjoyed engaging in this type of assessment as they perceived it provided an opportunity to showcase their knowledge and, while the assessment was reported to create some anxiety, students believed it was an appropriate assessment method (Akimov and Malin, 2020). While these studies speak to the value of oral online vivas, less attention has been paid to the way that these assessments are graded, particularly as a potential means to develop capabilities, such as self-reflection and evaluation.

Commonly, in assessment grading, students are the passive recipients of feedback with grades being bestowed on them by an 'expert judge' (Molloy and Denniston, 2019; Sadler, 2010). For example, (Delany and Molloy, 2009) reported that, even in clinical education, learner contribution in feedback conversations was less than five per cent with scarce opportunities for learners to express their own perspectives on performance. Academic or external judgment of student performance appears to permeate most assessment methods, including authentic assessment (McGaghie et al., 2020; Oermann, 2014). In nursing, it could be argued that the prevalence of summative assessment and traditional assessor judgement of performance stifles the development of students' critical thinking and self-evaluation skills (Siles-González and Solano-Ruiz, 2016). Indeed, underdeveloped methods of providing self-evaluation opportunities in higher education have resulted in studies that report self-evaluation by students to be inaccurate and ineffective (Baxter and Norman, 2011; Davis et al., 2006; Gadbury-Amyot et al., 2015; Jackson, 2014). Maintaining the status quo whereby experts pass judgement on health professional students, and continuing to reinforce student dependency on receiving feedback, creates disparity with the working world where graduates are expected to make evaluative judgements on their own work and identify knowledge deficits (Boud et al., 2018).

One potential method to promote student independence is self-assessment. Selfassessment involves students appraising their own work but generally has not included discussion on the quality of the students' ability to self-reflect (Tai et al., 2018). A richer method, known as

consensus marking, was created to build on self-assessment and requires that the student selfevaluate their performance with both the assessor and student engaging in a reflective conversation about competent performance. (Thompson et al., 2017).

Consensus marking

Consensus marking requires students to reflect and evaluate their performance against the outlined criteria. Before the assessor passes judgement on the student's capability, both parties engage in a critical reflective discussion where consensus is reached about the student's perception of their competency. Competency is a term used to encompass the qualities of expertise, aptitude, and proficiency. Consensus marking is believed to promote reflexive practice, to build self-reliant practitioners who can identify their learning needs while also giving students a voice during the grading process (Thompson et al., 2015).

To date, only one published study has evaluated consensus marking. The study explored perceptions about consensus marking from a cohort of undergraduate paramedicine students during face-to-face oral viva assessments (Thompson et al., 2017). Students (n=90) in this study perceived consensus marking to be fair, effective for learning, while also facilitating critical analysis of their own practice (Thompson et al., 2017). To date, the use of consensus marking has not been examined in other health professions including nursing, in an online medium, or a postgraduate cohort of students.

4.4 Methods

Aims

This study aimed to explore postgraduate nursing students' perceptions about their experience of online oral viva examinations and the use of consensus marking.

Design

This qualitative study used pre-existing data collected for quality assurance and improvement from a postgraduate emergency nursing unit of study at one university. At the end of the oral viva after the students had completed the consensus marking and had been allocated their final grade, all students were asked two open-ended questions:

- What did you think about the oral viva as an assessment method and how does it relate to your learning goals?
- 2. What do you think about the consensus marking as a method of grading the oral viva?

Participants

Video recordings were collected as part of a routine university assessment for this cohort. As part of the examination process, the assessment, and the responses to the two open-ended questions were audio-recorded and stored in an online learning management system. Permission was sought from the students retrospectively to use the stored data so that the recordings were able to be analysed. All students were contacted with 13 of the 50 students (26%) enrolled in the unit of study providing consent (M:F 2:11).

4.5 Online viva and consensus marking approach

The online oral viva was a summative assessment item at the end of a capstone emergency nursing unit of study. The viva was worth 35 % of the final grade. Each student was randomly allocated one of three scenarios (Figure 4.1). The oral viva was delivered through an online video conferencing system (Blackboard Collaborate ©) and recorded for moderation purposes. The oral viva exam required students to demonstrate a deep understanding of pathophysiology, pharmacology, clinical and diagnostic reasoning as the patient condition in the
scenario deteriorated. The oral viva exam took approximately 45-minutes and consensus marking, took approximately 15 minutes after the viva exam.

Figure 4.1 Case based scenarios used for the online oral viva

Scenario 1

BURN INJURY

A 60-year-old woman was involved in a house fire. She woke to a smoke-filled room; she took 5 minutes to exit the burning building. The next-door neighbour used the garden hose to apply cold water to her as a first aid measure. This method of cooling continued until the ambulance arrived some 15 minutes later. She had significant burns to her body.

TRAPPED AND TRAMPLED

Scenario 2

A 44-year-old woman is rescued by paramedics following an incident on a remote farm. She was trapped against railings in a cattle crush, fell to the floor and was trampled by several cattle. She lost consciousness for approximately 2 minutes.

Scenario 3

MVA DRUNK DRIVING

A 24-year-old male driver was involved in a head on collision in his car with a large gum tree at 2am. He appeared to be intoxicated at the scene and the police were in attendance. He was trapped in the car, and it took 20 minutes to extract him from the vehicle. He cannot recall the events leading up to the accident and he was conscious when the ambulance crew attended.

The marking rubric (Figure 4.2) was split into two parts, each contributing 50% of the final grade. Part A of the rubric was a traditional tutor judgement of the student's overall performance against the described criteria. Part B involved the students engaging in self-evaluation and a critical feedback discussion with the assessor to calibrate their understanding of their level of competence and their achievement of the desired standards outlined in the criteria. Both parties engaged in a critical reflective conversation and bidirectional feedback about each of the identified criteria in part B. During this discussion, a student may identify errors or lack of knowledge and had an opportunity to rectify errors at this time. The student evaluated their performance against the criteria in part B before the assessor provided any judgement or grade to the student.

PART A TUTOR JUDGEMENT					
Grade					
5	Safe, competent, practice demonstrated				
4	Minor improvements needed				
3	Multiple areas for improvement	/5			
2	Unsatisfactory performance – limited understanding				
1	Lack of knowledge demonstrated could lead to patient h				
0	Critical errors that would result in patient harm				
PART B CONSENSUS MARKING					
		Student	Teacher		
PF	RIMARY SURVEY &	Not Competent	Not Competent		
EARLY INTERVENTION		Consensus on competent	/ 1		
		Student	Teacher		
ABILITY TO INTERPRET DIAGNOSTICS		Competent	Competent		
		Consensus on competent	/ 1		
CLINICAL JUDGEMENT & MANAGEMENT OF THE SCENARIO		Student	Teacher		
		Competent	Competent		
		Consensus on competent	/ 1		
SECONDARY SURVEY & APPROPRIATE INTERVENTIONS		Student	Teacher		
		Competent	Competent		
		Consensus on competent	/ 1		
POST RESUSCITATION CARE		Student	Teacher		
		Competent	Competent		
		Consensus on competent	/ 1		
Consensus Score /5					
TOTAL	SCORE		/10		

Adapted from Thompson et al 2016 "student-tutor consensus" marking rubric

4.6 Data collection

Consenting students' recordings were extracted and transcribed verbatim. A thematic analysis of the transcribed data was conducted to explore meaning from the student experience. Data analysis involved initial coding to identify patterns and concepts from the data. Focused coding then occurred to identify themes. Coding and identifying themes were completed using both a manual coding method and NVivo© computer software. To achieve rigor and validity during the analysis process, peer debriefing was conducted by the research team that included nursing and non-nursing professionals. In addition, the primary researcher maintained field notes and a reflective journal to highlight any personal biases or potential issues that might have influenced the data analysis. Regular reflexive discussions also occurred with the research team during the data collection and analysis phase to ensure the trustworthiness of the resulting patterns, concepts, and themes (Morse 2015).

Data analysis

Thematic analysis using a six-stage approach as described by Braun and Clark (2006) provided an iterative and flexible framework to facilitate comprehensive scrutiny of the data. A reflexive approach to analysing the data generated initial codes. As cohesive, meaningful patterns were identified these were inductively conceptualised into themes (Braun and Clarke, 2006). Rather than applying an a priori theory, the researchers used comparison as an iterative cyclical process to revise the codes, and by connecting relationships within and between the codes, themes were identified (Bowen, 2008; Morse et al., 2002). Dependability was achieved by having two members of the research team independently review the transcribed data to validate the codes and themes (Creswell, 2018). Please see appendix 4.4 for detail on mapping categories and initial codes to the final themes and an example of theme development.

Ethical considerations

Ethical approval was provided by the University Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee (SBREC) (approval no. 8554). Written informed consent was gained from all participants.

4.7 Results

4.7.1 Student perceptions of an online oral viva exam

The transcribed data, on the students' perceptions of the oral viva and its relationship to their learning goals, was initially categorised into 5 codes. 1) Looking for tutor judgement, 2) negative thoughts, 3) positive thoughts, 4) relates to the real world and 5) ways of learning. Three themes emerged from the codes:

Theme 1: Anxiety

Eight of the 13 participants (62%) expressed anxiety at the concept of engaging in an oral viva exam. This is demonstrated by the following quote:

"My initial thoughts on the oral viva when I found out it was going to be an oral viva was not looking forward to it. It is so in your face so on the spot... I started off, well a bit worried about it". (P15)

Theme 2: Relates to real work-life experiences

Six of the 13 participants (46%) expressed how the oral viva exam reflects what they do in the clinical setting. The following quotes highlight that their experiences were reflective of the clinical setting:

"It is a good way to sit there and talk to yourself and for you to ask questions occasionally we are used to that at work as well. The fact that the course that we are doing is emergency nursing and its all resuscitation based you should have a systematic approach to go through this is a good way to basically make sure that we have that understanding". (P 39)

"I think it is good it puts everything together you can practice putting it into the clinical space". (P 5)

"It helps you hone those skills that we have learnt throughout this course...and apply them in that situation...this is more truer to how it will be ultimately, thinking on your feet". (P 42)

Theme 3: Preferred assessment method

Eleven of the 13 participants (85%) expressed a preference for the oral viva as an assessment method rather than a written assignment.

"I love simulations, I love being able to defend my knowledge... I could focus on learning when I was studying instead of referencing. Written assignments are getting a little bit old so this is really refreshing as a different way of assessment". (P 41)

"Thinking out loud...allowed me...to be able to get all my points across...the oral viva allows consolidation of knowledge". (P 43)

"I have been working in ED for a long time and I feel like I do know my stuff and that I do better in this kind of situation where I can talk through stuff as opposed to academic expression". (P 46)

4.7.2 Student perceptions of consensus marking as a grading method

The transcribed data on students' perception about consensus marking was initially categorised into eight codes, 1) a positive experience, 2) fair method. 3) having a voice. 4) identifying weaknesses, 5) instant feedback, 6) looking for tutor judgement, 7) perceived inability to self-evaluate, 8) ability to self-evaluate and reflect on practice. Three themes emerged from the codes:

Theme 1: Enabling reflection and self-evaluation

Ten of the 13 participants (77%) mentioned that they liked how they were given the opportunity to reflect on what they had done, evaluate their performance and identify errors and correct them without penalty.

"It forces a reflection on how you have done. I have not really done a reflection like that with any other assignment, quite in depth". (P 41)

"I like the opportunity to reflect on what we have done.... It is not always something we do. When we are reflecting on how we personally feel we have gone in a situation that is where we do identify our weaknesses". (P 15)

Theme 2: Beneficial critical reflective conversations

Eight of the 13 participants (62%) expressed that engaging in conversation with the assessor and reflecting on performance created an opportunity to gain valuable feedback and assisted them to identify where they demonstrated knowledge and skill and where they could improve.

"My weaknesses were probably a little better established to me and having someone agree with me when I say those weaknesses is actually really refreshing because often they get downplayed or ... not acknowledged when you express them to a colleague". (P 41)

"I like the instant feedback...your post learning you sort of know straight away where some of your weaknesses are... where some of your strengths are just reinforces the things that we already do feel confident in. It is good to hear that feedback. We have more guidance on where we need to put more focus and education". (P 15)

Theme 3: Positive dynamic

Seven of the 13 participants (54%) expressed a feeling that the critical reflective conversation with the assessor was on equal terms. They could discuss how they felt they performed and could work out where their knowledge deficits were through collegial dialogue with the assessor.

"It is good because I can hear where you are coming from and you can hear where I am coming from so... it gives a chance to sort of hash out, sort of say, ok yeah I see that.....It gives you a chance to voice your opinion" (P 2)

"Sometimes you get a result that you think, well I did that properly, but someone else has the opinion that no they don't, so that this way you and I can actually talk about it, so I can tell you what I think I did well and you can tell me what you think I did well or if I needed extra learning in something you could tell me". (P 39)

4.8 Discussion

This qualitative study explored postgraduate emergency nursing students' perceptions of an online oral viva assessment, and the use of consensus marking. Students perceived that while the online viva created some anxiety, the assessment was congruent with learning in the workplace. Further, students perceived that consensus marking enabled self-evaluation and reflection, allowing beneficial critical reflective discussions while creating a positive dynamic between the student and assessor. Thus, this form of self-assessment, in conjunction with critical feedback from the assessor, appeared to enable the development of evaluative judgment, a necessary goal of higher education, that enables students to improve their work and to meet their future learning needs (Tai et al 2017).

Students enjoyed the dynamic and challenging nature of the case-based oral viva and preferred this assessment method to written assessment despite the anxiety created. This finding is consistent with the literature with student reported anxiety being strongly associated with oral viva assessments (Carter, 2012; Furnham et al., 2008; Huxham et al., 2012; Kleiven et al., 2016; Pearce and Lee, 2009). The stress response to oral examinations has the potential to interfere with working memory and ability to recall information (Ringeisen et al., 2019). However, anxiety levels are driven in part by the unknown. For example, students entered into the assessment process with uncertainty around the nature of the questions and despite preparing based on the key assessment information provided, there may have been doubts around their own preparedness, fear of failure and ability to perform (Hungerford et al., 2015; Joseph et al., 2019). While anxiety may affect performance, studies also suggest that learners understand that being taken out of their comfort zone is valuable for learning, even when this is perceived as unpleasant at the time (Leahy et al., 2020). Indeed, it could be argued that in postgraduate emergency department nursing, an ability to work under pressure, and manage anxiety, is critical to responsive decision making and providing appropriate interventions when patient outcomes are time-critical (Groombridge et al., 2019).

Creating authentic assessment is dependent upon the assessment being relevant to students' workplace experiences and that students understand the value of learning the curricular content and assessable learning outcomes (Benner, 2012; Bosco and Ferns, 2014; Villarroel et al., 2018). The online oral viva exam attempted to replicate trauma scenarios common to emergency departments that students are expected to manage. The online oral viva assessment method provided a forum for students to focus their learning and showcase their knowledge. In this study, students enjoyed defending their knowledge and experiences, while engaging in professional discourse that allowed them to focus on learning clinically relevant skills rather than focusing on academic writing. These findings support the concept that authentic assessment should be realistic, challenge higher order thinking and facilitate opportunities for students to judge their own performance (Raymond et al., 2013; Tai et al., 2018; Villarroel et al., 2018)

The oral viva exam, whilst providing realism and cognitive challenge, generally does not provide students with the opportunity to judge their own performance when combined with traditional assessor judgement. However, students perceived that consensus marking enabled reflection and self-evaluation with beneficial critical reflective conversations with their assessor. The two-way feedback dialogue enhanced students' learning experiences as they were actively engaged in the reflective feedback discussion. This finding is consistent with literature describing that bidirectional feedback dialogue creates an environment where students engage in the feedback process that supports them in calibrating their performance against the desired criteria (Boud and Molloy, 2013; Gamlem and Smith, 2013; Hattie and Timperley, 2007; Sadler, 2010; Tan et al., 2019; Yang and Carless, 2013). Moreover, the critical reflective conversations with the assessor may have enabled reflection beyond-action by facilitating students to make sense of, and learn from, the experience (Edwards, 2017). In this study, nursing students were able to identify where they lacked knowledge and where they could improve through a collegial discussion with the assessor.

The nursing students noted that they had input into the feedback dialogue and engaged in a democratic collegial discussion that supported them to identify their future learning needs, suggesting a positive dynamic between student and assessor. This dynamic could be argued to result in a more level playing field whereby the students were free to debate, request more feedback and rationalise any discrepancy in their perception on performance. Such an opportunity is a move away from the traditional authoritarian role of assessor grading and unilateral feedback that forces students to be passive recipients of judgement on their performance and maybe more reflective of learning in the workplace.

This is the first study to explore student perceptions of an online viva with consensus marking in postgraduate nursing education with several methodological strengths. Firstly, the participant recruitment and qualitative analyses were completed retrospectively on pre-existing data eliminating possible bias in student responses to the open-ended questions. Secondly, the qualitative analyses were completed by two members of the research team, with cross-checking of themes and results with the rest of the team, ensuring rigour in the process and findings. Finally, the same assessor was used for all online viva and consensus marking assessments, allowing for consistency between participants and methods of data collection.

4.8.1 Limitations

The study also has limitations. First, the sample size was small, and the questions asked were simple and open-ended. However, the codes that emerged generated an understanding of the students' perceptions and the themes illuminated clear meaning from the data collected. Second, the findings provided a perspective from one cohort of postgraduate students at one tertiary institution and may not be generalisable to other health professional students or institutions. Finally, this study sought student perspectives that may contain unqualified assumptions about assessment and grading methods.

59

4.8.2 Implications

The findings suggest that postgraduate nursing students support the online oral viva as an authentic assessment method despite the anxiety created. The students enjoyed the critical reflective conversation and instant feedback that consensus marking provided, and that their thoughts and opinions about their performance were discussed without fear of penalty. Based on these findings, educators might consider relinquishing the traditional assessor judgement in favour of a more democratic approach to summative grading. However, more empirical evidence is needed to compare consensus marking to traditional tutor judgement. Further work is needed to explore if there are differences created by the grading method in the relationship between student and assessor and if that relationship impacts anxiety levels when performing an oral viva. While this study focussed on the emerging educational philosophy of evaluative judgement, further research could explore whether different learning styles impact students' perception' of consensus marking, their level of satisfaction with self-evaluation, and if any benefits are carried over into the workplace on graduation. In addition, further studies could explore other assessors/lecturers' perceptions of consensus marking and its use in other disciplines would add to the discourse of consensus marking as a grading method.

4.9 Conclusion

A desired outcome of nursing postgraduate assessment is to provide students with the skills and knowledge required for their future professional career. A skill set that is highly regarded is the ability to self-regulate learning and critically reflect on clinical practice. A case-based online oral viva provided an authentic assessment method that created a synchronous interaction with online students simulating realistic emergency presentations. Authentic assessment benefits from a grading method that supports the concept of developing evaluative judgement through self-assessment. Consensus marking nurtured students' ability to reflect and engage in critical dialogue with the assessor and appeared to support the development of self-reflection and evaluation. Using consensus marking to grade online oral vivas promotes engagement in professional discourse,

where students reflect on performance, self-evaluate, and identify their strengths and weaknesses to inform future learning needs. This study suggests that the online oral viva using consensus marking is an assessment and grading method that provides an opportunity for students to develop their evaluative judgement.

References

Akimov, A., Malin, M., (2020). When old becomes new: a case study of oral examination as an online assessment tool. Assess Eval High Educ 45, 1205–1221. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2020.1730301

Baxter, P., Norman, G., (2011). Self-assessment or self deception? A lack of association between nursing students' self-assessment and performance. J Adv Nurs 67, 2406–2413. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05658.x

Benner, P., (2012). Educating nurses: a call for radical transformation-how far have we come? J Nurs Educ 51, 183–184. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20120402-01

Bosco, A.M., Ferns, S., (2014). "Embedding of Authentic Assessment in Work-integrated Learning Curriculum." Asia Pacific Journal of Cooperative Education 15, 281–290.

Boud, D., Ajjawi, R., Dawson, P., Tai, J., (2018). Developing Evaluative Judgement in Higher Education: Assessment for Knowing and Producing Quality Work, 1st ed. Milton: Routledge, Milton. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315109251

Boud, D., Molloy, D., (2013). "Rethinking Models of Feedback for Learning: The Challenge of Design". Assess Eval High Educ 38, 698–712.

Boud, D., Soler, R., (2016). Sustainable assessment revisited. Assess Eval High Educ 41, 400– 413. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1018133

Bowen, G.A., (2008). Naturalistic inquiry and the saturation concept: a research note. Qual Res 8, 137–152. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301

Braun, V., Clarke, V., (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 3, 77–101. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa Carter, S., (2012). English as an Additional Language (EAL) "viva voce": The EAL Doctoral Oral Examination Experience. Assess Eval High Educ 37, 273–284. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2010.528555

Chaffey, L., de Leeuw, E.J., Finnigan, G., (2012). Facilitating Students' Reflective Practice in a Medical Course: Literature Review. Education for Health 25, 198–203. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.4103/1357-6283.109787

Chong, E.J.M., Lim, J.S.W., Liu, Y., Lau, Y.Y.L., Wu, V.X., (2016). Improvement of learning domains of nursing students with the use of authentic assessment pedagogy in clinical practice. Nurse Educ Pract 20, 125–130. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2016.08.002

Creswell, J.W., (2018). Qualitative inquiry & research design : choosing among five approaches, Fourth edi. ed, Qualitative inquiry and research design : choosing among 5 approaches. Los Angeles : SAGE.

Davis, D.A., Mazmanian, P.E., Fordis, M., Van Harrison, R., Thorpe, K.E., Perrier, L., (2006). Accuracy of Physician Self-assessment Compared With Observed Measures of CompetenceA Systematic Review. JAMA 296, 1094–1102. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.296.9.1094

Delany, C., Golding, C., Bialocerkowski, A., (2013). Teaching for thinking in clinical education : making explicit the thinking involved in allied health clinical reasoning. Focus on health professional education 14, 44–56.

Delany, C., Molloy, E., (2009). Clinical education in the health professions. Sydney, N.S.W. : Churchill Livingstone Elsevier, Sydney, N.S.W.

Edwards, S., (2017). Reflecting differently. New dimensions: reflection-before-action and reflectionbeyond-action. International practice development journal 7, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.19043/ipdj.71.002 Furnham, A., Christopher, A., Garwood, J., Martin, N.G., (2008). Ability, Demography, Learning Style, and Personality Trait Correlates of Student Preference for Assessment Method. Educ Psychol (Lond) 28, 15–27.

Gadbury-Amyot, C.C., Woldt, J.L., Siruta-Austin, K.J., (2015). Self-Assessment: A Review of the Literature and Pedagogical Strategies for Its Promotion in Dental Education. J Dent Hyg 89, 357–364.

Gamlem, S.M., Smith, K., (2013). Student perceptions of classroom feedback. Assess Educ 20, 150–169. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2012.749212

Groombridge, C.J., Kim, Y., Maini, A., Smit, D.V., Fitzgerald, M.C., (2019). Stress and decisionmaking in resuscitation: A systematic review. Resuscitation 144, 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.09.023

Hattie, J., Timperley, H., (2007). The Power of Feedback. Rev Educ Res 77, 81–112. https://doi.org/10.3102/003465430298487

Hungerford, C., Walter, G., Cleary, M., (2015). Clinical case reports and the viva voce: a valuable assessment tool, but not without anxiety. Clin Case Rep 3, 1–2. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ccr3.225

Huxham, M., Campbell, F., Westwood, J., (2012). Oral versus written assessments: a test of student performance and attitudes. Assess Eval High Educ 37, 125–136. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2010.515012

Jackson, D., (2014). Self-assessment of employability skill outcomes among undergraduates and alignment with academic ratings. Assess Eval High Educ 39, 53–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2013.792107 Joseph, B., Javali, M., Al-Sahman, L., (2019). Major Factors Causing Examination Anxiety in Undergraduate Dental Students-A Questionnaire Based Cross-Sectional Study.

Joughin, G., (1998). Dimensions of Oral Assessment. Assess Eval High Educ 23, 367–378.

Kleiven, H., Tegani, N., Sullivan, L., (2016). What is the viva experience of phase 2 radiation oncology examination candidate? survey and advice for future candidates. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 428–432.

Leahy, E., Chipchase, L., Calo, M., Blackstock, F.C., (2020). Which Learning Activities Enhance Physical Therapist Practice? Part 2: Systematic Review of Qualitative Studies and Thematic Synthesis. Phys Ther 100, 1484–1501. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/pzaa108

McGaghie, W.C., Adler, M., Salzman, D.H., (2020). Instructional Design and Delivery for Mastery Learning BT - Comprehensive Healthcare Simulation: Mastery Learning in Health Professions Education, in: McGaghie, W.C., Barsuk, J.H., Wayne, D.B. (Eds.), . Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 71–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-34811-3_4

McLeod, G.A., Vaughan, B., Carey, I., Shannon, T., Winn, E., (2020). Pre-professional reflective practice: Strategies, perspectives and experiences. International Journal of Osteopathic Medicine 35, 50–56. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijosm.2019.11.005

Molloy, E., Denniston, C., (2019). The Role of Verbal Feedback in Surgical Education. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3128-2_19

Morse, J.M., Barrett, M., Mayan, M., Olson, K., Spiers, J., (2002). Verification Strategies for Establishing Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research. Int J Qual Methods 1, 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690200100202

NMBA, (2016). Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia [WWW Document]. Registered nurses standards for practice. URL https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-

Statements/Professional-standards/registered-nurse-standards-for-practice.aspx (accessed 3.28.24).

Oermann, M.H., (2014). Evaluation and testing in nursing education, 4th ed. ed. New York : Springer Publishing Company, New York.

Okada, A., Whitelock, D., Holmes, W., Edwards, C., (2019). e-Authentication for online assessment: A mixed-method study. British journal of educational technology 50, 861–875. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12608

Pearce, G., Lee, G., (2009). Viva Voce (Oral Examination) as an Assessment Method: Insights from Marketing Students. Journal of Marketing Education 31, 120–130. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0273475309334050

Platzer, H., Snelling, J., Blake, D., (1997). Promoting Reflective Practitioners in Nursing: a review of theoretical models and research into the use of diaries and journals to facilitate reflection. Teaching in Higher Education 2, 103–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/1356251970020202

Raymond, J.E., Homer, C.S.E., Smith, R., Gray, J.E., (2013). Learning through authentic assessment: an evaluation of a new development in the undergraduate midwifery curriculum. Nurse Educ Pract 13, 471–476.

Ringeisen, T., Lichtenfeld, S., Becker, S., Minkley, N., (2019). Stress experience and performance during an oral exam: the role of self-efficacy, threat appraisals, anxiety, and cortisol. Anxiety Stress Coping 32, 50–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2018.1528528

Sadler, D.R., (2010). Beyond feedback: developing student capability in complex appraisal. Assess Eval High Educ 35, 535–550. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602930903541015

Shenwai, M., Patil, K., (2013). Introduction of Structured Oral Examination as A Novel Assessment tool to First Year Medical Students in Physiology. J Clin Diagn Res 7, 2544–2547. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2013/7350.3606

Siles-González, J., Solano-Ruiz, C., (2016). Self-assessment, reflection on practice and critical thinking in nursing students. Nurse Educ Today 45, 132–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.07.005

Sotiriadou, P., Logan, D., Daly, A., Guest, R., (2020). The role of authentic assessment to preserve academic integrity and promote skill development and employability. Studies in higher education (Dorchester-on-Thames) 45, 2132–2148. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2019.1582015

Sutherland, R.M., Reid, K.J., Chiavaroli, N.G., Smallwood, D., McColl, G.J., (2019). Assessing Diagnostic Reasoning Using a Standardized Case-Based Discussion. J Med Educ Curric Dev 6, 2382120519849411. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/2382120519849411

Tai, J., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Dawson, P., Panadero, E., (2018). Developing evaluative judgement: enabling students to make decisions about the quality of work. High Educ (Dordr) 76, 467–481. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0220-3

Tan, F.D.H., Tan, F.D.H., Whipp, P.R., Whipp, P.R., Gagné, M., Gagné, M., Van Quaquebeke, N., Van Quaquebeke, N., (2019). Students' perception of teachers' two-way feedback interactions that impact learning. Social psychology of education 22, 169–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-018-9473-7

Taylor, B., (2006). Reflective Practice: A Guide for Nurses and Midwives. Berkshire: McGraw-Hill Education, Berkshire.

Thompson, J., Grantham, H., Houston, D., (2015). Paramedic capstone education model: Building work ready graduates. Australasian journal of paramedicine 12. https://doi.org/10.33151/ajp.12.3.15 Thompson, J., Houston, D., Dansie, K., Rayner, T., Pointon, T., Pope, S., Cayetano, A., Mitchell,
B., Grantham, H., (2017). Student & tutor consensus: a partnership in assessment for learning.
Assess Eval High Educ 42, 942–952. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2016.1211988

Villarroel, V., Bloxham, S., Bruna, D., Bruna, C., Herrera-Seda, C., (2018). Authentic assessment: creating a blueprint for course design. Assess Eval High Educ 43, 840–854.

Wu, X.V., Heng, M.A., Wang, W., (2015). Nursing students' experiences with the use of authentic assessment rubric and case approach in the clinical laboratories. Nurse Educ Today 35, 549–555. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2014.12.009

Yang, M., Carless, D., (2013). "The Feedback Triangle and the Enhancement of Dialogic Feedback Processes." Teaching in Higher Education 18, 285–297.

Chapter Five

Consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement: comparing assessor and students

As published in Nurse Education in Practice

Henderson, B., Chipchase, L., Aitken, R., & Lewis, L. K. (2022). Consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement: Comparing assessor and students. Nurse Education in Practice, 63, 103386–103386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2022.103386

The previous chapter explored consensus marking, a new grading method that embeds the concept of developing students' evaluative judgement. This chapter presents a peer reviewed manuscript titled: *Consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement: comparing assessor and students*' a mixed methods study published in Nurse Education in Practice (*Scimago Q1 – top 10%, 10/172 Nursing miscellaneous, Impact Factor 3.2, H-index 62*).

This study differed from the previous study, as it is prospective, and the focus was on gathering students' perspective about the difference between traditional grading methods and consensus marking, as well as exploring whether using consensus marking influenced student anxiety and satisfaction levels.

The previous study presented in Chapter Four highlighted that anxiety was a feature of oral viva exams, a finding consistent with other studies on the use of oral vivas (Akimov and Malin 2020). Therefore, testing consensus marking against traditional assessor grading methods in this subsequent study included an anxiety score attempting to explore if self-evaluating and grading using consensus marking had any potential to reduce students' anxiety and increase satisfaction in oral viva exams.

An authorship declaration is included in Appendix 5.1. The publication is reproduced with the journal permission refer to Appendix 5.2. Please refer to Appendix 5.3 for the PDF version of the article, as published in *Nurse Education in Practice*.

5.1 Abstract

Background: Reflection, self-evaluation and feedback conversations have the potential to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement. Consensus marking is a novel method of grading students' performance that supports students to reflect, self-evaluate and grade their own work. Active engagement in a feedback dialogue supports students to calibrate their self-evaluation to the required standard in a grade negotiation. Through this approach, students are supported to develop evaluative judgement and lifelong learning skills.

Objective: This study explored postgraduate nursing students' perceptions, anxiety, and satisfaction of an innovative and novel grading method for online vivas, consensus marking, compared with traditional assessor judgement.

Design: A convergent mixed-methods parallel research design was used.

Methods: Students enrolled in a postgraduate emergency nursing unit of study completed two online viva assessments. One viva was graded using traditional assessor judgement, and the other used consensus marking, involving a two-way feedback dialogue, where students had an opportunity to actively engage in grading their own work with the assessor. Student perceptions of each grading method were explored through semi-structured interviews. Interview data were analysed thematically using a six-stage approach. Student anxiety and satisfaction were measured pre- and post each viva using valid and reliable questionnaires. Non-parametric analyses explored differences in anxiety and satisfaction between the two grading methods. Alpha was set at 0.05.

Results: Forty-six participants had complete data for anxiety and satisfaction across both test occasions (82%) and were included in the analysis. Of these, 13 students participated in follow up interviews. Students perceived that the ability to self-evaluate performance and discuss their grade with the assessor using consensus marking was less hierarchical and similar to a collegial debrief. Student anxiety was significantly lower prior to consensus marking compared with the assessor

judged viva (p < 0.001). Students were significantly more satisfied with consensus marking compared with assessor judgement (p <0.01).

Conclusions: Consensus marking created an opportunity for students to identify knowledge deficits through reflection and self-evaluation of their own performance prior to external judgement. Students were more satisfied and less anxious with the consensus marking grading method compared with traditional assessor judgement. These findings have implications for the development and application of new grading methods in nursing education to facilitate the development of evaluative judgement.

5.2 Background

Evaluative judgement has been defined as *"the capability to make decisions about the quality of work of self and others*" (Tai et al., 2018, p.5). This capability is vital for nurses who must be able to judge the safety and quality of their own and others' clinical practice (Cathro, 2016; Vaismoradi, et al., 2020). Making decisions about the quality of clinical practice, using reflection and self-evaluation, is important for emergency nurses who function in a demanding, intense and often unpredictable clinical setting where a close relationship between nurse'' clinical competency and quality of care has been identified (Aghaie et al., 2021; Weigl & Schneider, 2017). Thus, the challenge for higher education is to equip postgraduate nursing students with skills that supports their learning beyond the completion of the course so they have the ability to reflect and self-evaluate their own performance (Boud & Falchickov, 2006; Boud & Soler, 2016).

Students on their journey to graduation will engage in teaching and learning activities including assessment, a fundamental component of teaching and learning (Watling & Ginsburg, 2019). Using assessment *as learning* occurs when students are responsible for monitoring their own learning and act as their own assessors (Hume & Coll, 2009; Torrance, 2007). Assessment as learning is achieved by scaffolding activities of self-evaluation, self-assessment, peer-review and reflection throughout a curriculum (Ajjawi & Boud, 2017; Boud & Falchickov, 2006). Therefore,

designing assessments as learning has potential to develop students' evaluative judgement (Boud et al., 2018; Boud & Soler, 2016; Yan, et al., 2020).

Assessment can be a source of anxiety for students (Roos et al., 2020). Oral vivas as an assessment method have been associated with high levels of anxiety particularly when students perceive a lack of consistency between their performance and grade (Carter, 2012; Furnham, et al., 2008; Huxham, Campbell, & Westwood, 2012; Kleiven, Tegani, & Sullivan, 2016). Conversely, there is evidence that oral vivas motivate students to learn, and that students perceive them as authentic assessment compared to written assessments (Ganji, 2017; Orrock, et al., 2014; Pearce & Lee, 2009). While it is accepted that an appropriate level of anxiety motivates students to engage in learning and perform optimally (Hooda & Saini, 2017; Rasouli, Alipour, & Ebrahim, 2018), high levels of anxiety are thought to impair academic performance and the student experience (Roos et al., 2020; Thomas, Cassady, & Heller, 2017).

Academic performance is generally assessed by an expert who unilaterally provides the judgement and delivers the grade and feedback to the student about the quality of their work (Brooks, 2012). However, if the delivery of grades and feedback engages students in a conversation, students may self-regulate their learning as they become active participants in a two-way feedback dialogue (Ajjawi & Boud, 2017; Boud & Soler, 2016; Ilangakoon, et al., 2022; Merry, et al., 2013; Tai et al., 2018) A new approach to develop this feedback dialogue is through consensus marking (Henderson, et al., 2021; Thompson et al., 2017). The unique features of consensus marking provides students with an opportunity to actively engage in grading their own work and calibrate to the standard through a feedback dialogue with the assessor. Using consensus marking, the student reflects, discusses, and evaluates their performance before the assessor passes judgement. Grading then occurs by calibrating the student's self-evaluation to the required standard through a feedback conversation and grade negotiation (Henderson et al., 2021). The relationship between reflection, self-assessment and feedback methods has not been considered explicitly in nursing education (Ilangakoon et al., 2022). Thus, consensus marking

provides an explicit assessment approach that may develop students' evaluative judgement by synergising reflection, self-evaluation, and feedback dialogue.

Two previous studies have evaluated consensus marking in health professional education. Undergraduate paramedicine students' (n=90) perceptions of consensus marking in a face-to-face clinical viva were explored by Thompson et al (2017) with students perceiving that consensus marking was fair and effective for learning while facilitating evaluation of their practice (Thompson et al., 2017). Subsequently, a retrospective analysis of postgraduate emergency nursing students' (n= 13) perceptions of consensus marking in an online oral viva was investigated (Henderson et al., 2021). In that study, consensus marking was perceived to enable reflection and self-evaluation while creating an opportunity to gain feedback through a collegial reflective conversation (Henderson et al., 2021). However, consensus marking has yet to be compared with the familiar marking methods where the assessor judges the students' performance.

Given the paucity of research on consensus marking as a grading method and the importance of actively engaging students in self-evaluation and feedback dialogue to develop evaluative judgement, this study aimed to explore postgraduate emergency nursing students' perceptions of oral vivas using consensus marking compared to assessor judgment in an oral viva exam. First, students' perception of their learning experience and relationship with the assessor were explored. Second, the study investigated differences in student anxiety and satisfaction between each of the grading methods.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Design

A convergent mixed-methods parallel research design with concurrent, yet separate, collection of data using questionnaires and semi-structured interviews was conducted. The data collection methods were equally weighted with analysis of the two components being independent, but interpretation of the results combined (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011). Using both quantitative and qualitative data, the researchers sought to obtain different but complementary data of the students' experience to better understand the student perspective. To build a rich description of the phenomenon under investigation, a descriptive generic qualitative approach was used (Hoon Lim 2011; Merriam 2002; 2009). The consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ) were used to guide the qualitative research component (Tong, Sainsbury, & Craig, 2007).

5.3.2 Ethics

Ethical approval (No. 2106) was gained from the Human Research Ethics Committee of Flinders University where the research was conducted. All participants were provided with an information sheet outlining the study and then provided informed consent.

5.3.3 Participants and setting

A convenient sample of 56 Registered nurses (M:F; 6:50) enrolled in a university postgraduate capstone emergency nursing unit of study were invited to participate. Assessment for this unit of study included two oral vivas conducted online using Blackboard Collaborate©. The first oral viva assessment occurred in week six of a 14-week semester where the assessor judgement of performance method was used. The second oral viva assessment using consensus marking occurred in week 13 of the same semester.

5.3.4 Oral viva grading methods

Assessor judgement of performance

The assessor, who was the expert judge of the student's performance, was the academic responsible for delivering the teaching. The assessor decided on the grade guided by a marking rubric, and subsequently delivered verbal and written feedback. Ten minutes was allocated to complete the marking rubric, give verbal feedback, and provide a written summary to each student. It was assumed that the student would interpret and apply the feedback given by the assessor to improve future performance.

Consensus marking

Consensus marking engaged students in reflection and evaluation of their performance before any judgement of performance was provided by the assessor (Henderson et al., 2021). Students reflected on whether their performance met the required standard, guided by a marking rubric. Students then engaged in a feedback conversation with the assessor and calibrated their level of knowledge to the expected standard. Consensus was then reached between the assessor and the student on the grade achieved (Henderson et al., 2021; Thompson et al., 2017). On average, consensus marking took 15 minutes per student to complete.

All oral vivas were conducted by one assessor who graded and delivered feedback. Moderation occurred before the oral vivas by a content expert lecturer who was not connected to the research team. The instructions, marking guides, and rubrics were assessed for clarity, transparency, and fairness. Further, a lecturer who was independent to the research team reviewed eight randomly selected video recorded oral vivas to assess the feedback and grades for equity and fairness in both viva exams.

5.4 Data collection

Students Perceptions

All students were invited to participate in a semi-structured on-line, in-depth interview by

email. The interviews provided an opportunity to gain a deep and rich understanding of student

perceptions, expectations and experience of consensus marking compared to an assessor grading

of oral viva assessment. The interview questions are outlined in Table 5.1.

Table 5.1 Interview guide

Questions

a. I would like to start by asking if you can tell me generally about your experience of the oral viva exams?

Prompt question:

- a. What were you expecting before you participated in the first Viva?
- b. How did this make you feel?
- b. And the second viva, were you expecting the same or different?

Prompt question:

- a. How did this make you feel?
- c. Can you tell me about the purpose of the oral viva?

Prompt question:

- a. How do you think the Viva is supposed to contribute to your learning?
- b. Do you think that this learning outcome was achieved?
- c. Was there any difference between the learning achieved in each of the vivas?
- d. Now that you look back on the experience, what do you think that you learnt regardless of whether this might have been the intention or not?
- e. Was there any difference between the learning achieved in each of the vivas?

d. Can you tell me about the grade that you achieved?

Prompt question:

- a. Was your grade what you expected?
- b. Do you think this was a true reflection of your experience?
- c. Was this the same for both vivas?
- e. What do you think was the role of the tutor in the oral vivas?

Prompt question:

- a. was this the same for both vivas?
- b. How is the tutor role different to your role in the viva?
- c. Was this the same for both vivas?
- f. What might you tell other students about your experience?

Prompt question:

a. Was this the same for both vivas?

5.4.1 Anxiety

Anxiety was measured prior to each oral viva exam, with an Exam Anxiety Scale (EAS), completed online using QualtricsXM©. The EAS is a 12-item validated shortened anxiety test (Table 5.2), developed by Bedewy & Gabriel, (2013) and was based on the 20-item Text Anxiety Inventory by Spielberger, (2010). The EAS used Likert scales with anchors at 0 = strongly disagree, 5 = neutral and 10 = strongly agree. The items identify three factors: 1) excessive performance anxiety that means excessive preoccupation with fear of failure and inability to relax. 2) negative academic self-concept and excessive autonomic response that refers to poor self-confidence in academic ability and fear of failure, and 3) familiar test anxiety that refers to commonly experienced exam anxiety such as butterflies in the stomach or restless sleep the night before the exam.

ITEMS (N=12)			FACTORS	
	F1	F2	F3	
My heart beats fast (races) during exams	х			
I expect my anxiety will interfere with my performance in the oral viva exam	Х			
I am afraid of failing the oral viva exam	х			
Oral viva exams make me unable to relax	х		Х	
I tend to have breathing difficulty on exam days		х		
I develop diarrhea around the time of exams		х		
I am preoccupied with failure just before the oral viva exam		х		
Even when I am well prepared for the oral viva exam, i feel anxious about it		х		
I do not have confidence in myself to pass		х		
Oral viva exams make me unable to relax			х	
Oral viva exams make me feel shaky			х	
I experience an upset stomach on exam day			Х	
My sleep is disturbed before exam days			х	
Factor 1: (F1) excessive performance anxiety				
Factor 2: (F2) negative academic self-concept and excessive autonomic response				
Factor 3: (F3) familiar test anxiety				

5.4.2 Satisfaction

Student satisfaction was measured following each oral viva using the Satisfaction in Oral Viva Assessment Scale (SOVAS) completed online using QualtricsXM©. The SOVAS is a five-item questionnaire developed and validated by Salamonson et al., (2016) (Table 5.3). Scores from the five items are averaged to identify the level of satisfaction. The SOVAS uses Likert scales with anchors at 0 = strongly disagree, 5 = neutral and 10 = strongly agree. Two demographic questions were included to ascertain primary language spoken and years' experience working as a Registered nurse.

Table 5.3 Satisfaction in Oral Viva Assessment Scale (SOVAS)

The oral viva assessment in the emergency nursing course has helped me learn

I was able to learn from the feedback I received from the oral viva assessment

There were clear guidelines for the oral viva assessment in this topic

During the oral viva I had enough time to answer the questions

Compared to a written assignment I think the oral viva assessment is

What language do you speak at home

How long have you worked as a Registered nurse

(Salamonson et al 2016) Scaled responses were required for the stem questions shown in the table

5.5 Procedure

The interviews were conducted online after participants had completed both vivas and had received their final grades for the unit of study. Two members of the research team who were not part of the teaching team and did not have a pre-existing relationship with the students conducted the interviews (LC, RA). The primary researcher (BH) was blinded to who was participating in the research project. The audio recordings of the interviews were transcribed using Descript© and manually checked for accuracy. No field notes were made, and the interviews lasted between 20 to 30 minutes.

Participant anxiety was measured on two test occasions with the EAS administered three days before each of the oral viva assessments. The questionnaire completed before the first oral viva exam was identified as EAS1 and the EAS questionnaire completed before the second oral viva exam was identified as EAS2. Student satisfaction with the SOVAS was measured immediately following each oral viva assessment on both test occasions. The SOVAS questionnaire completed after the first oral viva exam was identified as SOVAS1 and the questionnaire completed after the second oral viva exam was identified as SOVAS2.

5.6 Data management and analysis

5.6.1 Student Perceptions

Using NVIVO© software and a manual coding method, the transcribed interviews were coded, and themes identified. A reflexive thematic analysis approach was used (Braun & Clarke, 2019). All members of the research team conducted the thematic analysis using a six-stage approach (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Initial coding of each interview identified fragments of data, phrases, and key words that related to themes already identified in the literature, extended the findings of previous studies, related specifically to the experience(s) of the students, represented students' perceptions of the exam process and/or components of evaluative judgment. The data was reviewed each time a new theme emerged, and the theme was either confirmed by further examples or modified to reflect a more nuanced understanding of the responses.

The researchers engaged in an iterative cyclical process to revise the codes to identify connecting relationships within and between the codes. Meaningful patterns were identified which were inductively conceptualised into themes (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Morse, 2002). Dependability was achieved by having two of the researchers (BH and LKL) review transcribed data to validate the codes and themes (Creswell, 2018) and confirm data saturation when no new themes emerged. The data analysis was conducted after participants had completed their studies with participants no longer having access to their university emails or online learning platform. This precluded the opportunity to engage with member checking. Peer briefing was conducted to ensure trustworthiness and credibility of the thematic analysis process (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The research team engaged in fortnightly reflexive discussions during the data analysis phase, and the primary researcher maintained a reflective journal to identify any personal biases or potential issues that might influence the data analysis.

5.6.2 Anxiety and satisfaction

Using IBM SPSS Statistics[©] version 25, data from the SOVAS and EAS questionnaires were analysed using non-parametric tests. Questionnaires were re-identified so that they could be paired across the two test occasions for each participant. Questionnaires that were not fully completed or could not be paired, were removed. Thus, participants who completed all questions for both test occasions for EAS and SOVAS were included in the analysis.

A Shapiro-Wilk test was conducted to determine whether the data sets produced a normal distribution (González-Estrada & Cosmes, 2019). The results of the Shapiro-Wilk test were significant for factor 2 EAS2 W =0.92, p <0.05, factor 3 EAS1 W = 0.92, p <0.05, and factor 3 EAS2 W=92, p =<0.05. These results suggested that for the pre-test factor 3 in EAS1 and factors 2 and 3 in EAS2 were unlikely to have been produced by a normal distribution; therefore, normality could not be assumed.

Likewise, the post-test SOVAS2 results of the Shapiro-Wilk test were significant W = 0.92, p<0.05 suggesting that a normal distribution could not be assumed. Attempts to transform the data sets using log, square root and reflection of the negatively skewed data were unsuccessful. The remaining data sets were normally distributed, however, for consistency, the Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test was used to test significance for all paired data.

5.7 Results

5.7.1 Participant characteristics

All 56 students enrolled in the unit of study participated in the oral viva examinations. After removing incomplete questionnaires, 46 participants had completed both test occasions for the EAS and the SOVAS (82% of the cohort). Of these, 13 participants consented to be interviewed (23%). Of the 46 participants, 41 spoke English as their primary language. The average (SD) as a Registered nurse was 8.1 (6.2) years.

5.7.2 Perceptions

An example of excerpt phrases relevant to the initial coding from one participant is provided

in Table 5.4

Table 5.4 Initial coding

Initial codes	Interview excerpt – Participant 4
Acknowledging the anxiety or stress.	I'm someone who struggles really bad with anxiety, especially with known assessments. I talk myself out of them quite a lot, so I struggled really badly with anxiety.
	I did like the accord of the bottom because we want able to them be we
Expressing feelings of collegiality, able to ask	an opportunity to say like, Oh, I felt like I did really well there. What did you think? And they'd say yes, no, it kind of re confirms like where you are confident.
questions.	And it also gets you to kind of address more likely deficits and ask questions that maybe you wouldn't get a chance to ask. Maybe the first style didn't give you that opportunity. Whereas the second style did.
Valuing the opportunity	I found the first oral Viva, very straight down, the line like it started and finished and ran very smoothly. The second one, I think I
for refection and going	appreciate it a lot better because of the end, going back through it, being able to have an opportunity to go back over stuff and clarify
back over performance.	things and get extra education and obviously bits that I did lapse and that we identified with deficits.
Valuing feedback.	
Identifying that the	I see it as the same thing that we used to do in uni, like the clinical year you kind of, you go in, you have your fake patient there, and
assessment method was	you can actually perform your clinical skills and go through a case scenario.
authentic to clinical	That's more realistic and really tests you. You don't have the answers in front of you. You don't have all this information, they're
practice.	giving you the answers.
Have to learn and forced	Like you really actually need to know what you're doing and know what you're on about to be able to run through a scenario like that.
to learn.	So I see it as more of like an online version of a practical assessment.

The following six themes were identified from the 13 transcribed interviews with most

participants' experiences aligning with multiple themes:

- 1. Accountable for learning
- 2. Authentic assessment and grading method that translates to clinical practice
- 3. Feedback, dialogue, and immediacy
- 4. Reflect and self-evaluate
- 5. Test anxiety
- 6. Voice and shifting power dynamics

Theme 1: Accountable for learning.

Ten of the 13 participants (77%) expressed that the oral viva assessment compelled them to learn and made them feel accountable for their learning. For example:

"I kind of more appreciated because I'm reading it and I'm reading it and I need to really read it and understand it. So then I can say it when I'm getting, like examined." (P12).

This accountability for learning was highlighted by participants' desire to showcase their

knowledge in an assessment method that could potentially highlight any knowledge deficits.

"...for the viva I had to actually know what I was talking about and had to prove that I knew what I was talking about." (P1).

"That's more realistic and really tests you. You don't have the answers in front of you. You don't have all this information... Like you really actually need to know what you're doing and know what you're on about to be able to run through a scenario like that." (P4).

Theme 2: Authentic assessment and grading method that translates to clinical practice

Eight of the 13 participants (62%) expressed that the oral viva with consensus marking reflected the reality of their work life. One participant described consensus marking as:

"... a lot better form of assessment, particularly in a clinical subject, they made you consider on the spot just like you would in the emergency department. And for me that just related a lot more to the normal practice that we'd go about in the clinical setting." (P15). And that consensus marking felt like a debrief after a clinical event and the realistic scenarios related to their everyday workplace experiences as the following participant notes:

"...definitely felt more like you know, debriefing after work, this code has just happened, and this is our debrief, that's probably more what it felt like then an exam ... I do this every day. Like, what am I stressing about this is work." (P10).

Theme 3: Feedback, dialogue, and immediacy

Eleven of the 13 participants (85%) expressed that consensus marking gave them

immediate and detailed feedback. One participant said:

"It was just good to provide that feedback, but also good to provide the feedback then and there straight away, there was no time delay" (P9)

The immediacy and detailed feedback dialogue assisted students understanding of where they needed to improve and where they did well as demonstrated by these remarks:

"And actually, understand the feedback you've received rather than going, this is what they've written, how the, how do I fix that?" (P15).

"I thought was better than the first [viva], I felt that the feedback was a bit more direct. I just felt like we got much better feedback for each single part, rather than the first traditional sort of marking that was just sort of a generalized feedback...I felt like the feedback was probably the best, the most noticeable difference." (P1).

Theme 4: Reflect and self-evaluation

Eight of the 13 participants (62%) appreciated the opportunity to reflect on their

performance and self-evaluate including:

"I really liked the second, consensus way of marking because we were able to reflect back on what I missed or what I could have done better, what I did well". (P5)

Participants expressed that the opportunity to reflect and evaluate their performance

assisted them in self-identifying future learning needs as demonstrated by this student's feedback:

"I found this was definitely a good way to learn because it helped you to be more self-reflective and identify your own sort of areas of improvement rather than just relying on our mentor and educator to do that for you."

There were more just aspects I thought I could have improved on for the future. Whereas if I did that in an exam, I'd probably remember the information and data dump it straight away. Whereas now I'm actually actively seeking out x-rays to look at and try and review a doctors' and get better at that." (P15)

Theme 5: Test anxiety

Twelve of the 13 participants (92%) expressed that an oral viva caused anxiety. The causes were varied, some participants were anxious because there was a compulsion to learn and prepare for the exam. For others, it was fear of the unknown, not knowing what questions would be asked. For example:

"Well, I think the vivas in themself are both very daunting, no matter. What type of grading scale". (P6) One participant found the concept of consensus marking increased anxiety.

"I think, particularly on the second one, [consensus marking] because I knew somewhere, I'm marking myself." (P14).

Conversely some participants found that because they knew they could grade themselves and engage in a feedback conversation this reduced their level of stress.

"I struggled really badly with anxiety, so I think I liked the second process [consensus marking] better than the first one... and that was only just because of that communication pathway at the end." (P4).

Stress and anxiety for one participant was a motivator to learn, whereas two participants had anxiety levels that produced somatic effects that negatively impacted on their ability to perform.

"the first one I was quite anxious about, and to be honest, I was quite unwell on the day I had to pause the thing so I could vomit but the second one, I really, I knew the expectations from the first time and I wasn't nervous." (P11).

Participants expressed that their stress and anxiety levels were reduced in the second oral viva (consensus marking) simply because this was the second time that they had engaged in an oral viva exam. They had more of an idea about what to expect, therefore, their fear of the unknown was reduced.
"I don't think I was as stressed for the second one because I think I had a little bit of an idea of how it was going to go. So I was definitely more stressed about the first one, the second one wasn't as bad". (P1)

"definitely felt a lot more comfortable with the second one, because we've done one. It wasn't a fear of the unknown", (P9)

Theme 6: Voice and shifting power dynamics

Nine of the 13 participants (69%) used words such as justify, discuss, explain, talk, rationalise, colleague, circle back, align, confidence, agreement when responding to the question about consensus marking as a grading method. One respondent commented:

"I think just because when we talked about them together, we actually went through the subject sort of headings one by one. And because we had to obviously come to an agreement on a grade, I felt like we would both be able to talk and sort of justify the grade. I liked the fact that like I had the time to justify and explain things further if I needed to." (P1).

The ability to have a voice was important to students. In some cases, there was a

perception that it reduced the stress of the exam, while others felt it was less like an exam and more like a collegial discussion, including:

"... you feel less like sort of a hierarchy, like tutor student. It was more like we're working together and like we were going to work out what I knew without, being graded straight away." (P6).

5.7.3 Questionnaires

Anxiety Questionnaire

Excessive performance anxiety, negative academic self-concept and excessive autonomic response, and familiar test anxiety were significantly lower (p < 0.001) when students engaged with consensus marking compared with tutor judgement marking (Table 5.5).

Satisfaction Questionnaire

Student satisfaction was significantly higher with consensus marking compared to tutor judgement marking (p < 0.01) (Table 5.5).

Table 5.5 Anxiety and satisfaction outcomes over the two test occasions (assessor judgement and consensus marking).

Outcomes	Assessor judgement median (IQR)	Consensus marking median (IQR)	CI	n	p
Factor 1 - Excessive	7.75 (2.50)	6.25 (4.13)	-2.250.62	46	<0.001
performance					
anxiety					
Factor 2 -Negative	5.80 (3.10)	3.70 (2.65)	-2.401.00	46	<0.001
academic self-					
concept &					
excessive					
autonomic					
response					
Factor 3 - Familiar	7.12 (3.31)	5.12 (6.56)	-2.253.37	46	<0.001
test anxiety					
Satisfaction	40.00 (11.00)	45.50 (9.00)	0.61 - 0.12	46	<0.01

IQR Interquartile range; CI Confidence Interval

5.8 Discussion

This is the first prospective study to compare consensus marking to an assessor judgement of an oral viva in the tertiary setting. Oral vivas using consensus marking were perceived by students to enhance their accountability for learning, be an authentic method of grading, facilitate reflection and self-evaluation, and provide opportunity to engage in a feedback dialogue. Importantly, consensus marking was perceived to shift the power dynamics between student and assessor. The quantitative questionnaire results supported these findings as students were more satisfied and less anxious with the consensus marking method compared to assessor judgement.

The four key themes identified from the interviews (accountability for learning; authentic assessment and grading method; feedback, dialogue, and immediacy; reflect and self-evaluate) support the concept that consensus marking facilitates the development of evaluative judgement. Participants noted that consensus marking provided the opportunity to reflect and evaluate their own performance while helping to self-identify future learning needs in a dialogue akin to the real-world clinical setting. The development of evaluative judgement through this novel method may therefore assist emergency nurses develop the ability to reflect and self-evaluate performance that supports lifelong learning beyond the conclusion of the course (Boud, et al., 2018).

Authentic assessment has been shown to improved learning outcomes for students (Villarroel, et al., 2020). Participants in the current study perceived that consensus marking was authentic to their workplace with the discussion and feedback dialogue being similar to a clinical debrief with colleagues. If students perceive the learning activities as relevant to the workplace, then consensus marking may help students conceptualise learning, stimulate deeper learning and increase motivation for learning (Raymond, et al., 2013; Villarroel, et al., 2018).

Consensus marking also facilitated a student-focused approach to feedback dialogue, where the student drove the feedback conversation around their self-evaluation and negotiation of their grade. This is important as student dissatisfaction with feedback requires a change in approach (Carless & Boud 2018). The two-way collegial conversation in the consensus marking enabled students to self-identify where they could improve, and the student-centred approach to the feedback dialogue resulted in greater satisfaction with the provided feedback and may have been a factor in the reporting of increased satisfaction levels in the SOVAS survey. The literature around feedback dialogue is lacking on how to engage students in feedback conversations (Ossenberg, Henderson, & Mitchell, 2018). The current study adds to the discourse regarding a potential method that actively engages students in feedback dialogue while also shifting power dynamics. Participants were empowered by engaging in a feedback dialogue where they were able to justify and explain their actions or omissions during the oral viva exam. The perception of having a voice and some control over the grading could be a contributing factor to the EAS survey reporting lower anxiety levels with the consensus grading method.

Students' anxiety level was lower prior to the oral viva exam with consensus marking compared to the viva that was judged by the assessor in all three domains (performance anxiety; academic self-concept and autonomic response; and familiar test anxiety). Anxiety has been shown to have an impact on cognitive ability and academic performance (Hooda & Saini, 2017). In this study, instances where the student believed that they would fail despite preparation was considerably less in the oral viva using consensus marking compared to the assessor judgement. The lower anxiety with consensus marking may be explained by a reduction in the perceived power imbalance between the assessor and student and might also explain the reduction in familiar test anxiety, negative academic self-concept, and excessive autonomic response. However, the possibility remains that because the consensus marking oral viva was conducted after the first oral viva this may have led to a learning effect / prior exposure, which resulted in a reduction in anxiety. To mitigate this, students were provided with explicit and transparent information and a video recording on the consensus method on commencement of the unit of study. Therefore, students were aware of the two different grading methods and expectations from the beginning of the semester.

5.9 Study strengths and limitations

The study has several strengths. The current study is the first to compare the application of two different marking methods for online oral vivas and provides preliminary evidence of the usefulness of consensus marking in this cohort of students adding to the discourse on engaging students in feedback dialogue and developing evaluative judgement. A rigorous approach was used to analyse qualitative data, with members of the research team independent to the data collection validating codes and themes. Further, validated tools were used to measure satisfaction and anxiety. However, some limitations are accepted. First, the one group, non-randomised design of the study means that we are unable to conclusively state differences in perceptions, anxiety, and satisfaction between the two marking methods, as the exposure to the first online viva and marking method may have impacted on these variables for the subsequent marking method and oral viva. Second, the researchers acknowledge that the student-tutor relationship creates an inherent power imbalance, and that the researcher (BH) was a tutor and assessor in this project. To mitigate the risk that non-participation may have negatively affected their relationship with the tutor, students were informed that the tutor was blinded to the consenting research participants. Further, the research team used moderation, reflexive journaling, and discussion to ensure equity in the assessment process.

5.10 Conclusion

Consensus marking provides an opportunity for students to reflect and self-evaluate their own performance which supports the concept of developing evaluative judgement. The consensus marking method appeared to improve students' understanding of feedback with students perceiving a reduction in the power imbalance between assessor and student. Consensus marking resulted in less anxiety and increased student satisfaction compared to a traditional assessor assessment of a postgraduate oral viva. The findings of this study may inform a larger randomised controlled trial, investigating different assessment types and how they support students to evaluate their own performance.

91

References

Aghaie, B., Heidari, S., Abbasinia, M., Abdoli, M., Norouzadeh, R., & Shamali, M. (2021). Teamwork competence and readiness of emergency nurses in the care of trauma patients: A multicenter cross-sectional study. *International Emergency Nursing*, *59*, 101073. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ienj.2021.101073

Ajjawi, R., & Boud, D. (2017). Researching feedback dialogue: an interactional analysis approach. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, *42*(2), 252–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1102863

Akimov, A., & Malin, M. (2020). When old becomes new: a case study of oral examinations as an online assessment tool. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, 45(8), 1205-1221. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02602938.2020.1730301

Bedewy, D., & Gabriel, A. (2013). Measure the Severity of Examination Anxiety among Undergraduate University Students. *Internation Journal of Educational Psychology*, *2*(1), 81–104.

Boud, D., Ajjawi, R., Dawson, P., & Tai, J. (2018). *Developing Evaluative Judgement in Higher Education: Assessment for Knowing and Producing Quality Work* (1st ed., Vol. 1). Milton: Milton: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315109251

Boud, D., & Falchickov, N. (2006). Aligning assessment with long-term learning. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *31*(4), 399–413.

Boud, D., & Soler, R. (2016). Sustainable assessment revisited. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *41*(3), 400–413. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1018133

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. Qualitative Research in

Sport, Exercise and Health, 11(4), 589–597. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806

Brooks, V. (2012). Marking as judgment. *Research Papers in Education*, 27(1), 63–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/02671520903331008

Carless, D., & Boud, D. (2018). The development of student feedback literacy: Enabling

uptake of feedback. Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education, 43(8), 1315-1325.

Carter, S. (2012). English as an Additional Language (EAL) "viva voce": The EAL Doctoral Oral Examination Experience. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *37*(3), 273–284. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2010.528555

Cathro, H. (2016). Navigating Through Chaos: Charge Nurses and Patient Safety. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, *46*(4), 208–214.

Creswell, J. W. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design : choosing among five approaches*. (C. N. Poth, Ed.), *Qualitative inquiry and research design : choosing among 5 approaches* (Fourth edi). Los Angeles : SAGE.

Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. Los Angeles: SAGE Publications.

Furnham, A., Christopher, A., Garwood, J., & Martin, N. G. (2008). Ability, Demography, Learning Style, and Personality Trait Correlates of Student Preference for Assessment Method. *Educational Psychology*, *28*(1), 15–27. Retrieved from

https://search.proquest.com/docview/62052704?accountid=10910

Ganji, K. K. (2017). Evaluation of Reliability in Structured Viva Voce As a Formative Assessment of Dental Students. *Journal of Dental Education*, *81*(5), 590–596. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.21815/JDE.016.017 González-Estrada, E., & Cosmes, W. (2019). Shapiro-Wilk test for skew normal distributions based on data transformations. *Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation*, *89*(17), 3258–3272. https://doi.org/10.1080/00949655.2019.1658763

Henderson, B., Aitken, R., Lewis, L. K., & Chipchase, L. (2021). Postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas: A qualitative study. *Nurse Education Today*, *101*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104881

Hoon Lim, J. (2011). Qualitative Methods in Adult Development and Learning. In The Oxford Handbook of Reciprocal Adult Development and Learning (Oxford Library of Psychology, pp. The Oxford Handbook of Reciprocal Adult Development and Learning, 2011-09-06). Oxford University Press.

Hooda, M., & Saini, A. (2017). Academic Anxiety: An Overview. *Educational Quest*, *8*(3), 807–810. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.5958/2230-7311.2017.00139.8

Hume, A., & Coll, R. K. (2009). Assessment of learning, for learning, and as learning: New Zealand case studies. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice*, *16*(3), 269–290. https://doi.org/10.1080/09695940903319661

Huxham, M., Campbell, F., & Westwood, J. (2012). Oral versus written assessments: a test of student performance and attitudes. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, *37*(1), 125–136. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2010.515012

Ilangakoon, C., Ajjawi, R., Endacott, R., & Rees, C. (2022). The relationship between feedback and evaluative judgement in undergraduate nursing and midwifery education: An integrative review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *28*, 103255–103255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103255

Kleiven, H., Tegani, N., & Sullivan, L. (2016). What is the viva experience of phase 2 radiation oncology examination candidate? survey and advice for future candidates. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Oncology*, (60), 428–432.

Lincoln, Y., & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. Newbury Park CA: SAGE Publications.

Merriam, S. B. (2002). Basic interpretive qualitative research. In S. B. Merriam (Ed.), *Qualitative research in practice* (pp. 37–39). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Merry, S., Price, M., Carless, D., & Taras, M. (2013). *Reconceptualising Feedback in Higher Education: Developing dialogue with students*. London: London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203522813

Morse, J. (2002). *Coding. A users guide to qualitative methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.

Orrock, P., Grace, S., Vaughan, B., & Coutts, R. (2014). Developing a viva exam to assess clinical reasoning in pre-registration osteopathy students. *BMC Medical Education*, *14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6920-14-193

Ossenberg, C., Henderson, A., & Mitchell, M. (2018). What attributes guide best practice for effective feedback? A scoping review. *Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract*, *24*(2), 383–401. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-018-9854-x

Pearce, G., & Lee, G. (2009). Viva Voce (Oral Examination) as an Assessment Method: Insights from Marketing Students. *Journal of Marketing Education*, *31*(2), 120–130. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0273475309334050

Rasouli, R., Alipour, Z., & Ebrahim, T. (2018). Effectiveness of cognitive learning strategies on test anxiety and school performance of students. *International Journal of Educational and Psychological Researches*, *4*(1), 20–25. https://doi.org/10.4103/jepr.jepr_84_16

Raymond, J. E., Homer, C. S. E., Smith, R., & Gray, J. E. (2013). Learning through authentic

assessment: an evaluation of a new development in the undergraduate midwifery curriculum. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *13*, 471–476.

Roos, A.-L., Goetz, T., Voracek, M., Krannich, M., Bieg, M., Jarrell, A., & Pekrun, R. (2020). Test Anxiety and Physiological Arousal: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, *33*(2), 579–618. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-020-09543-z

Salamonson, Y., Metcalfe, L., Alexandrou, E., Cotton, A., Mcnally, S., Murphy, J., & Frost, S. (2016). Measuring final-year nursing students' satisfaction with the viva assessment. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *16*, 91–96.

Spielberger, C. D. (2010, January 30). Test Anxiety Inventory. *The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology*. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479216.corpsy0985

Tai, J., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Dawson, P., & Panadero, E. (2018). Developing evaluative judgement: enabling students to make decisions about the quality of work. *Higher Education*, *76*(3), 467–481. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0220-3

Thomas, C. L., Cassady, J. C., & Heller, M. L. (2017). The influence of emotional intelligence, cognitive test anxiety, and coping strategies on undergraduate academic performance. *Learning and Individual Differences*, *55*, 40–48. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2017.03.001

Thompson, J., Houston, D., Dansie, K., Rayner, T., Pointon, T., Pope, S., ... Grantham, H. (2017). Student & tutor consensus: a partnership in assessment for learning. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, *42*(6), 942–952. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2016.1211988

Tong, A., Sainsbury, P., & Craig, J. (2007). Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, *19*(6), 349–357. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzm042

Torrance, H. (2007). Assessment as learning? How the use of explicit learning objectives,

assessment criteria and feedback in post-secondary education and training can come to dominate learning. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 14*(3), 281–294. https://doi.org/10.1080/09695940701591867

Vaismoradi, M., Tella, S., A Logan, P., Khakurel, J., & Vizcaya-Moreno, F. (2020). Nurses' Adherence to Patient Safety Principles: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(6), 2028. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17062028

Villarroel, V., Bloxham, S., Bruna, D., Bruna, C., & Herrera-Seda, C. (2018). Authentic assessment: creating a blueprint for course design. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *43*(5), 840–854.

Villarroel, V., Boud, D., Bloxham, S., Bruna, D., & Bruna, C. (2020). Using principles of authentic assessment to redesign written examinations and tests. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, *57*(1), 38–49. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2018.1564882

Watling, C. J., & Ginsburg, S. (2019). Assessment, feedback and the alchemy of learning. *Med Educ*, *53*(1), 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13645

Weigl, M., & Schneider, A. (2017). Associations of work characteristics, employee strain and selfperceived quality of care in Emergency Departments: A cross-sectional study. *International Emergency Nursing*, *30*, 20–24. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ienj.2016.07.002

Yan, Z., Brubacher, S., Boud, D., & Powell, M. (2020). Psychometric properties of the Selfassessment Practice Scale for professional training contexts: evidence from confirmatory factor analysis and Rasch analysis. *International Journal of Training and Development*, *24*(4), 357–373. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ijtd.12201

Chapter Six

Developing student nurses' evaluative judgement in clinical practice tertiary education: a systematic scoping review of teaching and assessment methods

As published in Nurse Education in Practice

Henderson, B., Chipchase, L., Golder, F., & Lewis, L. K. (2023). Developing student nurses' evaluative judgement in clinical practice tertiary education: A systematic scoping review of teaching and assessment methods. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *73*, 103818–103818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2023.103818 The previous study explored students' perspective about the difference between traditional grading methods and consensus marking, as well as exploring whether using consensus marking influenced anxiety and satisfaction levels. This chapter presents a peer reviewed publication titled: *Developing student nurses' evaluative judgement in clinical practice tertiary education: A systematic scoping review of teaching and assessment methods* published in Nurse Education in Practice. (*Scimago Q1 – top 10%, 10/172 Nursing miscellaneous, Impact Factor 3.2, H-index 62*). This review provides a useful foundation regarding the presence of, and methods for, delivering each of the features of evaluative judgement in nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment methods. The first part of this chapter provides additional context which was not included in the published article. This is then followed by the Word-formatted full publication.

An authorship declaration is included in Appendix 6.1. The publication is reproduced with the journal permission Appendix 6.2. Please refer to Appendix 6.3 for the PDF version of the article, as published in *Nurse Education in Practice*.

6.1 Additional context

Following on from the successful implementation of consensus marking as a grading method for oral viva assessments in a postgraduate emergency nursing subject, explored in Chapters Four and Five, the focus of the research shifted to embedding the pedagogical concept of developing undergraduate nursing students' evaluative judgement. Using consensus marking as a strategy to develop undergraduate students' evaluative judgement presented some challenges. Firstly, the oral viva exams were approximately 30 to 40 minutes per student to conduct. Engaging in the consensus marking process after the oral viva added another 15 minutes, therefore, the total time per student to assess and grade was close to one hour. In the postgraduate topic where consensus marking was introduced, the online oral viva exam was the only graded assessment for the topic, and the cohort was small (45 – 50 students). However, in the undergraduate program, at Flinders University, students have two or three assessments per topic and marking time allocated to educators is one hour per student. Also, the cohort size in the undergraduate program is 480 –

550 students per topic. These constraints meant that the oral viva using consensus marking as it was used in the postgraduate topic was not able to be feasibly implemented at the undergraduate level.

Demographic differences were also considered. At Flinders University the typical undergraduate nursing student cohort consists of 21% international students with 50% of students under the age of 24. International students cultural experience of learning combined with language barriers may make engaging in an oral viva exam, self-evaluation and feedback conversations more challenging (Graham et al., 2024). Therefore, seeking a strategy that would work in the undergraduate program required a step back to conduct some preliminary research to explore the concepts more broadly.

As identified in the background chapter, (Chapter Two), approximately half of undergraduate nursing education is undertaken the clinical practice setting. The clinical practice setting provides an opportunity for students to practice recognising what quality work looks like, comparing their work to others. Therefore, developing undergraduate nursing students' evaluative judgement in teaching or assessment activities in the clinical setting was a potential avenue to embed the pedagogical concept. However, situating developing evaluative judgement in the clinical setting required a broader view of how teaching and assessment is conducted in this setting. An exploration of the literature to establish the presence of any teaching and assessment methods that might deliver the features of evaluative judgement in nursing clinical practice settings was required.

6.2 Abstract

Objectives: This review aimed to systematically scope undergraduate or postgraduate tertiary higher education nursing students' clinical practice teaching and assessment methods to identify features that align with promoting students' evaluative judgement.

Introduction: Evaluative judgement is a new concept to nursing tertiary education. Currently, there are no published reviews of evaluative judgement in nursing clinical practice education. This review aims to assist nursing educators to operationalise the concept of evaluative judgement in clinical practice education. As such the starting point was to determine features of evaluative judgement in current clinical teaching and assessment designs.

Inclusion criteria: Peer reviewed qualitative or quantitative studies that have evaluated teaching and/or assessment of tertiary (university/higher education) pre-registration (undergraduate) or post-registration (postgraduate) nursing students' clinical practice.

Methods: The systematic scoping review was prospectively registered systematic review (OSF DOI 10.17605/OSF.IO/PYWZ6) reported using PRISMA guidelines. A systematic search of five databases (Medline, Scopus, Web of Science, ProQuest, CINAHL) was conducted, limited from 1989 onwards and in English. Two reviewers independently screened titles and abstracts, then full text, with disagreements resolved with a third independent author. Data were extracted, including the frequency and methods of developing students' evaluative judgement across the categories of discerning quality, judgement process, calibration, and feedback. A narrative synthesis was performed.

Results: Seventy-one studies were included (n=53 teaching, n=18 assessment). Most of the included studies, included some, but not all, of the features to develop nursing students' evaluative judgment. For teaching methods, the most identified evaluative judgement features in the included studies were discerning quality (n=47), feedback (n=41) and judgement process (n=21). Only three studies included a method of calibration. For the assessment methods, feedback (n=16),

discerning quality (n=15), judgement process (n=9) and calibration (n=4) were included. Many clinical practice teaching and assessment methods in nursing included features that develop students' evaluative judgement, with methods relating to discerning quality and feedback well embedded. Further adjustments are required to include methods to assist students to judge and calibrate their own performance.

Conclusion: This systematic scoping review identified that evaluative judgement in current nursing clinical teaching and assessment is not an overt aim. With minor adjustment to teaching and assessment design, nursing students could be better supported to develop their ability to judge the value of their own work.

6.3 Background

On completion of their studies, nurses enter the workforce as registered professional practitioners. This transition to clinical practice is often daunting as they no longer have access to clinical tutors or facilitators to provide direction and feedback on their performance (Hampton et al., 2020). Moreover, nursing regulatory standards expect qualified nurses to be reflective practitioners, able to recognise when they lack knowledge or skills, seek support and be lifelong learners to safeguard patient safety (NMBA 2016). Thus, it is incumbent on higher education providers to support students to develop these capabilities. One concept that provides a foundation for the development of these capabilities is evaluative judgement, and while not new, provides a language that could be embraced in assessment and teaching design (Fischer 2019; Boud et al., 2018).

The concept of self-evaluation was initially raised by Sadler, (1989 pg.110) who theorised that "for students to be able to improve, they must develop the capacity to monitor the quality of their own work". This concept has been raised again in context of modern education and the term evaluative judgement has been introduced as "the capability to make decisions about the quality of work of self and others" and is increasingly viewed as an important graduate attribute for all health professionals (Hampton et al., 2020; Henderson et al., 2015; Tai et al., 2018). This is because

developing evaluative judgement is thought to support the transition from student to practitioner where structured support and feedback from educators is no longer available (Boud et al., 2018).

Nursing students' clinical practice is supervised by clinical educators, preceptors or facilitators who provide students with feedback on their performance (Gcawu and Rooyen 2022). Feedback methods within clinical practice education often fail to provide students with opportunities to engage in a dialogue with educators where they can explore and understand the assessment of their performance (Alfehaid et al., 2018; Atmaca 2016; Bijami et al 2016; Henderson et al. 2019; Nuuyoma 2021; Paterson et al., 2020; Wong and Shorey, 2022). This deviates from contemporary theories on feedback practices (Boud and Molloy 2012; Dawson et al.2018; Molloy & Van De Riddler 2018). Feedback should be positioned to provide students with opportunity for reflection, self-evaluation, and active participation in their learning, supporting the concept of developing evaluative judgement (Henderson et al. 2021, 2022; Johnson et al. 2016; Ilangakoon et al. 2021). Evaluative judgement as a defined graduate attribute is relatively new in nursing education (Ilangakoon et al., 2022). Many activities in current nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment methods are well positioned to support students' development of evaluative judgement, such as, reflection, self-evaluation/assessment, peer review, and cocreating assessments (Ibarra-Sáiz et al., 2020). This systematic scoping review will focus on the teaching and assessment methods used in clinical practice to assist nursing educators and curriculum designers operationalise the concept of evaluative judgement in clinical practice education. However, developing evaluative judgement is more than providing a selection of teaching activities or engaging students in reflection, self-assessment, or feedback conversations as it is a complex theoretical concept that involves orientating the learning pedagogies to include developing evaluative judgement as a learning outcome and should be scaffolded throughout the curricula (Boud et al., 2018).

Scholars in this field have identified a number of features needed to support students to develop this important capability (Boud et al., 2018; Gladovic et al., 2022; Johnson et al., 2016). Four features (discerning quality, judgement process, calibration, and feedback) have been

103

identified as having potential to provide educators with a framework for designing teaching and assessment activities to develop students' evaluative judgement. See Table 6.1 for the statement of meaning and examples of each feature.

Table 6.1 Statement of meaning and key features of evaluative judgement

Key Features	Statement of meaning	Examples demonstrating methods of delivery
Discerning quality	Providing students with an understanding of what good work looks like as a benchmark to judge their own work against (Boud et al 2018)	 Students are provided with the following to help them identify what good quality work looks like: Standards or protocols or guidelines (including policies) Demonstration (including video recordings, practical demonstration from experts) Instructions (including written instructions, verbal instructions) Discussion (about the expectations or requirements with educators or peers) For assessment methods - Exemplar/ or rubric (include examples of assignments, marking guides) Pre assessment discussion (includes any discussions in class or online about the requirements of the assessment with the educator and/or peers)
The judgement process	Providing students with opportunities to practice judging their work. before expert judgement is given (Boud et al 2018)	 Students were provided the following ways to judge their work: Self-evaluate (including self-assessment) Peer review (before grading by expert) Comparison with others work (Others include, other students, peers, experts, to assist in self-evaluation before their work is judged) Grade guessing (students self-assess with the purpose of grading their work before it is graded by an educator)
Calibration	Reviewing students' self-evaluation to challenge bias in the judgement process (Boud et al 2018). Challenging where the work was sub-standard and identifying where work met the standard, in partnership with the student, supports students to develop evaluative judgement (Ilangakoon et al 2022).	Calibration occurred if the self-evaluation/self-assessment was reviewed by the educator with the student.
Feedback	How feedback is delivered is key to successful engagement in fostering evaluative judgement (Molloy and Boud 2012) Facilitating a feedback conversation to help students adjust their judgement and calibrate to the required standard (Molloy and Boud 2012). Engaging students in reflection, self-evaluation, and feedback-dialogue to develop their skills in evaluative judgement (Ajjawi and Boud 2017; Ilangakoon et al 2022).	 The feedback process was described as: Feedback conversation (students were engaged in a verbal exchange with the educator) Debriefing (students engaged in debriefing after a teaching or assessment activity) Coaching (students were coached on how to improve following a teaching or assessment activity) Written Automated, (written feedback was provided either asynchronously or synchronously, or answers were given after completing a quiz, or answers/suggestions for improvement were provided online/virtual reality activity)

Empirical research on evaluative judgement is limited (Khosravi et al., 2020), and research on observing students' evaluative judgement through teaching and assessing activities has been identified as a potential starting point for qualitative research (Gladovic et al., 2022). Integral to nursing education is the clinical teaching and learning activities where students can translate theory into practice (Jamshidi et al. 2016; Sweet and Broadbent 2017). How students are socialised to the profession can be influenced by the quality of the clinical practice educational experience (Erlam et al. 2018). The introduction of evaluative judgement to the clinical learning environment is particularly important to support students' clinical judgement (Høegh-Larsen, 2023). As such the starting point was to find the features of evaluative judgement in current clinical teaching and assessment designs.

This systematic scoping review focusses on the teaching and assessment methods used in clinical practice to assist nursing educators and curriculum designers operationalise the concept of evaluative judgement in clinical practice education. The aim was to systematically scope undergraduate and postgraduate tertiary higher education nursing students clinical practice teaching and assessment methods to identify the presence and type of features that align with promoting students' evaluative judgement.

The review question was: "What is known about the inclusion of features of evaluative judgement in undergraduate and postgraduate tertiary higher education nursing students clinical practice teaching and assessment methods"?

The findings from this review will inform educators on clinical practice teaching and assessment methods that may be adapted or replicated to support nursing students to develop evaluative judgement in clinical practice education.

6.4 Method

The review protocol was registered prospectively with the Open Science Framework DOI 10.17605/OSF.IO/PYWZ6 and reported using PRISMA guidelines for systematic reviews (Rethlefsen et al., 2021). The review followed the methodology outlined by Peters et al. (2015) for systematic scoping reviews. The review questions were developed using a Population, Concept, Context (PCC) framework presented in table 6.2.

ITEMS	OBJECT
Population	Nursing students
Concept 1	Evaluative judgement
Concept 2	Clinical practice
Concept 3	Teaching methods
Concept 4	Assessment methods
Context	University/tertiary higher education

Table 6.2 PCC Framework

The concepts evaluative judgement, clinical practice, teaching, and assessment methods were developed to search the literature for any evidence of evaluative judgement as an overt or unstated concept of clinical practice teaching and assessment methods.

6.4.1 Search strategy

Five electronic databases were searched from 1989 to April 27, 2022 (Medline, Scopus, Web of Science, ProQuest, and CINAHL) using a peer-reviewed search strategy supported by an academic librarian (Table 6.3). The search strategy included common terms for all PCC components, including the population and context (lines 1-2), evaluative judgement (line 4), clinical practice (lines 6-7), and teaching and assessment methods (lines 9-11, 13-14). In addition, line 9 of the strategy sought to capture the features of evaluative judgement, including feedback and self-evaluation, judgement, reflection, evaluation, and self-assessment.

Calibration as an activity is normally embedded in feedback, self-regulation, and selfevaluation, and was therefore not explicitly included as an individual search term. Wherever possible, both keyword and subject heading searches were completed in the databases. Citations were exported into Covidence© software and duplicates removed.

Table 6.3 Search strategy (Ovid Medline)

SEARCH STRATEGY

1	(nurs* adj2 (student* or trainee* or postgrad* or undergrad*)).ti,ab.
2	students, nursing/
3	1 or 2
4	("life long learn*" or "self regulate*" or "sustainable assess*" or "assessment for learning*" or "evaluative
	judgement").ti,ab
5	3 and 4
6	("clinical practice" or "clinical competency" or "clinical skills" or "psychomotor skills" or "clinical knowledge" or
	competenc* or skill or ability* or aptitude or performance or capab* or proficien*).ti,ab.
7	Clinical competence/ or Preceptorship/
8	6 or 7
9	(("clinical skill*" or "practical skill*" or "clinical knowledge") adj3 (assess* or judge* or reflect* or regulat* or
	evaluat* or grade or mark or feedback or "peer review" or "self evaluat*" or "self asses*")).ti,ab
10	("clinical perform*" or "clinical practice" or "competency assessment" or "nurs* assessment*" or survey or report
	or measure or questionnaire or instrument or tool or scale or report).ti,ab.
11	educations measurement/ or curriculum/ or clinical education/ or nursing, practical/
12	9 or 10 or 11
13	((teach* or learn*) adj2 ("clinical skill*" or "clinical pract*" or pract* or clinical or "psychomotor skill*" or
	"procedural skill*")).ti,ab
14	Simulation training/ or psychomotor performance/ or nursing, practice/
15	13 or 14
16	5 or (3 and 8 and 12 and 15)

6.4.2 Study screening and selection

Two reviewers (BH/FG) screened 10 title and abstract citations independently and then met to discuss and compare interpretation of the eligibility criteria. Following this, the two reviewers independently screened all titles and abstracts. For any citations where the abstract was unavailable, or ambiguity existed, the citation was retained for full text screening. Conflicts were resolved through discussion between the reviewers and a third independent reviewer (LKL). Full text screening was similarly completed by two independent reviewers (BH/FG), with the third independent reviewer (LKL) consulted where conflicts were unable to be resolved.

6.4.3 Eligibility criteria

Inclusion

To be included, studies must have used an empirical design (qualitative or quantitative) and have evaluated teaching and/or assessment (formative or summative) of pre-registration (undergraduate) or post-registration (postgraduate) tertiary higher education (university) nursing students' clinical practice. Postgraduate students are Registered nurses who have graduated with an entry level nursing qualification and are seeking to further their skills and knowledge in a particular area. The search was limited from 1989 onwards, as the key concept of evaluative judgement was established in the literature by Sadler in 1989. This timeframe was also chosen to capture more contemporary and sustainable approaches to teaching and assessment in nursing clinical practice education. Only English studies were included. Peer-reviewed published studies were selected as they are scrutinised by experts in the field and are recognised as scholarly, scientific and of high quality (Kelly et al., 2014).

Nursing clinical practice was defined as direct and indirect clinical activities. Direct clinical practice activities included any intervention or treatment that was being learnt through patient contact (Kakushi and Martinez Evora, 2014; Lee and Park, 2016) such as taking blood pressure, medication administration, conducting a health or physical assessment, and therapeutic

communication. Thus, studies that were in a clinical setting, such as a hospital, clinic or surgery were included. Studies that were in a clinical teaching setting that mimicked the real clinical environment, such as simulation with manikins or actors role-playing patients, computer-based low, high or mixed fidelity simulated programs, and standardised patient scenarios were also included (Cant and Cooper, 2017). Education around indirect clinical practice activities such as leadership, documentation, or activities on behalf of the patient in the absence of the patient were also included (Peddle et al., 2019).

Exclusion

Citations were excluded if they were non-nursing, reported theoretical approaches to clinical practice teaching or assessment, or focused solely on student experiences related to clinical practice placements. Studies reporting on Higher Degree by Research students, or students in vocational programs such as nursing assistants were excluded. All grey literature, theses, reports, and conference abstracts / papers were excluded because there is no gold standard approach for rigorous systematic searching of grey literature (Adams et al., 2016; Godin et al., 2015). Grey literature does not go through the peer-review process as such the risk of bias may be higher (Higgins et al., 2011; Wong et al., 2013).

6.5 Data extraction

Two reviewers (BH and LKL) extracted the data from all eligible articles. Data were extracted including study characteristics, country of origin, aims, student characteristics, educational framework, teaching or assessment method and features of evaluative judgement – discerning quality, judgement process, calibration, and feedback. The narrative descriptions and content of the clinical practice teaching and assessing methods were extracted to identify the reported number of features of evaluative judgement, as well as the specific method for delivering each feature, for example, the feature of 'discerning quality' may have been included in a teaching method with the inclusion of written instructions for students as the method of delivery (please refer

to Table 6.1 for examples of methods demonstrating each of the features of developing evaluative judgement).

After data extraction, two authors (BH and LKL) conducted a check to identify any inconsistencies in the data extraction. Inconsistencies were resolved in consultation with the third author (LC).

6.5.1 Data synthesis

A narrative synthesis was conducted to address the aims of the review, with data from the included studies organised in terms of frequency of occurrence of the features of evaluative judgement (Joanna Briggs Institute 2022), and exploration of the clinical practice teaching and assessment methods under the framework of the features of evaluative judgement (Table 6.1). Critical appraisal to determine risk of bias was not completed, as the primary aim of the review related to identifying the features of evaluative judgement in the clinical practice teaching and assessment methods, rather than determining the effectiveness of these methods. Therefore, the appraisal related to appraising each of the teaching or assessment methods against the four features of evaluative judgement (Boud et al., 2018; Boud and Molloy, 2013; Gladovic et al., 2022; Johnson et al., 2016; Tai et al., 2018).

Studies reporting on teaching methods were separated from those reporting on assessment methods. For studies which reported multiple teaching and/or assessment methods, all were examined to determine the presence or absence of methods relating to the features of developing students' evaluative judgement.

6.6 Results

Study selection

A total of 3422 records were retrieved from the e-database search. Figure 6.1 shows the flow of studies through the review.

Figure 6.1 PRISMA Flow diagram



Adapted from: Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021;372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

Following removal of duplicates, 2873 titles and abstracts were screened, followed by 318 full text articles. Seventy-one studies met the eligibility criteria and were included in the review. Of these, 53 included teaching methods in clinical practice education (Appendix 6.4), and 18 assessment methods in clinical practice education (Appendix 6.5).

Study characteristics

The 71 included studies were from the Middle East (n=22), Europe (n=18), Americas (n=16), Asia (n=11), and Australia and Oceania (n=4). Most of the studies (n=49) were published from 2011 to 2020, followed by 19 studies from 2021 to 2022, and three studies from 2000 to 2010. Sixty-one of the included studies included undergraduate (UG) student participants (n=22 1st year, n=7 2nd year, n=13 3rd year n=2 4th year, n=16 not reported), and eight studies included postgraduate (PG) student participants (n=3 1st year, n=1 2nd year, n=3 not reported). Three further studies (Kielo-Viljamaa et al., 2021; Lee et al., 2020; Sterling-Fox et al., 2020) did not report whether student participants were UG or PG. The mean age of student participants in the included studies was 22 years. For studies which reported multiple teaching and/or assessment methods, either in the same group, or a comparator group, not including information related to any of the features of evaluative judgement.

The results are presented in order of the aims. Data related to teaching methods is presented first followed by data related to assessment methods.

6.6.1 Results of individual studies: teaching methods in clinical practice education

Fifty-three of the 71 included studies reported a clinical practice teaching method for UG or PG nursing students (a full description of these studies is included in appendix 6.4). Most of these studies used quantitative research designs (n=40), with a further seven qualitative studies and six studies using mixed methods.

The teaching methods included web based and virtual reality gaming (n=15), simulation using high and low fidelity manikins (n=15), simulation using manikins, and using video recording for demonstration or self-evaluation of practice (n=14), standardised patients using actors (n=5), clinical skill practice using real patients (n=1), clinical skill practice using peers (n=1), simulation

using imagery (n=1), case studies and peer to peer learning (n=1). Teaching activities were conducted face to face only (n= 33), online only (n=11), and both face to face and online (n= 9).

6.6.2 Evaluative judgement: teaching methods in clinical practice education

The 53 included studies reporting teaching methods in clinical practice education were evaluated for evidence of demonstrating the features of evaluative judgement, as outlined in Table 6.1 which were discerning quality, judgement process, calibration, and feedback (Boud et al., 2018). A summary of the features and characteristics of evaluative judgement identified in the teaching methods is included in Table 6.4. The most identified evaluative judgement features in the included studies were discerning quality (n=47), followed by feedback (n=41), judgement process (n=21) and calibration (n=3).

Table 6.4 Features of evaluative judgement identified in studies of teaching methods in clinical practice education (n=53)

Author	Discerning Quality							Judg	gement	process		Calibration	n Feedback					
	Occurred	Standards or protocols	Guidelines	Demonstration	Instructions	Discussion	Occurred	Self- evaluate	Peer review	Comparison with others work	Grade predicting	Occurred	Occurred	Feedback conversation	Debriefing	Coaching	Written	Automated, (e.g quiz)
Aggar, et al. 2018	Yes	x		x		x	Yes	x	x			Yes	Yes		x			
Aksoy and Pasli Gurdogan 2021	Yes			x	x		Yes	x				No	No					
Ali and John 2019	Yes			x			No					No	No					
Arabpur et al. 2022	Yes	x		x	х		No					No	Yes				х	
Bahar et al. 2017	Yes			x			No					No	No					
Basak et al. 2018	Yes	x	x	x	x		Yes	х				No	Yes		x		x	
Bayram and Caliskan 2019	Yes			x	x		No					No	Yes				x	
Cardoso et al. 2012	Yes			x			No					No	No					
Carrero-Planells et al. 2021	Yes			x	x		No					No	Yes		x			
Chang et al. 2022	Yes	x	x	x	x		Yes			x		No	Yes			x		x
Choi et al. 2021	Yes			x	x		No					No	Yes	x				x
de Lima Lopes et al. 2019	Yes			x	x		No					No	No					
Eyikara and Baykara 2018	Yes			x	x		No					No	Yes		x			x
Gray et al. 2019	No						Yes		x			No	Yes		x			

 $Cont. \ Table \ 6.4 \ Features \ of \ evaluative \ judgement \ identified \ in \ studies \ of \ teaching \ methods \ in \ clinical \ practice \ education \ (n=53)$

Author	Discern	ing Quality	/				Judgement process Calibra						on Feedback					
	Occurred	Standards or protocols	Guidelines	Demonstration	Instructions	Discussion	Occurred	Self- evaluate	Peer review	Comparison with others work	Grade predicting	Occurred	Occurred	Feedback conversation	Debriefing	Coaching	Written	Automated, (e.g quiz)
Günay	Yes			х	х		No					No	Yes				х	
İsmailoğlu																		
and Zaybak																		
2018																		
Hardie et al.	Yes		х			х	Yes	х				Yes	Yes		х			
2021																		
Hart et al.	Yes	х	х	х	х		Yes	х				No	Yes	х	х			
2014																		
Hernández-	Yes			х	х		Yes		х	х		No	Yes			х	х	х
Padilla et al.																		
2016																		
Higgins et al.	Yes	х	х	х			Yes	х	х	х		No	Yes		х			
2019																		
Hill et al.	No						Yes	х				No	No					
2000																		
Holland et al.	Yes			х	х		Yes		х	х		No	No					
2013																		
Hošnjak et al.	Yes			х	х		No					No	Yes				x	
2019																		
Ismailoğlu et	Yes			х			No					No	Yes		х			
al. 2020																		
Jaberi and	Yes			х	х		No					No	No					
Momennasab																		
2019																		
Johnson et	No						Yes	х				No	Yes					x
al. 2014																		
Jones et al.	Yes	х		х	x		No					No	Yes				х	
2014																		

 $Cont. \ Table \ 6.4 \ Features \ of \ evaluative \ judgement \ identified \ in \ studies \ of \ teaching \ methods \ in \ clinical \ practice \ education \ (n=53)$

Author	Discern	ing Quality	у				Judgement process Ca						1 Feedback					
	Occurred	Standards	Guidelines	Demonstration	Instructions	Discussion	Occurred	Self-	Peer	Comparison	Grade	Occurred	Occurred	Feedback	Debriefing	Coaching	Written	Automated,
		or						evaluate	review	with others	predicting			conversation				(e.g quiz)
		protocols								work								
Keys et al.	Yes			х			No					No	Yes					х
2021																		
Kim and Suh	Yes			х			No					No	Yes					х
2018																		
Kim et al.	Yes	х	х	x	х		No					No	Yes					х
2017																		
Kurt and Ozturk	Yes			х	х		No					No	Yes				х	
2021																		
Lee et al.	Yes	х		х			No					No	Yes		х			
2019																		
McWilliams et	No						Yes		х	х		No	Yes	х	х			
al. 2021																		
Mehdipour –	Yes	х		х	х		No					No	Yes		х	х	х	
Rabori et al.																		
2021																		
Miranda et al.	Yes		х	х	х		No					No	Yes		х			
2017																		
Onturk et al.	Yes		х		х		No					No	Yes		х			х
2019																		
Oz and Ordu	Yes			х	х		No					No	Yes					х
2021																		
Prentice and	Yes				х		No					No	Yes		х			
O'Rourke 2013																		
Rahnavard et al.	No						No					No	Yes			х		
2013												_						
Ravik et al.	Yes	x	x		x		Yes		х			No	Yes	x	x	x		
2017									-			-						

 $Cont. \ Table \ 6.4 \ Features \ of \ evaluative \ judgement \ identified \ in \ studies \ of \ teaching \ methods \ in \ clinical \ practice \ education \ (n=53)$

Author	Discernin	g Quality					Judgem	ent proce	ss			Calibration	Feedback					
	Occurred	Standard	Guidelines	Demonstration	Instructions	Discussion	Occurred	Self-	Peer	Comparison	Grade	Occurred	Occurred	Feedback	Debriefing	Coaching	Written	Automated,
		s or						evaluate	review	with others	predicting			conversation				(e.g quiz)
		protocols								work								
Rim and Shin	Yes	х	х	х	х		yes	х	х			No	Yes		х		х	
2022																		
Sarvan and Efe	Yes			х	х		No					No	No					
2022																		
Sezgunsay and	Yes	х		х	х		Yes	х				No	Yes		х		x	
Basak 2020																		
Sheahan et al.	Yes	х	х	х	х	х	No					No	Yes	х	х			
2015																		
Smallheer et al.	Yes				х		Yes	х	х			Yes	Yes	х				
2017 Quaithe and	NI-						NL-					N	NL-					
Smith and	NO						NO					NO	NO					
Hamilton 2015	Vee	~	~	×			Vaa				×	No	Vaa				~	
Stayt et al.	res	x	x	X			res				х	INO	res				x	
2013 Starling Fax at	Vee			×	~		Vaa	~	~			No	Vaa				×	
al 2020	res			*	X		res	X	*			INO	res				x	
Stopo ot al	Voc		v	×	v		No					No	No					
2020	163		^	^	^		NO					110	INO.					
Strand et al	Ves		v	×	x		Ves	x	×			No	Ves		x			
2016	100		^	~	~		100	~	~			110	100		~			
Surabeniawonge	Yes		x	x	x		Yes		x			No	Yes		x			
t al. 2020			~	~	~				~						~			
Tan et al.	Yes				x		No					No	Yes				х	
2017																		
Valizadeh et al.	Yes				х		No					No	Yes		х			
2022																		
Wright et al.	Yes				х		No					No	No					
2008																		
Total	47	15	15	39	36	3	21	13	12	5	1	3	41	6	22	5	14	10

Discerning Quality: method by which students can identify what quality work looks like.

Eighty-seven per cent (n=47) of the studies reporting teaching methods were deemed to include the evaluative judgement feature of 'discerning quality'. These teaching methods provided students with a means to understand the standard that was required. The most common method to assist students with understanding the quality work was through demonstration (n=39), followed by standards and protocols, (n=15) and guidelines (n=15). Providing students with instructions was included in 68% of the studies reporting teaching methods. Thirty-six studies (68%) used two or more methods to assist students to understand what was required of them and what quality work looked like. Eleven studies only provided one method. Six studies did not report any method by which students could understand the standard that was required and an example of quality work.

Judgement process: method by which students can judge the quality of their work – before others pass judgement

Forty per cent (n=21) of teaching method studies reported a method by which students could judge their performance before they were given feedback or judged by the clinical educator. The most common methods were self-evaluation (n=13) and peer review (n=12).

Calibration: if self-evaluation occurred did the educator review the student's self-evaluation to help calibrate them to the required standard

Of the 13 studies which facilitated self-evaluation of clinical practice (identified under the judgement process feature), only three studies provided students with the opportunity to discuss their self-evaluation with a supervisor or educator so they could explore their perspective of performance against what was required.

Feedback: how did students receive feedback on their performance

Seventy-seven per cent (n=41) of the included teaching method studies reported how feedback was given. The most common methods were debriefing (n=22), written feedback (n=14)

and automated feedback (n=10). The least common method for students to receive feedback on their performance was through feedback conversations (n=6).

Three studies reported teaching methods including all of the features to develop students' evaluative judgement (Aggar et al., 2018; Hardie et al., 2021; Smallheer et al., 2017). A further 12 studies included three of the four features for students to develop evaluative judgement (Basak et al., 2019; Chang et al., 2022; Hart et al., 2014; Hernández-Padilla et al., 2016; Higgins et al., 2019; Ravik et al., 2017; Rim and Shin, 2022; Sezgunsay and Basak, 2020; Stayt et al., 2015; Sterling-Fox et al., 2020; Strand et al., 2017; Surabenjawong et al., 2020) most commonly including characteristics relating to discerning quality, judgement process and feedback. The studies which reported three or more of the evaluative judgement features all used simulation laboratories commonly found in most nursing higher education facilities. Two studies (Chang et al., 2022; Rim and Shin, 2022), also reported three features of evaluative judgement for their teaching method which used virtual reality gaming and game-based platforms.

6.6.3 Results of individual studies: assessment methods in clinical practice education

Eighteen of the 71 included studies reported an assessment method for pre-registration undergraduate (UG) or post-registration (PG) nursing students. A full description of these studies is included in appendix 5.5. The majority of these studies used quantitative research designs (n=11), with seven using qualitative designs. The assessment methods used were OSCE (n=7), case-based assessments (n=5), simulated and individual skill observation (n= 4), oral viva (n=1), peer assessment (n=1). Assessment activities were conducted face to face (n=14), and (n=4) were online. In terms of resources and time required for the assessment methods in the included studies, 12 used high or low fidelity simulation laboratories, and three studies used case-based scenarios online. Two studies used virtual reality computer software to assess students. One study assessed students' clinical skills capability using real patients in the clinical placement setting of the student.

120

6.6.4 Evaluative judgement: assessment methods in clinical practice education

The 18 included studies reporting assessment methods were evaluated for evidence of demonstrating the features of evaluative judgement, including discerning quality, judgement process, calibration, and feedback (Boud et al., 2018). A summary of the features and characteristics of evaluative judgement identified in the assessment methods is included in Table 5.1. The most commonly identified evaluative judgement features in the included studies were feedback (n=16), followed by discerning quality (n=15), judgement process (n=9) and calibration (n=4). (Table 6.5)

Table 6.5 Features of evaluative judgement identified in studies of assessment methods in clinical practice education (n=18)

Author	Discern	ing Quali	ty					Judgen	nent pro	cess			Calibration	Feedback					
	Occurred	Exemplar/ or rubric	Standards or protocols	Guidelines	Demonstration	Instructions	Pre assessment discussion	Occurred	Self- evaluate	Peer review	Comparison with others work	Grade predicting	Occurred	Occurred	Feedback conversation	Debriefing	Coaching	Written	Automated, (e.g quiz)
Avraham A et al. 2021	Yes					x		Yes	х				Yes	Yes	х	x			
Borg Sapiano et al. 2018	Yes			x		x		No					No	Yes				x	
Chong et al. 2016	Yes	x	x	x		x		Yes	х				No	Yes	x				
Cormack et al. 2018	Yes	x	x			x		Yes	х				Yes	Yes	x	x		x	
Dogru and Aydin 2020	Yes	x	x	x	x		x	No					No	Yes			x		
Henderson et al. 2021	Yes	x						Yes	х				Yes	Yes	x			x	
Kielo- Viljamaa et al. 2021	Yes					x		No					No	Yes	x	x			
Lee et al. 2020	Yes	х						No					No	Yes				x	
Lynga et al. 2019	Yes		x			x		Yes		х			No	Yes			x		
Marquez- Hernandez et al. 2019	No							No					No	Yes		x			
Meskell et al. 2015	No							No					No	Yes				x	
Ositadimma Oranye et al. 2012	yes					x		No					No	No					
Rush et al. 2012	Yes	х	х	x	x	x		Yes		x			No	Yes		x			
Cont. Table 6.5 Features of evaluative judgement identified in studies of assessment methods in clinical practice education (n=18)

Author	Discerning Quality							Judgement process				Calibration	Feedback						
	Occurred	Exemplar/ or rubric	Standards or protocols	Guidelines	Demonstration	Instructions	Pre assessment discussion	Occurred	Self- evaluate	Peer review	Comparison with others work	Grade predicting	Occurred	Occurred	Feedback conversation	Debriefing	Coaching	Written	Automated, (e.g quiz)
Solheim et al. 2017	No							Yes	x	x			No	Yes		x			
Unsworth et al. 2016	Yes					x	x	Yes	x		х		Yes	Yes		x			
Uzellli Yilmaz and Sari 2021	Yes		х	x	x	x		No					No	Yes				x	
Watts et al. 2009	Yes				x	x		Yes	x				No	No					
Yildiz and Demiray 2022	Yes		x			x		No					No	Yes					x
Total	15	6	7	5	4	12	2	9	7	3	1	0	4	16	5	7	2	6	1

Key: Yes = this key feature was identified in the literature X = denotes what method was used

Discerning Quality: Method by which students can identify what quality work looks like.

Eighty-three per cent (n=15) of the studies reporting assessment methods included the evaluative judgement feature of 'discerning quality'. These assessment methods provided students with a means to understand the standard that was required. The most common method to assist students with understanding quality work was through written or verbal instructions (n=12), followed by professional standards or protocols (n=7), and exemplars / marking rubrics, (n=6). The use of pre-assessment discussion, demonstration and guidelines were used less frequently. Fifty-six per cent (n=10) used two or more methods to assist students to understand what was required of them and what quality work looked like. Only four studies provided one method, and three studies did not report any method by which students could understand what standard was required and what quality work looks like.

Judgement process: Method by which students can judge the quality of their work – before others pass judgement

Fifty per cent (n=9) of assessment method studies reported a method by which students could judge their performance before they were given feedback or judged by the clinical educator. The most common methods were self-evaluation (n=7) and peer review (n=3). One study provided opportunity for both self-evaluation and peer review before judgement was given by the clinical educator (Unsworth et al., 2016).

Calibration: If self-evaluation occurred did the educator review the student's self-evaluation to help calibrate them to the required standard

Of the nine studies which facilitated self-evaluation of clinical practice (identified under the judgement process feature), only four studies provided students with the opportunity to discuss their self-evaluation with a supervisor or educator so they could explore their perspective of performance against what is required.

Feedback: How did students receive feedback on their performance

Eighty-nine per cent (n=16) of the included assessment method studies reported how feedback was given. The most common methods were debriefing (n=7), written feedback (n=6) and feedback conversations (n=5). The least common method for students to receive feedback on their performance is through coaching and automated methods, e.g., quiz results or computer-generated responses, (n=1).

Assessment methods with high evaluative judgement components

Four studies reported assessment methods including all of the features to develop students' evaluative judgment (Avraham et al., 2021; Cormack et al., 2018; Henderson et al., 2021; Unsworth et al., 2016). A further three studies included three of the four features for students to develop evaluative judgement (Chong et al., 2016; Lynga et al., 2019; Rush et al., 2012). The most commonly included characteristics related to discerning quality, the judgement process and feedback. Five of the studies which reported three or more of the evaluative judgement features used simulation laboratories commonly found in most nursing higher education facilities. One study (Chong et al., 2016) situated the assessment in the clinical environment using real patients. One study (Henderson et al., 2021) used a simulated scenario online.

6.7 Discussion

This review aimed to systematically scope pre and post registration nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment methods to identify features that align with promoting students' evaluative judgement.

Implementing the concept of developing evaluative judgment into the teaching and assessment of nursing clinical practice could begin with embedding the four features discerning quality, judgement process, calibration and feedback into higher education curriculum design (Boud et al., 2018). Formative assessment has been identified as a place to introduce the concept

of developing evaluative judgment (Tai et al. 2018). However, teaching clinical practice provides many opportunities for students to practice self-evaluation and for educators to engage in calibrating students understanding of quality work and professional standards. Therefore, to isolate developing evaluative judgement only to assessment of clinical practice is a missed opportunity in curriculum design. Fostering students' ability to recognise quality work in their own and others' work is not achieved by introducing a few activities. It requires scaffolding to achieve development over time including multiple opportunities for students to judge themselves and their peers and to be supported by educators who focus on developing students' evaluative judgement as a learning aim (Boud, et al. 2018; Soledad Ibarra-Saiz et al. 2020; Yoshida et al. 2023). Most identified studies included some, but not all, of the features believed to promote the capability of evaluative judgment in nursing students.

Discerning quality

Most of the selected studies provide students with an understanding of what quality work looks like and the standard required to achieve quality work. The first feature discerning quality is important because if students are asked to judge their performance, they need to know what the standard is and what quality work looks like. Providing students with a benchmark to judge their performance in clinical practice teaching methods was most commonly achieved by providing a demonstration. Using video recordings and/or educators to demonstrate the clinical skill. In assessment methods, the most common methods to support students to understand the required standard was written or verbal instructions.

The judgement process

Providing students with opportunity to self-evaluate and judge themselves against the required standard before the educator provides judgement on their performance is an important step in fostering students' ability to recognise what quality work looks like and if their work is quality work. Developing this skill supports the concepts of reflective practice and life-long learning.

Across the included teaching and assessment methods, the feature of 'judgement process' was rarely reported, with students seldom provided an opportunity to judge their own performance. Without a purposeful reflective approach to the judgement process opportunity to refine and explore that judgement is lost.

Calibration

Of the few studies that reported student self-evaluation, most did not describe whether students were able to discuss this with educators. This may represent a missed opportunity as self-evaluation and calibration is thought to facilitate students to develop their understanding of quality work (discerning quality). Students who miss this opportunity may continue to over or underestimate their own abilities (Høegh-Larsen et al., 2023). It was interesting that so few of the included teaching and assessment methods incorporated methods to develop students' judgement and calibration of their own performance. Facilitating students to judge and calibrate their own performance takes time and effort from both the student and the clinical educator (Lee et al., 2020). It is possible that methods of developing evaluative judgement were not prioritised due to perceptions of the time and resource burden. However, the seven studies that did include reviewing the students' self-evaluation did not report any additional time or resources.

Feedback

Most of the selected studies reported that they provided students with feedback. This is in line with most university requirements and existing evidence on the value of feedback for learning (Ajjawi and Boud, 2017; Molloy and Boud, 2012).

Methods of feedback appeared most often in the form of a 'debrief' as expected in the clinical simulation environment. Interestingly the 22 studies that included three or more of the features of evaluative judgement in teaching and assessment activities were simulation based. Clinical simulation can serve as an effective educational method to provide nursing students with experience and learning opportunities in a safe environment. Clinical simulation in nursing most

commonly consists of a briefing, simulation conduct and a debriefing (Nyström et al., 2016). Specifically, the debriefing aims to foster students' performance, ability to identify and correct errors, clinical reasoning, decision making and clinical judgement (Dreifuerst, 2009; Fanning and Gaba, 2007). Debriefing has been shown to improve nursing student learning in clinical simulation (Lee et al., 2020), however, effective debriefing methods vary depending on the learning outcomes, the target learner, and the context. While debriefs are commonly used in simulation, educators may not always provide students sufficient "air time" to discuss their perceptions of their own performance (Blatt et al., 2008). As most of the included studies did not report how feedback or debriefing were conducted, it was difficult to explore whether students could engage in a 2-way feedback dialogue or if they calibrated their self-evaluation. Simulation using debriefing is well positioned to foster students' evaluative judgement if educators provide opportunities for students to reflect and judge their own performance before judgement is given, and for the students' selfevaluation to be calibrated using a bidirectional feedback conversation (Lee et al., 2020).

Learning is a dynamic process where students construct meaning and by engaging in verbal feedback, students can reason and explore through a social interaction with the clinical educator (Carless & Chan 2017). However, not all feedback is provided as a verbal conversation. This does not suggest that only verbal feedback is effective or can be used to provide students with opportunities to develop their evaluative judgement. The features of developing evaluative judgement include facilitating students to practice recognising what quality work looks like and judging their work, supported by educators, who calibrate their understanding through feedback. Therefore, feedback could be verbal or written, and there is no evidence to support one over the other in fostering nursing students' evaluative judgment. From an evaluative judgement lens, a feedback method should enable students to explore and reason with the clinical educator to better understand if their work is quality work and what quality work looks like.

6.8 Implications

This review has identified that current teaching and assessment methods in nursing clinical practice education have not widely embraced the concept of evaluative judgement in teaching and assessment design. Including the features of "judgement process and calibration" to current teaching and assessment designs has potential to foster and improve students' ability to recognise the value and quality of their work, thus developing their evaluative judgement. There are many implications for future research. This review provides a useful foundation regarding the presence of and methods for delivering each of the features of evaluative judgement in nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment methods. Future research should focus on the effectiveness of different methods of delivery and explore whether some aspects are more effective than others. Such an approach should also consider the views of educators and students, exploring student and educator satisfaction and resources required in the implementation of methods to develop evaluative judgement in nursing clinical practice education.

6.9 Strengths and limitations

This systematic review had several methodological strengths. A rigorous search strategy was developed, and peer reviewed by an academic librarian, and PRISMA reporting guidelines were used (Page et al., 2021). The protocol was registered prospectively. The search was prospectively planned to identify relevant studies from 1989 onwards, as this is when the term 'evaluative judgement' first appeared in the literature. It is possible that this may have resulted in missing studies which may have explored the features of evaluative judgement before this time. However, given there were no relevant studies identified in the decade from 1989 to 1999, we are confident that the findings represent the current evidence for evaluative judgement features in studies reporting contemporary nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment activities. Limitations of the study are linked to the lack of research in nursing on embedding evaluative judgement in educational practice.

6.10 Conclusions

Many nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment activities in the literature included features that develop students' evaluative judgement, with methods relating to discerning quality and feedback well embedded. Importantly, this review found that the features of judgement process and calibration are rarely conducted and/or reported in nursing clinical practice education. As such students may miss opportunities to self-evaluate and judge their performance. Without this opportunity, it could be argued that students are not practicing reflective or lifelong learning skills both of which are important graduate qualities.

Without addressing the students' evaluation of performance to calibrate their understanding of the quality of their work students are unlikely to improve their judgement process over time and will likely continue to under or overestimate their performance. Embedding the features of evaluative judgement in teaching and assessment design has potential to support students as they transition from student to autonomous professional where they will need to be able to judge the value of their work without an educator providing that judgement for them.

Future research should explore the effectiveness of different clinical practice education approaches that aim to foster students' evaluative judgement and whether incorporating all four features' aids student development of evaluative judgement. Future teaching and assessment activities for nursing students should explicitly aim to develop students' evaluative judgement, with a clear need for the development, implementation, and evaluation of these activities in the tertiary context, as well as exploring transitions into the workforce. References

Adams, J., Hillier-Brown, F.C., Moore, H.J., Lake, A.A., Araujo-Soares, V., White, M., Summerbell, C., (2016). Searching and synthesising "grey literature" and "grey information" in public health: Critical reflections on three case studies. Syst. Rev. 5, 164. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-016-0337-y

Aggar, C., Bloomfield, J.G., Frotjold, A., Thomas, T.H.T., Koo, F., (2018). A time management intervention using simulation to improve nursing students' preparedness for medication administration in the clinical setting: A quasi-experimental study. Collegian 25, 105–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2017.04.004

Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., (2017). Researching feedback dialogue: an interactional analysis approach. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 42, 252–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1102863

Aksoy, B., Pasli Gurdogan, E., (2022). Examining effects of the flipped classroom approach on motivation, learning strategies, urinary system knowledge, and urinary catheterization skills of first-year nursing students. Jpn. J. Nurs. Sci. 19, e12469-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/jjns.12469

Ali, N.S., John, B., (2019). Examining the Efficacy of Online Self-Paced Interactive Video-Recordings in Nursing Skill Competency Learning: Seeking Preliminary Evidence Through an Action Research. Med. Sci. Educ. 29, 463–473. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40670-019-00714-4

Alfehaid, L.S., Qotineh, A., Alsuhebany, N., Alharbi, S., Almodaimegh, H., (2018). The perceptions and attitudes of undergraduate healthcare sciences students of feedback: a qualitative study. Health Prof. Educ. 4, 186–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. hpe.2018.03.002

Arabpur, A., Farsi, Z., Butler, S., Habibi, H., (2022). Comparative effectiveness of demonstration using hybrid simulation versus task-trainer for training nursing students in using pulse-oximeter and suction: A randomized control trial. Nurse Educ. Today 110, 105204.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.105204

Atmaca, C. (2016). Contrasting perceptions of students and teachers: written corrective feedback Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies, 12, pp. 166-182

Avraham, R., Shor, V., Kimhi, E., (2021). The influence of simulated medication administration learning on the clinical performance of nursing students: A comparative quasi-experimental study. Nurse Educ. Today 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104947

Bahar, A., Arslan, M., Gokgoz, N., Ak, H., Kaya, H., (2017). Do Parenteral Medication
Administration Skills of Nursing Students Increase with Educational Videos Materials? Int. J. caring
Sci. 10, 1514–1525.

Basak, T., Aciksoz, S., Unver, V., Aslan, O., (2019). Using standardized patients to improve the hygiene care skills of first-year nursing students: A randomized controlled trial. Collegian 26, 49–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2018.03.005

Bayram, S.B., Caliskan, N., (2019). Effect of a game-based virtual reality phone application on tracheostomy care education for nursing students: A randomized controlled trial. Nurse Educ. Today 79, 25–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.05.010

Bijami,M. A. Pandian, M.K.M. Singh (2016). The relationship between Teacher's written feedback and student's' writing performance: sociocultural perspective. International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies, 4, pp. 59-66

Blatt, B., Confessore, S., Kallenberg, G., Greenberg, L., (2008). Verbal Interaction Analysis: Viewing Feedback Through a Different Lens. Teach. Learn. Med. 20, 329–333. https://doi.org/10.1080/10401330802384789

Borg Sapiano, A., Sammut, R., Trapani, J., (2018). The effectiveness of virtual simulation in improving student nurses' knowledge and performance during patient deterioration: A pre and post

test design. Nurse Educ. Today 62, 128–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.12.025

Boud, D., Ajjawi, R., Dawson, P., Tai, J., (2018). Developing Evaluative Judgement in Higher Education: Assessment for Knowing and Producing Quality Work, 1st ed. Milton: Routledge, Milton. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315109251

Boud, D., Molloy, D., (2013). "Rethinking Models of Feedback for Learning: The Challenge of Design". Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 38, 698–712.

Cant, R.P., Cooper, S.J., (2017). Use of simulation-based learning in undergraduate nurse education: An umbrella systematic review. Nurse Educ. Today 49, 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.11.015

Cardoso, A.F., Moreli, L., Braga, F., Vasques, C.I., Santos, C.B., Carvalho, E.C., (2012). Effect of a video on developing skills in undergraduate nursing students for the management of totally implantable central venous access ports. Nurse Educ. Today 32, 709–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2011.09.012

Carless, D., and Chan, K. H. (2017). Managing dialogic use of exemplars. Assessment & evaluation in Higher Education. 42 (6): 930-941

Carrero-Planells, A., Pol-Castañeda, S., Alamillos-Guardiola, M.C., Prieto-Alomar, A., Tomás-Sánchez, M., Moreno-Mulet, C., (2021). Students and teachers' satisfaction and perspectives on high-fidelity simulation for learning fundamental nursing procedures: A mixed-method study. Nurse Educ. Today 104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104981

Chang, Chung, M.H., Yang, J.C., (2022). Facilitating nursing students' skill training in distance education via online game-based learning with the watch-summarize-question approach during the COVID-19 pandemic: A quasi-experimental study. Nurse Educ. Today 109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.105256 Choi, J., Lee, S.E., Bae, J., Kang, S., Choi, S., Tate, J.A., Yang, Y.L., (2021). Undergraduate nursing students ' experience of learning respiratory system assessment using flipped classroom: A mixed methods study. Nurse Educ. Today 98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104664

Chong, E.J.M., Lim, J.S.W., Liu, Y., Lau, Y.Y.L., Wu, V.X., (2016). Improvement of learning domains of nursing students with the use of authentic assessment pedagogy in clinical practice. Nurse Educ. Pract. 20, 125–130. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2016.08.002

Cormack, C.L., Jensen, E., Durham, C.O., Smith, G., Dumas, B., (2018). The 360-degree evaluation model: A method for assessing competency in graduate nursing students. A pilot research study. Nurse Educ. Today 64, 132–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.01.027

de Lima Lopes, J., Negrao Baptista, R.C., Takao Lopes, C., Bertelli Rossi, M., Swanson, E.A., Bottura Leite de Barros, A.L., (2019). Efficacy of a video during bed bath simulation on improving the performance of psychomotor skills of nursing undergraduates: A randomized clinical trial. Int. J. Nurs. Stud. 99, 103333. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.04.001

Dogru, B.V., Aydin, L.Z., (2020). The effects of training with simulation on knowledge, skill and anxiety levels of the nursing students in terms of cardiac auscultation: A randomized controlled study. Nurse Educ. Today 84, 104216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104216

Dreifuerst, K.T., (2009). The essentials of Debriefing in simulation learning: A concept analysis. Nurs. Educ. Perspect. 30, 109–114.

Erlam G., Smythe L., Wright-St Clair V. (2018). Action research and millennials: improving pedagogical approaches to encourage critical thinking. Nurse Education Today . 61:140–145. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2017.11.023.

Eyikara, E., Baykara, Z.G., (2018). Effect of simulation on the ability of first year nursing students to learn vital signs. Nurse Educ. Today 60, 101–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.09.023

Fanning, R.M., Gaba, D.M., (2007). The role of debriefing in simulation-based learning. Simul. Healthc. J. Soc. Med. Simul. 2, 115–125. https://doi.org/10.1097/SIH.0b013e3180315539

Fischer, J. (2019). Evaluative judgement: what, why and how? CRADLE Seminar Series. https://blogs.deakin.edu.au/cradle/2019/03/06/evaluative-judgement-what-why-how-cradleseminar-series/

Gcawu SN, van Rooyen D. (2022). Clinical teaching practices of nurse educators: An integrative literature review. Health SA. Sep 30;27:1728. doi: 10.4102/hsag.v27i0.1728. PMID: 36262921; PMCID: PMC9575343.

Gladovic, C., Tai, J.H.-M., Dawson, P., (2022). Qualitative approaches to researching evaluative judgement in pedagogical activities: a case study. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 47, 231–244. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2021.1901854

Godin, K., Stapleton, J., Kirkpatrick, S.I., Hanning, R.M., Leatherdale, S.T., (2015). Applying systematic review search methods to the grey literature: A case study examining guidelines for school-based breakfast programs in Canada. Syst. Rev. 4, 138. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-015-0125-0

Gray, S., Wheat, M., Christensen, M., Craft, J., (2019). Snaps(+): Peer-to-peer and academic support in developing clinical skills excellence in under-graduate nursing students: An exploratory study. Nurse Educ. Today 73, 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.10.006

Graham, C., Ng, L., Best, O., & Patrick, J. (2024). Experiences of international nursing students in a regional university: A clear direction for nursing education. *Collegian (Royal College of Nursing, Australia)*, *31*(4), 211-217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2024.04.005

Günay İsmailoğlu, E., Zaybak, A., (2018). Comparison of the Effectiveness of a Virtual Simulator With a Plastic Arm Model in Teaching Intravenous Catheter Insertion Skills. Comput. informatics, Nurs. 36, 98–105. https://doi.org/10.1097/CIN.0000000000000405 Hampton, K.B., Smeltzer, S.C., Ross, J.G., (2020). Evaluating the transition from nursing student to practicing nurse: An integrative review. J. Prof. Nurs. 36, 551–559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2020.08.002

Hardie, P., Donnelly, P., Greene, E., McHugh, A., Coveney, K., Murray, B., Brereton, S., (2021). The application of reusable learning objects (RLOs) in preparation for a simulation laboratory in medication management: An evaluative study. Teach. Learn. Nurs. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2021.05.002

Hart, P.L., Maguire, M.B.R., Brannan, J.D., Long, J.M., Robley, L.R., Brooks, B.K., (2014). Improving BSN students' performance in recognizing and responding to clinical deterioration. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 10, e25–e32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2013.06.003

Henderson, M., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Molloy, E. (2019). Why Focus on Feedback Impact?. In: Henderson, M., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Molloy, E. (eds) The Impact of Feedback in Higher Education. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-25112-3_1

Henderson, A., Ossenberg, C., Tyler, S., (2015). 'What matters to graduates': An evaluation of a structured clinical support program for newly graduated nurses. Nurse Educ. Pract. 15, 225–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2015.01.009

Henderson, B., Aitken, R., Lewis, L.K., Chipchase, L., (2021). Postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas: A qualitative study. Nurse Educ. Today 101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104881

Henderson, B., Chipchase, L., Aitken, R., Lewis, L.K., (2022). Consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement: Comparing assessor and students. Nurse Educ. Pract. 63, 103386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2022.103386

Hernández-Padilla, J.M., Granero-Molina, J., Márquez-Hernández, V. V, Cortés-Rodríguez, A.E., Fernández-Sola, C., (2016). Effects of a simulation-based workshop on nursing students' competence in arterial puncture/Efeitos de um workshop de simulação sobre a competência em punção arterial de estudantes de enfermagem. Acta Paul. Enferm. 29, 678. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-0194201600095

Higgins, J.P.T., Altman, D.G., Gøtzsche, P.C., Jüni, P., Moher, D., Oxman, A.D., Savović, J., Schulz, K.F., Weeks, L., Sterne, J.A.C., (2011). The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 343, 889–893. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d5928

Higgins, K., Kirkland, T., Le-Jenkins, U., Rutledge, C., (2019). Preparing students to be ready for practice: An innovative approach to teaching advanced physical assessment skills online. J. Am. Assoc. NURSE Pract. 31, 640–647. https://doi.org/10.1097/JXX.00000000000332

Hill, R., Hooper, C., Wahl, S., (2000). Look, learn, and be satisfied: video playback as a learning strategy to improve clinical skills performance. J. Nurses Staff Dev. 16, 232–239.

Høegh-Larsen, A.M., Gonzalez, M.T., Reierson, I.Å., Husebø, S.I.E., Hofoss, D., Ravik, M., (2023). Nursing students' clinical judgment skills in simulation and clinical placement: a comparison of student self-assessment and evaluator assessment. BMC Nurs. 22, 64. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-023-01220-0

Holland, A., Smith, F., McCrossan, G., Adamson, E., Watt, S., Penny, K., (2013). Online video in clinical skills education of oral medication administration for undergraduate student nurses: a mixed methods, prospective cohort study. Nurse Educ. Today 33, 663–670. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2012.01.006

Hošnjak, A.M., Čukljek, S., Fičko, S.L., Smrekar, M., (2019). The influence of different ways of training on development of practical skills in performing parenteral therapy in full-time first year nursing students. Cent. Eur. J. Nurs. Midwifery 10, 1111–1116. https://doi.org/10.15452/CEJNM.2019.10.0021

Ibarra-Sáiz, M.S., Rodríguez-Gómez, G., Boud, D., Rotsaert, T., Brown, S., Salinas-Salazar, M.L.,

Rodríguez-Gómez, H.M., (2020). The future of assessment in Higher Education. Reli. - Rev. Electron. Investig. y Eval. Educ. 26, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.7203/relieve.26.1.17323

Ilangakoon, C., Ajjawi, R., Endacott, R., Rees, C., (2022). The relationship between feedback and evaluative judgement in undergraduate nursing and midwifery education: An integrative review. Nurse Educ. Pract. 28, 103255–103255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103255

İsmailoğlu, E.G., Orkun, N., Eşer, İ., Zaybak, A., (2020). Comparison of the effectiveness of the virtual simulator and video-assisted teaching on intravenous catheter insertion skills and self-confidence: A quasi-experimental study. Nurse Educ. Today 95, 104596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104596

Jaberi, A., Momennasab, M., (2019). Effectiveness of standardized patient in abdominal physical examination education: A randomized, controlled trial. Clin. Med. Res. 17, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3121/cmr.2019.1446

Jamshidi N., Molazem Z., Sharif F., Torabizadeh C., Najafi Kalyani M. (2016). The challenges of nursing students in the clinical learning environment: a qualitative study. The Scientific World Journal :1–7. doi: 10.1155/2016/1846178.1846178

Joanna Briggs Institute. (2022). JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis. 11.2.8 Analysis of the evidence.https://jbi-global-

wiki.refined.site/space/MANUAL/4687681/11.2.8+Analysis+of+the+evidence

Johnson, C.E., Keating, J.L., Boud, D.J., Dalton, M., Kiegaldie, D., Hay, M., McGrath, B., McKenzie, W.A., Nair, K.B.R., Nestel, D., Palermo, C., Molloy, E.K., (2016). Identifying educator behaviours for high quality verbal feedback in health professions education: Literature review and expert refinement. BMC Med. Educ. 16, 96. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-016-0613-5

Johnson, M.P., Hickey, K.T., Scopa-Goldman, J., Andrews, T., Boerem, P., Covec, M., Larson, E., (2014). Manikin Versus Web-Based Simulation for Advanced Practice Nursing Students. Clin.

Simul. Nurs. 10, e317-e323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2014.02.004

Jones, R.S., Simmons, A., Boykin, G.L.S., Stamper, D., Thompson, J.C., (2014). Measuring intravenous cannulation skills of practical nursing students using rubber mannequin intravenous training arms. Mil. Med. 179, 1361–1367. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-D-13-00576

Kakushi, L.E., Martinez Evora, Y.D., (2014). Direct and indirect nursing care time in an Intensive Care Unit. Rev. Lat. Am. Enfermagem 22, 150–157. https://doi.org/10.1590/0104-1169.3032.2381

Kelly, J., Sadeghieh, T., Adeli, K., (2014). Peer Review in Scientific Publications: Benefits, Critiques, & A Survival Guide. EJIFCC 25, 227–243.

Keys, E., Luctkar-Flude, M., Tyerman, J., Sears, K., Woo, K., (2021). The Integration of Virtual Simulation Gaming Into Undergraduate Nursing Resuscitation Education: A Pilot Randomised Controlled Trial. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 54, 54–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2021.01.013

Khosravi, H., Gyamfi, G., Hanna, B., Lodge, J., (2020). Fostering and supporting empirical research on evaluative judgement via a crowdsourced adaptive learning system, in: ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, LAK '20. ACM, pp. 83–88.

https://doi.org/10.1145/3375462.3375532

Kielo-Viljamaa, E., Ahtiala, M., Suhonen, R., Stolt, M., (2021). Simulated Wound Care as a Competence Assessment Method for Student and Registered Nurses. Adv. Skin Wound Care 34, 588–595. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/01.ASW.0000792916.93340.68

Kim, H., Suh, E.E., (2018). The Effects of an Interactive Nursing Skills Mobile Application on Nursing Students' Knowledge, Self-efficacy, and Skills Performance: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Asian Nurs. Res. (Korean. Soc. Nurs. Sci). 12, 17–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anr.2018.01.001 Kim, S.J., Shin, H.W., Lee, J.G., Kang, S.R., Bartlett, R., (2017). A smartphone application to educate undergraduate nursing students about providing care for infant airway obstruction. Nurse Educ. Today 48, 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.10.006

Kurt, Y., Ozturk, H., (2021). The effect of mobile augmented reality application developed for injections on the knowledge and skill levels of nursing students: An experimental controlled study. Nurse Educ. Today 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104955

Lee, B.-O., Liang, H.-F., Chu, T.-P., Hung, C.-C., (2019). Effects of simulation-based learning on nursing student competences and clinical performance. Nurse Educ. Pract. 41, 102646. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2019.102646

Lee, E., Park, H., (2016). Comparison of Indirect Nursing Interventions Performed by Korean and U.S. Nurses Using the Nursing Interventions Classification (NIC) System. Int. J. Nurs. Knowl. 27, 149–155. https://doi.org/10.1111/2047-3095.12093

Lee, J.H., Lee, H., Kim, S., Choi, M., Ko, I.S., Bae, J.Y., Kim, S.H., (2020). Debriefing methods and learning outcomes in simulation nursing education: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Nurse Educ. Today 87, 104345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104345

Lee, K.-C., Ho, C.-H., Yu, C.-C., Chao, Y.-F., (2020). The development of a six-station OSCE for evaluating the clinical competency of the student nurses before graduation: A validity and reliability analysis. Nurse Educ. Today 84, 1. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104247

Lynga, P., Masiello, I., Karlgren, K., Joelsson-Alm, E., (2019). Experiences of using an OSCE protocol in clinical examinations of nursing students - A comparison of student and faculty assessments. Nurse Educ. Pract. 35, 130–134.

https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2019.02.004

Marquez-Hernandez, V. V, Gutierrez-Puertas, L., Granados-Gamez, G., Rodriguez-Garcia, M.C., Gutierrez-Puertas, V., Aguilera-Manrique, G., (2019). Development of a web-based tool to evaluate

competences of nursing students through the assessment of their clinical skills. Nurse Educ. Today 73, 1–6. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.11.010

McWilliams, L.A., McIntyre, T., Dudley, W.N., (2021). Examining the impact of cooperative learner simulation order on performance outcomes of nursing students using a haptic intravenous simulator. Nurse Educ. Pract. 53, 103070. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103070

Mehdipour –Rabori, R., Bagherian, B., Nematollahi, M., (2021). Simulation-based mastery improves nursing skills in BSc nursing students: a quasi-experimental study. BMC Nurs. 20, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-020-00532-9

Meskell, P., Burke, E., Kropmans, T.J.B., Byrne, E., Setyonugroho, W., Kennedy, K.M., (2015). Back to the future: An online OSCE Management Information System for nursing OSCEs. Nurse Educ. Today 35, 1091–1096. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2015.06.010

Miranda, R.P.R., Chaves, E.D.L., Lima, R.S., Braga, C.G., Simoes, I.A.R., Fava, S., Iunes, D.H., (2017). The effectiveness of a simulated scenario to teach nursing students how to perform a bed bath: A randomized clinical trial. Nurse Educ. Today 57, 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.06.008

Molloy, E., Boud, D., (2012). Changing conceptions of feedback. In D Boud, & Molloy (Eds), Feedback in Higher and Professional Education - Understanding It and Doing It Well. pp. 11–33. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203074336

Molloy, E., & van de Ridder, M., (2018). Reworking feedback to build better work. In C. Delany, & E. Molloy (Eds.), Learning and Teaching in Clinical Contexts: A Practical Guide (1st ed., pp. 305-320). Elsevier.

NMBA (2022). Nursing and Midwifery Board registered nurses standards for practice. https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/codes-guidelines-statements/professionalstandards/registered-nurse-standards-for-practice.aspx

141

Nuuyoma, V., (2021). Feedback in clinical settings: nursing students' perceptions at the district hospital in the southern part of Namibia. Curationis 44, 2147. https://doi. org/10.4102/curationis.v44i1.2147.

Nyström, S., Dahlberg, J., Edelbring, S., Hult, H., Abrandt Dahlgren, M., (2016). Debriefing practices in interprofessional simulation with students: A sociomaterial perspective. BMC Med. Educ. 16, 148. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-016-0666-5

Onturk, Z.K., Ugur, E., Kocatepe, V., Ates, E., Ocaktan, N., Unver, V., Karabacak, U., (2019). Use of simulation from high fidelity to low fidelity in teaching of safe-medication practices. J. Pak. Med. Assoc. 69, 195–200.

Ositadimma Oranye, N., Ahmad, C., Ahmad, N., Abu Bakar, R., (2012). Assessing nursing clinical skills competence through objective structured clinical examination (OSCE) for open distance learning students in Open University Malaysia. Contemp. nurse a J. Aust. Nurs. Prof. 41, 233–241. https://doi.org/10.5172/conu.2012.41.2.233

Oz, G.O., Ordu, Y., (2021). The effects of web based education and Kahoot usage in evaluation of the knowledge and skills regarding intramuscular injection among nursing students. Nurse Educ. Today 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104910

Page M J, McKenzie J E, Bossuyt P M, Boutron I, Hoffmann T C, Mulrow C D et al. (2021) The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews BMJ: 372 :n71 doi:10.1136/bmj.n71

Paterson, C., Paterson, N., Jackson, W., Work, F., (2020). What are students' needs and preferences for academic feedback in higher education? A systematic review. Nurse Educ. Today 85, 104236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104236.

Peddle, M., Bearman, M., Mckenna, L., Nestel, D., (2019). Exploring undergraduate nursing student interactions with virtual patients to develop 'non-technical skills' through case study methodology. Adv. Simul. 4, 1. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s41077-019-0088-7

Prentice, D., O'Rourke, T., (2013). Safe Practice: Using High-Fidelity Simulation to Teach Blood Transfusion Reactions. J. Infus. Nurs. 36, 207–210.

https://doi.org/10.1097/NAN.0b013e318288a3d9

Rahnavard, Z., Eybpoosh, S., Alianmoghaddam, N., (2013). Effect of Clinical Teaching Associate Model on Nursing Students' Clinical Skills and Nurses' Satisfaction. Contemp. Nurse. http://doi.org/10.5157/conu.2013.2704

Ravik, M., Havnes, A., Bjørk, I.T., (2017). Defining and comparing learning actions in two simulation modalities: students training on a latex arm and each other's arms. J. Clin. Nurs. 26, 4255–4266. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13748

Rethlefsen, M.L., Kirtley, S., Waffenschmidt, S., Ayala, A.P., Moher, D., Page, M.J., Koffel, J.B., (2021). PRISMA-S: an extension to the PRISMA Statement for Reporting Literature Searches in Systematic Reviews. Syst. Rev. 10, 39. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-020-01542-z

Rim, D., Shin, H., (2022). Development and Assessment of a Multi-User Virtual Environment Nursing Simulation Program: A Mixed Methods Research Study. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 62, 31–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2021.10.004

Rush, S., Firth, T., Burke, L., Marks-Maran, D., (2012). Implementation and evaluation of peer assessment of clinical skills for first year student nurses. Nurse Educ. Pract. 12, 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2012.01.014 Sadler, D.R., (1989). Formative assessment and the design of instructional systems. Instr. Sci. 18, 119–144. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00117714

Sarvan, S., Efe, E., (2022). The effect of neonatal resuscitation training based on a serious game simulation method on nursing students' knowledge, skills, satisfaction and self-confidence levels: A randomized controlled trial. Nurse Educ. Today 111, 105298.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2022.105298

Sezgunsay, E., Basak, T., (2020). Is Moulage effective in improving clinical skills of nursing students for the assessment of pressure injury? Nurse Educ. Today 94, 1. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104572

Sheahan, L., While, A., Bloomfield, J., (2015). An exploratory trial exploring the use of a multiple intelligences teaching approach (MITA) for teaching clinical skills to first year undergraduate nursing students. Nurse Educ. Today 35, 1148–1154. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2015.05.002

Smallheer, B.A., Stone, E., Hicks, J., Galbreath, C., (2017). Use of Video Recording to Facilitate Peer-to-Peer Learning in a Prelicensure Nursing Program. Teach. Learn. Nurs. 12, 158–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2017.02.003

Smith, P.C., Hamilton, B.K., (2015). The effects of virtual reality simulation as a teaching strategy for skills preparation in nursing students. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 11, 52–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2014.10.001

Soledad Ibarra-Saiz, M., Rodriguez-Gomez, G., & Boud, D. (2020). Developing student competence through peer assessment : the role of feedback, self-regulation and evaluative judgement. *Higher Education*, *80*(1), 137–156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-019-00469-2

Solheim, E., Plathe, H.S., Eide, H., (2017). Nursing students' evaluation of a new feedback and reflection tool for use in high-fidelity simulation – Formative assessment of clinical skills. A

descriptive quantitative research design. Nurse Educ. Pract. 27, 114–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2017.08.021

Stayt, L.C., Merriman, C., Ricketts, B., Morton, S., Simpson, T., (2015). Recognizing and managing a deteriorating patient: a randomized controlled trial investigating the effectiveness of clinical simulation in improving clinical performance in undergraduate nursing students. J. Adv. Nurs., Comment in: Evid Based Nurs. 2016 Apr;19(2):55 PMID: 26494851 [https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26494851] 71, 2563–2574. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jan.12722

Sterling-Fox, C., Smith, J.P., Gariando, O., Charles, P., (2020). Nursing Skills Video Selfies: An Innovative Teaching and Learning Strategy for Undergraduate Nursing Students to Master Psychomotor Skills. SAGE open Nurs. 6, 2377960820934090–2377960820934090. https://doi.org/10.1177/2377960820934090

Stone, R., Cooke, M., Mitchell, M., (2020). Exploring the meaning of undergraduate nursing students' experiences and confidence in clinical skills using video. Nurse Educ. Today 86, 104322. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104322

Strand, I., Gulbrandsen, L., Slettebo, A., Naden, D., (2017). Digital recording as a teaching and learning method in the skills laboratory. J. Clin. Nurs. 26, 2572–2582. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13632

Surabenjawong, U., Phrampus, P.E., Lutz, J., Farkas, D., Gopalakrishna, A., Monsomboon, A., Limsuwat, C., O'Donnell, J.M., (2020). Comparison of Innovative Peer-to-Peer Education and Standard Instruction on Airway Management Skill Training. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 47, 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2020.06.009

Sweet L., and Broadbent J. (2017). Nursing students' perceptions of the qualities of a clinical facilitator that enhance learning. Nurse Education in Practice. 22:30–36. doi:

10.1016/j.nepr.2016.11.007.Tai, J., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Dawson, P., Panadero, E., 2018. Developing evaluative judgement: enabling students to make decisions about the quality of work. High. Educ. 76, 467–481. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0220-3

Tan, A.J.Q., Lee, C.C.S., Lin, P.Y., Cooper, S., Lau, L.S.T., Chua, W.L., Liaw, S.Y., (2017). Designing and evaluating the effectiveness of a serious game for safe administration of blood transfusion: A randomized controlled trial. Nurse Educ. Today 55, 38–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.04.027

Unsworth, J., Melling, A., Tuffnell, C., Allan, J., (2016). Improving performance amongst nursing students through the discovery of discrepancies during simulation. Nurse Educ. Pract. 16, 47–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2015.07.003

Uzelli Yilmaz, D., Sari, D., (2021). Examining the effect of simulation-based learning on intravenous therapy administration' knowledge, performance, and clinical assessment skills of first-year nursing students. Nurse Educ. Today 102, 104924. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104924

Valizadeh, L., Akbarzadeh, B., Ghiyasvandiyan, S., KuchakiNejad, Z., Zamanzadeh, V., Aghajari, P., Jabbarzadeh, F., Crowley, M., (2021). The Effects of Role Play Simulation and Demonstration on Pediatric Peripheral Venous Catheter Insertion Skill among Nursing Students: A Three Group Experimental Study. Nurs. midwifery Stud. 10, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.4103/nms.nms 94 18

Watts, W.E., Rush, K., Wright, M., (2009). Evaluating first-year nursing students' ability to selfassess psychomotor skills using videotape. Nurs. Educ. Perspect. 30, 214–219.

Willsher, K.A., (2010). Overcoming mixed messages on alcohol consumption: A teaching strategy. Nurse Educ. Pract. 10, 279–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2010.01.003

Wong, G., Greenhalgh, T., Westhorp, G., Buckingham, J., Pawson, R., (2013). RAMESES publication standards: realist syntheses. BMC Med. 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-11-21

Wong, B.S.H., Shorey, S., (2022). Nursing students' experiences and perception of peer feedback: a qualitative systematic review. Nurse Educ. Today 116, 105469. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2022.105469.

Wright, C., Hogard, E., Ellis, R., Smith, D., Kelly, C., (2008). Effect of PETTLEP imagery training on performance of nursing skills: pilot study. J. Adv. Nurs. 63, 259–265. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04706.x

Yildiz, H., Demiray, A., (2022). Virtual reality in nursing education 3D intravenous catheterization Elearning: A randomized controlled trial. Contemp. nurse a J. Aust. Nurs. Prof. 58, 125–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/10376178.2022.2051573

Yoshida, H., Nishizuka, K., & Arimoto, M. (2023). Examining the process of developing evaluative judgement in Japanese elementary schools-utilising the co-regulation and evaluative judgement model. *Assessment in Education : Principles, Policy & Practice, 30*(2), 151–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2023.2193332

Chapter Seven

Exploring student, academic and clinical educator perspective of feedback as a process to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement in clinical practice education: a qualitative study

Manuscript under review

Henderson, B., Aitken, R., Chipchase, L., & Lewis, L. K. (2024). Exploring student, academic and clinical educator perspective of feedback as a process to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement in clinical practice education: a qualitative study, under review.

The previous chapter presented a systematic scoping review of the literature exploring the presence of, and methods for, delivering each of the features of evaluative judgement in nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment methods. This chapter presents a manuscript titled: *"Exploring student, academic and clinical educator perspective of feedback as a process to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement in clinical practice education: a qualitative study".*

This final study provides insight into how feedback may provide opportunities to foster undergraduate nursing students' evaluative judgement. Embedding the concepts of evaluative judgement in feedback methods has potential to enrich the feedback process and cultivate essential skills and attitudes that support lifelong learning and professional development in undergraduate nursing students.

7.1 Abstract

Aim: To examine key stakeholders' perspectives of feedback practice and using an evaluative judgement lens explore avenues to embed the concepts of developing evaluative judgement as an aim of feedback in clinical learning settings.

Design: A qualitative study using the Co-creating Knowledge Translation framework (Co-KT)

Methods: Nursing students (n=8), academics, and clinical educators (n=11), completed an anonymous online survey and then participated in three workshops conducted in June 2023. Using an evaluative judgement lens, a six-phase thematic analysis of the data was used to explore patterns, meaning and relationships.

Results: An iterative reflexive approach to analysing the workshop data identified five themes: feedback is a shared responsibility, a standardised process, developing relationships, reflection and reflexive practice and feedback conversations. All elements of evaluative judgement featured across the five themes.

Conclusions: This study highlighted that student, academic and clinical educator perceptions of good feedback practice in clinical practice settings were closely aligned to the concepts of developing evaluative judgement. When feedback practice was reported as working well, participants embraced evaluative judgement concepts.

Impact: Evaluative judgement is the ability to judge the quality of your own and others' work. This study provides data that may support academics and clinical educators to develop students' evaluative judgement by incorporating the concept as an overt aim of feedback practice in nursing clinical practice settings.

Reporting method: To guide the reporting of the qualitative research the consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ) were used (Tong et al., 2007).

Public contribution: Clinical educators and academics from three universities and nursing students from one university participated in workshops to co-create ideas around embedding the concept of developing evaluative judgement as an aim of clinical feedback.

Keywords: Nursing, clinical practice education, evaluative judgement, feedback

Contribution to the global clinical community

- This study introduces the concept of developing nursing students' evaluative judgement, which is the ability to judge the quality of their own and others' work, in clinical practice education settings.
- Feedback may be used as a method to facilitate nursing students to judge the quality of their own and others' work to develop evaluative judgement in the clinical practice setting.

7.2 Introduction

Developing evaluative judgement is a new concept to nursing education. One way to develop undergraduate nursing students' evaluative judgment could be through feedback. The aim of this study was to examine key stakeholders' perspectives of feedback practice and using an evaluative judgement lens explore avenues to embed the concepts of developing evaluative judgement as an aim of feedback in clinical learning settings.

7.2.1 The importance of developing evaluative judgement.

On graduation from a bachelor's degree, nursing students transition to Registered nurses. An expectation of Registered nurses is that they are reflective practitioners able to identify gaps in their knowledge (NMBA, 2016). If Registered nurses are unaware of the quality or currency of their work and are unable to identify deficits in their knowledge, there is a risk that they may be unsafe practitioners (Zaitoun et al., 2023). The challenge for higher education is to equip nursing students with lifelong learning skills, and capabilities to identify learning needs beyond the completion of their degree (Boud and Falchickov, 2006; Boud and Soler, 2016). Methods for developing nursing students' lifelong learning capabilities are not well understood; with limited research focusing on strategies and elements of lifelong learning in higher education curricula (Hamra et al., 2018; Qalehsari et al., 2017).

A potential avenue to contribute to lifelong learning skills is to develop students' evaluative judgement. Evaluative judgement is *"the capability to make decisions about the quality of work of self and others*" (Tai et al., 2018). Evaluative judgement is a characteristic of competency, self-regulation, and lifelong learning (Boud et al., 2018). These are critical skills for Registered nurses, who are required to judge the safety and quality of their own and others' clinical practice (NMBA, 2016). The concepts of discerning quality, reflection, judgement process, calibration and feedback have been identified as important elements to develop students' evaluative judgement (Henderson et al., 2021; Henderson et al., 2022; Ilangakoon et al., 2022; Sadler, 1989; Tai et al., 2018).

Discerning quality involves students understanding what good work looks like and is fundamental to the learning process (Boud et al., 2018). When students have examples of good work and understand what good work looks like they can make judgements about their own work (Carless and Boud, 2018; Nicol et al., 2014; Sadler, 2010). However, some students may not be able to create good work even when provided with examples, therefore, feedback should also help students understand the required standard (Boud et al., 2018; Carless and Chan, 2017; Rung and George, 2021).

Reflection is a key element of developing students' evaluative judgement (Bearman et al., 2022). Reflecting and appraising work can help regulate students' learning, identifying where their skills are deficit or if their work meets the standard (Naidoo et al., 2021; Panadero et al., 2017). To enable *self-evaluation/self-assessment*, students need to reflect on their own work, however, reflection does not necessarily result in self-assessment. Therefore, to develop students' evaluative judgement, both reflection and self-assessment are required so that students can recognise if their work is quality work (Boud et al., 2018; McIver and Murphy, 2023; Ramlogan and Raman, 2022). Reflecting and appraising the standards and how work meets the standards develops students' evaluative judgement (Fitzgerald et al., 2021; Tai et al., 2016).

Self-evaluation/self-assessment is the focus of the *judgement process*, which can occur in isolation without judgement from others, or by comparing work with peers to identify components of work that are quality or below standard. Engaging students to actively identify standards to benchmark and judge their work can promote evaluative judgement (Chen et al., 2022). Recognising that self-evaluation can be biased, coupled with students potentially misunderstanding what the required standard is, means that the *calibration* process is an important step to help students develop evaluative judgement (Boud et al., 2018). This process involves others working with students to apply standards to their work to calibrate their judgement. Calibrating students' understanding of the standards and how their work meets the standards can occur in a feedback conversation (Johnson et al., 2016; Tai et al., 2018). Students should seek out and apply feedback

to their work through feedback conversations with supervisors, colleagues, and peers, supporting students to make sense of the feedback and refine their judgements (Bearman et al., 2022; Boud and Molloy, 2013).

To date, there is limited empirical research about developing students' evaluative judgement as an underpinning learning pedagogy. Current literature that evaluates methods of embedding the concept of evaluative judgement is mostly situated in medicine, and has occurred in the last few years (Bearman et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2022; Chong, 2021; Fitzgerald et al., 2021; Henderson et al., 2021; 2022; Ibarra-Sáiz et al., 2020; McIver and Murphy, 2023; Ramlogan and Raman, 2022; Tai et al., 2016), with discussion papers adding to the discourse (Bonvin et al., 2022; Ilangakoon et al., 2022; Molloy et al., 2020; Naidoo et al., 2021; Rung and George, 2021).

Cultivating a sustainable feedback culture and using feedback conversations is a strong theme in the existing literature on developing students' evaluative judgement (Bearman et al., 2022; Ilangakoon et al., 2022; Molloy et al., 2020; Naidoo et al., 2021). However, there is limited empirical evidence detailing how assessment and feedback should be positioned to foster students' evaluative judgement (Rung and George, 2021). It is also unclear how educators engage in feedback conversations, with feedback practice requiring improvement to support students to develop their evaluative judgement (Ibarra-Sáiz et al., 2020).

Nursing educators have yet to adopt developing students' evaluative judgement as a pedagogy to underpin teaching and learning activities, this has been demonstrated in two systematic reviews, where evaluative judgement was shown not to be an overt aim of clinical teaching and assessment in nursing (Henderson et al., 2023) and that the *"term evaluative judgement does not yet appear in the nursing and midwifery education literature"* (Ilangakoon et al., 2022 p8).

Clinical practice education represents approximately half of nursing students' undergraduate learning experiences (Arkan et al., 2018; Warne et al., 2010), the clinical setting, either in hospitals or clinics, or through simulated activities where manikins or actors simulate a real clinical environment, is where undergraduate nursing students are socialised to the nursing profession (Salisu et al., 2019). The clinical learning environment provides opportunities for students to apply theory to practice, practice psychomotor skills, and develop professional behaviours, leadership, and teamwork (Gcawu and van Rooyen, 2022; Jafarian-Amiri et al., 2020; Levett-Jones et al., 2015).

To support nursing students' during clinical learning, they are supervised and assessed by clinical educators, also known as preceptors, supervisors, mentors, or facilitators. Clinical educators are pivotal in providing timely feedback to students in the clinical setting, which is an integral element of the learning journey (Tuomikoski et al., 2020). Feedback provided to students in clinical practice settings is often verbal and includes debriefing after simulation, or formal and ad hoc opportunistic feedback interactions with clinical educators, patients, peers, or nursing staff (Henderson et al., 2023). Feedback is considered authentic and sustainable when the aim is to develop lifelong learning skills of reflective practice and critical thinking (Dawson et al., 2019). However, clinical educators who assess and provide feedback to students possess varied skills and knowledge of feedback is an important feature of the learning process and plays a critical role in the development of students' clinical skills and knowledge (Engstrom et al., 2017; Henderson et al., 2012), recent research has found that feedback provided in the clinical simulated or placement setting, is often didactic and educator-centric and fails to guide student learning (Burgess et al., 2020; Henderson et al., 2019).

Acknowledging that half of nursing education is allocated to clinical practice education, introducing the pedagogy of developing evaluative judgement to clinical and simulated clinical settings, where feedback is predominantly verbal, is an ideal starting point. Given the paucity of evidence regarding embedding evaluative judgement in feedback methods for clinical practice education for nursing students, exploring an approach to feedback that embeds the concepts of evaluative judgement has potential to improve the quality of nursing education and develop nursing students' lifelong learning capabilities. Therefore, the aim of this study was to explore student, academic, and clinical educator perspectives of feedback and using an evaluative judgement lens explore avenues to embed the concepts of developing evaluative judgement as an aim of feedback in clinical learning settings.

7.3 Methods

7.3.1 Design

This qualitative approach used an on-line survey and three workshops to gather rich data generated by facilitated interaction between participants to co-create ideas around the concept of developing evaluative judgement as an aim of clinical feedback. All participants provided written informed consent, and the workshop configuration was designed to address the power imbalance that inherently exists between academics and clinical educators and students (Neiterman et al., 2022). The potential for students to feel intimidated or concerned about expressing their perceptions of feedback in the presence of academics and clinical educators was mitigated by initial separate workshops. Workshop 1 participants were undergraduate nursing students (n=8). Workshop 2 participants were academics and clinical educators (n=11). Workshop 3 was attended by students, academics, and clinical educators. In this combined workshop, the number of participants was reduced and there were unequal numbers of students (n=4) and academics/clinical educators (n=8), therefore, the workshop facilitator implementing measures to ensure that the student voice was heard in group discussions. Ethical approval (no. 5806) was gained from Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee in December 2022. All participants provided written informed consent.

The Co-creating Knowledge Translation framework was used (Co-KT) (Kitson et al., 2013) to embed a knowledge translation approach from the outset. The first three steps of the Co-KT engaged participants to explore their perception of feedback and how feedback practice could embed the concepts of evaluative judgement: Step 1 - Initial contact and framing the issue:

participants were invited to explore the important elements of feedback, connecting them to the context of the research. Step 2- Refining and testing ideas: participants were engaged in exploring and refining their understanding of feedback and evaluative judgement, testing ideas on how feedback and evaluative judgment align. Step 3 - Interpreting, contextualising, and adapting the knowledge base: participants were engaged in contextualising what is already known about feedback and evaluative judgement and adapting their new understanding to the clinical setting.

7.3.2 Participants

There were two participant groups targeted for recruitment for this study, 1) nursing academics and clinical educators and 2) undergraduate nursing students.

To recruit academic and clinical educator participants, purposive sampling was used. An invitation was emailed to the coordinators of undergraduate nursing programs of three universities. Coordinators were invited to identify academics and clinical educators, who teach nursing clinical subjects and/or assess students' clinical practice in simulated or clinical settings to participate. For inclusion, academics needed to be engaged in clinical education and/or research, and clinical educators needed to be Registered nurses engaged in the clinical teaching and learning activities of nursing students. There was no limit placed on the number of academic and clinical educator participants.

To recruit nursing student participants, a convenience sampling method was used. An invitation to participate was emailed to all 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} year undergraduate nursing students who were enrolled in clinical placement subjects, at one university. First year students were ineligible as they had limited experience of clinical practice settings. The total number of students invited to participate was 800. There was no limit placed on the number of student participants. Nineteen participants were included in the study, consisting of academics and clinical educators (n=11) from three universities, and undergraduate nursing students (n=8) from one university.

7.3.3 Procedure

Participants were required to complete an anonymous online survey, the link for the survey was embedded in an email that was sent to the participants one week prior to the workshops, followed by attendance at two facilitated workshops (online or in-person at a university campus), aligned with the Co-KT Framework. The workshop process is summarised in Figure 7.1.

Figure 7.1 Workshop schedules and alignment with Co-KT Framework steps

Co-KT Step 1 Initial contact and framing the issue

Consent received Pre-workshop survey and information about the workshop emailed to participants							
Co-KT Step 2 Refining and testing ideas							
Workshop 1	Workshop 2						
Participant Group 1: academics and clinical educators <i>Content:</i> Presentation introducing evaluative judgement. Group discussion based on results of the survey from students and academics and introduction presentations. Group activity exploring what are the important elements of feedback.	Participant Group 2: nursing students Content: Presentation introducing evaluative judgement. Group discussion based on results of the survey from students and academics and introduction presentations. Group activity exploring what are the important elements of feedback.						
Co-KT Step 3 Interpreting, contextualising, and adapting the knowledge base							

Workshop 3

Group 1 and 2 combined Group discussion reflection on outcomes of workshop 1. Exploring a feedback process that includes the important elements of feedback and including the elements of evaluative judgement.

The aim of the online survey was to engage participants in reflection on their experience of

feedback in clinical practice settings. The online survey used a 5-point Likert scale ranging from

strongly agree to strongly disagree. Demographic questions, for example, age and gender, were

deliberately not included in the survey as these data were deemed unnecessary to fulfil the aims of
the study and could have led to participants being potentially identifiable in the small sample. The questions and responses to the online survey are summarised in Figure 7.2.





*Collapsed strongly agreed/agreed and strongly disagreed/disagreed. Neutral was not chosen as an option by participants.

Question	Academics & Clinical Educators	Students
1	In the clinical practice setting: clinical laboratories when I give verbal feedback to students, I engage them in a discussion about the feedback.	When I receive verbal feedback, I am engaged by the tutor/clinical facilitator in a discussion about the feedback.
2	In the clinical practice setting: clinical placement, when I give verbal feedback to students, I engage them in a discussion about the feedback.	When I am given verbal feedback, I talk less than the tutor/clinical facilitator.
3	When I give verbal feedback, I talk more than the student.	When I am given verbal feedback, I talk more than the tutor/clinical facilitator.
4	Before I give verbal feedback, I give students opportunity to self-evaluate and judge their own performance before I tell them how they performed	Before I am given verbal feedback, I am given opportunity to self-evaluate and judge my own performance before the tutor/clinical facilitator tells me how I performed.
5	Reflecting on and self-evaluating performance is an important skill for students to learn.	Reflecting on and self-evaluating performance is an important skill for students to learn.
6	It is common practice for me to provide opportunities for students to engage in feedback conversations.	It is common for tutors/clinical facilitators to provide me with opportunities to engaging in a feedback conversation about my performance.
7	It is common practice for me to provide opportunities for students to self-evaluate and judge their own performance.	It is common for tutors/clinical facilitators to provide me with opportunities to self- evaluate and judge my own performance.

The workshops were facilitated by a person independent of the research team to prevent any perceived or actual bias. One researcher (BH) attended the workshops to take detailed notes of the participants' conversations, ensuring that all data were comprehensively collected. The first and second workshops were identical excepting for dividing the participants into two groups (Group 1: academics and clinical educators; Group 2: students). A summary of survey findings was presented in this workshop to initiate and stimulate discussion, alongside the purpose of providing a safe space for participants to initially express and share their individual feedback experiences without concern that student or academic/clinician views may be received negatively by the other participant group. The third workshop focussed on the concepts underpinning feedback practice. rather than individual feedback practices. Academics, clinical educators, and students attended the same second workshop together, (workshop 3), to promote cross pollination of ideas and rich discussion. All workshop sessions were two hours duration and workshop 3 was held three weeks after workshops 1 and 2. Participants engaged in group discussions in all workshops, the audio of discussions were recorded and transcribed. All written work produced by the participants during the workshops and notes taken by the researcher were captured using an online collaborative document. The recorded transcribed and written data collected during the workshops contributed to the thematic analysis.

7.4 Thematic analysis

Thematic analysis as described by (Braun and Clarke, 2019), provided a reflexive, iterative and flexible framework to review the survey and written and spoken workshop data, generating initial themes that emerged as being important to describe the phenomenon. Acknowledging that the participants focused on how they experienced and/or provided feedback, rather than the theory of feedback methods, data could be analysed from many different theoretical perspectives. However, the objective of the workshops was to explore feedback as a process that fosters evaluative judgement during nursing clinical practice education. Therefore, to explore the relationship between the important elements of feedback, the enablers, and barriers that the participants reported, and the concepts of developing students' evaluative judgement, the

researchers applied an evaluative judgement lens to the data. (Table 7.1).

Table 7.1 Example of methods that demonstrate the concepts of developing students' evaluative judgement (Boud et al., 2018).

Discerning quality

Understanding the standards Comparing with others Exemplars/rubrics Clear criteria Assessing quality and trustworthiness of sources Using multiple sources of feedback to inform judgement of the quality of the work

Reflection

On performance before feedback is given On feedback from peers or others

Judging work

Self-evaluation Self-assessment Peer-assessment

Calibration

Clarifying and exploring the students' self-evaluation of the standards Managing biases

Feedback as dialogue

Helping students understand the feedback Student focused Students accepting responsibility to seek out feedback Students as active participants in feedback

The transcribed audio and written data collected from Workshop 1 were organised into the

elements that students, academics and clinical educators described as important for good

feedback and the elements that they identified as missing in current feedback practice (Table 7.2).

Table 7.2 Co-KT step 1: Framing the issue

What students and	What students identified	What academics/clinical
academics/clinical	was missing in current	educators identified was
educators identified was	feedback methods	missing in current feedback
important about feedback		methods
Making time for feedback	Time	Time
Follow up to check that	Relationship with the tutor	Structure, tutor training, and
students understand the		moderation
feedback		
A relationship –		
academic/clinical educators'		
credibility and need to be		
approachable		
Clear criteria and examples		Helping students understand
How to apply the feedback		and apply feedback
A two-way dialogue		Peer to peer feedback
Students as active participants		Activities for how students
Reflective practice		themselves can provide
		feedback constructively
		ICCUDACK CONSTITUCTIVELY

* Themes identified by participants as important and missing for good feedback practice: Discussions in workshop one.

Aligned with Co-KT Steps 2 and 3, two independent researchers (BH and RA) reviewed the identified elements from Co-KT Step 1 plus written and transcribed discussions from Workshop 3 to identify emergent characteristics and the relationship of these characteristics to the key concepts of developing students' evaluative judgement. To mitigate bias and assess how and to what extent the researchers' assumptions and interests influenced the data analysis, an iterative reflexive process was used (Charmaz, 2006; Liamputtong, 2010). Using an iterative reflexive approach BH and RA worked together to identify 14 categories from all data sets and coded these as emerging characteristics. The two reviewers then independently grouped the emerging characteristics into eight initial themes. They then worked together again to critically examine the

decisions and interpretations made through focussed conversations, and checking, and rechecking the data that they had initially coded independently. Through this iterative process they grouped initial themes into the final themes. The final themes were mapped to the concepts of evaluative judgement (Table 7.3).

Table 7.3 Co-KT steps 2 & 3: Refining and testing ideas, interpreting, contextualising, and adapting the knowledge base

Categories: Emerging characteristics of good feedback practice and concepts of evaluative judgement	Initial themes independently coded	Final themes	Alignment to the concepts of developing evaluative judgement
Training for both staff and students on giving and receiving feedback Students need to seek out feedback and act on feedback Helping students understand and apply feedback	Feedback is a shared responsibility	Feedback is a shared responsibility	Discerning quality (what does quality feedback look like)
A familiar format Need time for feedback Judge the performance against standards, structure, and expectations Clear criteria and examples – how to apply the feedback	The process is important. A standardized approach. Clear expectations, criteria.	_A standardised process	Discerning quality (what does quality work look like)
Time to build a relationship Students as active participants Empower students to be proactive	Building a student focused relationship is important. Students as active participants.	_Developing relationships	Feedback as dialogue
Develop reflective and reflexive practice Enabling reflective and reflexive practice	Reflection and reflexive practice	Reflection and reflexive practice	Judging work
A two-way dialogue Active listening Feedback is a conversation	Feedback conversations	Feedback conversations	Calibration Feedback as dialogue

*Connecting the categories and identifying themes from workshop one & workshop two data.

When both positive and negative attributes of the same characteristic were identified, they were grouped together under the same theme. For example, 'training' was seen as essential for good practice and as missing when feedback practice was poor. Through this process some themes were discarded, and others added, until a point of saturation (five themes) was reached with no new themes emerging. Dependability was achieved by having all four members of the research team independently review the transcribed discussions and the collaborative documents to validate codes and themes. The relationships drawn between the themes described by the participants and the concepts of developing evaluative judgement were independently cross-checked by all four researchers (Creswell, 2018). An example of theme development is shown in table 7.4.

Final theme	Definitions	Descriptions	Example
Feedback is a shared responsibility	Expressing how both students and educators are part of the feedback process	Mention of concepts relating to feedback literacy/engaging in feedback/applying feedback can be expressed as feedback from clinical educators to students and students receiving feedback from educators	"A lack of understanding or disconnect between delivering feedback to students and students accepting and recognising that this is feedback that I am getting" (Academic, clinical educator: written)
A standardised process	Exploring ideas of how a feedback process could contain the important elements of feedback and concepts of evaluative judgement	Perceptions of a feedback process/method or approach to providing feedback. Or perceptions of evaluative judgement aligning to the feedback approach Can be any approach to feedback.	<i>"Having a standardised approach to feedback really making sure there is a shared goal"</i> (Academic, clinical educator: written)

Developing relationships	Exploring ideas of the importance of credibility, trust and a respectful relationship between student and educator	Perceptions of feedback as a relationship between student and educator. Perceptions of poor relationships impacting on feedback. Can be any information relating to the relationship between student and educator during feedback interactions.	"after giving me feedback then she would give follow up I reflect on what I did and then she would talk to mefeedback is not just words it's a relationship"(Student: verbal)
Reflection and reflexive practice	Exploring perceptions about reflection and self- evaluation and metacognition	Perceptions about reflection, self-evaluation, reflexive practice. Also, exploring challenges related to reflecting and self-evaluation.	"we keep talking about self- awareness and metacognition about the ability to do reflection if you cannot reflect on how you think you didit is difficult for students to reflect when you ask them. Some don't have the ability to self- reflect yet it is something that people need to learn". (Academic, clinical educator: verbal)
Feedback conversations	Exploring perceptions about feedback as a conversation	Perceptions about feedback as a dialogue, a conversation, a two way verbal interaction, a discussion, or any indication of bidirectional verbal interaction.	"A discussion format, with the student given opportunity to identify strengths and weaknesses that I then go on to discuss with the student." (Academic, clinical educator: written)

7.5 Results

Five themes emerged from the data, feedback is a shared responsibility, a standardised process, developing relationships, reflection and reflexive practice and feedback conversations.

Theme 1: Feedback is a shared responsibility

The clinical educators and academics presented a different view to that of the students and when the two views were synthesised, this theme gave a sense that feedback was a responsibility of both clinical educators and students. There was a level of dissatisfaction and some frustration expressed by both participant groups. Academics and clinical educators expressed that students' feedback literacy was sometimes deficient and students need to know how to receive and accept feedback, as shown by the following quotes:

"A lack of understanding or disconnect between delivering feedback to students and students accepting and recognising that this is feedback that I am getting" (Academic, clinical educator: written)

"Difficult for students to accept and recognise feedback, students need the context and understanding about feedback. Therefore, needs dedicated time and format so they [students] know how to receive and apply feedback" (Academic, clinical educator: written)

Students expressed frustration with clinical educators around the lack of consistency in skill and knowledge of feedback practice. Highlighting that students expect clinical educators to provide effective, timely and contemporary feedback as demonstrated by the following quotes:

"For feedback to be given promptly so that students can reflect and act on the feedback and for tutors to follow up with students about the feedback" (Student: written)

"Teachers and facilitators should be given guidelines on how well they do or construct feedback" (Student: written)

The theme "feedback as a shared responsibility" aligns with the evaluative judgement concept of discerning quality. Students and academics / clinical educators agreed that students should seek out feedback from multiple sources informing the judgement of the quality of their work. As demonstrated in the following quotes:

"Students need to be assertive and seek out feedback" (Student: oral)

"One of the more important would be the individual accepting feedback. If you are open to feedback, it can come from anywhere. Other staff, patients, family, visitors, whoever" (Student: oral)

Feedback as a shared responsibility was a strong theme, however, a tension existed between students and clinical educators, with both groups identifying deficits in each other's feedback literacy. The language used by academics and clinical educators was interesting, including: "*delivering feedback to students*" and "*students accepting feedback*." Whilst shared responsibility speaks to equality, the pervasive language suggests a hierarchy remains.

Discerning quality not only featured in relation to examples of good work but also for students to be able to discern and assess the quality and trustworthiness of the feedback sources. The idea that feedback can come from multiple sources, such as patients or peers, was explored by academics and clinical educators, connecting the need for students to develop the ability to recognise and discern the quality of feedback when it is provided to them.

"how do we empower or teach students to determine that discernment themselves ...to decern what is valuable feedback and what is not" (Academic, clinical educator: oral)

"Students want to know who's feedback they should listen too, ...who's feedback should they value" (Academic, clinical educator: oral)

Theme 2: A standardised process

Academics, clinical educators, and students perceived that a standardised approach to feedback was important, such as a verbal method that could be easy to remember and translate to any clinical setting as summative or formative feedback. As explained in the following quote:

"as soon as someone starts with a familiar format you go aha I recognise this is a feedback thing... The example of ISBAR none of us don't know how to use that if we had that sort of framework for feedback as soon as I start hearing it I know exactly what to think and I know what is coming next I know exactly what to do and how to respond". (Academic, clinical educator: oral) As part of the standardised process, participants expressed that it was important that goals are shared, the criterion for giving feedback is clear and that detailed explanations or examples help students understand feedback. As explored by academics, clinical educators and students in the following quotes:

"Having a standardised approach to feedback really making sure there is a shared goal" (Academic, clinical educator: written)

"Clear criteria and examples – how to apply the feedback" (Student: written)

"Constructive feedback based on examples and provide feedback with explanation" (Student: written)

The theme "a standardised process" aligns with the evaluative judgement concept discerning quality by including ideas that the feedback process should have clear criteria, examples, and explanations around a shared goal. As highlighted by the following quote:

"Help students understand the best practice before providing feedback" (Academic, clinical educator: oral)

Theme 3: Developing relationships

A prominent theme was the relationship between students and clinical educators. Students expressed that they did not mind negative feedback, but they did want educators to care about their welfare. As demonstrated by the following quotes:

"objectively done as long it is not about me but the work" (Student: oral)

"Some teachers do not mind about the welfare of their student's; it means that they're just there to deliver what they need to teach" (Student: written)

"after giving me feedback then she would give follow up... I reflect on what I did and then she would talk to me....feedback is not just words it's a relationship" (Student: oral)

Credibility was raised as a potential negative influence on the student/educator relationship. The participants explored that mutual respect, and a student focused relationship facilitates active engagement in the feedback process. As shown by the following academic, clinical educator quotes: "The respect of the tutor's credibility and their currency in practice. Affects the reception of the feedback" (Academic, clinical educator: written)

"students want to know who's feedback they should listen too, ...who's feedback should they value, understanding who's voice they should listen to is important" (Academic, clinical educator: oral)

The theme "developing relationships" aligns with the evaluative judgement concept of feedback dialogue, with students expressing a need for a respectful relationship with their educators so they can engage in a conversation. As demonstrated by the following quotes:

"my bad experience was she was very old school like a matron a dictator, very belittling... you could not have a two-way conversation with her" (Student: oral)

"Some tutors/facilitators don't listen and are not approachable" (Student: written)

Theme 4: Reflection and reflexive practice

A strong element of this theme from all participants was that reflection and self-evaluation was important. However, a lack of time was a constant weaving through the discussions as a barrier to providing opportunities for reflection and self-evaluation. As highlighted in the following quotes:

"Need more time to reflect and judge self" (Student: written)

"Missing dedicated time for feedback no time for self-evaluation" (Academic, clinical educator: written) However, academics believed that students often lacked the skills required to engage in reflective practice.

"Metacognition – foster ability to achieve metacognition if you can't reflect on your thoughts or feedback you will not be able to engage with the process. Key in order to recognise quality work you need that metacognitive perspective" (Academic, clinical educator: oral)

The theme "reflection and reflexive practice" aligned with the evaluative judgement concept of providing students with opportunities to engage in reflection, self-evaluation and judging their performance. This theme explored the idea that the ability to reflect and self-evaluate is a skill that needs to be developed. As demonstrated by the following quote: "we keep talking about self-awareness and metacognition about the ability to do reflection if you cannot reflect on how you think you didit is difficult for students to reflect when you ask them. Some don't have the ability to self-reflect yet it is something that people need to learn". (Academic, clinical educator: oral)

Theme 5: feedback conversations

The students wanted feedback in the clinical setting to be a conversation suggesting that the feedback process should be verbal rather than written. As shown in the following quotes:

"A two-way stream from the facilitator/teacher and the students. An open- communication is much better. Also, I find face to face feedback is better than a written one, because it is more interactive" (Student: oral)

"Two-way conversation with the tutor/facilitator" (Student: written)

The theme "a feedback conversation" aligns with the evaluative judgement concept of calibration and a feedback dialogue, where students are engaged in calibrating their self-evaluation to the required standard and learn from the feedback discussions, actively building their own understanding of what quality work looks like. As demonstrated in the following quotes:

"A discussion format, with the student given opportunity to identify strengths and weaknesses that I then go on to discuss with the student." (Academic, clinical educator: oral)

"Provide examples of best practice and why this is important. Provide feedback against the professional standard" (Academic, clinical educator: written)

7.6 Discussion

Using an evaluative judgement lens, this study aimed to examine student, academic, and clinical educator perspectives of feedback practice and explore avenues to embed the concepts of developing evaluative judgement as an aim of feedback in clinical learning settings. Five main themes were identified, with the elements of evaluative judgement featured across the themes. The evaluative judgement elements of 'feedback as dialogue' and 'discerning quality' featured across two themes, with the elements of 'reflection', 'judging own work' and 'calibration' appearing in one theme each. Good feedback practice as identified by students and clinical educators

included the elements of developing evaluative judgement, whereas when feedback practice was considered poor, elements of developing evaluative judgement were missing.

The concept of discerning quality was evident in the initial characteristics of the theme *a standardised approach* to feedback practice. Although the participants did not use the explicit term of 'discerning quality', a standardised approach, as envisioned by the participants, was to provide students with clear criteria about what quality work looked like. Participants expressed that a clear structure to the feedback process would help manage expectations, focusing students and educators on judging the performance against identified standards. This is consistent with previous conceptual work by Boud and Molloy (2013), who explored a new approach to feedback ("Feedback Mark 2") where good feedback is a learning approach, that helps students discern the required standard, and practice ways of judging their own work. Further theoretical discussion by Luo (2021) explored the notion that, to help students understand the quality of their work they need a clear understanding of the criteria to effectively self-evaluate.

Discerning quality was also a feature of the theme *feedback as a shared responsibility*. A tension existed between the students and clinical educators, with both groups highlighting feedback literacy deficits in one another. Clinical educators suggested that students should proactively seek feedback and be able to discern and assess the quality and trustworthiness of feedback sources. This assumes that students are not already making comparisons using multiple sources to generate their own internal feedback, suggesting that students are often exclusively reliant on the educator for information on the quality of their work (Nicol, 2021). Conversely, students expressed frustration with educators' ability to provide good feedback and suggested that educators or students understanding feedback, or actively engaging in feedback, but is a symbiotic relationship between student and educator that is influenced by policies, systems, and feedback cultures within an organisation (Pitt and Winstone, 2023). Discerning what quality feedback looks like as a shared responsibility, between the provider and recipient of feedback, exposes the

complex nature of feedback as a socially constructed interaction influenced by multiple factors (Henderson et al., 2021; Paris, 2022).

The theme *reflection and reflexive practice* was identified by participants as an important component of feedback. Reflection, self-evaluation and judging your own or peers' work, are common teaching and learning activities in nursing but are rarely a focus of feedback practice. For example, students reflect or self-evaluate their work, but educators rarely discuss the reflection or self-evaluation to explore their understanding of the quality of students' work against the required standards as explored in a systematic literature review (Henderson et al., 2021; Henderson et al., 2023, 2022; Ilangakoon et al., 2022) Participants expressed concern that students lacked the metacognitive abilities to reflect on their performance. An individual's ability to reflect is an important factor in developing evaluative judgement, a concept supported by Bearman et al., (2022), in a qualitative study of general practitioner trainees (n=16), finding that reflecting on work to refine judgments on the quality of work is considered a critical component in developing evaluative judgement. Adachi et al., (2018) discussed the limitations of judging the value of ones work or the work of others when the approach is simply to compare the subjective correlation of grades to that of educators. Whereas, using an evaluative judgement approach to feedback, students reflecting and judging their performance against clear criteria means that the correlation to educators' grades is not the focus. Rather, the focus is to calibrate students' understanding of the criteria against their understanding of how their work meets the criteria. Embedding a process that facilitates students to reflect and judge the quality of their work in clinical feedback has potential to improve students' metacognitive skills over time (Clark et al., 2023).

The evaluative judgement concept of calibration and feedback as dialogue were evident in the themes *developing relationships* and *feedback conversations*. Participants identified that building a relationship was important, and without a relationship of trust and mutual respect, participants expressed that engaging in feedback conversations would be difficult. Developing a trusting relationship or an educational alliance between clinical educators and students is essential to enable a safe and productive feedback conversation (Johnson et al., 2020; Telio et al., 2016, 2015). Without feedback conversations, students are passive recipients of feedback, unable to actively participate in calibrating their understanding of what quality work looks like (Johnson et al., 2019).

Participants identified that feedback was rarely an active collaborative process, which is a persistent concern in higher education (Ajjawi and Boud, 2017; Nicol and Macfarlane-Dick, 2006), with a lack of time identified as a significant barrier. Time constraints are often reported in the literature as a common barrier to effective feedback, with little change to the narrative for over two decades (Anderson, 2012; McCutcheon and Duchemin, 2020).

Participants suggested that a lack of time resulted in little opportunity to develop a relationship and was provided as a reason for why educators are not engaging students in reflecting on their performance or exploring their evaluation as partners in the feedback process. A lack of time was also raised as a reason why educators might provide feedback as a one-way dialogue rather than a feedback conversation. Time constraints underpinned all five themes.

7.7 Practice implications and future research

Over the past two decades the literature reports a shift in feedback practice towards a constructivist approach, situating students as active participants (Burgess et al., 2020; Molloy and Boud, 2012; Sadler, 2010). However, the experience and perceptions expressed by the participants in this study, suggests that feedback in nursing clinical education does not always reflect current expectations of good feedback practice (Johnson et al., 2019). Clinical educators vary in their abilities and competencies around the mentoring of students in clinical practice setting (Tuomikoski et al., 2020). Therefore, embedding the concepts of evaluative judgement as an aim of feedback would enable a process that supports clinical educators to provide an evidence-based structure for feedback in nursing clinical education. Reorientating the focus of feedback as a

learning activity, may help prioritise feedback as more than an exchange of information and afford more time to the feedback process as part of curricula design.

Exploring feedback through an evaluative judgement lens is a new approach in nursing clinical practice This study provides insights into how educators could adopt an evaluative judgement lens to inform feedback practice. Implementing a standardised approach to feedback that includes the elements of developing evaluative judgement provides students with 1) a clear understanding of the required standard (*what does quality work look like?*), 2) offers students the opportunity to reflect and judge their performance prior to providing feedback and 3) reviews the students' understanding of what quality work looks like in a feedback conversation that engages students as active participants. This process has potential to improve the quality of clinical nursing education. However, this study is a snapshot in time with a small group of students and educators exploring a specific context. Further research is required to explore how to implement pedagogical change alongside current practice. Such an approach could take students and educators on a journey to incorporate evaluative judgement elements into feedback in clinical practice education, by building on practices that have been identified as helpful in achieving the characteristics of evaluative judgement. Further research could also explore how these current practices translate into ongoing development of clinical competency and lifelong learning skills following graduation.

7.8 Strengths and limitations

This study had several methodological strengths and limitations. The multiple perspectives of feedback practice captured in this study are a strength. Every effort was made to include students with clinical practice placement experience, and a range of educators from different tertiary institutions with varying levels of experience. While there was a drop off in attendance from student participants (n=4) from the first to the second workshop, every effort was made to capture all perspectives both within the workshops, and through the online survey. The use of an external facilitator also maximised the student voice, with student participants encouraged to engage and offer their perspectives during both workshops. The workshops, unlike interviews, were

174

collaborative, with people working together to co-create ideas. The idea or comments arising from the discussion were attributed as data from the participant as an academic/clinical educator or student. This attribution may not represent the multiple aspects of an individual's perspective. The perspectives expressed in this study were from a small number of participants from one Australian state and may not be generalisable to different contexts or geographical locations.

This study used a rigorous qualitative approach, underpinned by the pedagogical concept of evaluative judgement (Boud et al., 2018). Duplicate coding of data and identification of themes was conducted. All four members of the research team independently reviewed the data and validated the codes and themes and their relationship with the concepts of evaluative judgement, which were already validated in the literature.

7.9 Conclusion

The research on developing nursing students' evaluative judgement is in its infancy and the pedagogical principles are yet to be widely adopted in nursing education. This study identified that existing knowledge of effective feedback is not always occurring in clinical practice settings, highlighting that there is an evidence-practice gap. However, while not explicitly identified, the characteristics of evaluative judgement are recognised as helpful, with all elements identified when clinical feedback practice is considered effective. This foundational research provides a potential way for clinical educators to improve clinical feedback practice and bridge the evidence-practice gap by embedding elements of evaluative judgement in students' feedback. Encouraging educators to view feedback as an opportunity to foster students' evaluative judgement rather than a means to deliver information may improve feedback practice and develop students' lifelong learning skills

References

Aase, I., Akerjordet, K., Crookes, P., Frøiland, C.T., Laugaland, K.A., (2022). Exploring the formal assessment discussions in clinical nursing education: An observational study. BMC Nurs 21, 1–155. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-022-00934-x

Adachi, C., Tai, J.H.-M., Dawson, P., (2018). Academics' perceptions of the benefits and challenges of self and peer assessment in higher education. Assess Eval High Educ 43, 294–306. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2017.1339775

Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., (2017). Researching feedback dialogue: an interactional analysis approach. Assess Eval High Educ 42, 252–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1102863

Anderson, P.A.M., (2012). Giving feedback on clinical skills: are we starving our young? J Grad Med Educ 4, 154–158. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-11-000295.1

Arkan, B., Ordin, Y., Yılmaz, D., (2018). Undergraduate nursing students' experience related to their clinical learning environment and factors affecting to their clinical learning process. Nurse Educ Pract 29, 127–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2017.12.005

Bearman, M., Dracup, M., Garth, B., Johnson, C., Wearne, E., (2022). Learning to recognise what good practice looks like: how general practice trainees develop evaluative judgement. advances in health sciences education 27, 215–228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-021-10086-3

Bonvin, R., Bayha, E., Gremaud, A., Blanc, P.-A., Morand, S., Charriere, I., Mancinetti, M., (2022). Taking the Big Leap: A Case Study on Implementing Programmatic Assessment in an Undergraduate Medical Program. Educ Sci (Basel) 12, 425. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci12070425 Boud, D., Ajjawi, R., Dawson, P., Tai, J., (2018). Developing Evaluative Judgement in Higher Education: Assessment for Knowing and Producing Quality Work, 1st ed. Milton: Routledge, Milton. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315109251

Boud, D., Falchickov, N., (2006). Aligning assessment with long-term learning. Assess Eval High Educ 31, 399–413.

Boud, David, Molloy, E., (2013). Rethinking models of feedback for learning: the challenge of design. Assess Eval High Educ 38, 698–712. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2012.691462

Boud, D., Soler, (2016). Sustainable Assessment Revisited. Assess Eval High Educ 41, 400–413. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1018133

Braun, V., Clarke, V., (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise & Health, 11 (4), 589-597. https://doi.org/10.1080/21596767X.209.1628806

Burgess, A., van Diggele, C., Roberts, C., Mellis, C., (2020). Feedback in the clinical setting. BMC Med Educ 20, 460. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-02280-5

Carless, D., Boud, D., (2018). The development of student feedback literacy: enabling uptake of feedback. Assess Eval High Educ 43, 1315–1325. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2018.1463354

Carless, D., Chan, K.K.H., (2017). Managing dialogic use of exemplars. Assess Eval High Educ 42, 930–941. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2016.1211246

Charmaz, K., (2006). Constructing grounded theory : a practical guide through qualitative analysis , Constructing grounded theory, Introducing qualitative methods. SAGE, London ;

Chen, L., Howitt, S., Higgins, D., Murray, S., (2022). Students' use of evaluative judgement in an online peer learning community. Assess Eval High Educ 47, 493–506. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2021.1933378 Chong, S.W., (2021). University students' perceptions towards using exemplars dialogically to develop evaluative judgement: the case of a high-stakes language test. Asian-Pacific journal of second and foreign language education 6, 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40862-021-00115-4

Clark, R.M., Kaw, A., Guldiken, R., (2023). Metacognition instruction and repeated reflection in a fluid mechanics course: Reflective themes and student outcomes. International journal of mechanical engineering education 51, 243–269. https://doi.org/10.1177/03064190231164719

Creswell, J.W., (2018). Qualitative inquiry & research design : choosing among five approaches, Fourth edi. ed, Qualitative inquiry and research design : choosing among 5 approaches. Los Angeles : SAGE.

Dawson, P., Henderson, M., Mahoney, P., Phillips, M., Ryan, T., Boud, D., Molloy, E., (2019). What makes for effective feedback: staff and student perspectives. Assess Eval High Educ 44, 25– 36. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2018.1467877

Engstrom, M., Lofmark, A., Vae, K.J.U., Martensson, G., (2017). Nursing students' perceptions of using the Clinical Education Assessment tool AssCE and their overall perceptions of the clinical learning environment - A cross-sectional correlational study. Nurse Educ Today 51, 63–67. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.01.009

Fitzgerald, K., Vaughan, B., Tai, J.H.M., (2021). Multiple feedback sources in learning clinical history-taking skills: Developing evaluative judgement. Focus on health professional education 22, 33–50. https://doi.org/10.11157/fohpe.v22i3.441

Gcawu, S.N., van Rooyen, D. (R. M.), (2022). Clinical teaching practices of nurse educators: An integrative literature review. Health SA 27, 1728. https://doi.org/10.4102/hsag.v27i0.1728

Hamra, T.R., Chanasue, D., Ciarlo, E., (2018). The Construct of Lifelong Learning Imbedded in a Nursing Clinical Course. Journal of Educational Leadership in Action 5. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.62608/2164-1102.1041 Henderson, A., Cooke, M., Creedy, D.K., Walker, R., (2012). Nursing students' perceptions of learning in practice environments: A review. Nurse Educ Today 32, 299–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2011.03.010

Henderson, B., Aitken, R., Lewis, L.K., Chipchase, L., (2021). Postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas: A qualitative study. Nurse Educ Today 101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104881

Henderson, B., Chipchase, L., Aitken, R., Lewis, L.K., (2022). Consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement: Comparing assessor and students. Nurse Educ Pract 63, 103386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2022.103386

Henderson, B., Chipchase, L., Golder, F., Lewis, L.K., (2023). Developing student nurses' evaluative judgement in clinical practice tertiary education: A systematic scoping review of teaching and assessment methods. Nurse Educ Pract 73, 103818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2023.103818

Henderson, M., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Molloy, E., (2019). Why Focus on Feedback Impact? Springer International Publishing AG, Switzerland, pp. 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-25112-3_1

Henderson, M., Ryan, T., Boud, D., Dawson, P., Phillips, M., Molloy, E., Mahoney, P., (2021). The usefulness of feedback. Active learning in higher education 22, 229–243. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469787419872393

Ibarra-Sáiz, M.S., Rodríguez-Gómez, G., Boud, D., (2020). Developing student competence through peer assessment: the role of feedback, self-regulation and evaluative judgement. High Educ (Dordr) 80, 137–156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-019-00469-2

Ilangakoon, C., Ajjawi, R., Endacott, R., Rees, C., (2022). The relationship between feedback and evaluative judgement in undergraduate nursing and midwifery education: An integrative review. Nurse Educ Pract 28, 103255–103255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103255

Jafarian-Amiri, S., Zabihi, A., Qalehsari, M., (2020). The challenges of supporting nursing students in clinical education. J Educ Health Promot 9, 216. https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp_13_20

Jayasekara, R., Smith, C., Hall, C., Rankin, E., Smith, M., Visvanathan, V., Friebe, T.-R., (2018). The effectiveness of clinical education models for undergraduate nursing programs: A systematic review. Nurse Educ Pract 29, 116–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2017.12.006

Johnson, C.E., Keating, J.L., Boud, D.J., Dalton, M., Kiegaldie, D., Hay, M., McGrath, B., McKenzie, W.A., Nair, K.B.R., Nestel, D., Palermo, C., Molloy, E.K., (2016). Identifying educator behaviours for high quality verbal feedback in health professions education: Literature review and expert refinement. BMC Med Educ 16, 96. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-016-0613-5

Johnson, C.E., Keating, J.L., Farlie, M.K., Kent, F., Leech, M., Molloy, E.K., (2019). Educators' behaviours during feedback in authentic clinical practice settings: An observational study and systematic analysis. BMC Med Educ 19, 129. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-019-1524-z

Johnson, C.E., Keating, J.L., Molloy, E.K., (2020). Psychological safety in feedback: What does it look like and how can educators work with learners to foster it? Med Educ 54, 559–570. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.14154

Kitson, A., Powell, K., Hoon, E., Newbury, J., Wilson, A., Beilby, J., (2013). Knowledge translation within a population health study: How do you do it? Implement Sci 8, 54. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-8-54

Levett-Jones, T., Pitt, V., Courtney-Pratt, H., Harbrow, G., Rossiter, R., (2015). What are the primary concerns of nursing students as they prepare for and contemplate their first clinical placement experience? Nurse Educ Pract 15, 304–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2015.03.012

Liamputtong, P., (2010). Performing Qualitative Cross-Cultural Research, 1st ed. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511812705

Luo, J., (2021). Developing evaluative judgement in higher education: assessment for knowing and producing quality work: edited by David Boud, Rola Ajjawi, Phillip Dawson and Joanna Tai, London, Routledge, 2018, 218 pp. ISBN: 978-1. Educ Rev (Birm). https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2020.1842644

McCutcheon, S., Duchemin, A.-M., (2020). Overcoming barriers to effective feedback: a solutionfocused faculty development approach. Int J Med Educ 11, 230–232. https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.5f7c.3157

McIver, S., Murphy, B., (2023). Self-assessment and what happens over time: Student and staff perspectives, expectations and outcomes. Active learning in higher education 24, 207–219. https://doi.org/10.1177/14697874211054755

Molloy, E., Ajjawi, R., Bearman, M., Noble, C., Rudland, J., Ryan, A., (2020). Challenging feedback myths: Values, learner involvement and promoting effects beyond the immediate task. Med Educ 54, 33–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13802

Molloy, E. and Boud, D. 2012. Changing conceptions of feedback. in: Boud, D. and Molloy, E. (ed.) Feedback in Higher and Professional Education: Understanding it and doing it well London and New York Routledge. pp. 11-33 https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203074336

Naidoo, O., Tai, J., Penman, M., (2021). Preparing students for the future through developing evaluative judgement. Clinical Teacher 18, 115–120. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13268

Neiterman, E., Beggs, B., HakemZadeh, F., Zeytinoglu, I., Geraci, J., Oltean, I., Plenderleith, J., Lobb, D., (2022). "They hold your fate in their hands": Exploring the power dynamic in the midwifery student-preceptor relationship. Midwifery 112, 103430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2022.103430

Nicol, D., (2021). The power of internal feedback: exploiting natural comparison processes. Assess Eval High Educ 46, 756–778. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2020.1823314

Nicol, D., Macfarlane-Dick, D., (2006). Formative assessment and self-regulated learnings: A model and seven principles of good feedback practices. Studies in Higher Education 31, 199–218.

Nicol, D., Thomson, A., Breslin, C., (2014). Rethinking feedback practices in higher education: a peer review perspective. Assess Eval High Educ 39, 102–122. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2013.795518

NMBA, (2016). Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia [WWW Document]. Registered nurses standards for practice. URL https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Statements/Professional-standards/registered-nurse-standards-for-practice.aspx (accessed 3.28.24).

Panadero, E., Jonsson, A., Botella, J., (2017). Effects of self-assessment on self-regulated learning and self-efficacy: Four meta-analyses. Educ Res Rev 22, 74–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2017.08.004

Paris, B.M., (2022). Instructors' Perspectives of Challenges and Barriers to Providing Effective Feedback. Teaching and learning inquiry 10, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.20343/teachlearninqu.10.3

Pedregosa, S., Fabrellas, N., Risco, E., Pereira, M., Dmoch-Gajzlerska, E., Şenuzun, F., Martin, S., Zabalegui, A., (2020). Effective academic-practice partnership models in nursing students' clinical placement: A systematic literature review. Nurse Educ Today 95, 104582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104582

Pitt, E., Winstone, N., (2023). Enabling and valuing feedback literacies. Assess Eval High Educ 48, 149–157. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2022.2107168

Qalehsari, M.Q., Khaghanizadeh, M., Ebadi, A., (2017). Lifelong learning strategies in nursing: A systematic review. Electron Physician 9, 5541–5550. https://doi.org/10.19082/5541

Ramlogan, S., Raman, V., (2022). An educational approach for early student self-assessment in clinical periodontology. BMC Med Educ 22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-021-03078-9

Rung, A., George, R., (2021). A systematic literature review of assessment feedback in preclinical dental education. European journal of dental education 25, 135–150.

https://doi.org/10.1111/eje.12584

Sadler, D.R., (2010). Beyond feedback: developing student capability in complex appraisal. Assess Eval High Educ 35, 535–550. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602930903541015

Sadler, D.R., (1989). Formative assessment and the design of instructional systems. Instr Sci 18, 119–144. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00117714

Salisu, W.J., Dehghan Nayeri, N., Yakubu, I., Ebrahimpour, F., (2019). Challenges and facilitators of professional socialization: A systematic review. Nurs Open 6, 1289–1298. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.341

Tai, J., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Dawson, P., Panadero, E., (2018). Developing evaluative judgement: enabling students to make decisions about the quality of work. High Educ (Dordr) 76, 467–481. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0220-3

Tai, J.H.-M., Canny, B.J., Haines, T.P., Molloy, E.K., (2016). The role of peer-assisted learning in building evaluative judgement: opportunities in clinical medical education. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract 21, 659–676. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-015-9659-0

Telio, S., Ajjawi, R., Regehr, G., (2015). The "Educational Alliance" as a Framework for Reconceptualizing Feedback in Medical Education. Academic medicine 90, 609–614. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.0000000000000560 Telio, S., Regehr, G., Ajjawi, R., (2016). Feedback and the educational alliance: examining credibility judgements and their consequences. Med Educ 50, 933–942. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13063

Tong, A., Sainsbury, P., Craig, J., (2007). Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. International Journal for Quality in Health Care 19, 349–357. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzm042

Tuomikoski, A.-M., Ruotsalainen, H., Mikkonen, K., Kääriäinen, M., (2020). Nurses' experiences of their competence at mentoring nursing students during clinical practice: A systematic review of qualitative studies. Nurse Educ Today 85, 104258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104258

Warne, T., Johansson, U.-B., Papastavrou, E., Tichelaar, E., Tomietto, M., Van den Bossche, K., Moreno, M.F.V., Saarikoski, M., (2010). An exploration of the clinical learning experience of nursing students in nine European countries. Nurse Educ Today 30, 809–815. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2010.03.003

Zaitoun, R.A., Said, N.B., de Tantillo, L., (2023). Clinical nurse competence and its effect on patient safety culture: a systematic review. BMC Nurs 22, 173. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-023-01305-

W

Chapter Eight

Discussion

The overall aim of this program of research was to explore the concept of developing students' evaluative judgement through deliberate educational strategies. This chapter considers the broader context to the program of research, reviewing what is already known and exploring the contributions this program of research provides in advancing understanding of developing nursing students' evaluative judgement. My position in this research is reiterated and re-examined followed by a summary and synthesis of the findings of the four studies in the program of research, including comparison with the previous literature, in postgraduate and undergraduate contexts. A discussion of the strengths and limitations of the program of research follows, with a reflection on the gaps in knowledge that remain. Directions for future research and recommendations for higher education providers, accreditation bodies, nurse educators and nursing curriculum designers conclude this chapter.

8.1 My position in the research

In Chapter One, I outlined my world view and teaching philosophy. I have a pragmatic world view and a social and cognitive constructivist teaching philosophy, as such, this philosophical stance has shaped my approach to this program of research. To help nursing students gain insight into the quality of their work, in this PhD, I chose to explore the theoretical concept of evaluative judgement, a constructivist approach to teaching and learning. At the time of embarking on this research program, the theoretical concept of evaluative judgement aligned with my world view and teaching philosophy. I took a pragmatic approach to the program of research seeking strategies to embed the concepts of developing evaluative judgement in nursing education. Reflecting on how my world view and teaching philosophy have been influenced by the program of research, my

understanding of the concepts underpinning evaluative judgement has been strengthened, and my philosophical position on constructivism as a theoretical approach to education further affirmed.

Studies one and two explored concepts relating to evaluative judgement in postgraduate nursing education, they affirmed that a practical, and collaborative consensus marking assessment, could lead to increased student engagement in making evaluative judgements about the quality of their work. The concepts underpinning consensus marking (practical, collaborative, experiential, social, student-focussed) are key to social constructivist teaching and learning. As my understanding of evaluative judgement evolved over the candidature, I pivoted to start thinking about how evaluative judgement might be embedded differently in postgraduate and undergraduate nursing curricula. Recognising that undergraduate nursing students may require a different approach, further work was needed to explore an effective strategy, therefore, a systematic scoping review of the literature was conducted in study three. Study four increased my understanding of students', academics and clinical educators' perspectives by engaging in social interaction, dialogue, and shared experiences, a constructivist approach attempting to co-construct a strategy.

8.1.1 Summary of the program of research

This program of research was conducted across four studies and resulted in three published papers and one paper under review. The first two studies were situated in postgraduate nursing education while the final two studies expanded to also include undergraduate contexts. An opportunity to embed the concepts of developing evaluative judgement in postgraduate education provided a starting point for the research program. The first study (Chapter Four) explored postgraduate nursing students' perceptions about their experiences of online oral viva examinations and the use of consensus marking. Consensus marking was an assessment method designed using concepts relating to the development of evaluative judgement. This retrospective study found that consensus marking provided postgraduate nursing students with an opportunity to reflect and engage in a collegial discussion during the feedback conversation. Online oral vivas

186

were perceived by postgraduate students as an authentic assessment method, and while some students reported anxiety with the oral viva, students preferred the oral viva to written assessments. There were several ways that students expressed their preference for the oral viva exam, some reporting that focusing on learning relevant to their practice to prepare for the oral viva was better than working on academic writing and trying to find references.

Building on the findings from the previous study, the second study (Chapter Five) explored postgraduate nursing students' perceptions, anxiety and satisfaction of an online viva with consensus marking compared to traditional assessor judgement. Student anxiety levels were lower, and satisfaction levels higher when students engaged in consensus marking compared to a traditional grading approach. This study provided additional evidence that consensus marking created opportunities for students to identify their knowledge deficits through reflection and self-evaluation. The findings suggested that consensus marking as a method to grade summative online oral viva exams in a postgraduate emergency nursing course has the potential to develop students' evaluative judgement. The first two studies in postgraduate nursing education highlighted that self-assessment combined with engaging students in a feedback dialogue to arrive at a consensus on what quality work looks like was an effective method to embed the concepts of developing evaluative judgement in postgraduate emergency nursing online oral viva exams.

While the first two studies of the program of research explored concepts relating to the development of evaluative judgement specifically in postgraduate nursing education, there was a need to explore these concepts in nursing education more broadly. As most of nursing higher education occurs at the undergraduate-level, and in the clinical practice setting, the final two studies of the program of research shifted focus. Therefore, the third study (Chapter Six) systematically scoped undergraduate and postgraduate nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment methods in the literature to identify features that aligned with promoting students' evaluative judgement. This review identified and synthesised the current evidence underpinning

concepts relating to the development of evaluative judgement in undergraduate and postgraduate nursing education in the clinical practice setting.

The review identified that previous literature exploring the teaching and assessment methods used in nursing clinical practice education had not explicitly identified concepts relating to the development of evaluative judgement. However, many nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment methods did include some of the features that develop students' evaluative judgement, with methods relating to discerning quality and feedback well embedded. While feedback featured in the previous literature, it was unclear if self-evaluation or calibration of students' understanding was occurring in the feedback process. The judgement process (selfevaluation) and calibration were rarely reported, suggesting that students may have missed opportunities to self-evaluate their performance and manage biases through calibrating their understanding of the quality of their work against the required standard. Therefore, the findings suggested that students may not be provided with opportunities in teaching and assessment methods to develop their evaluative judgement in the clinical practice setting. This gap in the literature identified a potential avenue to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement in the undergraduate clinical practice setting. A clear need was identified to explore if students are provided opportunities to judge their performance and calibrate their understanding of the quality of their work, during the feedback process.

To address this need, the final qualitative study (Chapter Seven) explored student, academic, and clinical educator perspectives of feedback as a process to develop undergraduate nursing students' evaluative judgement in clinical practice education. Student, academic, and clinical educator perceptions of good feedback practice in the clinical practice setting were closely aligned to the concepts of developing evaluative judgement. As such, when feedback was reported as working well, participants embraced concepts relating to evaluative judgement. This study provided evidence that may support clinical educators and academics to incorporate concepts to develop students' evaluative judgement as an overt aim of feedback practice in undergraduate nursing clinical practice settings.

In summary this program of research aimed to explore strategies for embedding the concept of developing evaluative judgement within both postgraduate and undergraduate nursing curricula. The four studies conducted in this program provided key insights into how evaluative judgement can be fostered in diverse educational contexts, both in theory and practice. The first two studies focused on postgraduate nursing education, investigating the use of online oral viva assessments with consensus marking as a strategy for promoting evaluative judgement. These studies found that consensus marking allowed students to engage in reflective self-assessment and feedback dialogues, helping them develop a clearer understanding of quality and performance. The third study broadened the scope to include both undergraduate and postgraduate clinical practice settings, highlighting the gap in the literature regarding the explicit inclusion of features of evaluative judgement in current clinical teaching and assessment. Building on this, the fourth study examined how feedback in clinical practice could be leveraged to foster evaluative judgement, finding that effective feedback practice was closely aligned with key principles of evaluative judgement.

Together, these studies contributed to answering the overarching research question: What are the possible strategies to develop students' evaluative judgement in undergraduate and postgraduate nursing education? by demonstrating the importance of self-evaluation, reflection, calibration and feedback conversations in developing evaluative judgement, and offering evidence for strategies to incorporate these elements into nursing education at both the undergraduate and postgraduate levels. A summary of the thesis structure is provided in figure 8.1



8.2 Strategies to develop <u>postgraduate</u> nursing students' evaluative judgement

Prior to this program of research, only two primary research studies were identified that had explored strategies to develop evaluative judgement in postgraduate students (Chapter Two, section 2.4.2) (Bearman et al., 2022; McIver & Murphy, 2023). Both studies used qualitative methods, with one study undertaken with General Practitioner trainees (Bearman et al., 2022) and the other with healthcare students and educators of undisclosed disciplines (McIver & Murphy, 2023). At the time of commencing this program of work, there was a paucity of literature exploring the development of evaluative judgement in postgraduate education. The first two studies presented in this program of research contributing to emerging evidence at the postgraduate-level, and importantly, establishing new knowledge specifically in nursing. Table 8.1 provides a summary of the two previous studies in postgraduate education, alongside studies one and two from this program of research, focussing on postgraduate education.

Empirical evidence	Methods, sample size,	Findings and features of evaluative judgement
	population	
Bearman et al 2022	Qualitative study (n=16) Interviews General Practitioner (GP) trainees	 GP trainees judged the quality of their work by: Patient outcomes, behaviours, satisfaction or complaints. Feedback from credible sources Reflecting on emotional cues, e.g. "gut feelings" Features of evaluative judgement: judgement process and feedback
Henderson et al 2021	Retrospective qualitative study	1. The two-way feedback dialogue actively engaged students in the reflective feedback discussion
Study one: Presented in	(n=13) recorded responses to quality assurance questions	 Students were able to identify where they lacked knowledge and where they could improve A democratic collegial discussion suggested a positive dynamic between student and assessor
this thesis Chapter Three	Emergency Nurses	Features of evaluative judgement: judgement process, calibration and feedback
Henderson et al 2022	Mixed methods study	1. Students were significantly more satisfied and less anxious with the oral viva assessment when engaged
Study two: Presented in	(n=46) Survey	in consensus marking compared with assessor judgement
	(n=13) Interviews	2. Oral vivas made students accountable for learning
this thesis Chapter Four	Emergency Nurses	 Oral viva using consensus marking was an authentic assessment and a grading method that translates to clinical practice
		4. Consensus marking engaged students in:
		Feedback dialogue
		Immediate feedback
		Opportunity to reflect and self-evaluate
		Reducing the power dynamic between educator and student
		Features of evaluative judgement: judgement process, calibration and feedback
Mclver and Murphy	Qualitative study	Teaching staff perspective:
2023	Healthcare Professionals	1. Self-assessment engaged students actively in evaluating the quality of their work assessing if they met the
	(undisclosed disciplines)	criteria in the rubric
	(n=42) Survey	2. Students were seen to be taking responsibility for their learning
	(n=6) Student Interviews	3. There was a reduction in students challenging grades following self-assessment activity
	(n=5) Staff Interviews	4. Statt noted that students increasingly appreciated the feedback
		Superior perspectives.
		 Sen-assessment locused students attention on their assignment writing and, on the reedback, provided Peer assessment was not valued
		3. Group feedback whilst less challenging to self-esteem could be confusing
		4. Self-assessment was preferred
		Features of evaluative judgement: judgement process and feedback

Table 8.1 The main findings of the studies exploring the concept of developing postgraduate students' evaluative judgement.

Studies one and two (Chapters Four and Five) explored consensus marking as an approach to develop evaluative judgement through self-assessment. Only one previous study had explored self-assessment to develop evaluative judgement in postgraduate students (McIver & Murphy, 2023), however, unlike consensus marking, the method of self-assessment was asynchronous, with students marking their own written assignments against a rubric. A limitation of self-assessment is this activity can be reduced to a simple comparison of how accurately students grade their own work against educator grades, rather than aiming to develop students' understanding of the quality of their work (Aronson, 2022). McIver & Murphy (2023), and the consensus marking studies in this research program navigated this by requiring students to reflect on how they graded their work as part of the assessment. Engaging students in reflection created a deeper engagement in how the work produced relates to the criteria, as students in both studies provided their perceptions on the reasons why they ranked their work or performance as high or low. However, the studies differed in the calibration process, with educators reviewing students' self-assessment and providing written feedback that included the students' perceptions of their work in the study by McIver and Murphy (2023). In the first and second study in this thesis, students were engaged in calibration using a real-time feedback conversation, this may be more effective as students reported that instant feedback and dialogue clarifies understanding of the standard required and facilitated a learning process post assessment as described in the theme of beneficial critical reflective conversations and feedback, dialogue and immediacy. While there is emerging evidence that students can be supported to develop their evaluative judgement through self-assessment, particularly with the use of a real time feedback conversation, further evidence is required to explore the efficacy of different methods (e.g. real-time conversation versus written feedback), and student and educator preferences.

The feedback dialogue offered to students in consensus marking (studies one and two) helped students understand where their work met the standard and provided students with a voice reducing the teacher student hierarchy (Henderson et al., 2021; Henderson et al., 2022). However, these two studies did not explore what other feedback cues students were using to make

calibrations on the quality of their work. For example, inadvertent verbal or nonverbal cues from the examiner during the oral viva exam. In relation to the types of feedback cues that students use, Bearman et al. (2022), found that General Practitioner trainees used many different feedback cues, from patients, peers or their "gut feeling" and did not necessarily use feedback or instructions from their supervisors to calibrate their understanding.

Another consideration explored by McIver & Murphy (2023), and Bearman et al. (2022), was related to credibility. For example, the participants in these studies discounted supervisor or peer feedback that was incongruent with their own understanding of how they had performed. The students' perception of the credibility of the person providing the feedback was not explored in the consensus marking studies. Therefore, while the findings provide a direction for educators, further research is needed to explore the effectiveness of feedback from a single source in supporting students' evaluative judgement.

8.2.1 Potential strategies to develop evaluative judgement in the postgraduate context

To date, limited research has been conducted on developing evaluative judgement in postgraduate education. However, when taken together, the findings of studies one and two, along with previous literature, suggest several avenues for developing postgraduate students' evaluative judgement. These include:

- Self-assessment this method of assessment may improve students' understanding of what good work looks like and make judgements about their own work.
- Reflection encouraging engagement in reflecting on the quality of the work has
 potential to enhance the self-assessment process by moving students beyond making
 accurate estimations of their grade towards a practice of reflective thinking prompting
 critical self-evaluation.
- *Feedback* how feedback is provided and perceived is an important consideration in helping students calibrate their understanding of the quality of their work. Further,
students may be using informal feedback from several sources to support their understanding of the quality of their work.

The research on consensus marking from the first two studies adds to existing knowledge by offering insights into a self-assessment method to enhance postgraduate students' evaluative judgement. A grading approach, underpinned by the concepts of developing evaluative judgement, advances the contribution to the theory of developing evaluative judgement in postgraduate nursing students by providing a practical strategy for nursing educators to implement.

8.3 Developing undergraduate nursing students' evaluative judgement

Prior to this program of research, there were only 10 primary research studies (Chapter Two, Section 2.4.2) identified that explored strategies to develop evaluative judgement in undergraduate students (Table 8.2). Four of these studies were conducted in health-related disciplines (Fitzgerald et al., 2021; Nicola-Richmond et al., 2024; Ramlogan & Raman, 2022; Tai et al., 2016), with none of these in nursing. These four studies suggested that feedback, self-assessment, scaffolding opportunities to explore what quality work looks like, and peer assisted learning support students to develop their evaluative judgement.

Table 8.2 The main findings of the studies exploring the concept of developing undergraduate students' evaluative judgement (health related studies

highlighted in blue)

Empirical evidence	Methods, sample size, population	Findings and features of evaluative judgement
Cano Garcia et al 2024	Qualitative study (n=114) Education students- not identified as PG or UG an assumption is made that this is UG based on degree and course descriptions	 The study focused on improving the quality of peer feedback Feedback provided by peers improved in quality in the second loop. Feedback quality was higher when related to procedural or stylistic assessment suggesting students feel less confident with providing feedback on complex concepts Features of evaluative judgement: judgement process and feedback
Chen et al 2022	Qualitative Molecular genetics students honour class (n=298)	 Using PeerWise was a useful platform for students to provide their peers with feedback for multiple choice answers and created a peer learning community 1. Finding that students can identify where peers can improve suggesting that students recognised what quality work looked like Features of evaluative judgement: discerning quality
Chong 2021	Qualitative IELTS writing workshop (n=129)	 Exploring the use of dialogic exemplars the help students understand the standard required The use of dialogic exemplars in a writing course has benefits in helping students learning English understand the assessment rubric and as such offer opportunities to engage in self and peer assessment Features of evaluative judgement: discerning quality
Fischer et al 2024	Qualitative Physics students (n=5)	 Exploring how assessment drives learning 1. Summative assessment in this study did not develop students' evaluative judgement. However, students engaged in incidental discussions in tutorials whilst preparing for the summative assessment with peers to discuss the quality of their work and how to do things in their studies. Features of evaluative judgement: discerning quality
Fitzgerald et al. 2021	Quantitative Osteopathy students (n=56)	 Exploring feedback sources in developing evaluative judgement Students who received multiple sources of feedback from self, peer and faculty assessment improved performance and their congruence in marks when conducting self and peer assessment All participants perception of peer assessment became less positive and surface learning approaches increased Participants might perceive formative assessment tasks and/or self and peer assessment as burdensome, rather than as a learning opportunity, especially closer to end-of-semester assessment Features of evaluative judgement: judgement process and feedback

Gyamfi et al 2022	Quantitative Students in a database principles course (n=354)	1. 2.	The effects of rubrics on developing evaluative judgement Rubrics can positively but slightly impact students' agreement in assessing the quality of the learning resources Evaluative judgement is demonstrated through students' ability to make decisions about the quality of learning resources produced by their peers and justify their decisions. Features of evaluative judgement: discerning quality
Ibarra-Saiz et al 2020	Quantitative Economics & business sciences students (n=301)	1. 2.	Exploring developing student competence through peer assessment and the role of feedback, self-regulation and evaluative judgement Peer assessment is perceived by students as an element that promotes their competence development. Evaluative judgement in terms of the students trust in their judgement and their peers' judgement is directly related to students' competence development, feedback, self-regulation and engagement are mediating factors in competence development Features of evaluative judgement: judgement process and feedback
Nicola-Richmond et al 2024	Quantitative Occupational therapist students (n=21)	1. 2.	Seeking to understand the evaluative judgements made by students of their clinical practice Practice education experiences provide many context-specific opportunities for students to develop their evaluative judgement. Students may be supported to come to know what quality work looks like by offering scaffolded opportunities Features of evaluative judgement: discerning quality, judgement process and feedback
Ramlogan & Raman 2022	Quantitative Dental students (n=55)	1. 2.	Exploring self-assessment to develop evaluative judgement Students may adequately act as self-assessors at the beginning of their clinical work periodontology. Self-assessment may potentially improve the clinical performance. Self-assessment may be nurtured through clear guidelines, educational training strategies, feedback and reflection leading to better evaluative judgement and lifelong learning Features of evaluative judgement: j udgement process
Tai et al 2016	Mixed methods Medical students (n=10) observed & interviewed (n=1189) questionnaire	1.	Explored the contribution of peer-assisted learning (PAL) in the development of evaluative judgement Interaction with peers, medical students in this study reported an improved understanding of performance targets, as well as how their own practice measured up against these targets Features of evaluative judgement: discerning quality, judgement process and feedback

Despite the limited number of studies exploring the development of evaluative judgement, themes emerged about the importance of reflection, self-assessment and helping students calibrate their understanding in a feedback process. The systematic review by llangakoon et. al., (2022), had previously explored the nursing literature looking for features of developing evaluative judgement in feedback methods. This review concluded that while some features of developing evaluative judgement were present the concept was not an explicit aim of feedback in nursing and midwifery. Therefore, it was also possible that the features of developing evaluative judgement (discerning quality, the judgement process, calibration and feedback), were already embedded in nursing clinical teaching and assessment methods but not explicitly recognised.

To explore all aspects of teaching and learning, and build on the findings of Ilangakoon's work, study three systematically scoped the literature to identify the presence or absence of the features of developing evaluative judgement in nursing clinical practice education teaching and assessment methods. Sixty one (86%) of the included studies in the review pertained to undergraduate nursing education. The main findings were that the features of developing evaluative judgement of discerning quality and feedback were included in most identified studies, but the features of judgement process and calibration were rarely conducted and/or reported. This suggests that students may be missing opportunities to practice their evaluative judgements of their or others' work in this setting. As the feedback process was rarely described, it is unclear if nursing students are engaging with clinical educators or peers in exploring their understanding of the quality of their work and calibrating their evaluations against the required standard.

When comparing the findings of the systematic scoping review to the previous research exploring evaluative judgement in undergraduate education, it was interesting to note that five previous studies found that interaction with peer and self-assessment (judgement process) helped students improve their judgements about the quality of their and others work (Cano García et al., 2024; Chen et al., 2022; Fitzgerald et al., 2021; Ibarra-Sáiz et al., 2020; Ramlogan & Raman, 2022; Tai et al., 2016). As previously mentioned, the judgement process and calibrating students understanding of the quality of their work was rarely identified in the systematic scoping review in nursing clinical practice education (study three). This finding suggests that nursing education may need support to explicitly recognise and facilitate the judgement and calibration process. This suggestion is supported by the findings of Ilangakoon's study, that where teaching and learning activities such as reflection and self-assessment were used, there was no interplay with feedback (Illangakoon et. al., 2022).

Twenty nine of the included studies in the systematic review (41%) (study three), reported debriefing as the method used to provide feedback, however, only six studies (8%) reported that students reviewed their self-evaluation during the feedback process. The findings of the studies by Cano-Garcia et al., (2024), Chen et al., (2022), Fitzgerald et al., (2021), Ibarra-Saiz et al., (2020), Ramlogan & Raman (2022), and Tai et al., (2016), support that engaging in feedback helped students to make evaluative judgements about the quality of the work. Theoretical arguments explore the importance of feedback in developing evaluative judgement (Bearman et al., 2024; Nicol et al., 2014; Sadler, 2010; Tai et al., 2018), however, there remains little empirical evidence of how feedback is best situated to foster undergraduate students' evaluative judgement (Tai et al., 2018).

The systematic scoping review, study three, adds new knowledge by offering insights into current nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment methods, most studies included in the systematic scoping review were at the undergraduate level (n=61). This review identified which of the features of evaluative judgement are commonly, and rarely reported. The findings highlight the gaps in understanding that while feedback is a commonly reported feature, how students are engaged in the feedback process is not reported. It is not possible to determine from the literature if students are supported by educators during the feedback process to reflect on their performance and understand the required standard. Therefore, the least reported feature of calibration may or may not be occurring in the feedback process.

199

As feedback is an important feature of developing students' evaluative judgement more information was needed about how students, academics and clinical educators are engaging in the feedback process. The final study for this program of research, study four, (Chapter Seven), used qualitative methods with an evaluative judgement lens to explore undergraduate student, academic and clinical educators' perspectives of feedback in the clinical practice setting. The main findings were that feedback is a shared responsibility between everyone involved, that a standardised feedback process could improve how feedback is provided and received, and that the relationship between students and educators is important in facilitating good feedback engagement. Participants highlighted that reflection and reflexive practice are important aspects of clinical practice education and feedback process conversations are preferred to written feedback. When the participants expressed what good feedback practice looked like, the four features of evaluative judgement were present (discerning quality: knowing what the required standard looks like, judgement process: reflecting on performance and self-evaluating, calibration and feedback conversations: managing biases or misunderstandings in the self-evaluation process through dialogue).

When comparing the findings of study four to other research in undergraduate level education exploring evaluative judgement, half of the 10 previously identified studies in undergraduate level education, explored feedback (Cano García et al., 2024; Fitzgerald et al., 2021; Ibarra-Sáiz et al., 2020; Nicola-Richmond et al., 2024; Tai et al., 2016). Much of the literature exploring feedback, however, was related to how peers provide feedback (Cano García et al., 2024; Fitzgerald et al., 2024; Fitzgerald et al., 2021; Ibarra-Sáiz et al., 2020; Tai et al., 2016). In particular, Nicola-Richmond et al., (2024), reported that feedback helped students understand the expected standard, and students liked regular structured feedback, but a lack of time was a barrier to feedback in clinical settings. This supported the findings of study four that time was a barrier to good feedback practice, and participants wanted a standardised feedback process. Similar to study four, where participants suggested that feedback can come from anyone, Fitzgerald et al., (2021), and Nicola-Richmond et al., (2024), found that students used a range of different sources to

understand what quality work looked like. These findings combined with findings in the postgraduate level studies from Bearman et al., (2024), and McIver & Murphy (2023), support the idea that feedback from an educator may not be the only source of information that students use to calibrate their understanding of what good work looks like and this may apply to both undergraduate and postgraduate settings (Bearman et al., 2022; Fitzgerald et al., 2021; McIver & Murphy, 2023; Nicola-Richmond et al., 2024).

Participants in study four expressed that how students use, or disregard, feedback may be linked to student perception of the credibility of the feedback source. Participants in study four indicated a lack of trust in educators' feedback, while participants in the studies by Fitzgerald et al., (2021) and Cano-Garcia et al., (2024) reported a lack of trust in peer feedback. Whilst the findings differ on the focus of who students perceived to provide credible feedback, it is an interesting gap in knowledge on how students might be making evaluative judgements on the quality of the feedback they receive.

The final study of the program of research adds new knowledge by offering insights into what undergraduate nursing students, academics and clinical educators perceived good feedback practices to be and how that aligned with the concepts of evaluative judgement. When the final study was designed it was thought that the participants might suggest a new approach to feedback that included the elements of evaluative judgement. However, it was found that a new approach or a new feedback method was not necessarily required, rather, a shift in the aim of feedback may be needed to embed developing students' evaluative judgement in the undergraduate clinical setting.

8.4 Strengths and limitations of the program of research

Each of the four studies outlined in this thesis included individual study-specific strengths and limitations, these are explored in the discussion sections within each study chapter. This section will explore the strengths and limitations of the program of research as a whole. A strength of this program of research was exploring the concept of developing evaluative judgement through different research methods, with the four studies including, qualitative, quantitative, mixed methods and systematic scoping review designs. Using a range of methodologies provided diverse data which has offered deeper insights into understanding the research questions. Another strength is the contribution this research has made in an unexplored and under-researched area of nursing education with no previous studies identified that research evaluative judgement in nursing. Therefore, the studies within this program of research make a substantial contribution to the literature in nursing.

Whilst an effective strategy to embed the concepts of developing students' evaluative judgement in a small cohort of students was found for the postgraduate setting, the results are unable to be generalised to larger postgraduate cohorts or the larger student cohorts in the undergraduate program at Flinders University. Therefore, it was important to step back and conduct preliminary work before progressing the concept of developing evaluative judgement in the undergraduate setting. As such, study three and four provide foundational work and further research is needed to test a strategy to embed the concepts of developing evaluative judgement in undergraduate level nursing education. This thesis explored Registered nursing standards as they relate to Australia, it is acknowledged that the United Kingdom, United States, New Zealand and other countries have different standards for practice. Therefore, the finding of this research may not be generalisable to other countries or contexts. Also, a limitation of this work is that while evaluative judgement is reported to have been developed, there is no evidence of its application in the clinical context. Another limitation of this program of research is the generalisability of the results as the studies were conducted predominantly at one university and students from one institution in Australia, meaning that these results may not be transferrable to other cultural groups and other university institutions.

8.5 Suggestions for future research

This thesis presented a strategy (consensus marking) and a potential avenue (feedback in the clinical setting) for developing postgraduate and undergraduate level nursing students' evaluative judgement. Prior to this program of research, no other primary evidence could be found that explored developing nursing students' evaluative judgement. Also, of the 12 primary studies found, in postgraduate and undergraduate education, that have researched evaluative judgement, four were published after the studies in this program of research had been conducted (Cano Garcia et al 2024; Fischer et al 2024; McIver and Murphy 2023; Nicola-Richmond et al 2024) and seven were conducted during this program of research (Bearman et al., 2022; Chong, 2021; Fitzgerald et al., 2021; Gyamfi et al., 2022; Ibarra-Sáiz et al., 2020; Ramlogan & Raman, 2022). When this program of research commenced, most of the previous exploration into the concepts of developing evaluative judgement was theoretical. As interest in the concept of developing students' evaluative judgement expands there are many directions for future research.

Area	Direction		
Feedback, verbal and written	 Develop and test a feedback and/or debriefing process that overtly aims to develop evaluative judgement in undergraduate clinical practice settings Develop and test an educational program for clinical facilitators/mentors/preceptors on how to facilitate feedback conversations that overtly aim to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement 		
Translation to practice	 Conduct longitudinal studies to explore if pre and post graduate nursing students have developed evaluative judgement and self- regulated learning and if they apply these skills to their everyday clinical practice 		

Table 8.3 Future research suggestions for postgraduate and undergraduate curricula

	4.	Explore strategies to embed developing evaluative judgement across
Curricula		the curricula, for example, in teaching activities, assessment and
design		feedback
	5.	Explore how nursing students are developing their evaluative
Concepts of		judgement, e.g. what cues are students using to make evaluative
evaluative		iudgements
judgement]======================================

8.6 Recommendations

This program of research is the first to explore developing evaluative judgement in nursing education as such this foundational work provides data that could be used by stakeholders in nurse education and suggests the following recommendations. Higher education providers could integrate evaluative judgement as a core pedagogy and essential graduate quality to foster lifelong, and self-regulated learners. Accreditation and registration bodies, such as the Australian Nursing and Midwifery Accreditation Council (ANMAC) and the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia (NMBA), could consider collaborating with industry stakeholders to assess the relevance of evaluative judgement and consider evaluative judgement as a graduate outcome for inclusion in curricula. Curriculum designers could consider collaborating with clinical educators and academics, to explore the integration of evaluative judgement as an underpinning design feature in nursing education. Academics and clinical educators could innovate ways to engage students in developing their evaluative judgement by integrating consensus marking, adapting feedback practices and designing authentic assessments that encourage reflective practice. Both academic and clinical educators should also consider scaffolding activities to help students recognise quality work, model evaluative judgement and ensure clarity in assessment criteria. And finally, students should be encouraged to actively participate in their learning through engaging in feedback, practicing their metacognition and exploring their understanding of what good work looks like. Figure 8.2, explores a broad range of recommendations with the bold text highlighting recommendations that have arisen during the program of research

Figure 8.2 Recommendations

Higher Education Providers

- 1. Consider evaluative judgement as an underpinning pedagogy for higher education
- 2. Consider evaluative judgement as a graduate quality, to demonstrate students possess the qualities of lifelong, self-regulated learning and reflexive practice
- 3. Provide guidelines and professional development for educators to support their understanding of developing students' evaluative judgement
- 4. Provide technologies such as online peer review platforms, e-portfolios and interactive discussion forums where students can practice comparing their work with others and practice making evaluative judgements in a collaborative environment

Students

- 1. To be open to feedback from multiple sources to inform understanding of what good work looks like
- 2. To be active participants in the feedback process
- 3. Practice metacognition to promote deeper thinking about the quality of work

Accreditation and Registration Bodies

- Consult with industry stakeholders to explore if developing evaluative judgement aligns with industry needs and expectations
- 2. Consider updating accreditation standards to include evaluative judgement as a required competency for nursing graduates
- 3. Consider integrating evaluative judgement into competency frameworks

Curriculum Designers

- 1. Work with researchers, academics and educators to **develop rubrics**, assessments, and teaching activities that embrace the concepts of developing evaluative judgement across the curriculum
- 2. Explore if developing evaluative judgement is generalisable across different student cohorts
- 3. Use data-driven analytics to provide insights into students' performance and engagement in collaborative and online activities that foster their evaluative judgements

Nurse Educators: Academics, Clinical Educators, Mentors/Preceptors

- 1. Develop and test innovative ways to foster students' engagement in developing their evaluative judgement
- 2. Consider using consensus marking in other assessment methods
- 3. Consider adapting current feedback practice to include the concepts of developing evaluative judgement
- 4. Scaffold activities for students starting with recognising criteria and quality work, providing multiple opportunities to develop their evaluative judgement over the program of education
- 5. Design authentic assessments that foster reflective practice creating opportunities for students to evaluate their work and act on feedback
- 6. Model your evaluative judgement by sharing your thoughts, processes and criteria when grading and assessing students work
- 7. Review how you demonstrate the required standard, for example, in the assessment instructions, rubrics and clinical tasks, is it possible for students to understand what good work looks like and/or what is the required criteria that students work will be judged against

8.7 Conclusion

This program of research aimed to explore the concept of developing evaluative judgement in nursing education. Embedding the concept of developing evaluative judgement within both undergraduate and postgraduate nursing curricula has the potential to provide students with opportunities for self-evaluation and reflection, thereby supporting and strengthening the required competencies of reflective practice as outlined by Australian and Midwifery Board of Australia Standards for Practice. A potential strategy, consensus marking of oral viva exams, for postgraduate level nursing students was found to provide an opportunity for students to develop their evaluative judgement. Feedback was explored as a potential avenue to embed the concepts of developing evaluative judgement in undergraduate clinical practice settings. Embedding the concepts of developing evaluative judgement in feedback has potential to enhance current feedback practice by encouraging educators to shift the focus of feedback, from a means to deliver information to students about their performance, to an opportunity for students to develop their evaluative judgement on the quality of their work.

References

Aase, I., Akerjordet, K., Crookes, P., Frøiland, C.T., Laugaland, K.A., (2022). Exploring the formal assessment discussions in clinical nursing education: An observational study. BMC Nurs 21, 1–155. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-022-00934-x

Abu-Qamar, M. e. Z., Vafeas, C., Ewens, B., Ghosh, M., & Sundin, D. (2020). Postgraduate nurse education and the implications for nurse and patient outcomes: A systematic review. *Nurse Education Today*, *92*, 104489-104489. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104489

Adachi, C., Tai, J.H.-M., Dawson, P., (2018). Academics' perceptions of the benefits and challenges of self and peer assessment in higher education. Assess Eval High Educ 43, 294–306. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2017.1339775

Adams, J., Hillier-Brown, F.C., Moore, H.J., Lake, A.A., Araujo-Soares, V., White, M., Summerbell, C., (2016). Searching and synthesising "grey literature" and "grey information" in public health: Critical reflections on three case studies. Syst. Rev. 5, 164. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-016-0337-y

Aggar, C., Bloomfield, J.G., Frotjold, A., Thomas, T.H.T., Koo, F., (2018). A time management intervention using simulation to improve nursing students' preparedness for medication administration in the clinical setting: A quasi-experimental study. Collegian 25, 105–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2017.04.004

Aghaie, B., Heidari, S., Abbasinia, M., Abdoli, M., Norouzadeh, R., & Shamali, M. (2021). Teamwork competence and readiness of emergency nurses in the care of trauma patients: A multicenter cross-sectional study. *International Emergency Nursing*, *59*, 101073. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ienj.2021.101073 Aitken, G., Jones, D., Fawns, T., Sutherland, D., & Henderson, S. (2019). Using Bourdieu to explore graduate attributes in two online Master's programmes. *Advances in Health Sciences Education*, *24*(3), 559-576. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-019-09885-6

Ajjawi, R., & Boud, D. (2017). Researching feedback dialogue: an interactional analysis approach. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, *42*(2), 252–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1102863

Ajjawi, R., Tai, J., Huu Nghia, T. L., Boud, D., Johnson, L., & Patrick, C.-J. (2020). Aligning assessment with the needs of work-integrated learning: the challenges of authentic assessment in a complex context. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, *45*(2), 304-316. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2019.1639613

Akimov, A., Malin, M., (2020). When old becomes new: a case study of oral examination as an online assessment tool. Assess Eval High Educ 45, 1205–1221. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2020.1730301

Aksoy, B., Pasli Gurdogan, E., (2022). Examining effects of the flipped classroom approach on motivation, learning strategies, urinary system knowledge, and urinary catheterization skills of first-year nursing students. Jpn. J. Nurs. Sci. 19, e12469-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/jjns.12469

Allen, L., & Molloy, E. (2017). The influence of a preceptor-student 'Daily Feedback Tool' on clinical feedback practices in nursing education: A qualitative study. *Nurse Education Today*, *49*, 57-62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.11.009

Ali, N.S., John, B., (2019). Examining the Efficacy of Online Self-Paced Interactive Video-Recordings in Nursing Skill Competency Learning: Seeking Preliminary Evidence Through an Action Research. Med. Sci. Educ. 29, 463–473. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40670-019-00714-4 Alfehaid, L.S., Qotineh, A., Alsuhebany, N., Alharbi, S., Almodaimegh, H., (2018). The perceptions and attitudes of undergraduate healthcare sciences students of feedback: a qualitative study. Health Prof. Educ. 4, 186–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. hpe.2018.03.002

Anderson, P.A.M., (2012). Giving feedback on clinical skills: are we starving our young? J Grad Med Educ 4, 154–158. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-11-000295.1

ANMAC. (2024). *Accreditation of Nursing or Midwifery Programs*. ANMAC. Retrieved 23 August 2024 from https://anmac.org.au/education-providers

ANMAC. (2019). *Registered Nurse Accreditation Standards*. ANMAC. Retrieved 7 Jan 2025 from https://anmac.org.au/education-providers

Arabpur, A., Farsi, Z., Butler, S., Habibi, H., (2022). Comparative effectiveness of demonstration using hybrid simulation versus task-trainer for training nursing students in using pulse-oximeter and suction: A randomized control trial. Nurse Educ. Today 110, 105204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.105204

Arkan, B., Ordin, Y., Yılmaz, D., (2018). Undergraduate nursing students' experience related to their clinical learning environment and factors affecting to their clinical learning process. Nurse Educ Pract 29, 127–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2017.12.005

Aronson, J. K. (2022). When I use a word Too much healthcare—self-assessment. BMJ, 378, o2372-o2372. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.o2372

Asikainen, H., & Gijbels, D. (2017). Do Students Develop Towards More Deep Approaches to Learning During Studies? A Systematic Review on the Development of Students' Deep and Surface Approaches to Learning in Higher Education. *Educational Psychology Review*, *29*(2), 205-234. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-017-9406-6

Atmaca, C. (2016). Contrasting perceptions of students and teachers: written corrective feedback

Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies, 12, pp. 166-182

Avraham, R., Shor, V., Kimhi, E., (2021). The influence of simulated medication administration learning on the clinical performance of nursing students: A comparative quasi-experimental study. Nurse Educ. Today 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104947

Bahar, A., Arslan, M., Gokgoz, N., Ak, H., Kaya, H., (2017). Do Parenteral Medication
Administration Skills of Nursing Students Increase with Educational Videos Materials? Int. J. caring
Sci. 10, 1514–1525.

Barnett, R. (2007). Assessment in higher education: An impossible mission? In (pp. 39-50). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203964309-10

Basak, T., Aciksoz, S., Unver, V., Aslan, O., (2019). Using standardized patients to improve the hygiene care skills of first-year nursing students: A randomized controlled trial. Collegian 26, 49–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2018.03.005

Baxter, P., & Norman, G. (2011). Self-assessment or self deception? A lack of association between nursing students' self-assessment and performance. *Journal of advanced nursing*, *67*(11), 2406-2413. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05658.x

Bayram, S.B., Caliskan, N., (2019). Effect of a game-based virtual reality phone application on tracheostomy care education for nursing students: A randomized controlled trial. Nurse Educ. Today 79, 25–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.05.010

Bearman, M., Dracup, M., Garth, B., Johnson, C., & Wearne, E. (2022). Learning to recognise what good practice looks like: how general practice trainees develop evaluative judgement. *Advances in health sciences education : theory and practice*, *27*(1), 215-228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-021-10086-3 Bearman, M., Tai, J., Dawson, P., Boud, D., & Ajjawi, R. (2024). Developing evaluative judgement for a time of generative artificial intelligence. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2024.2335321

Beck, R. J., Skinner, W. F., & Schwabrow, L. A. (2013). A study of sustainable assessment theory in higher education tutorials. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, *38*(3), 326-348. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2011.630978

Bedewy, D., & Gabriel, A. (2013). Measure the Severity of Examination Anxiety among Undergraduate University Students. *Internation Journal of Educational Psychology*, *2*(1), 81–104.

Benner, P., (2012). Educating nurses: a call for radical transformation-how far have we come? J Nurs Educ 51, 183–184. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20120402-01

Bertram, A., & Tomas, C. (2023). Evaluative judgement – a practitioner's case in chemistry research projects. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*, *24*(1), 312-326. https://doi.org/10.1039/D2RP00213B

Biggs, J., Tang, C., & Kennedy, G. (2022). *Teaching for Quality Learning at University* (5th ed.). McGraw-Hill Education.

Bijami,M. A. Pandian, M.K.M. Singh (2016). The relationship between Teacher's written feedback and student's' writing performance: sociocultural perspective. International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies, 4, pp. 59-66

Black, I. (2006)."The presentation of interpretivist research", Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 319 - 324P, document:http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/13522750610689069

Black, P., & Wiliam, D. (1998). Assessment and Classroom Learning. *Assessment in education : principles, policy & practice*, *5*(1), 7-74. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969595980050102

Blatt, B., Confessore, S., Kallenberg, G., Greenberg, L., (2008). Verbal Interaction Analysis: Viewing Feedback Through a Different Lens. Teach. Learn. Med. 20, 329–333. https://doi.org/10.1080/10401330802384789

Blewett, N. (1985). States Grants (Nurse Education Transfer Assistance) Bill 1985. In: Minister for Health Parliament of Australia.

Boghossian, P. (2006). Behaviorism, Constructivism, and Socratic Pedagogy. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *38*(6), 713-722. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-5812.2006.00226.x

Bonvin, R., Bayha, E., Gremaud, A., Blanc, P.-A., Morand, S., Charrière, I., & Mancinetti, M. (2022). Taking the Big Leap: A Case Study on Implementing Programmatic Assessment in an Undergraduate Medical Program. *Education Sciences*, *12*(7), 425-425. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci12070425

Booth, R. G., Strudwick, G., McBride, S., O'Connor, S., & Solano López, A. L. (2021). How the nursing profession should adapt for a digital future. *BMJ*, n1190-n1190. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n1190

Borg Sapiano, A., Sammut, R., Trapani, J., (2018). The effectiveness of virtual simulation in improving student nurses' knowledge and performance during patient deterioration: A pre and post test design. Nurse Educ. Today 62, 128–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.12.025

Bosco, A.M., Ferns, S., (2014). "Embedding of Authentic Assessment in Work-integrated Learning Curriculum." Asia Pacific Journal of Cooperative Education 15, 281–290.

Boud, D. (2000). Sustainable Assessment: Rethinking assessment for the learning society. *Studies in continuing education*, *22*(2), 151-167. https://doi.org/10.1080/713695728

Boud, D., Ajjawi, R., Dawson, P., Tai, J., (2018). Developing Evaluative Judgement in Higher Education: Assessment for Knowing and Producing Quality Work, 1st ed. Milton: Routledge, Milton. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315109251

Boud, D., & Falchikov, N. (1989). Quantitative Studies of Student Self-Assessment in Higher Education: A Critical Analysis of Findings. *Higher Education*, *18*(5), 529-549. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00138746

Boud, D., & Falchikov, N. (2006). Aligning assessment with long-term learning. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, *31*(4), 399-413. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602930600679050

Boud, D., & Falchikov, N. (2007). *Rethinking assessment in higher education : learning for the longer term*. Routledge.

Boud, D., Lawson, R., & Thompson, D. G. (2015). The calibration of student judgement through self-assessment: disruptive effects of assessment patterns. *Higher education research & development/Higher education research and development*, *34*(1), 45-59. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2014.934328

Boud, D., & Molloy, E. (2013a). *Feedback in higher and professional education : understanding it and doing it well*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203074336

Boud, D., Molloy, E., (2013b). "Rethinking Models of Feedback for Learning: The Challenge of Design". Assess Eval High Educ 38, 698–712.

Boud, D., & Soler. (2016). Sustainable Assessment Revisited. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *41*(3), 400-413. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1018133

Bowen, G.A., (2008). Naturalistic inquiry and the saturation concept: a research note. Qual Res 8, 137–152. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301

Braun, V., Clarke, V., (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 3, 77–101. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, *11*(4), 589–597. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806

Brenner, C. A. (2022). Self-regulated learning, self-determination theory and teacher candidates' development of competency-based teaching practices. *Smart Learning Environments*, *9*(1), 3-3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40561-021-00184-5

Broadbent, J., Panadero, E., & Boud, D. (2018). Implementing summative assessment with a formative flavour: a case study in a large class. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, *43*(2), 307-322. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2017.1343455

Broadbent, J., & Poon, W. L. (2015). Self-regulated learning strategies & academic achievement in online higher education learning environments: A systematic review. *The Internet and higher education*, *27*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2015.04.007

Broadbent, J., Sharman, S., Panadero, E., & Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, M. (2021). How does selfregulated learning influence formative assessment and summative grade? Comparing online and blended learners. *The Internet and higher education*, *50*, 100805-100805. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2021.100805

Brooks, V. (2012). Marking as judgment. *Research Papers in Education*, 27(1), 63–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/02671520903331008

Brooks, I. A., & Morphet, J. (2021). The defining characteristics of newly graduated nurses – A Delphi study. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *51*, 102985-102985. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2021.102985 Brooks, J., & Brooks, M. (1993). In search of understanding: the case for constructivist classrooms, ASCD. NDT Resource Center database.

Burgess, A., van Diggele, C., Roberts, C., Mellis, C., (2020). Feedback in the clinical setting. BMC Med Educ 20, 460. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-02280-5

Cano García, E., Jardí Ferré, A., Lluch Molins, L., & Martins Gironelli, L. (2024). Improvement in the quality of feedback as an indication of the development of evaluative judgement. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2024.2329170

Cant, R.P., Cooper, S.J., (2017). Use of simulation-based learning in undergraduate nurse education: An umbrella systematic review. Nurse Educ. Today 49, 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.11.015

Cardoso, A.F., Moreli, L., Braga, F., Vasques, C.I., Santos, C.B., Carvalho, E.C., (2012). Effect of a video on developing skills in undergraduate nursing students for the management of totally implantable central venous access ports. Nurse Educ. Today 32, 709–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2011.09.012

Carless, D. (2005). Prospects for the implementation of assessment for learning. *Assessment in education : principles, policy & practice, 12*(1), 39-54. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594042000333904

Carless, D. (2007). Learning-oriented assessment: conceptual bases and practical implications. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, *44*(1), 57-66. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703290601081332

Carless, D. (2013). Sustainable feedback and the development of student self-evaluative capacities. In (1 ed., pp. 113-122). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203522813-19

Carless, D. (2015). Exploring learning-oriented assessment processes. *Higher Education*, *69*(6), 963-976. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-014-9816-z

Carless, D. (2017). Scaling Up Assessment for Learning: Progress and Prospects. In (pp. 3-17). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-3045-1_1

Carless, D. 2019. "Feedback Loops and the Longer-Term: Towards Feedback Spirals." Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education 44 (5): 705–714. doi:10.1080/02602938.2018.1531108.

Carless, D., & Boud, D. (2018). The development of student feedback literacy: enabling uptake of feedback. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, *43*(8), 1315-1325. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2018.1463354

Carless, D., and Chan, K. H. (2017). Managing dialogic use of exemplars. Assessment & evaluation in Higher Education. 42 (6): 930-941

Carrero-Planells, A., Pol-Castañeda, S., Alamillos-Guardiola, M.C., Prieto-Alomar, A., Tomás-Sánchez, M., Moreno-Mulet, C., (2021). Students and teachers' satisfaction and perspectives on high-fidelity simulation for learning fundamental nursing procedures: A mixed-method study. Nurse Educ. Today 104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104981

Carter, S., (2012). English as an Additional Language (EAL) "viva voce": The EAL Doctoral Oral Examination Experience. Assess Eval High Educ 37, 273–284. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2010.528555

Cathro, H. (2016). Navigating Through Chaos: Charge Nurses and Patient Safety. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, *46*(4), 208–214.

Chaffey, L., de Leeuw, E.J., Finnigan, G., (2012). Facilitating Students' Reflective Practice in a Medical Course: Literature Review. Education for Health 25, 198–203. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.4103/1357-6283.109787

Chang, Chung, M.H., Yang, J.C., (2022). Facilitating nursing students' skill training in distance

education via online game-based learning with the watch-summarize-question approach during the COVID-19 pandemic: A quasi-experimental study. Nurse Educ. Today 109.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.105256

Charmaz, K., (2006). Constructing grounded theory : a practical guide through qualitative analysis , Constructing grounded theory, Introducing qualitative methods. SAGE, London ;

Chen, L., Howitt, S., Higgins, D., & Murray, S. (2022). Students' use of evaluative judgement in an online peer learning community. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *47*(4), 493-506. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2021.1933378

Cheng, A., Eppich, W., Epps, C., Kolbe, M., Meguerdichian, M., & Grant, V. (2021). Embracing informed learner self-assessment during debriefing: the art of plus-delta. *Advances in Simulation*, *6*(1), 22-22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41077-021-00173-1

Choi, J., Lee, S.E., Bae, J., Kang, S., Choi, S., Tate, J.A., Yang, Y.L., (2021). Undergraduate nursing students ' experience of learning respiratory system assessment using flipped classroom: A mixed methods study. Nurse Educ. Today 98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104664

Chong, E.J.M., Lim, J.S.W., Liu, Y., Lau, Y.Y.L., Wu, V.X., (2016). Improvement of learning domains of nursing students with the use of authentic assessment pedagogy in clinical practice. Nurse Educ. Pract. 20, 125–130. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2016.08.002

Chong, S. W. (2021). University students' perceptions towards using exemplars dialogically to develop evaluative judgement: the case of a high-stakes language test. *Asian-Pacific Journal of Second and Foreign Language Education*, *6*(1), 12-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40862-021-00115-4

Clark, R.M., Kaw, A., Guldiken, R., (2023). Metacognition instruction and repeated reflection in a fluid mechanics course: Reflective themes and student outcomes. International journal of mechanical engineering education 51, 243–269.

https://doi.org/10.1177/03064190231164719Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K., (2011). Research methods in education. London: Routledge.

Cormack, C.L., Jensen, E., Durham, C.O., Smith, G., Dumas, B., (2018). The 360-degree evaluation model: A method for assessing competency in graduate nursing students. A pilot research study. Nurse Educ. Today 64, 132–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.01.027

Courtney-Pratt, H., Fitzgerald, M., Ford, K., Johnson, C., & Wills, K. (2014). Development and reliability testing of the quality clinical placement evaluation tool. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *23*(3-4), 504-514. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.12158

Creswell, J.W., (2018). Qualitative inquiry & research design: choosing among five approaches, Fourth edi. ed, Qualitative inquiry and research design: choosing among 5 approaches. Los Angeles: SAGE.

Creswell, J. (2008). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches. Sage.

Davis, D. A., Mazmanian, P. E., Fordis, M., Van Harrison, R., Thorpe, K. E., & Perrier, L. (2006). Accuracy of Physician Self-assessment Compared With Observed Measures of Competence. *JAMA*, *296*(9), 1094-1094. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.296.9.1094

Dawson, P., Carless, D., & Lee, P. P. W. (2021). Authentic feedback: supporting learners to engage in disciplinary feedback practices. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, *46*(2), 286-296. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2020.1769022

Dawson, P., Henderson, M., Mahoney, P., Phillips, M., Ryan, T., Boud, D., & Molloy, E. (2019). What makes for effective feedback: staff and student perspectives. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *44*(1), 25-36. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2018.1467877 Deakin University (2024). Postgraduate entry guide.

https://www.deakin.edu.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/2630030/2303.02-NUR-PG-Nursing-Course-Guide-RGB-ACCESSBILE.pdf. Retrieved 7/10/2025

Delany, C., Golding, C., Bialocerkowski, A., (2013). Teaching for thinking in clinical education: making explicit the thinking involved in allied health clinical reasoning. Focus on health professional education 14, 44–56.

Delany, C., Molloy, E., (2009). Clinical education in the health professions. Sydney, N.S.W.: Churchill Livingstone Elsevier, Sydney, N.S.W.

de Lima Lopes, J., Negrao Baptista, R.C., Takao Lopes, C., Bertelli Rossi, M., Swanson, E.A., Bottura Leite de Barros, A.L., (2019). Efficacy of a video during bed bath simulation on improving the performance of psychomotor skills of nursing undergraduates: A randomized clinical trial. Int. J. Nurs. Stud. 99, 103333. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.04.001

Dewey, J (1997). How We Think, Dover Publications, New York, USA.

Dogru, B.V., Aydin, L.Z., (2020). The effects of training with simulation on knowledge, skill and anxiety levels of the nursing students in terms of cardiac auscultation: A randomized controlled study. Nurse Educ. Today 84, 104216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104216

Dreifuerst, K. T. (2015). Getting Started With Debriefing for Meaningful Learning. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *11*(5), 268-275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2015.01.005

Dreifuerst, K.T., (2009). The essentials of Debriefing in simulation learning: A concept analysis. Nurs. Educ. Perspect. 30, 109–114.

Dunning, D., Heath, C., & Suls, J. M. (2004). Flawed Self-Assessment. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, *5*(3), 69-106. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-1006.2004.00018.x

Durdin, J. (2024). Nursing SA History Hub Trust of South Australia. In *The Wakefield companion to South Australian History Wakefield Press 2001*.

Ebo, B. A. (2018). Constructivism or Behaviorism: What is the Best Method to Teach Special Needs Students? *Journal of healthcare, science and the humanities*, *8*(2), 45-56.

Edwards, S., (2017). Reflecting differently. New dimensions: reflection-before-action and reflectionbeyond-action. International practice development journal 7, 1–14.

https://doi.org/10.19043/ipdj.71.002

Engstrom, M., Lofmark, A., Vae, K.J.U., Martensson, G., (2017). Nursing students' perceptions of using the Clinical Education Assessment tool AssCE and their overall perceptions of the clinical learning environment - A cross-sectional correlational study. Nurse Educ Today 51, 63–67. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.01.009

Epley, N., & Dunning, D. (2000). Feeling "Holier Than Thou": Are Self-Serving Assessments Produced by Errors in Self- or Social Prediction? *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 79(6), 861-875. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.79.6.861 Epp, S., Reekie, M., Denison, J., de Bosch Kemper, N., Willson, M., & Marck, P. (2021). Radical transformation: Embracing constructivism and pedagogy for an innovative nursing curriculum. Journal of Professional Nursing, 37(5), 804–809.

Erlam G., Smythe L., Wright-St Clair V. (2018). Action research and millennials: improving pedagogical approaches to encourage critical thinking. Nurse Education Today . 61:140–145. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2017.11.023.

Eva, K. W., Regehr, G., & Gruppen, L. D. (2018). Blinded By "Insight": Self-Assessment and Its Role in Performance Improvement. In (pp. 131-154). Cornell University Press. https://doi.org/10.7591/9780801465802-010

Eyikara, E., Baykara, Z.G., (2018). Effect of simulation on the ability of first year nursing students

to learn vital signs. Nurse Educ. Today 60, 101–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.09.023

Fanning, R.M., Gaba, D.M., (2007). The role of debriefing in simulation-based learning. Simul. Healthc. J. Soc. Med. Simul. 2, 115–125. https://doi.org/10.1097/SIH.0b013e3180315539

Farjoun, M. Ansell, C. Boin, A. (2015). Pragmatism in organization studies: Meeting the challenges of a dynamic and complex world. Organization Science 26(6): 1787–1804.

Fischer, J. (2019). Evaluative judgement: what, why and how? CRADLE Seminar Series. https://blogs.deakin.edu.au/cradle/2019/03/06/evaluative-judgement-what-why-how-cradle-seminar-series/

Fischer, J., Bearman, M., Boud, D., & Tai, J. (2024). How does assessment drive learning? A focus on students' development of evaluative judgement. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *49*(2), 233-245. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2023.2206986

Fitzgerald, K., Vaughan, B., & Tai, J. H.-M. (2021). Multiple feedback sources in learning clinical history-taking skills: Developing evaluative judgement. *Focus on Health Professional Education: A Multi-Professional Journal*, 22(3), 33-50. https://doi.org/10.11157/fohpe.v22i3.441

Flinders University (2024). Entry Requirements. https://www.flinders.edu.au/study/nursingmidwifery/postgraduate-nursing-midwifery retreived 7/01/2025

Foster, C. (2023). Methodological pragmatism in educational research: from qualitative-quantitative to exploratory-confirmatory distinctions. International Journal of Research & Method in Education, 47(1), 4–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2023.2210063

Furnham, A., Christopher, A., Garwood, J., Martin, N.G., (2008). Ability, Demography, Learning Style, and Personality Trait Correlates of Student Preference for Assessment Method. Educ Psychol (Lond) 28, 15–27.

Gadbury-Amyot, C.C., Woldt, J.L., Siruta-Austin, K.J., (2015). Self-Assessment: A Review of the Literature and Pedagogical Strategies for Its Promotion in Dental Education. J Dent Hyg 89, 357–364.

Gamlem, S.M., Smith, K., (2013). Student perceptions of classroom feedback. Assess Educ 20, 150–169. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2012.749212

Ganji, K. K. (2017). Evaluation of Reliability in Structured Viva Voce As a Formative Assessment of Dental Students. *Journal of Dental Education*, *81*(5), 590–596. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.21815/JDE.016.017

Gcawu, S.N., van Rooyen, D. (R. M.), (2022). Clinical teaching practices of nurse educators: An integrative literature review. Health SA 27, 1728. https://doi.org/10.4102/hsag.v27i0.1728

Gladovic, C. (2021, 2021/12). Capability development by educational technology. ASCILITE 2021: Back to the Future – ASCILITE '21 Proceedings ASCILITE 2021 in Armidale,

Gladovic, C., Tai, J.H.-M., Dawson, P., (2022). Qualitative approaches to researching evaluative judgement in pedagogical activities: a case study. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 47, 231–244. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2021.1901854

Glazzard, J., & Stones, S. (2019). Student Perceptions of Feedback in Higher Education. *International Journal of Learning, Teaching and Educational Research*, *18*(11), 38–52. https://doi.org/10.26803/ijlter.18.11.3

Godin, K., Stapleton, J., Kirkpatrick, S.I., Hanning, R.M., Leatherdale, S.T., (2015). Applying systematic review search methods to the grey literature: A case study examining guidelines for school-based breakfast programs in Canada. Syst. Rev. 4, 138. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-015-0125-0

González-Estrada, E., & Cosmes, W. (2019). Shapiro-Wilk test for skew normal distributions based

on data transformations. *Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation*, *89*(17), 3258–3272. https://doi.org/10.1080/00949655.2019.1658763

Gray, S., Wheat, M., Christensen, M., Craft, J., (2019). Snaps(+): Peer-to-peer and academic support in developing clinical skills excellence in under-graduate nursing students: An exploratory study. Nurse Educ. Today 73, 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.10.006

Graham, C., Ng, L., Best, O., & Patrick, J. (2024). Experiences of international nursing students in a regional university: A clear direction for nursing education. *Collegian (Royal College of Nursing, Australia)*, *31*(4), 211-217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2024.04.005

Green, W., Hammer, S., & Star, C. (2009). Facing up to the challenge: why is it so hard to develop graduate attributes? *Higher Education Research & Development*, *28*(1), 17-29. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360802444339

Groombridge, C.J., Kim, Y., Maini, A., Smit, D.V., Fitzgerald, M.C., (2019). Stress and decisionmaking in resuscitation: A systematic review. Resuscitation 144, 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.09.023

Günay İsmailoğlu, E., Zaybak, A., (2018). Comparison of the Effectiveness of a Virtual Simulator With a Plastic Arm Model in Teaching Intravenous Catheter Insertion Skills. Comput. informatics, Nurs. 36, 98–105. https://doi.org/10.1097/CIN.0000000000000405

Gutierrez-Bucheli, L., Reid, A., & Kidman, G. (2022). Scoping reviews: Their development and application in environmental and sustainability education research. Environmental Education Research, 28(5), 645–673. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2022.2047896

Gyamfi, G., Hanna, B. E., & Khosravi, H. (2022). The effects of rubrics on evaluative judgement: a randomised controlled experiment. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *47*(1), 126-143. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2021.1887081 Halttunen, T., Koivisto, M., & Billett, S. (2014). *Promoting, Assessing, Recognizing and Certifying Lifelong Learning*. Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-8694-2

Hampton, K.B., Smeltzer, S.C., Ross, J.G., (2020). Evaluating the transition from nursing student to practicing nurse: An integrative review. J. Prof. Nurs. 36, 551–559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2020.08.002

Hamra, T.R., Chanasue, D., Ciarlo, E., (2018). The Construct of Lifelong Learning Imbedded in a Nursing Clinical Course. Journal of Educational Leadership in Action 5. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.62608/2164-1102.1041

Hardie, P., Donnelly, P., Greene, E., McHugh, A., Coveney, K., Murray, B., Brereton, S., (2021). The application of reusable learning objects (RLOs) in preparation for a simulation laboratory in medication management: An evaluative study. Teach. Learn. Nurs. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2021.05.002

Harlow-Consulting. (2021). *Review of Minimum Education and Training Standards in Nursing and Midwifery*. Nursing and Midwifery Council UK.

https://www.nmc.org.uk/globalassets/sitedocuments/standards/pre-reg-review/nmc-futureprogramme-standards-overseas-research.pdf

Harrison, H., Birks, M., Franklin, R., & Mills, J. (2020). An assessment continuum: How healthcare professionals define and determine practice readiness of newly graduated registered nurses. *Collegian*, *27*(2), 198-206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2019.07.003

Hart, P.L., Maguire, M.B.R., Brannan, J.D., Long, J.M., Robley, L.R., Brooks, B.K., (2014). Improving BSN students' performance in recognizing and responding to clinical deterioration. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 10, e25–e32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2013.06.003

Hattie, J., & Clarke, S. (2018). *Visible Learning: Feedback* (1st edition. ed.). Routledge, an imprint of Taylor and Francis.

Hattie, J., & Timperley, H. (2007). The Power of Feedback. *Review of Educational Research*, 77(1), 81-112. https://doi.org/10.3102/003465430298487

Hausman, M., Dancot, J., Pétré, B., Guillaume, M., & Detroz, P. (2023). 'I don't know if people realize the impact of their words': how does feedback during internship impact nursing student learning? *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *48*(6), 777-789. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2022.2130168

Hawe, E., & Dixon, H. (2017). Assessment for learning: a catalyst for student self-regulation. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *42*(8), 1181-1192. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2016.1236360

Henderson, A., Cooke, M., Creedy, D.K., Walker, R., (2012). Nursing students' perceptions of learning in practice environments: A review. Nurse Educ Today 32, 299–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2011.03.010

Henderson, A., Ossenberg, C., Tyler, S., (2015). 'What matters to graduates': An evaluation of a structured clinical support program for newly graduated nurses. Nurse Educ. Pract. 15, 225–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2015.01.009

Henderson, B., Aitken, R., Lewis, L. K., & Chipchase, L. (2021). Postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas: A qualitative study. *Nurse Education Today*, *101*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104881

Henderson, B., Chipchase, L., Aitken, R., Lewis, L.K., (2022). Consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement: Comparing assessor and students. Nurse Educ. Pract. 63, 103386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2022.103386

Henderson, B., Chipchase, L., Golder, F., & Lewis, L. K. (2023). Developing student nurses' evaluative judgement in clinical practice tertiary education: A systematic scoping review of teaching

and assessment methods. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 73, 103818-103818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2023.103818

Henderson, M., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., & Molloy, E. (2019). *The Impact of Feedback in Higher Education*. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-25112-3

Henderson, M., Ryan, T., & Phillips, M. (2019a). The challenges of feedback in higher education. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *44*(8), 1237-1252. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2019.1599815

Henderson, M., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Molloy, E. (2019b). Why Focus on Feedback Impact?. In: Henderson, M., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Molloy, E. (eds) The Impact of Feedback in Higher Education. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-25112-3 1

Henderson, M., Ryan, T., Boud, D., Dawson, P., Phillips, M., Molloy, E., Mahoney, P., (2021). The usefulness of feedback. Active learning in higher education 22, 229–243. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469787419872393

Hernández-Padilla, J.M., Granero-Molina, J., Márquez-Hernández, V. V, Cortés-Rodríguez, A.E., Fernández-Sola, C., (2016). Effects of a simulation-based workshop on nursing students' competence in arterial puncture/Efeitos de um workshop de simulação sobre a competência em punção arterial de estudantes de enfermagem. Acta Paul. Enferm. 29, 678. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-0194201600095

Hickman, L., Neubert, S., & Reich, K. (2020). *John Dewey Between Pragmatism and Constructivism* (1st ed.). Fordham University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9780823237807

Higgins, J.P.T., Altman, D.G., Gøtzsche, P.C., Jüni, P., Moher, D., Oxman, A.D., Savović, J., Schulz, K.F., Weeks, L., Sterne, J.A.C., (2011). The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 343, 889–893. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d5928 Higgins, K., Kirkland, T., Le-Jenkins, U., Rutledge, C., (2019). Preparing students to be ready for practice: An innovative approach to teaching advanced physical assessment skills online. J. Am. Assoc. NURSE Pract. 31, 640–647. https://doi.org/10.1097/JXX.00000000000332

Hill, R., Hooper, C., Wahl, S., (2000). Look, learn, and be satisfied: video playback as a learning strategy to improve clinical skills performance. J. Nurses Staff Dev. 16, 232–239.

Hill, J., Walkington, H., & France, D. (2016). Graduate attributes: implications for higher education practice and policy. *Journal of Geography in Higher Education*, *40*(2), 155-163. https://doi.org/10.1080/03098265.2016.1154932

Høegh-Larsen, A.M., Gonzalez, M.T., Reierson, I.Å., Husebø, S.I.E., Hofoss, D., Ravik, M., (2023). Nursing students' clinical judgment skills in simulation and clinical placement: a comparison of student self-assessment and evaluator assessment. BMC Nurs. 22, 64. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-023-01220-0

Holland, A., Smith, F., McCrossan, G., Adamson, E., Watt, S., Penny, K., (2013). Online video in clinical skills education of oral medication administration for undergraduate student nurses: a mixed methods, prospective cohort study. Nurse Educ. Today 33, 663–670. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2012.01.006

Hoon Lim, J. (2011). Qualitative Methods in Adult Development and Learning. In The Oxford Handbook of Reciprocal Adult Development and Learning (Oxford Library of Psychology, pp. The Oxford Handbook of Reciprocal Adult Development and Learning, 2011-09-06). Oxford University Press.

Hooda, M., & Saini, A. (2017). Academic Anxiety: An Overview. *Educational Quest*, *8*(3), 807–810. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.5958/2230-7311.2017.00139.8

Hošnjak, A.M., Čukljek, S., Fičko, S.L., Smrekar, M., (2019). The influence of different ways of training on development of practical skills in performing parenteral therapy in full-time first year

nursing students. Cent. Eur. J. Nurs. Midwifery 10, 1111–1116. https://doi.org/10.15452/CEJNM.2019.10.0021

Howells, K., Fitzallen, N., & Adams, C. (2016). Using Assessment to Develop Social Responsibility as a Graduate Attribute in Teacher Education. *The Australian journal of teacher education*, *41*(6), 52-67. https://doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2016v41n6.4

Hume, A., & Coll, R. K. (2009). Assessment of learning, for learning, and as learning: New Zealand case studies. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice*, *16*(3), 269–290. https://doi.org/10.1080/09695940903319661

Hungerford, C., Walter, G., Cleary, M., (2015). Clinical case reports and the viva voce: a valuable assessment tool, but not without anxiety. Clin Case Rep 3, 1–2. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ccr3.225

Huxham, M., Campbell, F., Westwood, J., (2012). Oral versus written assessments: a test of student performance and attitudes. Assess Eval High Educ 37, 125–136. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2010.515012

Ibarra-Sáiz, M. S., Rodríguez-Gómez, G., & Boud, D. (2020). Developing student competence through peer assessment: the role of feedback, self-regulation and evaluative judgement. *Higher Education*, *80*(1), 137-156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-019-00469-2

Ilangakoon, C., Ajjawi, R., Endacott, R., & Rees, C. E. (2022). The relationship between feedback and evaluative judgement in undergraduate nursing and midwifery education: An integrative review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *58*, 103255-103255.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103255

Irby, B. J. (2013). The handbook of educational theories. Information Age Publishing.

Irons, A., & Elkington, S. (2022). *Enhancing Learning through Formative Assessment and Feedback* (Second edition ed., Vol. 1). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781138610514

Ismail, S. M., Rahul, D. R., Patra, I., & Rezvani, E. (2022). Formative vs. summative assessment: impacts on academic motivation, attitude toward learning, test anxiety, and self-regulation skill. *Language Testing in Asia*, *12*(1), 40-40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40468-022-00191-4

İsmailoğlu, E.G., Orkun, N., Eşer, İ., Zaybak, A., (2020). Comparison of the effectiveness of the virtual simulator and video-assisted teaching on intravenous catheter insertion skills and self-confidence: A quasi-experimental study. Nurse Educ. Today 95, 104596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104596

Jaberi, A., Momennasab, M., (2019). Effectiveness of standardized patient in abdominal physical examination education: A randomized, controlled trial. Clin. Med. Res. 17, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3121/cmr.2019.1446

Jackson, D. (2014). Self-assessment of employability skill outcomes among undergraduates and alignment with academic ratings. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *39*(1), 53-72. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2013.792107

Jafarian-Amiri, S., Zabihi, A., Qalehsari, M., (2020). The challenges of supporting nursing students in clinical education. J Educ Health Promot 9, 216. https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp_13_20

James, W. (1975). Philosophical conceptions and practical results. Pragmatism: A new name for some old ways of thinking (pp. 257–270). Harvard University Press.

Jamshidi N., Molazem Z., Sharif F., Torabizadeh C., Najafi Kalyani M. (2016). The challenges of nursing students in the clinical learning environment: a qualitative study. The Scientific World Journal :1–7. doi: 10.1155/2016/1846178.1846178

Jayasekara, R., Smith, C., Hall, C., Rankin, E., Smith, M., Visvanathan, V., Friebe, T.-R., (2018). The effectiveness of clinical education models for undergraduate nursing programs: A systematic review. Nurse Educ Pract 29, 116–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2017.12.006

Johanna Briggs Institute. (2024). JBI Critical Appraisal Tools. Accessed on 24 August 2024 from https://jbi.global/critical-appraisal-tools

Joanna Briggs Institute. (2022). JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis. 11.2.8 Analysis of the evidence.https://jbi-global-

wiki.refined.site/space/MANUAL/4687681/11.2.8+Analysis+of+the+evidence

Johannessen, A.-K., Barra, M., Vullum, S., & Werner, A. (2021). Nursing students' evaluation of clinical learning environment and supervision in a Norwegian hospital placement – A questionnaire survey using CLES+T scale. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *54*, 103119-103119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103119

Johnson, C. E., Keating, J. L., Boud, D. J., Dalton, M., Kiegaldie, D., Hay, M., McGrath, B., McKenzie, W. A., Nair, K. B. R., Nestel, D., Palermo, C., & Molloy, E. K. (2016). Identifying educator behaviours for high quality verbal feedback in health professions education: literature review and expert refinement. *BMC Medical Education*, *16*(1), 96-96. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-016-0613-5

Johnson, C.E., Keating, J.L., Farlie, M.K., Kent, F., Leech, M., Molloy, E.K., (2019). Educators' behaviours during feedback in authentic clinical practice settings: An observational study and systematic analysis. BMC Med Educ 19, 129. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-019-1524-z

Johnson, C.E., Keating, J.L., Molloy, E.K., (2020). Psychological safety in feedback: What does it look like and how can educators work with learners to foster it? Med Educ 54, 559–570. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.14154

Johnson, M.P., Hickey, K.T., Scopa-Goldman, J., Andrews, T., Boerem, P., Covec, M., Larson, E.,
(2014). Manikin Versus Web-Based Simulation for Advanced Practice Nursing Students. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 10, e317–e323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2014.02.004

Jonassen, D. H. (1991). Objectivism versus Constructivism: Do We Need a New Philosophical Paradigm? Educational Technology Research and Development, *39*(3), 5–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02296434

Jones, R.S., Simmons, A., Boykin, G.L.S., Stamper, D., Thompson, J.C., (2014). Measuring intravenous cannulation skills of practical nursing students using rubber mannequin intravenous training arms. Mil. Med. 179, 1361–1367. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-D-13-00576

Joseph, B., Javali, M., Al-Sahman, L., (2019). Major Factors Causing Examination Anxiety in Undergraduate Dental Students-A Questionnaire Based Cross-Sectional Study.

Joughin, G. (2008). Assessment, Learning and Judgement in Higher Education: A Critical Review. In (pp. 1-15). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8905-3_2

Khalil, A. I., & Abou Hashish, E. (2022). Exploring how reflective practice training affects nurse interns' critical thinking disposition and communication skills. *Nursing Management (Harrow, London, England*), *29*(5), 20–26. https://doi.org/10.7748/nm.2022.e2045

Kahneman, D., Gilovich, T., & Griffin, D. W. (2002). *Heuristics and biases : the psychology of intuitive judgement*. Cambridge University Press.

Kakushi, L.E., Martinez Evora, Y.D., (2014). Direct and indirect nursing care time in an Intensive Care Unit. Rev. Lat. Am. Enfermagem 22, 150–157. https://doi.org/10.1590/0104-1169.3032.2381

Karpen, S. C. (2018). The social psychology of biased self-assessment. *American journal of pharmaceutical education*, *82*(5), 441-448.

Kelly, J., Sadeghieh, T., Adeli, K., (2014). Peer Review in Scientific Publications: Benefits,

Critiques, & A Survival Guide. EJIFCC 25, 227–243.

Keys, E., Luctkar-Flude, M., Tyerman, J., Sears, K., Woo, K., (2021). The Integration of Virtual Simulation Gaming Into Undergraduate Nursing Resuscitation Education: A Pilot Randomised Controlled Trial. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 54, 54–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2021.01.013

Khosravi, H., Gyamfi, G., Hanna, B., Lodge, J., (2020). Fostering and supporting empirical research on evaluative judgement via a crowdsourced adaptive learning system, in: ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, LAK '20. ACM, pp. 83–88. https://doi.org/10.1145/3375462.3375532

Kielo-Viljamaa, E., Ahtiala, M., Suhonen, R., Stolt, M., (2021). Simulated Wound Care as a Competence Assessment Method for Student and Registered Nurses. Adv. Skin Wound Care 34, 588–595. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/01.ASW.0000792916.93340.68

Kim, H., Suh, E.E., (2018). The Effects of an Interactive Nursing Skills Mobile Application on Nursing Students' Knowledge, Self-efficacy, and Skills Performance: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Asian Nurs. Res. (Korean. Soc. Nurs. Sci). 12, 17–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anr.2018.01.001

Kim, S.J., Shin, H.W., Lee, J.G., Kang, S.R., Bartlett, R., (2017). A smartphone application to educate undergraduate nursing students about providing care for infant airway obstruction. Nurse Educ. Today 48, 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.10.006

Kitson, A., Powell, K., Hoon, E., Newbury, J., Wilson, A., Beilby, J., (2013). Knowledge translation within a population health study: How do you do it? Implement Sci 8, 54. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-8-54

Kiven, O., & Ristela, P. (2003). From Constructivism to a Pragmatist Conception of Learning. In *Oxford review of Education*.

Kleiven, H., Tegani, N., Sullivan, L., (2016). What is the viva experience of phase 2 radiation oncology examination candidate? survey and advice for future candidates. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 428–432.

Kraut, A., Yarris, L. M., & Sargeant, J. (2015). Feedback: Cultivating a Positive Culture. *Journal of graduate medical education*, 7(2), 262-264. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-15-00103.1

Kruger, J., & Dunning, D. (1999). Unskilled and Unaware of It: How Difficulties in Recognizing One's Own Incompetence Lead to Inflated Self-Assessments. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 77(6), 1121-1134. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.77.6.1121

Kurt, Y., Ozturk, H., (2021). The effect of mobile augmented reality application developed for injections on the knowledge and skill levels of nursing students: An experimental controlled study. Nurse Educ. Today 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104955

Lau, A. M. S. (2016). 'Formative good, summative bad?' – A review of the dichotomy in assessment literature. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, *40*(4), 509-525. https://doi.org/10.1080/0309877X.2014.984600

Leahy, E., Chipchase, L., Calo, M., Blackstock, F.C., (2020). Which Learning Activities Enhance Physical Therapist Practice? Part 2: Systematic Review of Qualitative Studies and Thematic Synthesis. Phys Ther 100, 1484–1501. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/pzaa108

Lee, B.-O., Liang, H.-F., Chu, T.-P., Hung, C.-C., (2019). Effects of simulation-based learning on nursing student competences and clinical performance. Nurse Educ. Pract. 41, 102646. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2019.102646

Lee, E., Park, H., (2016). Comparison of Indirect Nursing Interventions Performed by Korean and U.S. Nurses Using the Nursing Interventions Classification (NIC) System. Int. J. Nurs. Knowl. 27, 149–155. https://doi.org/10.1111/2047-3095.12093

Lee, J.H., Lee, H., Kim, S., Choi, M., Ko, I.S., Bae, J.Y., Kim, S.H., (2020). Debriefing methods and learning outcomes in simulation nursing education: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Nurse Educ. Today 87, 104345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104345

Lee, K.-C., Ho, C.-H., Yu, C.-C., Chao, Y.-F., (2020). The development of a six-station OSCE for evaluating the clinical competency of the student nurses before graduation: A validity and reliability analysis. Nurse Educ. Today 84, 1. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104247

Levett-Jones, T., Pitt, V., Courtney-Pratt, H., Harbrow, G., Rossiter, R., (2015). What are the primary concerns of nursing students as they prepare for and contemplate their first clinical placement experience? Nurse Educ Pract 15, 304–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2015.03.012

Lew, M. D. N., Alwis, W. A. M., & Schmidt, H. G. (2010). Accuracy of students' self-assessment and their beliefs about its utility. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, *35*(2), 135-156. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602930802687737

Liamputtong, P., (2010). Performing Qualitative Cross-Cultural Research, 1st ed. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511812705

Lincoln, Y., & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. Newbury Park CA: SAGE Publications.

Lowe, T. (2020a). Move towards tertiary education for Australian nurses- mid 1980s. In *Nurse* education in Australia: Part 8 Australian College of Nursing. https://www.acn.edu.au/tag/history-ofnurse-education-in-australia

Lowe, T. (2020b). Nurse education in Australia: Part 1. In *Australian College of Nursing*. https://www.acn.edu.au/tag/history-of-nurse-education-in-australia

Luo, J., (2021). Developing evaluative judgement in higher education: assessment for knowing and producing quality work: edited by David Boud, Rola Ajjawi, Phillip Dawson and Joanna Tai,

London, Routledge, 2018, 218 pp. ISBN: 978-1. Educ Rev (Birm). https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2020.1842644

Lynga, P., Masiello, I., Karlgren, K., Joelsson-Alm, E., (2019). Experiences of using an OSCE protocol in clinical examinations of nursing students - A comparison of student and faculty assessments. Nurse Educ. Pract. 35, 130–134.

https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2019.02.004

Marquez-Hernandez, V. V, Gutierrez-Puertas, L., Granados-Gamez, G., Rodriguez-Garcia, M.C., Gutierrez-Puertas, V., Aguilera-Manrique, G., (2019). Development of a web-based tool to evaluate competences of nursing students through the assessment of their clinical skills. Nurse Educ. Today 73, 1–6. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2018.11.010

Mascolo, M. F., & Fischer, K. W. (2005). Constructivist theories. Cambridge Encyclopedia of Child Development (pp. 49-63). Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.

Masso, M., Sim, J., Halcomb, E., & Thompson, C. (2022). Practice readiness of new graduate nurses and factors influencing practice readiness: A scoping review of reviews. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *129*, 104208.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2022.104208

Mayumi, N., & Ota, K. (2023). Implications of philosophical pragmatism for nursing: Comparison of different pragmatists. Nursing Philosophy, 24(1), e12414-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/nup.12414 McCutcheon, S., Duchemin, A.-M., (2020). Overcoming barriers to effective feedback: a solution-focused faculty development approach. Int J Med Educ 11, 230–232. https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.5f7c.3157

McGaghie, W. C., Adler, M., & Salzman, D. H. (2020). Instructional Design and Delivery for Mastery Learning. In (pp. 71-88). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-34811-3_4 McIver, S., & Murphy, B. (2023). Self-assessment and what happens over time: Student and staff perspectives, expectations and outcomes. *Active learning in higher education*, *24*(2), 207-219. https://doi.org/10.1177/14697874211054755

McKenna, L., Sommers, C. L., Rachmawaty, R., Efendi, F., Malik, G., Davis, J., Duncan, R., Mambu, I. R., Susanti, I. A., & Musmulyono. (2023). Postgraduate nurse education in Indonesia and Australia: A comparative analysis. *Nurse Education Today*, *131*, 105954-105954. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2023.105954

McLean, A. J., Bond, C. H., & Nicholson, H. D. (2015). An anatomy of feedback: a phenomenographic investigation of undergraduate students' conceptions of feedback. *Studies in higher education (Dorchester-on-Thames)*, *40*(5), 921-932. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2013.855718

McLeod, G. A., Barr, J., & Welch, A. (2015). Best Practice for Teaching and Learning Strategies to Facilitate Student Reflection in Pre-Registration Health Professional Education: An Integrative Review. *Creative education*, 6(4), 440-454. https://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2015.64044

McLeod, G.A., Vaughan, B., Carey, I., Shannon, T., Winn, E., (2020). Pre-professional reflective practice: Strategies, perspectives and experiences. International Journal of Osteopathic Medicine 35, 50–56. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijosm.2019.11.005

McWilliams, L.A., McIntyre, T., Dudley, W.N., (2021). Examining the impact of cooperative learner simulation order on performance outcomes of nursing students using a haptic intravenous simulator. Nurse Educ. Pract. 53, 103070. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103070

Mehdipour –Rabori, R., Bagherian, B., Nematollahi, M., (2021). Simulation-based mastery improves nursing skills in BSc nursing students: a quasi-experimental study. BMC Nurs. 20, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-020-00532-9

Merriam, S. B. (2002). Basic interpretive qualitative research. In S. B. Merriam (Ed.), Qualitative

research in practice (pp. 37-39). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Merry, S., Price, M., Carless, D., & Taras, M. (2013). *Reconceptualising Feedback in Higher Education: Developing dialogue with students*. London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203522813

Meskell, P., Burke, E., Kropmans, T.J.B., Byrne, E., Setyonugroho, W., Kennedy, K.M., (2015). Back to the future: An online OSCE Management Information System for nursing OSCEs. Nurse Educ. Today 35, 1091–1096. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2015.06.010

Miranda, R.P.R., Chaves, E.D.L., Lima, R.S., Braga, C.G., Simoes, I.A.R., Fava, S., Iunes, D.H., (2017). The effectiveness of a simulated scenario to teach nursing students how to perform a bed bath: A randomized clinical trial. Nurse Educ. Today 57, 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.06.008

Mladenovici, V., Ilie, M. D., Maricuțoiu, L. P., & Iancu, D. E. (2022). Approaches to teaching in higher education: the perspective of network analysis using the revised approaches to teaching inventory. *Higher Education*, *84*(2), 255-277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-021-00766-9

Molloy, E., Ajjawi, R., Bearman, M., Noble, C., Rudland, J., & Ryan, A. (2020). Challenging feedback myths: Values, learner involvement and promoting effects beyond the immediate task. *Medical Education*, *54*(1), 33-39. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13802

Molloy, E. and Boud, D. 2012. Changing conceptions of feedback. in: Boud, D. and Molloy, E. (ed.) Feedback in Higher and Professional Education: Understanding it and doing it well London and New York Routledge. pp. 11-33 https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203074336 Molloy, E., Denniston, C., (2019). The Role of Verbal Feedback in Surgical Education. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3128-2_19

Molloy, E., & van de Ridder, M., (2018). Reworking feedback to build better work. In C. Delany, & E. Molloy (Eds.), Learning and Teaching in Clinical Contexts: A Practical Guide (1st ed., pp. 305-320). Elsevier.

Morse, J. (2002). *Coding. A users guide to qualitative methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.

Morse, J.M., Barrett, M., Mayan, M., Olson, K., Spiers, J., (2002). Verification Strategies for Establishing Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research. Int J Qual Methods 1, 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690200100202

Mutch, A., Young, C., Davey, T., & Fitzgerald, L. (2018). A journey towards sustainable feedback. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, *43*(2), 248-259. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2017.1332154

Naidoo, O., Tai, J., & Penman, M. (2021). Preparing students for the future through developing evaluative judgement. *The clinical teacher*, *18*(2), 115-120. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13268

Neiterman, E., Beggs, B., HakemZadeh, F., Zeytinoglu, I., Geraci, J., Oltean, I., Plenderleith, J., Lobb, D., (2022). "They hold your fate in their hands": Exploring the power dynamic in the midwifery student-preceptor relationship. Midwifery 112, 103430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2022.103430

Nicol, D., (2021). The power of internal feedback: exploiting natural comparison processes. Assess Eval High Educ 46, 756–778. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2020.1823314

Nicol, D., Macfarlane-Dick, D., (2006). Formative assessment and self-regulated learnings: A model and seven principles of good feedback practices. Studies in Higher Education 31, 199–218.

Nicol, D., Thomson, A., Breslin, C., (2014). Rethinking feedback practices in higher education: a peer review perspective. Assess Eval High Educ 39, 102–122. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2013.795518

Nicola-Richmond, K., Ward, N., Logan, S., Lyons, N., & Ajjawi, R. (2024). Evaluative judgement in practice education: How does the ability to judge the quality of work impact placement performance? *Australian occupational therapy journal*, *71*(2), 291-301. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12927

NMBA, (2016). Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia [WWW Document]. Registered nurses standards for practice. URL https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Statements/Professional-standards/registered-nurse-standards-for-practice.aspx (accessed 3.28.24)

NMBA (2022). Nursing and Midwifery Board registered nurses standards for practice. https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/codes-guidelines-statements/professionalstandards/registered-nurse-standards-for-practice.aspx (accessed 1.20.23)

NMBA. (2024). *regulating Australia's nurses and midwives*. Retrieved 23 August 2024 from https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/

Nuuyoma, V., (2021). Feedback in clinical settings: nursing students' perceptions at the district hospital in the southern part of Namibia. Curationis 44, 2147. https://doi. org/10.4102/curationis.v44i1.2147.

Nyström, S., Dahlberg, J., Edelbring, S., Hult, H., Abrandt Dahlgren, M., (2016). Debriefing practices in interprofessional simulation with students: A sociomaterial perspective. BMC Med. Educ. 16, 148. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-016-0666-5

Oermann, M. H., & Gaberson, K. B. (2014). *Evaluation and testing in nursing education* (4th ed.). Springer Publishing Company.

Okada, A., Whitelock, D., Holmes, W., Edwards, C., (2019). e-Authentication for online assessment: A mixed-method study. British journal of educational technology 50, 861–875. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12608

Onturk, Z.K., Ugur, E., Kocatepe, V., Ates, E., Ocaktan, N., Unver, V., Karabacak, U., (2019). Use of simulation from high fidelity to low fidelity in teaching of safe-medication practices. J. Pak. Med. Assoc. 69, 195–200.

Ormerod, R. (2006). The history and ideas of pragmatism. Journal of the Operational Research Society 57: 892–909.

Orrock, P., Grace, S., Vaughan, B., & Coutts, R. (2014). Developing a viva exam to assess clinical reasoning in pre-registration osteopathy students. *BMC Medical Education*, *14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6920-14-193

Ositadimma Oranye, N., Ahmad, C., Ahmad, N., Abu Bakar, R., (2012). Assessing nursing clinical skills competence through objective structured clinical examination (OSCE) for open distance learning students in Open University Malaysia. Contemp. nurse a J. Aust. Nurs. Prof. 41, 233–241. https://doi.org/10.5172/conu.2012.41.2.233

Ossenberg, C., Henderson, A., & Mitchell, M. (2018). What attributes guide best practice for effective feedback? A scoping review. *Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract*, *24*(2), 383–401. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-018-9854-x

Oz, G.O., Ordu, Y., (2021). The effects of web based education and Kahoot usage in evaluation of the knowledge and skills regarding intramuscular injection among nursing students. Nurse Educ. Today 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104910

Page M J, McKenzie J E, Bossuyt P M, Boutron I, Hoffmann T C, Mulrow C D et al. (2021) The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews BMJ: 372 :n71 doi:10.1136/bmj.n71

Panadero, E., Broadbent, J., Boud, D., & Lodge, J. M. (2019). Using formative assessment to influence self-and co-regulated learning: the role of evaluative judgement. *European journal of psychology of education*, *34*(3), 535-557. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-018-0407-8

Panadero, E., Jonsson, A., Botella, J., (2017). Effects of self-assessment on self-regulated learning and self-efficacy: Four meta-analyses. Educ Res Rev 22, 74–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2017.08.004

Panzieri, J., & Derham, C. (2020). Student Nurses' Experiences of Receiving Verbal Feedback Within the Clinical Learning Environment: To What Extent Does This Promote Sustainable Feedback Practices? In (pp. 237-253). Springer International Publishing AG. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35396-4_15

Paris, B.M., (2022). Instructors' Perspectives of Challenges and Barriers to Providing Effective Feedback. Teaching and learning inquiry 10, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.20343/teachlearningu.10.3

Paterson, C., Paterson, N., Jackson, W., Work, F., (2020). What are students' needs and preferences for academic feedback in higher education? A systematic review. Nurse Educ. Today 85, 104236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104236.

Peters MD, Godfrey CM, Khalil H, McInerney P, Parker D, Soares CB. (2015). Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews. Int J Evid Based Healthc. Sep;13(3):141-6. doi: 10.1097/XEB.000000000000000000. PMID: 26134548.

Pearce, G., Lee, G., (2009). Viva Voce (Oral Examination) as an Assessment Method: Insights from Marketing Students. Journal of Marketing Education 31, 120–130. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0273475309334050

Peddle, M., Bearman, M., Mckenna, L., Nestel, D., (2019). Exploring undergraduate nursing student interactions with virtual patients to develop 'non-technical skills' through case study methodology. Adv. Simul. 4, 1. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s41077-019-0088-7

Pedregosa, S., Fabrellas, N., Risco, E., Pereira, M., Dmoch-Gajzlerska, E., Şenuzun, F., Martin, S., Zabalegui, A., (2020). Effective academic-practice partnership models in nursing students' clinical placement: A systematic literature review. Nurse Educ Today 95, 104582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104582

Pendleton, D., Schofield, T., Tate, P., & Havelock, P. (1984). *The consultation : an approach to learning and teaching*. Oxford University Press.

Pervin, Nasrin & Mokhtar, Mahani. (2022). The Interpretivist Research Paradigm: A Subjective Notion of a Social Context. International Journal of Academic Research in Progressive Education and Development. 11. 10.6007/IJARPED/v11-i2/12938.

Piaget, J. (1971). *Psychology and Epistemology: Towards a Theory of Knowledge* (New York: Grossman.

Pitt, E., Winstone, N., (2023). Enabling and valuing feedback literacies. Assess Eval High Educ 48, 149–157. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2022.2107168

Platzer, H., Snelling, J., Blake, D., (1997). Promoting Reflective Practitioners in Nursing: a review of theoretical models and research into the use of diaries and journals to facilitate reflection. Teaching in Higher Education 2, 103–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/1356251970020202

Prentice, D., O'Rourke, T., (2013). Safe Practice: Using High-Fidelity Simulation to Teach Blood Transfusion Reactions. J. Infus. Nurs. 36, 207–210.

https://doi.org/10.1097/NAN.0b013e318288a3d9

Polit D. F., Beck C. T. (2014). Essentials of nursing research: Appraising evidence for nursing practice. Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott/Williams & Wilkins Health.

Proudfoot, K. (2023). Inductive/Deductive Hybrid Thematic Analysis in Mixed Methods Research. Journal of Mixed Methods Research, *17*(3), 308–326. https://doi.org/10.1177/15586898221126816 Qalehsari, M. Q., Khaghanizadeh, M., & Ebadi, A. (2017). Lifelong learning strategies in nursing: A systematic review. *Electronic physician*, *9*(10), 5541-5550. https://doi.org/10.19082/5541

Rahnavard, Z., Eybpoosh, S., & Alianmoghaddam, N. (2013). Effect of Clinical Teaching Associate Model on Nursing Students' Clinical Skills and Nurses' Satisfaction. Contemporary Nurse : A Journal for the Australian Nursing Profession, 2704–2727. https://doi.org/10.5172/conu.2013.2704

Ramlogan, S., & Raman, V. (2022). An educational approach for early student self-assessment in clinical periodontology. *BMC Medical Education*, *22*(1), 33-33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-021-03078-9

Rasouli, R., Alipour, Z., & Ebrahim, T. (2018). Effectiveness of cognitive learning strategies on test anxiety and school performance of students. *International Journal of Educational and Psychological Researches*, *4*(1), 20–25. https://doi.org/10.4103/jepr.jepr_84_16

Ravik, M., Havnes, A., Bjørk, I.T., (2017). Defining and comparing learning actions in two simulation modalities: students training on a latex arm and each other's arms. J. Clin. Nurs. 26, 4255–4266. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13748

Raymond, J.E., Homer, C.S.E., Smith, R., Gray, J.E., (2013). Learning through authentic assessment: an evaluation of a new development in the undergraduate midwifery curriculum. Nurse Educ Pract 13, 471–476.

Rethlefsen, M.L., Kirtley, S., Waffenschmidt, S., Ayala, A.P., Moher, D., Page, M.J., Koffel, J.B., (2021). PRISMA-S: an extension to the PRISMA Statement for Reporting Literature Searches in Systematic Reviews. Syst. Rev. 10, 39. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-020-01542-z

Richardson, M., Abraham, C., & Bond, R. (2012). Psychological Correlates of University Students' Academic Performance: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Psychological bulletin*, *138*(2), 353-387. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026838 Rieber, R., & Wollock, J. (1997). *The Collected Works of L. S. Vygotsky*. Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-5893-4

Rim, D., Shin, H., (2022). Development and Assessment of a Multi-User Virtual Environment Nursing Simulation Program: A Mixed Methods Research Study. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 62, 31–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2021.10.004

Ringeisen, T., Lichtenfeld, S., Becker, S., Minkley, N., (2019). Stress experience and performance during an oral exam: the role of self-efficacy, threat appraisals, anxiety, and cortisol. Anxiety Stress Coping 32, 50–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2018.1528528

Roos, A.-L., Goetz, T., Voracek, M., Krannich, M., Bieg, M., Jarrell, A., & Pekrun, R. (2020). Test Anxiety and Physiological Arousal: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, *33*(2), 579–618. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-020-09543-z

Rung, A., & George, R. (2021). A systematic literature review of assessment feedback in preclinical dental education. *European journal of dental education*, *25*(1), 135-150. https://doi.org/10.1111/eje.12584

Rush, S., Firth, T., Burke, L., Marks-Maran, D., (2012). Implementation and evaluation of peer assessment of clinical skills for first year student nurses. Nurse Educ. Pract. 12, 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2012.01.014

Sadler, D. R. (1989). Formative assessment and the design of instructional systems. *Instructional science*, *18*(2), 119-144. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00117714

Sadler, D. R. (2010). Beyond feedback: developing student capability in complex appraisal. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, *35*(5), 535-550. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602930903541015 Saghafi, F., Bromley, P., Guzys, D., Harkness, L., Phillips, M., Mather, C., Saunders, A., Say, R., Teare, C., & Tori, K. (2023). Graduate nurses' capability upon entering the workforce: An integrative review. *Nurse Education Today*, *121*, 105659–105659. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2022.105659

Salamonson, Y., Metcalfe, L., Alexandrou, E., Cotton, A., Mcnally, S., Murphy, J., & Frost, S. (2016). Measuring final-year nursing students' satisfaction with the viva assessment. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *16*, 91–96.

Salisu, W.J., Dehghan Nayeri, N., Yakubu, I., Ebrahimpour, F., (2019). Challenges and facilitators of professional socialization: A systematic review. Nurs Open 6, 1289–1298. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.341

Sarvan, S., Efe, E., (2022). The effect of neonatal resuscitation training based on a serious game simulation method on nursing students' knowledge, skills, satisfaction and self-confidence levels: A randomized controlled trial. Nurse Educ. Today 111, 105298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2022.105298

Sax, S. (1979). *Nurse education and training: report of Committe of Inquiry to the Tertiary Education Commission, August 1978.*: Australian Government Publishing Service Retrieved from https://nla.gov.au/nla.obj-1351154015

Schreck, C. M., Weilbach, J. T., & Reitsma, G. M. (2020). Improving graduate attributes by implementing an experiential learning teaching approach: A case study in recreation education. *The journal of hospitality, leisure, sport & tourism education, 26*, 100214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhlste.2019.100214

Sezgunsay, E., Basak, T., (2020). Is Moulage effective in improving clinical skills of nursing students for the assessment of pressure injury? Nurse Educ. Today 94, 1. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104572

Sheahan, L., While, A., Bloomfield, J., (2015). An exploratory trial exploring the use of a multiple intelligences teaching approach (MITA) for teaching clinical skills to first year undergraduate nursing students. Nurse Educ. Today 35, 1148–1154. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2015.05.002

Shenwai, M., Patil, K., (2013). Introduction of Structured Oral Examination as A Novel Assessment tool to First Year Medical Students in Physiology. J Clin Diagn Res 7, 2544–2547. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2013/7350.3606

Siles-González, J., & Solano-Ruiz, C. (2016). Self-assessment, reflection on practice and critical thinking in nursing students. *Nurse Education Today*, *45*, 132-137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.07.005

Smallheer, B.A., Stone, E., Hicks, J., Galbreath, C., (2017). Use of Video Recording to Facilitate Peer-to-Peer Learning in a Prelicensure Nursing Program. Teach. Learn. Nurs. 12, 158–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2017.02.003

Smith, P.C., Hamilton, B.K., (2015). The effects of virtual reality simulation as a teaching strategy for skills preparation in nursing students. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 11, 52–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2014.10.001

Soledad Ibarra-Saiz, M., Rodriguez-Gomez, G., & Boud, D. (2020). Developing student competence through peer assessment : the role of feedback, self-regulation and evaluative judgement. *Higher Education*, *80*(1), 137–156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-019-00469-2

Solheim, E., Plathe, H.S., Eide, H., (2017). Nursing students' evaluation of a new feedback and reflection tool for use in high-fidelity simulation – Formative assessment of clinical skills. A descriptive quantitative research design. Nurse Educ. Pract. 27, 114–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2017.08.021

Sotiriadou, P., Logan, D., Daly, A., Guest, R., (2020). The role of authentic assessment to preserve academic integrity and promote skill development and employability. Studies in higher education (Dorchester-on-Thames) 45, 2132–2148. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2019.1582015

Spielberger, C. D. (2010, January 30). Test Anxiety Inventory. *The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology*. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479216.corpsy0985

Stayt, L.C., Merriman, C., Ricketts, B., Morton, S., Simpson, T., (2015). Recognizing and managing a deteriorating patient: a randomized controlled trial investigating the effectiveness of clinical simulation in improving clinical performance in undergraduate nursing students. J. Adv. Nurs., Comment in: Evid Based Nurs. 2016 Apr;19(2):55 PMID: 26494851 [https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26494851] 71, 2563–2574. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jan.12722

Sterling-Fox, C., Smith, J.P., Gariando, O., Charles, P., (2020). Nursing Skills Video Selfies: An Innovative Teaching and Learning Strategy for Undergraduate Nursing Students to Master Psychomotor Skills. SAGE open Nurs. 6, 2377960820934090–2377960820934090. https://doi.org/10.1177/2377960820934090

Stone, R., Cooke, M., Mitchell, M., (2020). Exploring the meaning of undergraduate nursing students' experiences and confidence in clinical skills using video. Nurse Educ. Today 86, 104322. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104322

Storen, R., & Ferris, L. (2023, 30 November 2023). *Health practitioners regulations: a quick guide*. Parliament of Australia. Retrieved 23/8/24 from https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_departments/Parliamentary_Library/pubs /rp/rp2324/Quick_Guides/HealthPractitionerRegulation

Strand, I., Gulbrandsen, L., Slettebo, A., Naden, D., (2017). Digital recording as a teaching and learning method in the skills laboratory. J. Clin. Nurs. 26, 2572–2582.

https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13632

Sugarman, L. (1987). *Experiential learning: experience as the source of learning and development-Kolb D, A* (Vol. 8). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030080408

Surabenjawong, U., Phrampus, P.E., Lutz, J., Farkas, D., Gopalakrishna, A., Monsomboon, A., Limsuwat, C., O'Donnell, J.M., (2020). Comparison of Innovative Peer-to-Peer Education and Standard Instruction on Airway Management Skill Training. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 47, 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2020.06.009

Sutherland, R.M., Reid, K.J., Chiavaroli, N.G., Smallwood, D., McColl, G.J., (2019). Assessing Diagnostic Reasoning Using a Standardized Case-Based Discussion. J Med Educ Curric Dev 6, 2382120519849411. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/2382120519849411

Sweet L., and Broadbent J. (2017). Nursing students' perceptions of the qualities of a clinical facilitator that enhance learning. Nurse Education in Practice. 22:30–36. doi: 10.1016/j.nepr.2016.11.007.Tai, J., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Dawson, P., Panadero, E., 2018. Developing evaluative judgement: enabling students to make decisions about the quality of work. High. Educ. 76, 467–481. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0220-3

Tai, J., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Dawson, P., & Panadero, E. (2018). Developing evaluative judgement: enabling students to make decisions about the quality of work. *Higher Education*, *76*(3), 467-481. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0220-3

Tai, J. H.-M., Canny, B. J., Haines, T. P., & Molloy, E. K. (2016). The role of peer-assisted learning in building evaluative judgement: opportunities in clinical medical education. *Advances in health sciences education : theory and practice*, *21*(3), 659-676. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-015-9659-0

Tan, A.J.Q., Lee, C.C.S., Lin, P.Y., Cooper, S., Lau, L.S.T., Chua, W.L., Liaw, S.Y., (2017). Designing and evaluating the effectiveness of a serious game for safe administration of blood

transfusion: A randomized controlled trial. Nurse Educ. Today 55, 38–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.04.027

Tan, C. P., Howes, D., Tan, R. K. W., & Dancza, K. M. (2022). Developing interactive oral assessments to foster graduate attributes in higher education. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, *47*(8), 1183-1199. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2021.2020722

Tan, F.D.H., Tan, F.D.H., Whipp, P.R., Whipp, P.R., Gagné, M., Gagné, M., Van Quaquebeke, N., Van Quaquebeke, N., (2019). Students' perception of teachers' two-way feedback interactions that impact learning. Social psychology of education 22, 169–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-018-9473-7

Taras, M. (2005). Assessment - summative and formative - some theoretical reflections. *British journal of educational studies*, *53*(4), 466-478. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8527.2005.00307.x

Taylor, B., (2006). Reflective Practice: A Guide for Nurses and Midwives. Berkshire: McGraw-Hill Education, Berkshire.

Telio, S., Ajjawi, R., Regehr, G., (2015). The "Educational Alliance" as a Framework for Reconceptualizing Feedback in Medical Education. Academic medicine 90, 609–614. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.0000000000000560

Telio, S., Regehr, G., Ajjawi, R., (2016). Feedback and the educational alliance: examining credibility judgements and their consequences. Med Educ 50, 933–942. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13063

TEQSA. (2022). *Guidance notes: Work-integrated learning*. Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency. Retrieved 23 August 2024 from https://www.teqsa.gov.au/guides-resources/resources/guidance-notes/guidance-note-work-integrated-learning

Thomas, C. L., Cassady, J. C., & Heller, M. L. (2017). The influence of emotional intelligence,

cognitive test anxiety, and coping strategies on undergraduate academic performance. *Learning and Individual Differences*, *55*, 40–48. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2017.03.001

Thompson, J., Grantham, H., & Houston, D. (2015). Paramedic Capstone Education Model: Building Work Ready Graduates. *Australasian journal of paramedicine*, *12*(3), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.33151/ajp.12.3.15

Thompson, J., Houston, D., Dansie, K., Rayner, T., Pointon, T., Pope, S., Cayetano, A., Mitchell,
B., Grantham, H., (2017). Student & tutor consensus: a partnership in assessment for learning.
Assess Eval High Educ 42, 942–952. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2016.1211988

Tong, A., Sainsbury, P., & Craig, J. (2007). Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, *19*(6), 349–357. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzm042

Torrance, H. (2007). Assessment as learning? How the use of explicit learning objectives, assessment criteria and feedback in post-secondary education and training can come to dominate learning. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 14*(3), 281–294. https://doi.org/10.1080/09695940701591867

Tuma, F., & Nassar, A. (2022). Feedback in Medical Education. *StatPearls [internet]*. Retrieved 3 Sept 2023, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK544311/

Tuomikoski, A.-M., Ruotsalainen, H., Mikkonen, K., Kääriäinen, M., (2020). Nurses' experiences of their competence at mentoring nursing students during clinical practice: A systematic review of qualitative studies. Nurse Educ Today 85, 104258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104258

Uiboleht, K., Karm, M., & Postareff, L. (2018). The interplay between teachers' approaches to teaching, students' approaches to learning and learning outcomes: a qualitative multi-case study. *Learning Environments Research*, *21*(3), 321-347. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-018-9257-1

Unsworth, J., Melling, A., Tuffnell, C., Allan, J., (2016). Improving performance amongst nursing students through the discovery of discrepancies during simulation. Nurse Educ. Pract. 16, 47–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2015.07.003

Uzelli Yilmaz, D., Sari, D., (2021). Examining the effect of simulation-based learning on intravenous therapy administration' knowledge, performance, and clinical assessment skills of first-year nursing students. Nurse Educ. Today 102, 104924. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104924

Vaismoradi, M., Tella, S., A Logan, P., Khakurel, J., & Vizcaya-Moreno, F. (2020). Nurses' Adherence to Patient Safety Principles: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(6), 2028. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17062028

Valizadeh, L., Akbarzadeh, B., Ghiyasvandiyan, S., KuchakiNejad, Z., Zamanzadeh, V., Aghajari, P., Jabbarzadeh, F., Crowley, M., (2021). The Effects of Role Play Simulation and Demonstration on Pediatric Peripheral Venous Catheter Insertion Skill among Nursing Students: A Three Group Experimental Study. Nurs. midwifery Stud. 10, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.4103/nms.nms_94_18

Villarroel, V., Bloxham, S., Bruna, D., Bruna, C., & Herrera-Seda, C. (2018). Authentic assessment: creating a blueprint for course design. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, *43*(5), 840-854. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2017.1412396

Villarroel, V., Boud, D., Bloxham, S., Bruna, D., & Bruna, C. (2020). Using principles of authentic assessment to redesign written examinations and tests. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, *57*(1), 38–49. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2018.1564882

von Glasersfeld, E. (1989). Cognition, construction of knowledge, and teaching. *Synthese*, *80*(1), 121-140. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00869951

Vygotsky, L. (1978). Mind in Society: The Development of Higher Psychological Functions, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, USA. Watts, W.E., Rush, K., Wright, M., (2009). Evaluating first-year nursing students' ability to selfassess psychomotor skills using videotape. Nurs. Educ. Perspect. 30, 214–219.

Warne, T., Johansson, U.-B., Papastavrou, E., Tichelaar, E., Tomietto, M., den Bossche, K. V., Moreno, M. F. V., & Saarikoski, M. (2010). An exploration of the clinical learning experience of nursing students in nine European countries. *Nurse Education Today*, *30*(8), 809-815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2010.03.003

Watling, C. J., & Ginsburg, S. (2019). Assessment, feedback and the alchemy of learning. *Med Educ*, *53*(1), 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13645

Weigl, M., & Schneider, A. (2017). Associations of work characteristics, employee strain and selfperceived quality of care in Emergency Departments: A cross-sectional study. *International Emergency Nursing*, *30*, 20–24. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ienj.2016.07.002

Willsher, K.A., (2010). Overcoming mixed messages on alcohol consumption: A teaching strategy. Nurse Educ. Pract. 10, 279–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2010.01.003

Winstone, N., Boud, D., Dawson, P., & Heron, M. (2022). From feedback-as-information to feedback-as-process: a linguistic analysis of the feedback literature. *Assessment and evaluation in higher education*, *47*(2), 213-230. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2021.1902467

Wong, B., Chiu, Y.-L. T., Copsey-Blake, M., & Nikolopoulou, M. (2022). A mapping of graduate attributes: what can we expect from UK university students? *Higher education research & development/Higher education research and development*, *41*(4), 1340-1355. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2021.1882405

Wong, G., Greenhalgh, T., Westhorp, G., Buckingham, J., Pawson, R., (2013). RAMESES publication standards: realist syntheses. BMC Med. 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-11-21

Wong, B.S.H., Shorey, S., (2022). Nursing students' experiences and perception of peer feedback: a qualitative systematic review. Nurse Educ. Today 116, 105469. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2022.105469.

Wright, C., Hogard, E., Ellis, R., Smith, D., Kelly, C., (2008). Effect of PETTLEP imagery training on performance of nursing skills: pilot study. J. Adv. Nurs. 63, 259–265. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04706.x

Wu, X.V., Heng, M.A., Wang, W., (2015). Nursing students' experiences with the use of authentic assessment rubric and case approach in the clinical laboratories. Nurse Educ Today 35, 549–555. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2014.12.009

Yan, Z., Brubacher, S., Boud, D., & Powell, M. (2020). Psychometric properties of the Selfassessment Practice Scale for professional training contexts: evidence from confirmatory factor analysis and Rasch analysis. *International Journal of Training and Development*, *24*(4), 357–373. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ijtd.12201

Yan, Z., & Boud, D. (2022). Conceptualising assessment-as-learning. In *Assessment as Learning* (1st ed., Vol. 1, pp. 11–24). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003052081-2

Yang, M., Carless, D., (2013). "The Feedback Triangle and the Enhancement of Dialogic Feedback Processes." Teaching in Higher Education 18, 285–297.

Yildiz, H., Demiray, A., (2022). Virtual reality in nursing education 3D intravenous catheterization Elearning: A randomized controlled trial. Contemp. nurse a J. Aust. Nurs. Prof. 58, 125–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/10376178.2022.2051573

Yoshida, H., Nishizuka, K., & Arimoto, M. (2023). Examining the process of developing evaluative judgement in Japanese elementary schools-utilising the co-regulation and evaluative judgement model. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 30*(2), 151–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2023.2193332 Zaitoun, R. A., Said, N. B., & de Tantillo, L. (2023). Clinical nurse competence and its effect on patient safety culture: a systematic review. *BMC Nursing*, *22*(1), 173-173. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-023-01305-w

Zarrin, L., Ghafourifard, M., & Sheikhalipour, Z. (2023). Relationship between Nurses Reflection, Self-efficacy and Work Engagement: A Multicenter Study. *Journal of Caring Sciences*, *12*(3), 155– 162. https://doi.org/10.34172/jcs.2023.31920

Zi, Y. (2022). *Student self-assessment as a process for learning*. Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.

Zhang, J., Shields, L., Ma, B., Yin, Y., Wang, J., Zhang, R., & Hui, X. (2022). The clinical learning environment, supervision and future intention to work as a nurse in nursing students: a cross-sectional and descriptive study. *BMC Medical Education*, *22*(1), 1-548. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-022-03609-y

Zhang, Y., Pan, Z., Li, K., & Guo, Y. (2018). Self-Serving Bias in Memories: Selectively Forgetting the Connection Between Negative Information and the Self. *Experimental psychology*, *65*(4), 236-244. https://doi.org/10.1027/1618-3169/a000409

Zhang, Q., & Kou, Q. (2012). The Course Research for the Software Program Based on the Constructivism Teaching Theories. *Physics Procedia*, *25*, 2294-2297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phpro.2012.03.386

Appendices

Appendix 2.1 Detailed Search Strategy

Search updated July 2024

Databases	Search terms					
CINAHL ProQuest Scopus Eric MEDLINE ScienceGate Web of Science	Student* OR nurs* OR midwi* OR "healthcare professional" OR "allied health" OR "health occupations" OR medic* AND "evaluative judgement" OR "evaluative judgment" AND Higher OR tertiary OR university OR postgraduate OR undergraduate					
PCC Framework		Inclusion criteria:				
Population:	Student	All published work that included developing students' evaluative				
Concept:	Evaluative judgement	Judgement as a concept. Exclusion criteria: Non university/higher education settings				
Context:	University/ tertiary education					

Appendix 2.2 Critical Appraisal Tables 1 - 4

Authors	*Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	Q6	Q7	Q8	Q9	Q10
Bearman et al 2022	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y
Cano Garcia et al 2024	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y
Chen et al 2022	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y
Chong 2021	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y
Fischer et al 2024	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y
McIver and Murphy 2023	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y
Nicola-Richmond et al 2024	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y
Tai et al 2016	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y
TOTAL	8	8	8	8	8	0	1	7	8	8

Table 1: Critical appraisal of qualitative studies

* **Q1:** Is there congruity between the stated philosophical perspective and the research methodology? **Q2:** Is there congruity between the research methodology and the research question or objectives? **Q3:** Is there congruity between the research methodology and the methods used to collect data? **Q4:** Is there congruity between the research methodology and the representation and analysis of data? **Q5:** Is there congruity between the research methodology and the interpretation of results? **Q6:** Is there a statement locating the researcher culturally or theoretically? **Q7:** Is the influence of the researcher on the research, and vice-versa, addressed? **Q8:** Are participants, and their voices, adequately represented? **Q9:** Is the research ethical according to current criteria or, for recent studies, and is there evidence of ethical approval by an appropriate body? **Q10:** Do the conclusions drawn in the research report flow from the analysis, or interpretation, of the data? (Lockwood et al 2015)

Reference

Lockwood, C., Munn, Z., Porritt, K. (2105). Qualitative research synthesis: methodological guidance for

systematic reviewers utilizing meta-aggregation. Int J Evid Based Healthc. 13(3):179-187

Table 2: Critical appraisal of quantitative studies

Authors	*Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	Q6	Q7	Q8	Q9
Fitzgerald et al. 2021	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	N/A	Y
Gyamfi et al 2022	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	N/A	Y
Ibarra-Saiz et al 2020	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	N/A	Y
Ramlogan & Raman 2022	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N/A	Y
Tai et al 2016	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	N/A	Y
TOTAL	5	2	5	2	2	5	5	N/A	5

*Q1: Is it clear in the study what is the "cause" and what is the "effect" (i.e. there is no confusion about which variable comes first)? Q2: Was there a control group? Q3: Were participants included in any comparisons similar? Q4: Were the participants included in any comparisons receiving similar treatment/care, other than the exposure or intervention of interest? Q5: Were there multiple measurements of the outcome, both pre and post the intervention/exposure? Q6: Were the outcomes of participants included in any comparisons measured in the same way? Q7: Were outcomes measured in a reliable way? Q8: Was follow-up complete and if not, were differences between groups in terms of their follow-up adequately described and analysed? Q9: Was appropriate statistical analysis used? (Barker et al 2024)

Reference

Authors	*Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	Q6	Q7	Q8	Q9	Q10	Q11
llangakoon et al 2022	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y
Rung & George 2021	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
TOTAL	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2

Table 3: Critical appraisal of systematic reviews

*Q1: Is the review questions clearly and explicitly stated? Q2: Were the inclusion criteria appropriate for the review question? Q3: Was the search strategy appropriate? Q4: Were the sources and resources used to search for studies adequate? Q5: Were the criteria for appraising studies appropriate? Q6: Was critical appraisal conducted by two or more reviewers independently? Q7: Were there methods to minimize errors in data extraction? Q8: Were the methods used to combine studies appropriate? Q9: Was the likelihood of publication bias assessed? Q10: Were recommendations for policy and/or practice supported by the reported data? Q11: Were the specific directives for new research appropriate? (Aromataris et al 2015)

Reference

Aromataris, E., Fernandez, R., Godfrey, C., Holly, C., Kahlil, H., Tungpunkom, P. (2015). Summarizing systematic reviews: methodological development, conduct and reporting of an Umbrella review approach. Int J Evid Based Healthc. 13(3):132-40.

Barker, TH., Habibi, N., Aromataris, E., Stone, JC., Leonardi-Bee, J., Sears, K., et al. (2024). The revised JBI critical appraisal tool for the assessment of risk of bias quasi-experimental studies. JBI Evid Synth. 22(3):378-88.

Table 4: Critical appraisal of expert opinion

Author	*Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	Q6
Bearman et al 2024	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Bertram & Tomas 2023	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Y
Bonvin et al 2022	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Y
Boud et al 2018	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Gladovic 2021	Y	N	Y	Ν	Y	N
Molloy et al 2020	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Naidoo et al 2021	Y	N	Y	Y	N	N
Panadero et al 2019	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Sadler 2010	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Tai et al 2018	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
TOTAL	10	6	10	9	9	8

*Q1: Is the source of the opinion clearly identified? Q2: Does the source of opinion have standing in the field of expertise? Q3: Are the interests of the relevant population the central focus of the opinion? Q4: Does the opinion demonstrate a logically defended argument to support the conclusions drawn? Q5: Is there reference to the extant literature? Q6: Is any incongruence with the literature/sources logically defended? (McArthur et al 2015)

Reference

McArthur, A., Klugarova, J., Yan, H., Florescu, S. (2020). Chapter 4: Systematic reviews of text and opinion. In: Aromataris E, Munn Z (Editors). JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis. JBI,



Office of Graduate Research Room 003, Registry Building Bedford Park, SA 5042 GPO Box 2100, Adelaide 5001 Australia Email: hdrexams@flinders.edu.au Phone: (08) 8201 3854 Website: https://students.flinders.edu.au/my-course/hdr CRICOS Provider: 00114A

CO-AUTHORSHIP APPROVALS FOR HDR THESIS FOR EXAMINATIONS

In accordance with Clause 5, 7 and 8 in the <u>HDR Thesis Rules</u>, a student must sign a declaration that the thesis does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text or footnotes. There can be no exception to this rule.

- a. Publications or significant sections of publications (whether accepted, submitted or in manuscript form) arising out of work conducted during candidature may be included in the body of the thesis, or submitted as additional evidence as an appendix, on the following conditions:
 - they contribute to the overall theme of the work, are conceptually linked to the chapters before and after, and follow a logical sequence
 - II. they are formatted in the same way as the other chapters (i.e. not presented as reprints unless as an appendix), whether included as separate chapters or integrated into chapters
 - III. they are in the same typeface as the rest of the thesis (except for reprints included as an appendix)
 - IV. published and unpublished sections of a chapter are clearly differentiated with appropriate referencing or footnotes, and
 - unnecessary repetition in the general introduction and conclusion, and the introductions and conclusions of each published chapter, is avoided.
- b. Multi-author papers may be included within a thesis, provided:
 - I. the student is the primary author
 - II. there is a clear statement in prose for each publication at the front of each chapter, recording the percentage contribution of each author to the paper, from conceptualisation to realisation and documentation.
 - III. The publication adheres to Flinders Research Publication, Authorship and Peer Review Policy, and
 - IV. each of the other authors provides permission for use of their work to be included in the thesis on the form below.
- c. Papers where the student is not the primary author may be included within a thesis if a clear justification for the paper's inclusion is provided, including the circumstances relating to production of the paper and the student's position in the list of authors. However, it is preferable to include such papers as appendices, rather than in the main body of the thesis.

STUDENT DETAILS

Student Name	Bridget Henderson
Student ID	2082153
College	College of Nursing & Health Sciences
Degree	PhD
Title of Thesis	Developing nursing students' evaluative judgement: exploring the pedagogical concept in nursing education

CO-AUTHORSHIP APPROVALS FOR HDR THESIS EXAMINATION

PUBLICATION 1

This section is to be completed by the student and co-authors. If there are more than four co-authors (student plus 3 others), only the three co-authors with the most significant contributions are required to sign below.

Please note: A copy of this page will be provided to the Examiners.

Full Publication Details	Henderson, B., Aitken, R., Lewis, L. K., & Chipchase, L. (2021). Postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas: A qualitative study. Nurse Education Today, 101, 104881–104881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104881					
Section of thesis where publication is referred to	Chapter 3	pages	48-72			
Student's contribution to the publication	75 85 75	% %	Research design Data collection and analysis Writing and editing			

Outline your (the student's) contribution to the publication:

Bridget Henderson contributed to the conceptualisation of the research questions and research design with input from the supervisory team. Bridget Henderson conducted the data collection and analysis. The supervisory team provided input into the analysis. Bridget Henderson completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript.

APPROVALS

By signing the section below, you confirm that the details above are an accurate record of the students contribution to the work.

Name of Co-Author 1	Lucy Lewis	Signed	Johns	Date	18/09/2024
Name of Co-Author 2	Lucy Chipchase	Signed	Unida Bip	Date	20/09/2024
Name of Co-Author 3	Robyn Aitken	Signed	200	Date	26/09/2024

Appendix 4.2 Journal Permission

From: Permissions Helpdesk <u>permissionshelpdesk@elsevier.com</u>
Sent: Thursday, November 2, 2023 12:17 AM
To: Bridget Henderson <u>bridget.henderson@flinders.edu.au</u>
Subject: Re: Using published articles in my thesis [231101-008116]

Dear Bridget Henderson

Thank you for your e-mail.

As the author of the article from the journal 'Nurse Education Today' you are allowed to use it as a whole or in parts in your thesis and no formal permission is required.

Suitable acknowledgment to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"This article was published in Publication title, Vol number, Author(s), Title of article, Page Nos, Copyright Elsevier (or appropriate Society name) (Year)."

Please go ahead and use it with proper credits. Let me know if you have any further questions.

Kind regards,

Roopa Lingayath

Senior Copyrights Specialist

ELSEVIER | HCM - Health Content Management

Visit Elsevier Permissions

Appendix 4.3

Nurse Education Today 101 (2021) 104881



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Nurse Education Today



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/nedt

Postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas: A qualitative study



Bridget Henderson^{a,*}, Robyn Aitken^{b,1}, Lucy K. Lewis^{a,2}, Lucy Chipchase^{a,2}

^a Caring Futures Institute, College of Nursing and Health Sciences, Flinders University, Australia
 ^b College of Medicine and Public Health, Flinders University, Australia

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T
Keywords: Consensus marking Online oral viva Self-evaluation Nursing Assessment	Background:Authentic assessment design that fosters self-reflection and evaluation seeks to develop evaluative judgement; a capability required of registered nurses. A new method of grading, known as consensus marking, was introduced to an online oral viva that required post-graduate nursing students to evaluate and reflect on their performance and grade their level of competence in collaboration with the assessor. This study aimed to explore postgraduate nursing students' perceptions about their experience of online oral viva examination and the use of consensus marking.Design:A qualitative study using retrospective student interviews. Methods: A retrospective, thematic analysis of open-ended questions from students who had participated in an online viva using consensus marking that was recorded for assessment and quality improvement. Results: Postgraduate emergency nursing students perceived that the online viva while creating some anxiety was relatable to their workplace and overall, they preferred this assessment method to others. Students perceived that consensus marking enabled self-evaluation and reflection provided an opportunity for beneficial critical reflec- tive discussions, and facilitated a positive shift in the power dynamics between the student and assessor. Conclusions: The online oral vivas provided an authentic assessment method that, despite causing anxiety, was preferred to written assessment. The students perceived that consensus marking provided an opportunity to reflect and engage in bidirectional feedback dialogue with the assessor in a collegial discussion. Further research is required to evaluate the use of consensus marking in other assessment designs.

1. Introduction

Nurses once qualified and inducted into their profession, are expected to be reflective practitioners capable of making judgements of their performance to maintain and develop clinical skills and knowledge (Chaffey et al., 2012; Delany et al., 2013; McLeod et al., 2020; NMBA, 2016; Taylor, 2006). The capability to make decisions about the quality of the work of oneself and others is known as evaluative judgement (Boud and Soler, 2016). Evaluative judgement is one goal of higher education that develops students and clinicians ability to appraise their work and identify future learning needs (Tai et al., 2018). Providing learning and teaching opportunities that develop post-graduate nursing

students' ability to be reflexive practitioners is fundamental to clinical practice and lifelong learning.

2. Background

2.1. Online oral viva

Assessment design is critical to enable students to develop evaluative judgement and other fundamental capabilities, such as self-reflection (Tai et al., 2018). In undergraduate and postgraduate nursing education, authentic assessment tasks provide an opportunity for students to apply academic knowledge to the context of their future or current

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104881

Received 18 January 2021; Received in revised form 11 March 2021; Accepted 16 March 2021 Available online 26 March 2021 0260-6917/© 2021 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

^{*} Corresponding author at: College of Nursing & Helath Sciences, Flinders University, Sturt Road, Bedfored Park, South Australia 5042, GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, SA 5001, Australia.

E-mail addresses: bridget.henderson@flinders.edu.au (B. Henderson), robyn.aitken@flinders.edu.au (R. Aitken), lucy.lewis@flinders.edu.au (L.K. Lewis), lucy. chipchase@flinders.edu.au (L. Chipchase).

¹ Address: College of Medicine and Public Health, Health Sciences Building, Bedford Park SA 5042, GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, SA 5001, Australia.

² Address: College of Nursing & Health Sciences, Flinders University, Sturt Road, Bedford Park South Australia 5042, GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, SA 5001, Australia.

workplace (Chong et al., 2016; Raymond et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2015). The oral viva is believed to be an authentic assessment of deep learning, applying and synthesizing knowledge and high-level clinical reasoning alongside facilitating engagement in academic, professional discourse to explore and challenge the depth and breadth of students' knowledge (Hungerford et al., 2015; Kleiven et al., 2016; Pearce and Lee, 2009; Shenwai and Patil, 2013; Sutherland et al., 2019).

Using the oral viva as an authentic assessment method in an online forum is under-researched and the benefits and limitations in the online environment are still evolving. Only three studies have explored the use of oral vivas in fully online courses (Akimov and Malin, 2020; Okada et al., 2019; Sotiriadou et al., 2020). These studies demonstrated that online oral vivas improved communication skills and safeguarded against academic integrity breaches (Akimov and Malin, 2020; Okada et al., 2019; Sotiriadou et al., 2020). Also, students enjoyed engaging in this type of assessment as they perceived it provided an opportunity to showcase their knowledge and, while the assessment was reported to create some anxiety, students believed it was an appropriate assessment method (Akimov and Malin, 2020). While these studies speak to the value of oral online vivas, less attention has been paid to the way that these assessments are graded, particularly as a potential means to develop capabilities, such as self-reflection and evaluation.

Commonly, in assessment grading, students are the passive recipients of feedback with grades being bestowed on them by an 'expert judge' (Molloy and Denniston, 2019; Sadler, 2010). For example, Delany and Molloy (2009) reported that, even in clinical education, learner contribution in feedback conversations was less than 5% with scarce opportunities for learners to express their own perspectives on performance. Academic or external judgement of student performance appears to permeate most assessment methods, including authentic assessment (McGaghie et al., 2020; Oermann, 2014). In nursing, it could be argued that the prevalence of summative assessment and traditional assessor judgement of performance stifles the development of students' critical thinking and self-evaluation skills (Siles-González and Solano-Ruiz, 2016). Indeed, underdeveloped methods of providing self-evaluation opportunities in higher education have resulted in studies that report self-evaluation by students to be inaccurate and ineffective (Baxter and Norman, 2011; Davis et al., 2006; Gadbury-Amyot et al., 2015; Jackson, 2014). Maintaining the status quo whereby experts pass judgement on health professional students, and continuing to reinforce student dependency on receiving feedback, creates disparity with the working world where graduates are expected to make evaluative judgements on their own work and identify knowledge deficits (Boud et al., 2018).

One potential method to promote student independence is selfassessment. Self-assessment involves students appraising their own work but generally has not included discussion on the quality of the students' ability to self-reflect (Tai et al., 2018). A richer method, known as consensus marking, was created to build on self-assessment and requires that the student self-evaluate their performance with both the assessor and student engaging in a reflective conversation about competent performance (Thompson et al., 2017).

2.2. Consensus marking

Consensus marking requires students to reflect and evaluate their performance against the outlined criteria. Before the assessor passes judgement on the student's capability, both parties engage in a critical reflective discussion where consensus is reached about the student's perception of their competency. Competency is a term used to encompass the qualities of expertise, aptitude, and proficiency. Consensus marking is believed to promote reflexive practice, to build self-reliant practitioners who can identify their learning needs while also giving students a voice during the grading process (Thompson et al., 2015).

To date, only one published study has evaluated consensus marking. The study explored perceptions about consensus marking from a cohort of undergraduate paramedicine students during face-to-face oral viva assessments (Thompson et al., 2017). Students (n = 90) in this study perceived consensus marking to be fair, effective for learning, while also facilitating critical analysis of their own practice (Thompson et al., 2017). To date, the use of consensus marking has not been examined in other health professions including nursing, in an online medium, or a postgraduate cohort of students.

3. Methods

3.1. Aims

This study aimed to explore postgraduate nursing students' perceptions about their experience of online oral viva examinations and the use of consensus marking.

3.2. Design

This qualitative study used pre-existing data collected for quality assurance and improvement from a postgraduate emergency nursing unit of study at one university. At the end of the oral viva after the students had completed the consensus marking and had been allocated their final grade, all students were asked two open-ended questions:

- 1. What did you think about the oral viva as an assessment method and how does it relate to your learning goals?
- 2. What do you think about the consensus marking as a method of grading the oral viva?

3.3. Participants

Video recordings were collected as part of a routine university assessment for this cohort. As part of the examination process, the assessment and the responses to the two open-ended questions were audio-recorded and stored in an online learning management system. Permission was sought from the students retrospectively to use the stored data so that the recordings were able to be analysed. All students were contacted with 13 of the 50 students (26%) enrolled in the unit of study providing consent (M:F 2:11).

3.4. Online viva and consensus marking approach

The online oral viva was a summative assessment item at the end of a capstone emergency nursing unit of study. The viva was worth 35% of the final grade. Each student was randomly allocated one of three scenarios (Fig. 1). The oral viva was delivered through an online video conferencing system (Blackboard Collaborate©) and recorded for moderation purposes. The oral viva exam required students to demonstrate a deep understanding of pathophysiology, pharmacology, clinical and diagnostic reasoning as the patient condition in the scenario deteriorated. The oral viva exam took approximately 45-min and consensus marking, took approximately 15 min after the viva exam.

The marking rubric (Fig. 2) was split into two parts, each contributing 50% of the final grade. Part A of the rubric was a traditional tutor judgement of the student's overall performance against the described criteria. Part B involved the students engaging in self-evaluation and a critical feedback discussion with the assessor to calibrate their understanding of their level of competence and their achievement of the desired standards outlined in the criteria. Both parties engaged in a critical reflective conversation and bidirectional feedback about each of the identified criteria in part B. During this discussion, a student may identify errors or lack of knowledge and had an opportunity to rectify errors at this time.

The student evaluated their performance against the criteria in part B before the assessor provided any judgement or grade to the student.

Scenario 1 **BURN INJURY** A 60-year-old woman was

involved in a house fire. She woke to a smoke-filled room; she took 5 minutes to exit the burning building. The next-door neighbour used the garden hose to apply cold water to her as a first aid measure. This method of cooling continued until the ambulance arrived some 15 minutes later. She had significant burns to her body.

Scenario 2

TRAPPED AND TRAMPLED

A 44-year-old woman is rescued by paramedics following an incident on a remote farm. She was trapped against railings in a cattle crush, fell to the floor and was trampled by several cattle. She lost consciousness for approximately 2 minutes.

Scenario 3

MVA DRUNK DRIVING

A 24-year-old male driver was involved in a head on collision in his car with a large gum tree at 2am. He appeared to be intoxicated at the scene and the police were in attendance. He was trapped in the car and it took 20 minutes to extract him from the vehicle. He cannot recall the events leading up to the accident and he was conscious when the ambulance crew attended.

Fig. 1. Case based scenarios used for the online oral viva.

3.5. Data collection

Consenting students' recordings were extracted and transcribed verbatim. A thematic analysis of the transcribed data was conducted to explore meaning from the student experience. Data analysis involved initial coding to identify patterns and concepts from the data. Focused coding then occurred to identify themes. Coding and identifying themes were completed using both a manual coding method and NVivo© computer software. To achieve rigor and validity during the analysis process, peer debriefing was conducted by the research team that included nursing and non-nursing professionals. In addition, the primary researcher maintained field notes and a reflective journal to highlight any personal biases or potential issues that might have influenced the data analysis. Regular reflexive discussions also occurred with the research team during the data collection and analysis phase to ensure the trustworthiness of the resulting patterns, concepts, and themes (Morse, 2015).

3.6. Data analysis

Thematic analysis using a six-stage approach as described by Braun and Clarke (2006) provided an iterative and flexible framework to facilitate comprehensive scrutiny of the data. A reflexive approach to analysing the data generated initial codes. As cohesive, meaningful patterns were identified these were inductively conceptualised into themes (Braun and Clarke, 2006). Rather than applying an a priori theory, the researchers used comparison as an iterative cyclical process to revise the codes, and by connecting relationships within and between the codes, themes were identified (Bowen, 2008; Morse et al., 2002). Dependability was achieved by having two members of the research team independently review the transcribed data to validate the codes and themes (Creswell, 2018).

3.7. Ethical considerations

Ethical approval was provided by the University Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee (SBREC) (approval no. 8554). Written informed consent was gained from all participants.

4. Results

4.1. Student perceptions of an online oral viva exam

The transcribed data, on the students' perceptions of the oral viva and its relationship to their learning goals, was initially categorised into 5 codes. 1) Looking for tutor judgement, 2) negative thoughts, 3) positive thoughts, 4) relates to the real world and 5) ways of learning. Three themes emerged from the codes:

4.1.1. Anxiety

Eight of the 13 participants (62%) expressed anxiety at the concept of engaging in an oral viva exam. This is demonstrated by the following quote:

"My initial thoughts on the oral viva when I found out it was going to be an oral viva was not looking forward to it. It is so in your face so on the spot... I started off, well a bit worried about it".

(P15)

4.1.2. Relates to real work-life experiences

Six of the 13 participants (46%) expressed how the oral viva exam reflects what they do in the clinical setting. The following quotes highlight that their experiences were reflective of the clinical setting:

"It is a good way to sit there and talk to yourself and for you to ask questions occasionally we are used to that at work as well. The fact that the course that we are doing is emergency nursing and its all resuscitation based you should have a systematic approach to go through this is a good way to basically make sure that we have that understanding".

(P 39)

"I think it is good it puts everything together you can practice putting it into the clinical space".

(P 5)

"It helps you hone those skills that we have learnt throughout this course... and apply them in that situation...this is more truer to how it will be ultimately, thinking on your feet".

4.1.3. Preferred assessment method

Eleven of the 13 participants (85%) expressed a preference for the oral viva as an assessment method rather than a written assignment.

"I love simulations, I love being able to defend my knowledge... I could focus on learning when I was studying instead of referencing. Written assignments are getting a little bit old so this is really refreshing as a different way of assessment".

(P 41)

Student's Name Student ID		
PART A TUTOR JUDGE	MENT	
Grade		
5 Safe, competent, practice demonstrated		
4 Minor improvements needed		
3 Multiple areas for improvement		/5
2 Unsatisfactory performance – limited understanding		
1 Lack of knowledge demonstrated could lead to patient ha	rm	
0 Critical errors that would result in patient harm		
PART B CONSENSUS MARKIN	G	
	Student	Teacher
PRIMARY SURVEY &	Not Competent	Not Competent
EARLY INTERVENTION		
	Consensus on competent	/ 1
	Student	Teacher
ABILITY TO INTERPRET DIAGNOSTICS	Competent	Competent
	Consensus on competent	/ 1
	Student	Teacher
CLINICAL JUDGEMENT &		Competent
MANAGEMENT OF THE SCENARIO	Competent	Competent
	Consensus on competent	/ 1
	Student	Teacher
SECONDARY SURVEY &		Octometer:
APPROPRIATE INTERVENTIONS	Competent	Competent
	Consensus on competent	/ 1
	Student	Teacher
POST RESUSCITATION CARE	Competent	Competent
	Consensus on competent	/ 1
Consensus Score	/5	
TOTAL SCORE		/10

Fig. 2. Oral viva consensus marking rubric.

"Thinking out loud...allowed me...to be able to get all my points across... the oral viva allows consolidation of knowledge".

(P 43)

"I have been working in ED for a long time and I feel like I do know my stuff and that I do better in this kind of situation where I can talk through stuff as opposed to academic expression".

4.2. Student perceptions of consensus marking as a grading method

The transcribed data on students' perception about consensus marking was initially categorised into eight codes, 1) a positive experience, 2) fair method. 3) having a voice. 4) identifying weaknesses, 5) instant feedback, 6) looking for tutor judgement, 7) perceived inability to self-evaluate, 8) ability to self-evaluate and reflect on practice. Three themes emerged from the codes:

4.2.1. Enabling reflection and self-evaluation

Ten of the 13 participants (77%) mentioned that they liked how they were given the opportunity to reflect on what they had done, evaluate their performance and identify errors and correct them without penalty.

"It forces a reflection on how you have done. I have not really done a reflection like that with any other assignment, quite in depth".

(P 41)

"I like the opportunity to reflect on what we have done.... It is not always something we do. When we are reflecting on how we personally feel we have gone in a situation that is where we do identify our weaknesses".

(P 15)

(P 41)

(P 15)

4.2.2. Beneficial critical reflective conversations

Eight of the 13 participants (62%) expressed that engaging in conversation with the assessor and reflecting on performance created an opportunity to gain valuable feedback and assisted them to identify where they demonstrated knowledge and skill and where they could improve.

"My weaknesses were probably a little better established to me and having someone agree with me when I say those weaknesses is actually really refreshing because often they get downplayed or ... not acknowledged when you express them to a colleague".

"I like the instant feedback...your post learning you sort of know straight away where some of your weaknesses are... where some of your strengths are just reinforces the things that we already do feel confident in. It is good to hear that feedback. We have more guidance on where we need to put more focus and education".

Seven of the 13 participants (54%) expressed a feeling that the critical reflective conversation with the assessor was on equal terms. They could discuss how they felt they performed and could work out where their knowledge deficits were through collegial dialogue with the assessor.

"It is good because I can hear where you are coming from and you can hear where I am coming from so... it gives a chance to sort of hash out, sort of say, ok yeah I see that.... It gives you a chance to voice your opinion"

(P 2)

"Sometimes you get a result that you think, well I did that properly, but someone else has the opinion that no they don't, so that this way you and I can actually talk about it, so I can tell you what I think I did well and you can tell me what you think I did well or if I needed extra learning in something you could tell me".

(P 39)

5. Discussion

This qualitative study explored postgraduate emergency nursing students' perceptions of an online oral viva assessment, and the use of consensus marking. Students perceived that while the online viva created some anxiety, the assessment was congruent with learning in the workplace. Further, students perceived that consensus marking enabled self-evaluation and reflection, allowing beneficial critical reflective discussions while creating a positive dynamic between the student and assessor. Thus, this form of self-assessment, in conjunction with critical feedback from the assessor, appeared to enable the development of evaluative judgement, a necessary goal of higher education, that enables students to improve their work and to meet their future learning needs (Tai et al., 2018).

Students enjoyed the dynamic and challenging nature of the casebased oral viva and preferred this assessment method to written assessment despite the anxiety created. This finding is consistent with the literature with student reported anxiety being strongly associated with oral viva assessments (Carter, 2012; Furnham et al., 2008; Huxham et al., 2012; Kleiven et al., 2016; Pearce and Lee, 2009). The stress response to oral examinations has the potential to interfere with working memory and ability to recall information (Ringeisen et al., 2019). However, anxiety levels are driven in part by the unknown. For example, students entered into the assessment process with uncertainty around the nature of the questions and despite preparing based on the key assessment information provided, there may have been doubts around their own preparedness, fear of failure and ability to perform (Hungerford et al., 2015; Joseph et al., 2019). While anxiety may affect performance, studies also suggest that learners understand that being taken out of their comfort zone is valuable for learning, even when this is perceived as unpleasant at the time (Leahy et al., 2020). Indeed, it could be argued that in postgraduate emergency department nursing, an ability to work under pressure, and manage anxiety, is critical to responsive decision making and providing appropriate interventions when patient outcomes are time-critical (Groombridge et al., 2019).

Creating authentic assessment is dependent upon the assessment being relevant to students' workplace experiences and that students understand the value of learning the curricular content and assessable learning outcomes (Benner, 2012; Bosco and Ferns, 2014; Villarroel et al., 2018). The online oral viva exam attempted to replicate trauma scenarios common to emergency departments that students are expected to manage. The online oral viva assessment method provided a forum for students to focus their learning and showcase their knowledge. In this study, students enjoyed defending their knowledge and experiences, while engaging in professional discourse that allowed them to focus on learning clinically relevant skills rather than focusing on academic writing. These findings support the concept that authentic assessment should be realistic, challenge higher order thinking and facilitate opportunities for students to judge their own performance (Raymond et al., 2013; Tai et al., 2018; Villarroel et al., 2018).

The oral viva exam, while providing realism and cognitive challenge, generally does not provide students with the opportunity to judge their own performance when combined with traditional assessor judgement. However, students perceived that consensus marking enabled reflection and self-evaluation with beneficial critical reflective conversations with their assessor. The two-way feedback dialogue enhanced students' learning experiences as they were actively engaged in the reflective feedback discussion. This finding is consistent with literature describing that bidirectional feedback dialogue creates an environment where students engage in the feedback process that supports them in calibrating their performance against the desired criteria (Boud and Molloy, 2013; Gamlem and Smith, 2013; Hattie and Timperley, 2007; Sadler, 2010; Tan et al., 2019; Yang and Carless, 2013). Moreover, the critical reflective conversations with the assessor may have enabled reflection beyond-action by facilitating students to make sense of, and learn from, the experience (Edwards, 2017). In this study, nursing students were
able to identify where they lacked knowledge and where they could improve through a collegial discussion with the assessor.

The nursing students noted that they had input into the feedback dialogue and engaged in a democratic collegial discussion that supported them to identify their future learning needs; suggesting a positive dynamic between student and assessor. This dynamic could be argued to result in a more level playing field whereby the students were free to debate, request more feedback and rationalise any discrepancy in their perception on performance. Such an opportunity is a move away from the traditional authoritarian role of assessor grading and unilateral feedback that forces students to be passive recipients of judgement on their performance and maybe more reflective of learning in the workplace.

This is the first study to explore student perceptions of an online viva with consensus marking in postgraduate nursing education with several methodological strengths. Firstly, the participant recruitment and qualitative analyses were completed retrospectively on pre-existing data eliminating possible bias in student responses to the open-ended questions. Secondly, the qualitative analyses were completed by two members of the research team, with cross-checking of themes and results with the rest of the team, ensuring rigor in the process and findings. Finally, the same assessor was used for all online viva and consensus marking assessments, allowing for consistency between participants and methods of data collection.

5.1. Limitations

The study also has limitations. First, the sample size was small, and the questions asked were simple and open-ended. However, the codes that emerged generated an understanding of the students' perceptions and the themes illuminated clear meaning from the data collected. Second, the findings provided a perspective from one cohort of postgraduate students at one tertiary institution and may not be generalisable to other health professional students or institutions. Finally, this study sought student perspectives that may contain unqualified assumptions about assessment and grading methods.

5.2. Implications

The findings suggest that postgraduate nursing students support the online oral viva as an authentic assessment method despite the anxiety created. The students enjoyed the critical reflective conversation and instant feedback that consensus marking provided, and that their thoughts and opinions about their performance were discussed without fear of penalty. Based on these findings, educators might consider relinquishing the traditional assessor judgement in favour of a more democratic approach to summative grading. However, more empirical evidence is needed to compare consensus marking to traditional tutor judgement. Further work is needed to explore if there are differences created by the grading method in the relationship between student and assessor and if that relationship impacts anxiety levels when performing an oral viva. While this study focused on the emerging educational philosophy of evaluative judgement, further research could explore whether different learning styles impact students' perception of consensus marking, their level of satisfaction with self-evaluation, and if any benefits are carried over into the workplace on graduation. In addition, further studies could explore other assessors/lecturers perceptions of consensus marking and its use in other disciplines would add to the discourse of consensus marking as a grading method.

6. Conclusion

A desired outcome of nursing postgraduate assessment is to provide students with the skills and knowledge required for their future professional career. A skill set that is highly regarded is the ability to selfregulate learning and critically reflect on clinical practice. A casebased online oral viva provided an authentic assessment method that created a synchronous interaction with online students simulating realistic emergency presentations. Authentic assessment benefits from a grading method that supports the concept of developing evaluative judgement through self-assessment. Consensus marking nurtured students' ability to reflect and engage in critical dialogue with the assessor and appeared to support the development of self-reflection and evaluation. Using consensus marking to grade online oral vivas promotes engagement in professional discourse, where students reflect on performance, self-evaluate and identify their strengths and weaknesses to inform future learning needs. This study suggests that the online oral viva using consensus marking is an assessment and grading method that provides an opportunity for students to develop their evaluative judgement.

Funding

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have influenced the work reported in this paper.

References

- Akimov, A., Malin, M., 2020. When old becomes new: a case study of oral examination as an online assessment tool. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 45, 1205–1221. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02602938.2020.1730301.
- Baxter, P., Norman, G., 2011. Self-assessment or self deception? A lack of association between nursing students' self-assessment and performance. J. Adv. Nurs. 67, 2406–2413. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05658.x.
- Benner, P., 2012. Educating nurses: a call for radical transformation-how far have we come? J. Nurs. Educ. 51, 183–184. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20120402-01.
- Bosco, A.M., Ferns, S., 2014. Embedding of authentic assessment in work-integrated learning curriculum. Asia Pacific J. Coop. Educ. 15, 281–290.
- Boud, D., Molloy, D., 2013. Rethinking models of feedback for learning: the challenge of design. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 38, 698–712.
- Boud, D., Soler, R., 2016. Sustainable assessment revisited. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 41, 400–413. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1018133.
- Boud, D., Ajjawi, R., Dawson, P., Tai, J., 2018. Developing Evaluative Judgement in Higher Education: Assessment for Knowing and Producing Quality Work, 1st ed. Routledge, Milton. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315109251.
- Bowen, G.A., 2008. Naturalistic inquiry and the saturation concept: a research note. Oual. Res. 8, 137–152. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301.
- Braun, V., Clarke, V., 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual. Res. Psychol. 3, 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa.
- Carter, S., 2012. English as an additional language (EAL) "viva voce": the EAL doctoral oral examination experience. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 37, 273–284. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02602938.2010.528555.
- Chaffey, L., de Leeuw, E.J., Finnigan, G., 2012. Facilitating students' reflective practice in a medical course: literature review. Educ. Heal. 25, 198–203. https://doi.org/ 10.4103/1357-6283.109787.
- Chong, E.J.M., Lim, J.S.W., Liu, Y., Lau, Y.Y.L., Wu, V.X., 2016. Improvement of learning domains of nursing students with the use of authentic assessment pedagogy in clinical practice. Nurse Educ. Pract. 20, 125–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nepr.2016.08.002.
- Creswell, J.W., 2018. Qualitative inquiry & research design: choosing among five approaches. In: Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among 5 Approaches, fourth ed. SAGE, Los Angeles.
- Davis, D.A., Mazmanian, P.E., Fordis, M., Van Harrison, R., Thorpe, K.E., Perrier, L., 2006. Accuracy of physician self-assessment compared with observed measures of competence: a systematic review. JAMA 296, 1094–1102. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.296.9.1094.
- Delany, C., Molloy, E., 2009. Clinical Education in the Health Professions. In: Sydney. Churchill Livingstone Elsevier, Sydney, N.S.W, N.S.W.
- Delany, C., Golding, C., Bialocerkowski, A., 2013. Teaching for thinking in clinical education: making explicit the thinking involved in allied health clinical reasoning. Focus Heal. Prof. Educ. 14, 44–56.
- Edwards, S., 2017. Reflecting differently. New dimensions: reflection-before-action and reflection-beyond-action. Int. Pract. Dev. J. 7, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.19043/ ipdj.71.002.

B. Henderson et al.

Furnham, A., Christopher, A., Garwood, J., Martin, N.G., 2008. Ability, demography, learning style, and personality trait correlates of student preference for assessment method. Educ. Psychol. 28, 15–27.

Gadbury-Amyot, C.C., Woldt, J.L., Siruta-Austin, K.J., 2015. Self-assessment: a review of the literature and pedagogical strategies for its promotion in dental education. J. Dent. Hyg, 89, 357–364.

Gamlem, S.M., Smith, K., 2013. Student perceptions of classroom feedback. Assess. Educ. Princ. Policy Pract. 20, 150–169. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2012.749212.

Groombridge, C.J., Kim, Y., Maini, A., Smit, D.V., Fitzgerald, M.C., 2019. Stress and decision-making in resuscitation: a systematic review. Resuscitation 144, 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.09.023.

Hattie, J., Timperley, H., 2007. The power of feedback. Rev. Educ. Res. 77, 81–112. https://doi.org/10.3102/003465430298487.

Hungerford, C., Walter, G., Cleary, M., 2015. Clinical case reports and the viva voce: a valuable assessment tool, but not without anxiety. Clin. Case Rep. 3, 1–2. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ccr3.225.

Huxham, M., Campbell, F., Westwood, J., 2012. Oral versus written assessments: a test of student performance and attitudes. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 37, 125–136. https:// doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2010.515012.

Jackson, D., 2014. Self-assessment of employability skill outcomes among

undergraduates and alignment with academic ratings. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 39, 53–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2013.792107.

Joseph, B., Javali, M., Al-Sahman, L., 2019. Major Factors Causing Examination Anxiety in Undergraduate Dental Students-A Questionnaire Based Cross-sectional Study.

Kleiven, H., Tegani, N., Sullivan, L., 2016. What is the viva experience of phase 2 radiation oncology examination candidate? Survey and advice for future candidates. J. Med. Imaging Radiat. Oncol. 428–432.

Leahy, E., Chipchase, L., Calo, M., Blackstock, F.C., 2020. Which learning activities enhance physical therapist practice? Part 2: systematic review of qualitative studies and thematic synthesis. Phys. Ther. 100, 1484–1501. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/ pzaa108.

McCaghie, W.C., Adler, M., Salzman, D.H., 2020. In: McGaghie, W.C., Barsuk, J.H., Wayne, D.B. (Eds.), Instructional Design and Delivery for Mastery Learning BT -Comprehensive Healthcare Simulation: Mastery Learning in Health Professions Education. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 71–88. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-030-34811-3 4.

McLeod, G.A., Vaughan, B., Carey, I., Shannon, T., Winn, E., 2020. Pre-professional reflective practice: strategies, perspectives and experiences. Int. J. Osteopath. Med. 35, 50–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijosm.2019.11.005.

Molloy, E., Denniston, C., 2019. The Role of Verbal Feedback in Surgical Education. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3128-2_19.

Morse, J.M., 2015. Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. Qual. Health Res. 25, 1212–1222. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1049732315588501.

Morse, J.M., Barrett, M., Mayan, M., Olson, K., Spiers, J., 2002. Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research. Int. J. Qual. Methods 1, 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690200100202.

NMBA, 2016. Nursing and Midwifery Board Australia. URL, Regist. Nurse Stand. Pr. https ://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Statements/Professi onal-standards/registered-nurse-standards-for-practice.aspx. (Accessed 12 December 2020) (WWW Document).

Oermann, M.H., 2014. Evaluation and Testing in Nursing Education, 4th ed. Springer Publishing Company, New York. Okada, A., Whitelock, D., Holmes, W., Edwards, C., 2019. e-Authentication for online assessment: a mixed-method study. Br. J. Educ. Technol. 50, 861–875. https://doi. org/10.1111/bjet.12608.

Pearce, G., Lee, G., 2009. Viva voce (oral examination) as an assessment method: insights from marketing students. J. Mark. Educ. 31, 120–130. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0273475309334050.

Raymond, J.E., Homer, C.S.E., Smith, R., Gray, J.E., 2013. Learning through authentic assessment: an evaluation of a new development in the undergraduate midwifery curriculum. Nurse Educ. Pract. 13, 471–476.

Ringeisen, T., Lichtenfeld, S., Becker, S., Minkley, N., 2019. Stress experience and performance during an oral exam: the role of self-efficacy, threat appraisals, anxiety, and cortisol. Anxiety Stress Coping 32, 50–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10615806.2018.1528528.

Sadler, D.R., 2010. Beyond feedback: developing student capability in complex appraisal. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 35, 535–550. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02602930903541015.

Shenwai, M., Patil, K., 2013. Introduction of structured oral examination as a novel assessment tool to first year medical students in physiology. J. Clin. Diagn. Res. 7, 2544–2547. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2013/7350.3606.

Siles-González, J., Solano-Ruiz, C., 2016. Self-assessment, reflection on practice and critical thinking in nursing students. Nurse Educ. Today 45, 132–137. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.07.005.

Sotiriadou, P., Logan, D., Daly, A., Guest, R., 2020. The role of authentic assessment to preserve academic integrity and promote skill development and employability. Stud. High. Educ. 45, 2132–2148. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2019.1582015.

Sutherland, R.M., Reid, K.J., Chiavaroli, N.G., Smallwood, D., McColl, G.J., 2019. Assessing diagnostic reasoning using a standardized case-based discussion. J. Med. Educ. Curric. Dev. 6, 2382120519849411 https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2382120519849411

Tai, J., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Dawson, P., Panadero, E., 2018. Developing evaluative judgement: enabling students to make decisions about the quality of work. High. Educ. 76, 467–481. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0220-3.

Tan, F.D.H., Tan, F.D.H., Whipp, P.R., Whipp, P.R., Gagné, M., Gagné, M., Van Quaquebeke, N., Van Quaquebeke, N., 2019. Students' perception of teachers' twoway feedback interactions that impact learning. Soc. Psychol. Educ. 22, 169–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-018-9473-7.

Taylor, B., 2006. Reflective Practice: A Guide for Nurses and Midwives. McGraw-Hill Education, Berkshire, Berkshire.

Thompson, J., Grantham, H., Houston, D., 2015. Paramedic capstone education model: building work ready graduates. Australas. J. Paramed. 12 https://doi.org/10.33151/ ajp.12.3.15.

Thompson, J., Houston, D., Dansie, K., Rayner, T., Pointon, T., Pope, S., Cayetano, A., Mitchell, B., Grantham, H., 2017. Student & tutor consensus: a partnership in assessment for learning. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 42, 942–952. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02602938.2016.1211988.

Villarroel, V., Bloxham, S., Bruna, D., Bruna, C., Herrera-Seda, C., 2018. Authentic assessment: creating a blueprint for course design. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 43, 840–854.

Wu, X.V., Heng, M.A., Wang, W., 2015. Nursing students' experiences with the use of authentic assessment rubric and case approach in the clinical laboratories. Nurse Educ. Today 35, 549–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2014.12.009.

Yang, M., Carless, D., 2013. The feedback triangle and the enhancement of dialogic feedback processes. Teach. High. Educ. 18, 285–297. Appendix 4.4 Mapping categories and initial codes to the final themes and examples of theme development

Categories and i	nitial codes f	to the final t	themes - C	Online oral	viva
outogonioo una i					

Examples of categories:	Initial themes	Final themes	
Perceptions of the online viva exam	independently coded		
Its terrifying / on the spot			
Nervous/ nerve wrecking	Looking for tutor		
Worried	judgement	Δρχίοτι	
Really hard	.	AllAlety	
Don't know what to expect	Negative thoughts		
What does the tutor want from me			
Defend your knowledge			
Its what we do in real life		Relates to real work-	
It relates to what we do in ED	Relates to the real	life experiences	
Hones the skills and you can apply them	world		
I know my stuff I like this method better than academic stuff			
I love defending my knowledge	Wavs of learning		
Written assignment are getting a little old this is refreshing	, ,		
A nice way to be assessed			
I can consolidate my learning	Positive thoughts	Preferred assessment method	
I have to think better than tedious writing			
I have learned the most and have been challenged			
Forces you to critically think you don't have all the information it's the best way of learning			
It puts everything I learned together			

Categories and initial codes to the final themes - Consensus marking

Examples of categories:	Initial themes	Final themes	
Perceptions of consensus marking as a grading method	independently coded		
Makes you think			
Helps you identify mistakes	Ability to self-evaluate and reflect on practice		
Forces reflection			
Reflecting is important	Identifying weaknesses	Enabling reflection and	
Forces me to look back see what I did wrong		self-evaluation	
Helps me identify weaknesses and strengths			
Great to have feedback straight away			
You can talk about your performance with the tutor	Instant feedback		
Post learning		Beneficial critical	
Instant feedback	Looking for tutor	reflective conversations	
More guidance from the tutor	judgement		
Learning through communication			
Working through with the tutor			
You can have input			
It is nice to talk it through	Perceived inability to self-		
Extra learning about what I did well and where I could improve	evaluate		
A chance to voice an opinion	Fair method	Positive dynamic	
Working out where you stand			
Immediate assistance to know if you	Positive experience		
are right or wrong sort of hash it out	Having a voice		
Sometimes the result is not what you think but you can talk about it			

Example of theme development

Final theme	Definitions	Descriptions	Example
Preferred assessment method	Positive expressions about the oral viva exam experience	Mention of concepts relating to the oral viva. Mention of concepts suggesting that the oral viva is preferred to other assessment methods	"Thinking out loudallowed meto be able to get all my points acrossthe oral viva allows consolidation of knowledge".
Beneficial critical reflective conversations	Expressions of engaging in the feedback discussion	Mention of the feedback discussion at the conclusion of the oral viva exam. Mention of the benefits of the feedback discussion at the end of the oral viva	"My weaknesses were probably a little better established to me and having someone agree with me when I say those weaknesses is actually really refreshing because often they get downplayed or not acknowledged when you express them to a colleague".

Appendix 4.5 Ethics Approval

From: Human Research Ethics <human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au>
Sent: Tuesday, 11 February 2020 9:31 AM
To: Bridget Henderson <bridget.henderson@flinders.edu.au>; Lucy Lewis <lucy.lewis@flinders.edu.au>;
Lucy Chipchase <lucy.chipchase@flinders.edu.au>; Robyn Aitken <robyn.aitken@flinders.edu.au>
Subject: 8554 ETHICS approval notice (11 February 2020)
Importance: High

Dear Bridget,

Your conditional approval response for project 8554 was reviewed by the Deputy Chair of the Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee (SBREC) and was **approved.** The ethics approval notice can be found below.

Project No.:		8554		
Project Title:	A retro consen	spective analysis sus marking of o	of postgraduate emergency nursing s nline videostreamed oral vivas.	student perceptions of
Principal Researcher: Mrs Bridget Henderson				
Email: <u>bridget.henderson@flinders.edu.au</u>				
Approval Date:	11 Fe	ebruary 2020	Ethics Approval Expiry Date:	31 December 2024

APPROVAL NOTICE

The above proposed project has been **approved** on the basis of the information contained in the application, its attachments and the information subsequently provided with the addition of the following comments.

Additional comments:

Please ensure that copies of the correspondence granting permission to conduct the research from Dean, Teaching & Learning, College of Nursing & Health Sciences are submitted to the Committee *on receipt*. Please ensure that the SBREC project number is included in the subject line of any permission emails forwarded to the Committee. Please note that data collection should not commence until the researcher has received the relevant permissions (item D8 and Conditional approval response – number 5)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF RESEARCHERS AND SUPERVISORS

1. Participant Documentation

Please note that it is the responsibility of researchers and supervisors, in the case of student projects, to ensure that:

- all participant documents are checked for spelling, grammatical, numbering and formatting errors. The Sub-Committee does not accept any responsibility for the above mentioned errors.
- the Flinders University logo is included on all participant documentation (e.g., letters of Introduction, information Sheets, consent forms, debriefing information and questionnaires with the exception of purchased research tools) and the current Flinders University letterhead is included in the header of all letters of introduction. The Flinders University international logo/letterhead should be used and documentation should contain international dialling codes for all telephone and fax numbers listed for all research to be conducted overseas.
- the SBREC contact details, listed below, are included in the footer of all letters of introduction and information sheets.

This research project has been approved by the Flinders University Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee (Project Number 'INSERT PROJECT No. here following approval'). For more information regarding ethics approval of the project the Executive Officer of the Committee can be contacted by telephone on 8201 3116, by fax on 8201 2035 or by email <u>human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au</u>.

2. Annual Progress / Final Reports

In order to comply with the monitoring requirements of the *National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research 2007 (updated 2018)* an annual progress report must be submitted each year on the **11 February** (approval anniversary date) for the duration of the ethics approval using the report template available from the <u>Managing Your Ethics Approval</u> web page.

<u>Please note</u> that no data collection can be undertaken after the ethics approval expiry date listed at the top of this notice. If data is collected after expiry, it will not be covered in terms of ethics. It is the responsibility of the researcher to ensure that annual progress reports are submitted on time; and that no data is collected after ethics has expired.

If the project is completed *before* ethics approval has expired please ensure a final report is submitted immediately. If ethics approval for your project expires please <u>either</u> submit (1) a final report; <u>or</u> (2) an extension of time request (using the modification request form).

First Report due date:	11 February 2021
Final Report due date:	31 December 2024

Student Projects

For student projects, the SBREC recommends that current ethics approval is maintained until a student's thesis has been submitted, assessed and finalised. This is to protect the student in the event that reviewers recommend that additional data be collected from participants.

3. Modifications to Project

Modifications to the project must not proceed until approval has been obtained from the Ethics Committee. Such proposed changes / modifications include:

- change of project title;
- change to research team (e.g., additions, removals, researchers and supervisors)
- changes to research objectives;
- changes to research protocol;
- changes to participant recruitment methods;
- changes / additions to source(s) of participants;
- changes of procedures used to seek informed consent;

- changes to reimbursements provided to participants;
- changes to information / documents to be given to potential participants;
- changes to research tools (e.g., survey, interview questions, focus group questions etc);
- extensions of time (i.e. to extend the period of ethics approval past current expiry date).

To notify the Sub-Committee of any proposed modifications to the project please submit a Modification Request Form available from the <u>Managing Your Ethics Approval SBREC</u> web page. Download the form from the website every time a new modification request is submitted to ensure that the most recent form is used. Please note that extension of time requests should be submitted <u>prior</u> to the Ethics Approval Expiry Date listed on this notice.

Change of Contact Details

If the contact details of researchers, listed in the approved application, change please notify the Sub-Committee so that the details can be updated in our system. A modification request is not required to change your contact details; but would be if a new researcher needs to be added on to the research / supervisory team.

4. Adverse Events and/or Complaints

Researchers should advise the Executive Officer of the Ethics Committee on 08 8201-3116 or <u>human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au</u> immediately if:

- any complaints regarding the research are received;
- a serious or unexpected adverse event occurs that effects participants;
- an unforeseen event occurs that may affect the ethical acceptability of the project.

Kind regards Rae

Andrea Mather and Rae Tyler

Human Research Ethics Officers (Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee) Research Development and Support

Union Basement Building Flinders University Sturt Road, Bedford Park, South Australia, 5042 GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, South Australia, 5001

P: +61 8 8201 3116 (Andrea) | Monday - Friday P: +61 8 8201 7938 (Rae) | Monday, Wednesday and Friday mornings E: human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au www.flinders.edu.au/research/researcher-support/



Proactively supporting our Research

CRICOS No: 00114A This email and any attachments may be confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, please inform the sender by reply email and delete all copies of this message.

Appendix 4.6 Consent Form

CONSENT FORM

A retrospective analysis of postgraduate emergency nursing student perceptions of consensus marking of online video streamed oral viva's.

This means you can say NO

RESEARCHERS: Bridget Henderson, Dr Lucy Lewis, Dr Don Houston, Professor Lucy Chipchase, Associate Professor Robyn Aitken,

I have read the Participant Information Sheet and understand all of the information describing this study including that:

- the research is about what I think about oral vivas and consensus marking of online video streamed oral viva'
- the researchers are asking for my permission to access the audio recording of my responses to the two questions that were asked at the conclusion of my oral viva examination that I did in NURS8752 Emergency Nursing Practice, in semester two 2019. The questions were:
 - What did you think about the oral viva as an assessment method and how does it relate to your learning goals?"
 - What do you think about the consensus marking as a method of grading the oral viva?
- the researchers are asking my permission to note my gender and my grade for the oral viva, all of the information collected will not be identifiable, no one will know what gender I am or what grade I received or what my responses to the questions were, as a result of this research
- my participation is anonymous, and information can no longer be identified, preventing anyone identifying my responses and preventing retrieval from the survey database
- I don't have to give a reason if I choose not to participate
- participating, or deciding not to participate at any time will not affect me in anyway, nor will it affect my current or future enrolment in any courses offered by Flinders University.
- there is no direct benefit to me personally as a participant, but that by participating I might contribute to improving the way in which students are assessed in online oral vivas
- the researchers are the only people who have access to the recorded audio data, which will be de-identified and stored in password protected computer files or locked up until it is destroyed
- while information gained during the study may be published, I will not be identified

This research project has been approved by the Flinders University Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee (Project number 8554) For more information regarding ethical approval of the project the Executive Officer of the Committee can be contacted by telephone on 8201 3116, by fax on 8201 2035 or by email human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au

If you agree to participate, a copy of this form is available to download for you to keep

- I agree to take part in this research and allow the researchers access to my recorded responses to questions asked at the end of my oral viva. By clicking here, I am giving my consent to participate
- 0
 - I do not agree to the researchers accessing my recorded responses to the questions asked at the end of my oral viva.

INFORMATION SHEET FOR PARTICIPATION IN RESEARCH

Title: A retrospective analysis of postgraduate emergency nursing student

perceptions of consensus marking of online video streamed oral viva's.

Investigator:

Bridget Henderson PhD Candidate. Associate Lecturer College of Nursing and Health Sciences Flinders University Sturt Road, Bedford Park, South Australia, 5042 +61 8 8201 3254 Bridget.henderson@flinders.edu.au

Supervisor(s):

Dr Lucy Lewis

Course Coordinator, Master of Physiotherapy College of Nursing & Health Sciences Sturt Road, Bedford Park South Australia 5042 GPO Box 2100 Adelaide SA 5001 P: +61 8 7221 8261 E: <u>lucy.lewis@flinders.edu.au</u>

Dr Don Houston Senior Lecturer in Higher Education <u>Centre for Innovation in Learning and Teaching</u> Room 459, Engineering Flinders University Sturt Road Bedford Park GPO Box 2100 ADELAIDE SA 5001 P: 61 8 82015412 E: <u>don.houston@flinders.edu.au</u> Professor Lucy Chipchase College of Nursing and Health Sciences Sturt Road, Bedford Park South Australia 5042 GPO Box 2100 Adelaide SA 5001 M: +61 412 133210 E: lucy.chipchase@flinders.edu.au

Professor Robyn L Aitken Academic Lead: Nursing College of Nursing & Health Sciences Sturt Road, Bedford Park South Australia 5042 GPO Box 2100 Adelaide SA 5001 M: +61 417 276 112 E: robyn.aitken@flinders.edu.au

Description

The aim of this project is to understand postgraduate emergency nursing students' perception of their experience of undertaking an oral viva examination using consensus marking. The purpose is to implement and evaluate the use of a new method of postgraduate assessment for emergency nurses, who are performing an online oral viva examination.

If I consent to allow access to my recorded responses, what do I have to do?

There is nothing you have to do for this research project. If you consent to allowing the researcher access to your recorded responses to the two questions asked for quality assurance and ongoing improvement to the emergency nursing course at the conclusion of your oral viva, the researcher Bridget Henderson, will de-identify your responses and use your feedback to assist in designing and evaluating a new method of assessment for online oral vivas.

How this project benefits you and future students

The sharing of your feedback will help in the development, implementation and evaluation of a new method of assessing oral vivas in the online medium.

Withdrawal

You can withdraw your consent to access and use your pre-recorded responses at any time.

Are there any risks if I am involved?

No risks or discomforts are anticipated with your participation in this project. However, if you have any concerns regarding actual or potential risks or discomforts, please inform the supervisors of this project or the ethics committee. Should you require counselling support during or after participating in this project please contact Lifeline on 13 11 14 a free of charge 24-hour service. If you are a University student you can also contact your Universities student support services.

Findings of the research

You will be offered the opportunity, if you wish, to review and make comment on the analysis of your electronic videorecording. At the conclusion of the research project an email will be sent to your via your flinders university email account summarising the research findings.

How do I participate?

Participation is entirely voluntary. A consent form will need to be signed prior to commencing. If you wish to allow access to your recorded responses to the quality assurance questions at the conclusion of your oral viva for NURS8752 then please click on the link in the email to access the electronic consent form. If you require additional information please feel free to email Bridget at <u>bridget.henderson@flinders.edu.au</u> or contact her via phone 08 8201 3254.

Thank you for reading this information sheet and we hope you will accept our invitation to be involved in this research project.

This research project has been approved by the Flinders University Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee (Project number 8554) For more information regarding ethical approval of the project the Executive Officer of the Committee



Office of Graduate Research Room 003, Registry Building Bedford Park, SA 5042 GPO Box 2100, Adelaide 5001 Australia Email: hdrexams@flinders.edu.au Phone: (08) 8201 3654 Website: https://students.flinders.edu.au/my-course/hdr CRICOS Provider: 00114A

CO-AUTHORSHIP APPROVALS FOR HDR THESIS FOR EXAMINATIONS

In accordance with Clause 5, 7 and 8 in the <u>HDR Thesis Rules</u>, a student must sign a declaration that the thesis does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text or footnotes. There can be no exception to this rule.

- a. Publications or significant sections of publications (whether accepted, submitted or in manuscript form) arising out of work conducted during candidature may be included in the body of the thesis, or submitted as additional evidence as an appendix, on the following conditions:
 - they contribute to the overall theme of the work, are conceptually linked to the chapters before and after, and follow a logical sequence
 - they are formatted in the same way as the other chapters (i.e. not presented as reprints unless as an appendix), whether included as separate chapters or integrated into chapters
 - III. they are in the same typeface as the rest of the thesis (except for reprints included as an appendix)
 - IV. published and unpublished sections of a chapter are clearly differentiated with appropriate referencing or footnotes, and
 - V. unnecessary repetition in the general introduction and conclusion, and the introductions and conclusions of each published chapter, is avoided.
- b. Multi-author papers may be included within a thesis, provided:
 - I. the student is the primary author
 - there is a clear statement in prose for each publication at the front of each chapter, recording the percentage contribution of each author to the paper, from conceptualisation to realisation and documentation.
 - III. The publication adheres to Flinders <u>Research Publication</u>, Authorship and Peer Review Policy, and
 - IV. each of the other authors provides permission for use of their work to be included in the thesis on the form below.
- c. Papers where the student is not the primary author may be included within a thesis if a clear justification for the paper's inclusion is provided, including the circumstances relating to production of the paper and the student's position in the list of authors. However, it is preferable to include such papers as appendices, rather than in the main body of the thesis.

STUDENT DETAILS

Student Name	Bridget Henderson
Student ID	2082153
College	College of Nursing & Health Sciences
Degree	PhD
Title of Thesis	Developing nursing students' evaluative judgement: exploring the pedagogical concept in nursing education

CO-AUTHORSHIP APPROVALS FOR HDR THESIS EXAMINATION

PUBLICATION 2

This section is to be completed by the student and co-authors. If there are more than four co-authors (student plus 3 others), only the three co-authors with the most significant contributions are required to sign below.

Please note: A copy of this page will be provided to the Examiners.

Full Publication Details	Henderson, B., Chipchase, L., Aitken, R., & Lewis, L. K. (2022). Consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement: Comparing assessor and students. Nurse Education in Practice, 63, 103386–103386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2022.103386			
Section of thesis where publication is referred to	Chapter 4	pages	73-101	
	75			
Student's contribution to the	75	76 96	Research design Data collection and analysis	
publication	75	%	Writing and editing	

Outline your (the student's) contribution to the publication:

Bridget Henderson contributed to the conceptualisation of the research questions and research design with input from the supervisory team. As per the ethics requirements the supervisory team conducted the interviews. Bridget Henderson conducted the data analysis with input from the supervisory team. Bridget Henderson completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript.

APPROVALS

By signing the section below, you confirm that the details above are an accurate record of the students contribution to the work.

Name of Co-Author 1	Lucy Lewis	Signed	Sours	Date	18/09/2024
Name of Co-Author 2	Lucy Chipchase	Signed	Unida Big	Date	20/09/2024
Name of Co-Author 3	Robyn Aitken	Signed	Rad	Date	26/09/2024

Appendix 5.2 Journal Permission

From: Permissions Helpdesk <permissionshelpdesk@elsevier.com>

Sent: Thursday, 2 May 2024 9:39 PM

To: Bridget Henderson <bridget.henderson@flinders.edu.au>

Subject: Re: Request permission in writing for my thesis [240501-006631]

Dear Bridget Henderson

We hereby grant you permission to reprint the material below at no charge in your thesis subject to the following conditions:

RE:

- Consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement: Comparing assessor and students, Nurse Education in Practice, Volume 63, 2022, Henderson et al.
- Developing student nurses' evaluative judgement in clinical practice tertiary education: A systematic scoping review of teaching and assessment methods, Nurse Education in Practice, Volume 73, 2023, Henderson et al.

1. If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgment to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies.

2. Suitable acknowledgment to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"This article was published in Publication title, Vol number, Author(s), Title of article, Page Nos, Copyright Elsevier (or appropriate Society name) (Year)."

3. Your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form.

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given. The material may not be reproduced or used in any other way, including use in combination with an artificial intelligence tool (including to train an algorithm, test, process, analyse, generate output and/or develop any form of artificial intelligence tool), or to create any derivative work and/or service (including resulting from the use of artificial intelligence tools).

5. This permission is granted for non-exclusive world English rights only. For other languages please reapply separately for each one required. Permission excludes use in an electronic form other than submission. Should you have a specific electronic project in mind please reapply for permission.

6. As long as the article is embedded in your thesis, you can post/share your thesis in the University repository.

7. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

8. Posting of the full article/ chapter online is not permitted. You may post an abstract with a link to the Elsevier website <u>www.elsevier.com</u>, or to the article on ScienceDirect if it is available on that platform.

Kind regards,

Roopa Lingayath

Senior Copyrights Specialist

ELSEVIER | HCM - Health Content Management

Visit Elsevier Permissions

Nurse Education in Practice 63 (2022) 103386



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Nurse Education in Practice



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/issn/14715953

Consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement: Comparing assessor and students



Bridget Henderson^{a,*,1}, Lucy Chipchase^{a,1}, Robyn Aitken^{b,2}, Lucy K. Lewis^{a,3}

^a Caring Futures Institute, College of Nursing and Health Sciences, Flinders University, Australia
 ^b College of Medicine and Public Health, Flinders University, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Consensus marking Evaluative judgement Reflection Self-evaluation

ABSTRACT

Aim: This study explored postgraduate nursing students' perceptions, anxiety and satisfaction of an innovative and novel grading method for online vivas, consensus marking, compared with traditional assessor judgement. *Background:* Reflection, self-evaluation and feedback conversations have the potential to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement. Consensus marking is a novel method of grading students' performance that supports students to reflect, self-evaluate and grade their own work. Active engagement in a feedback dialogue supports students to calibrate their self-evaluation to the required standard in a grade negotiation. Through this approach, students are supported to develop evaluative judgement and lifelong learning skills. *Design:* A convergent mixed-methods parallel research design was used.

Methods: Students enrolled in a postgraduate emergency nursing unit of study completed two online viva assessments. One viva was graded using traditional assessor judgement and the other used consensus marking, involving a two-way feedback dialogue, where students had an opportunity to actively engage in grading their own work with the assessor. Student perceptions of each grading method were explored through semi-structured interviews. Interview data were analysed thematically using a six-stage approach. Student anxiety and satisfaction were measured pre- and post each viva using valid and reliable questionnaires. Non-parametric analyses

explored differences in anxiety and satisfaction between the two grading methods. Alpha was set at 0.05. *Results:* Forty-six participants had complete data for anxiety and satisfaction across both test occasions (82%) and were included in the analysis. Of these, 13 students participated in follow up interviews. Students perceived that the ability to self-evaluate performance and discuss their grade with the assessor using consensus marking was less hierarchical and similar to a collegial debrief. Student anxiety was significantly lower prior to consensus marking compared with the assessor judged viva (p < 0.001). Students were significantly more satisfied with consensus marking compared with assessor judgement (p < 0.01).

Conclusions: Consensus marking created an opportunity for students to identify knowledge deficits through reflection and self-evaluation of their own performance prior to external judgement. Students were more satisfied and less anxious with the consensus marking grading method compared with traditional assessor judgement. These findings have implications for the development and application of new grading methods in nursing education to facilitate the development of evaluative judgement.

1. Background

Evaluative judgement has been defined as "the capability to make decisions about the quality of work of self and others" (Tai et al., 2018, p.5).

This capability is vital for nurses who must be able to judge the safety and quality of their own and others' clinical practice (Cathro, 2016; Vaismoradi et al., 2020). Making decisions about the quality of clinical practice, using reflection and self-evaluation, is important for

* Corresponding author.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2022.103386

Received 3 February 2022; Received in revised form 9 May 2022; Accepted 20 June 2022 Available online 23 June 2022 1471-5953/ \Circ 2022 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

E-mail addresses: bridget.henderson@flinders.edu.au (B. Henderson), lucy.chipchase@flinders.edu.au (L. Chipchase), robyn.aitken@flinders.edu.au (R. Aitken), lucy.lewis@flinders.edu.au (L.K. Lewis).

¹ Address: Sturt Road, Bedford Park, South Australia, 5042, GPO Box 2100 Adelaide, SA 5100, Australia.

² Address: College of Medicine and Public Health, Health Sciences Building, Bedford Park SA 5042, GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, SA 5001, Australia.

³ Address: College of Nursing & Health Sciences, Flinders University, Sturt Road, Bedford Park South Australia 5042, GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, SA 5001, Australia.

emergency nurses who function in a demanding, intense and often unpredictable clinical setting where a close relationship between nurse'' clinical competency and quality of care has been identified (Aghaie et al., 2021; Weigl and Schneider, 2017). Thus, the challenge for higher education is to equip postgraduate nursing students with skills that supports their learning beyond the completion of the course so they have the ability to reflect and self-evaluate their own performance (Boud and Falchickov, 2006; Boud and Soler, 2016).

Students on their journey to graduation will engage in teaching and learning activities including assessment, a fundamental component of teaching and learning (Watling and Ginsburg, 2019). Using assessment *as learning* occurs when students are responsible for monitoring their own learning and act as their own assessors (Hume and Coll, 2009; Torrance, 2007). Assessment as learning is achieved by scaffolding activities of self-evaluation, self-assessment, peer-review and reflection throughout a curriculum (Ajjawi and Boud, 2017; Boud and Falchickov, 2006). Therefore, designing assessments as learning has potential to develop students' evaluative judgement (Boud et al., 2018; Boud and Soler, 2016; Yan et al., 2020).

Assessment can be a source of anxiety for students (Roos et al., 2020). Oral vivas as an assessment method have been associated with high levels of anxiety particularly when students perceive a lack of consistency between their performance and grade (Carter, 2012; Furnham et al., 2008; Huxham, Campbell, and Westwood, 2012; Kleiven, Tegani, and Sullivan, 2016). Conversely, there is evidence that oral vivas motivate students to learn and that students perceive them as authentic assessment compared with written assessments (Ganji, 2017; Orrock et al., 2014; Pearce and Lee, 2009). While it is accepted that an appropriate level of anxiety motivates students to engage in learning and perform optimally (Hooda and Saini, 2017; Rasouli, Alipour, and Ebrahim, 2018), high levels of anxiety are thought to impair academic performance and the student experience (Roos et al., 2020; Thomas, Cassady, and Heller, 2017).

Academic performance is generally assessed by an expert who unilaterally provides the judgement and delivers the grade and feedback to the student about the quality of their work (Brooks, 2012). However, if the delivery of grades and feedback engages students in a conversation, students may self-regulate their learning as they become active participants in a two-way feedback dialogue (Ajjawi and Boud, 2017; Boud and Soler, 2016; Ilangakoon et al., 2022; Merry et al., 2013; Tai et al., 2018) A new approach to develop this feedback dialogue is through consensus marking (Henderson et al., 2021; Thompson et al., 2017). The unique features of consensus marking provides students with an opportunity to actively engage in grading their own work and calibrate to the standard through a feedback dialogue with the assessor. Using consensus marking, the student reflects, discusses and evaluates their performance before the assessor passes judgement. Grading then occurs by calibrating the student's self-evaluation to the required standard through a feedback conversation and grade negotiation (Henderson et al., 2021). The relationship between reflection, self-assessment and feedback methods has not been considered explicitly in nursing education (Ilangakoon et al., 2022). Thus, consensus marking provides an explicit assessment approach that may develop students' evaluative judgement by synergising reflection, self-evaluation and feedback dialogue.

Two previous studies have evaluated consensus marking in health professional education. Undergraduate paramedicine students' (n = 90) perceptions of consensus marking in a face-to-face clinical viva were explored by Thompson et al. (2017) with students perceiving that consensus marking was fair and effective for learning while facilitating evaluation of their practice (Thompson et al., 2017). Subsequently, a retrospective analysis of postgraduate emergency nursing students' (n = 13) perceptions of consensus marking in an online oral viva was investigated (Henderson et al., 2021). In that study, consensus marking was perceived to enable reflection and self-evaluation while creating an opportunity to gain feedback through a collegial reflective conversation

(Henderson et al., 2021). However, consensus marking has yet to be compared with the familiar marking methods where the assessor judges the students' performance.

Given the paucity of research on consensus marking as a grading method and the importance of actively engaging students in selfevaluation and feedback dialogue to develop evaluative judgement, this study aimed to explore postgraduate emergency nursing students' perceptions of oral vivas using consensus marking compared with assessor judgment in an oral viva exam. First, students' perception of their learning experience and relationship with the assessor were explored. Second, the study investigated differences in student anxiety and satisfaction between each of the grading methods.

2. Methods

2.1. Design

A convergent mixed-methods parallel research design with concurrent, yet separate, collection of data using questionnaires and semistructured interviews was conducted. The data collection methods were equally weighted with analysis of the two components being independent, but interpretation of the results combined (Creswell and Plano Clark, 2011). Using both quantitative and qualitative data, the researchers sought to obtain different but complementary data of the students' experience to better understand the student perspective. To build a rich description of the phenomenon under investigation, a descriptive generic qualitative approach was used (Hoon Lim, 2011; Merriam, 2002, 2009). The consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ) were used to guide the qualitative research component (Tong, Sainsbury, and Craig, 2007).

2.2. Ethics

Ethical approval (No. 2106) was gained from the Human Research Ethics Committee of Flinders University where the research was conducted. All participants were provided with an information sheet outlining the study and then provided informed consent.

2.3. Participants and setting

A convenient sample of 56 registered nurses (M:F; 6:50) enrolled in a university postgraduate capstone emergency nursing unit of study were invited to participate. Assessment for this unit of study included two oral vivas conducted online using Blackboard Collaborate©. The first oral viva assessment occurred in week six of a 14-week semester where the assessor judgement of performance method was used. The second oral viva assessment using consensus marking occurred in week 13 of the same semester.

2.4. Oral viva grading methods

2.4.1. Assessor judgement of performance

The assessor, who was the expert judge of the student's performance, was the academic responsible for delivering the teaching. The assessor decided on the grade guided by a marking rubric and subsequently delivered verbal and written feedback. Ten minutes was allocated to complete the marking rubric, give verbal feedback and provide a written summary to each student. It was assumed that the student would interpret and apply the feedback given by the assessor to improve future performance.

2.4.2. Consensus marking

Consensus marking engaged students in reflection and evaluation of their performance before any judgement of performance was provided by the assessor (Henderson et al., 2021). Students reflected on whether their performance met the required standard, guided by a marking rubric. Students then engaged in a feedback conversation with the assessor and calibrated their level of knowledge to the expected standard. Consensus was then reached between the assessor and the student on the grade achieved (Henderson et al., 2021; Thompson et al., 2017). On average, consensus marking took 15 min per student to complete.

All oral vivas were conducted by one assessor who graded and delivered feedback. Moderation occurred before the oral vivas by a content expert lecturer who was not connected to the research team. The instructions, marking guides and rubrics were assessed for clarity, transparency and fairness. Further, a lecturer who was independent to the research team reviewed eight randomly selected video recorded oral vivas to assess the feedback and grades for equity and fairness in both viva exams.

2.5. Data collection

2.5.1. Students perceptions

All students were invited to participate in a semi-structured on-line, in-depth interview by email. The interviews provided an opportunity to gain a deep and rich understanding of student perceptions, expectations and experience of consensus marking compared with an assessor grading of oral viva assessment. The interview questions are outlined in Table 1.

2.5.2. Anxiety

Anxiety was measured prior to each oral viva exam, with an Exam Anxiety Scale (EAS), completed online using QualtricsXM©. The EAS is a 12-item validated shortened anxiety test (Table 2), developed by Bedewy and Gabriel (2013) and was based on the 20-item Text Anxiety Inventory by Spielberger, (2010). The EAS used Likert scales with anchors at 0 = strongly disagree, 5 = neutral and 10 = strongly agree. The items identify three factors: (1) excessive performance anxiety that means excessive preoccupation with fear of failure and inability to relax.

Table 1

Interview guide.

Questions

a. I would like to start by asking if you can tell me generally about your experience of the oral viva exams?

- Prompt question:
- a. What were you expecting before you participated in the first Viva?
- b. How did this make you feel?

b. And the second viva, were you expecting the same or different? Prompt question:

a. How did this make you feel?

c. Can you tell me about the purpose of the oral viva? Prompt question:

- a. How do you think the Viva is supposed to contribute to your learning?
- b. Do you think that this learning outcome was achieved?
- c. Was there any difference between the learning achieved in each of the vivas?
- d. Now that you look back on the experience, what do you think that you learnt regardless of whether this might have been the intention or not?
- e. Was there any difference between the learning achieved in each of the vivas?

d. Can you tell me about the grade that you achieved?

- Prompt question:
- a. Was your grade what you expected?
- b. Do you think this was a true reflection of your experience?
- c. Was this the same for both vivas?

e. What do you think was the role of the tutor in the oral vivas? Prompt question:

a. was this the same for both vivas?

- b. How is the tutor role different to your role in the viva?
- c. Was this the same for both vivas?

f. What might you tell other students about your experience? Prompt question:

a. Was this the same for both vivas?

Table 2

Exam Anxiety Scale (EAS) (Bowdey and Gabriel 2013).

Items $(n = 12)$	Fact	ors	
	F1	F2	F3
My heart beats fast (races) during exams	x		
I expect my anxiety will interfere with my performance in the oral viva exam	x		
I am afraid of failing the oral viva exam	x		
Oral viva exams make me unable to relax	x		x
I tend to have breathing difficulty on exam days		x	
I develop diarrhea around the time of exams		x	
I am preoccupied with failure just before the oral viva exam		x	
Even when I am well prepared for the oral viva exam, i feel anxious about it		x	
I do not have confidence in myself to pass		х	
Oral viva exams make me unable to relax			x
Oral viva exams make me feel shaky			x
I experience an upset stomach on exam day			x
My sleep is disturbed before exam days			x
Factor 1: excessive performance anxiety			
Factor 2: negative academic self-concept and excessive autonomic response			
Factor 3: familiar test anxiety			

(2) negative academic self-concept and excessive autonomic response that refers to poor self-confidence in academic ability and fear of failure and (3) familiar test anxiety that refers to commonly experienced exam anxiety such as butterflies in the stomach or restless sleep the night before the exam.

2.5.3. Satisfaction

Student satisfaction was measured following each oral viva using the Satisfaction in Oral Viva Assessment Scale (SOVAS) completed online using QualtricsXM©. The SOVAS is a five-item questionnaire developed and validated by Salamonson et al. (2016) (Table 3). Scores from the five items are averaged to identify the level of satisfaction. The SOVAS uses Likert scales with anchors at 0 = strongly disagree, 5 = neutral and 10 = strongly agree. Two demographic questions were included to ascertain primary language spoken and years' experience working as a registered nurse. (Table 3).

2.6. Procedure

The interviews were conducted online after participants had completed both vivas and had received their final grades for the unit of study. Two members of the research team who were not part of the teaching team and did not have a pre-existing relationship with the students conducted the interviews (LC, RA). The primary researcher (BH) was blinded to who was participating in the research project. The audio recordings of the interviews were transcribed using Descript[®] and manually checked for accuracy. No field notes were made and the interviews lasted between 20 and 30 min.

Participant anxiety was measured on two test occasions with the EAS administered three days before each of the oral viva assessments. The questionnaire completed before the first oral viva exam was identified as EAS1 and the EAS questionnaire completed before the second oral viva exam was identified as EAS2. Student satisfaction with the SOVAS was measured immediately following each oral viva assessment on both test

Table 3

Satisfaction in Oral Viva Assessment Scale (SOVAS) (Salamonson et al., 2016).

The oral viva assessment in the emergency nursing course has helped me learn I was able to learn from the feedback I received from the oral viva assessment There were clear guidelines for the oral viva assessment in this topic During the oral viva I had enough time to answer the questions Compared to a written assignment I think the oral viva assessment is What language do you speak at home How long have you worked as a registered nurse occasions. The SOVAS questionnaire completed after the first oral viva exam was identified as SOVAS1 and the questionnaire completed after the second oral viva exam was identified as SOVAS2.

2.7. Data management and analysis

2.7.1. Student perceptions

Using NVIVO© software and a manual coding method, the transcribed interviews were coded, and themes identified. A reflexive thematic analysis approach was used (Braun and Clarke, 2019). All members of the research team conducted the thematic analysis using a six-stage approach (Braun and Clarke, 2006). Initial coding of each interview identified fragments of data, phrases and key words that related to themes already identified in the literature, extended the findings of previous studies, related specifically to the experience(s) of the students, represented students' perceptions of the exam process and/or components of evaluative judgment. Data were reviewed each time a new theme emerged and the theme was either confirmed by further examples or modified to reflect a more nuanced understanding of the responses.

The researchers engaged in an iterative cyclical process to revise the codes to identify connecting relationships within and between the codes. Meaningful patterns were identified which were inductively conceptualised into themes (Braun and Clarke, 2006; Morse, 2002).

Dependability was achieved by having two of the researchers (BH and LKL) review.

transcribed data to validate the codes and themes (Creswell, 2018) and confirm data saturation when no new themes emerged. The data analysis was conducted after participants had completed their studies with participants no longer having access to their university emails or online learning platform. This precluded the opportunity to engage with member checking. Peer briefing was conducted to ensure trustworthiness and credibility of the thematic analysis process (Lincoln and Guba, 1985). The research team engaged in fortnightly reflexive discussions during the data analysis phase and the primary researcher maintained a reflective journal to identify any personal biases or potential issues that might influence the data analysis.

2.8. Anxiety and satisfaction

Using IBM SPSS Statistics[©] version 25, data from the SOVAS and EAS questionnaires were analysed using non-parametric tests. Questionnaires were re-identified so that they could be paired across the two test occasions for each participant. Questionnaires that were not fully completed or could not be paired, were removed. Thus, participants who completed all questions for both test occasions for EAS and SOVAS were included in the analysis.

A Shapiro-Wilk test was conducted to determine whether the data sets produced a normal distribution (González-Estrada and Cosmes, 2019). The results of the Shapiro-Wilk test were significant for factor 2 EAS2 W = 0.92, p < 0.05, factor 3 EAS1 W = 0.92, p < 0.05 and factor 3 EAS2 W= 92, p = <0.05. These results suggested that for the pre-test factor 3 in EAS1 and factors 2 and 3 in EAS2 were unlikely to have been produced by a normal distribution; therefore, normality could not be assumed.

Likewise, the post-test SOVAS2 results of the Shapiro-Wilk test were significant W = 0.92, p < 0.05 suggesting that a normal distribution could not be assumed. Attempts to transform the data sets using log, square root and reflection of the negatively skewed data were unsuccessful. The remaining data sets were normally distributed, however, for consistency, the Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test was used to test significance for all paired data.

3. Results

3.1. Participant characteristics

All 56 students enrolled in the unit of study participated in the oral viva examinations. After removing incomplete questionnaires, 46 participants had completed both test occasions for the EAS and the SOVAS (82% of the cohort). Of these, 13 participants consented to be interviewed (23%). Of the 46 participants, 41 spoke English as their primary language. The average (SD) as a registered nurse was 8.1 (6.2) years.

3.2. Perceptions

An example of excerpt phrases relevant to the initial coding from one participant is provided. (Table 4)

The following six themes were identified from the 13 transcribed interviews with most participants' experiences aligning with multiple themes:

- 1. Accountable for learning
- 2. Authentic assessment and grading method that translates to clinical practice
- 3. Feedback, dialogue and immediacy
- 4. Reflect and self-evaluate
- 5. Test anxiety
- 6. Voice and shifting power dynamics

Table 4

4

Initial codes	Interview excerpt – Participant 4
Acknowledging the anxiety or stress	I'm someone who struggles really bad with anxiety, especially with known assessments. I talk myself out of them quite a lot, so I struggled really badly with anxiety.
Expressing feelings of collegiality, able to ask questions	I did like the second style better because we were able to then have an opportunity to say like, Oh, I felt like I did really well there. What did you think? And they'd say yes, no, it kind of re confirms like where you are confident. And it also gets you to kind of address more likely deficits and ask questions that maybe you wouldn't get a chance to ask. Maybe the first style didn't give you that opportunity. Whereas the second style did.
Valuing the opportunity for refection and going back over performance Valuing feedback	I found the first oral Viva, very straight down, the line like it started and finished and ran very smoothly. The second one, I think I appreciate it a lot better because of the end, going back through it, being able to have an opportunity to go back over stuff and clarify things and get extra education and obviously bits that I did lapse and that we identified with deficits.
Identifying that the assessment method was authentic to clinical practice	I see it as the same thing that we used to do in uni, like the clinical year you kind of, you go in, you have your fake patient there and you can actually perform your clinical skills and go through a case scenario. That's more realistic and really tests you. You don't have the answers in front of you You don't have all this information, they're giving you the answers.
Have to learn and forced to learn.	Like you really actually need to know what you're doing and know what you're on about to be able to run through a scenaric like that. So I see it as more of like an online version of a practical assessment.

B. Henderson et al.

1. Accountable for learning.

Ten of the 13 participants (77%) expressed that the oral viva assessment compelled them to learn and made them feel accountable for their learning. For example:

" I kind of more appreciated because I'm reading it and I'm reading it and I need to really read it and understand it. So then I can say it when I'm getting, like examined." (P12).

This accountability for learning was highlighted by participants' desire to showcase their knowledge in an assessment method that could potentially highlight any knowledge deficits:

"...for the viva I had to actually know what I was talking about and had to prove that I knew what I was talking about." (P1).

"That's more realistic and really tests you. You don't have the answers in front of you. You don't have all this information... Like you really actually need to know what you're doing and know what you're on about to be able to run through a scenario like that." (P4).

2. Authentic assessment and grading method that translates to clinical practice

Eight of the 13 participants (62%) expressed that the oral viva with consensus marking reflected the reality of their work life. One participant described consensus marking as:

"... a lot better form of assessment, particularly in a clinical subject, they made you consider on the spot just like you would in the emergency department. And for me that just related a lot more to the normal practice that we'd go about in the clinical setting," (P15).

And that consensus marking felt like a debrief after a clinical event and the realistic scenarios related to their everyday workplace experiences as the following participant notes:

"...definitely felt more like you know, debriefing after work, this code has just happened and this is our debrief, that's probably more what it felt like then an exam ... I do this every day. Like, what am I stressing about this is work." (P10).

3. Feedback, dialogue and immediacy

Eleven of the 13 participants (85%) expressed that consensus marking gave them immediate and detailed feedback. One participant said:

"It was just good to provide that feedback, but also good to provide the feedback then and there straight away, there was no time delay" (P9)

The immediacy and detailed feedback dialogue assisted students understanding of where they needed to improve and where they did well as demonstrated by these remarks:

"And actually, understand the feedback you've received rather than going, this is what they've written, how the, how do I fix that?" (P15).

"I thought was better than the first [viva], I felt that the feedback was a bit more direct. I just felt like we got much better feedback for each single part, rather than the first traditional sort of marking that was just sort of a generalized feedback...I felt like the feedback was probably the best, the most noticeable difference." (P1).

4. Reflect and self-evaluation

Eight of the 13 participants (62%) appreciated the opportunity to reflect on their performance and self-evaluate including:

"I really liked the second, consensus way of marking because we were able to reflect back on what I missed or what I could have done better, what I did well". (P5)

Participants expressed that the opportunity to reflect and evaluate their performance assisted them in self-identifying future learning needs as demonstrated by this student's feedback:

"I found this was definitely a good way to learn because it helped

you to be more self-reflective and identify your own sort of areas of improvement rather than just relying on our mentor and educator to do that for you. There were more just aspects I thought I could have improved on for the future. Whereas if I did that in an exam, I'd probably remember the information and data dump it straight away. Whereas now I'm actually actively seeking out x-rays to look at and try and review a doctors' and get better at that." (P15)

5. Test anxiety

Twelve of the 13 participants (92%) expressed that an oral viva caused anxiety. The causes were varied, some participants were anxious because there was a compulsion to learn and prepare for the exam. For others, it was fear of the unknown, not knowing what questions would be asked. For example:

"Well, I think the vivas in themself are both very daunting, no matter. What type of grading scale". (P6)

One participant found the concept of consensus marking increased anxiety:

"I think, particularly on the second one, [consensus marking] because I knew somewhere, I'm marking myself." (P14).

Conversely some participants found that because they knew they could grade themselves and engage in a feedback conversation this reduced their level of stress:

"I struggled really badly with anxiety, so I think I liked the second process [consensus marking] better than the first one... and that was only just because of that communication pathway at the end." (P4).

Stress and anxiety for one participant was a motivator to learn, whereas two participants had anxiety levels that produced somatic effects that had a negative impact on their ability to perform:

"the first one I was quite anxious about and to be honest, I was quite unwell on the day I had to pause the thing so I could vomit but the second one, I really, I knew the expectations from the first time and I wasn't nervous." (P11).

Participants expressed that their stress and anxiety levels were reduced in the second oral viva (consensus marking) simply because this was the second time that they had engaged in an oral viva exam. They had more of an idea about what to expect, therefore, their fear of the unknown was reduced:

"I don't think I was as stressed for the second one because I think I had a little bit of an idea of how it was going to go. So I was definitely more stressed about the first one, the second one wasn't as bad". (P1)

"definitely felt a lot more comfortable with the second one, because we've done one. It wasn't a fear of the unknown", (P9)

6. Voice and shifting power dynamics

Nine of the 13 participants (69%) used words such as justify, discuss, explain, talk, rationalise, colleague, circle back, align, confidence, agreement when responding to the question about consensus marking as a grading method. One respondent commented:

"I think just because when we talked about them together, we actually went through the subject sort of headings one by one. And because we had to obviously come to an agreement on a grade, I felt like we would both be able to talk and sort of justify the grade. I liked the fact that like I had the time to justify and explain things further if I needed to." (P1).

The ability to have a voice was important to students. In some cases, there was a perception that it reduced the stress of the exam, while others felt it was less like an exam and more like a collegial discussion, including:

"... you feel less like sort of a hierarchy, like tutor student. It was more like we're working together and like we were going to work out what I knew without, being graded straight away." (P6).

3.3. Questionnaires

3.3.1. Anxiety

Excessive performance anxiety, negative academic self-concept and excessive autonomic response and familiar test anxiety were significantly lower (p < 0.001) when students engaged with consensus marking compared with tutor judgement marking (Table 5).

3.4. Satisfaction

Student satisfaction was significantly higher with consensus marking compared with tutor judgement marking (p < 0.01) (Table 5).

4. Discussion

This is the first prospective study to compare consensus marking to an assessor judgement of an oral viva in the tertiary setting. Oral vivas using consensus marking were perceived by students to enhance their accountability for learning, be an authentic method of grading, facilitate reflection and self-evaluation and provide opportunity to engage in a feedback dialogue. Importantly, consensus marking was perceived to shift the power dynamics between student and assessor. The quantitative questionnaire results supported these findings as students were more satisfied and less anxious with the consensus marking method compared with assessor judgement.

The four key themes identified from the interviews (accountability for learning; authentic assessment and grading method; feedback, dialogue and immediacy; reflect and self-evaluate) support the concept that consensus marking facilitates the development of evaluative judgement. Participants noted that consensus marking provided the opportunity to reflect and evaluate their own performance while helping to self-identify future learning needs in a dialogue akin to the real-world clinical setting. The development of evaluative judgement through this novel method may therefore assist emergency nurses develop the ability to reflect and self-evaluate performance that supports lifelong learning beyond the conclusion of the course (Boud et al., 2018).

Authentic assessment has been shown to improved learning outcomes for students (Villarroel et al., 2020). Participants in the current study perceived that consensus marking was authentic to their workplace with the discussion and feedback dialogue being similar to a clinical debrief with colleagues. If students perceive the learning activities as relevant to the workplace, then consensus marking may help students conceptualise learning, stimulate deeper learning and increase motivation for learning (Raymond et al., 2013; Villarroel et al., 2018).

Consensus marking also facilitated a student-focused approach to feedback dialogue, where the student drove the feedback conversation

Table 5

Anxiety and satisfaction outcomes over the two test occasions (assessor judgement and consensus marking).

Outcomes	Assessor judgement median (IQR)	Consensus marking median (IQR)	CI	n	р
Factor 1 -Excessive performance anxiety	7.75 (2.50)	6.25 (4.13)	-2.25 - - 0.62	46	<0.001
Factor 2 -Negative academic self- concept & excessive autonomic response	5.80 (3.10)	3.70 (2.65)	-2.40 - - 1.00	46	<0.001
Factor 3 - Familiar test anxiety	7.12 (3.31)	5.12 (6.56)	-2.25 - - 3.37	46	< 0.001
Satisfaction	40.00 (11.00)	45.50 (9.00)	0.61 - 0.12	46	< 0.01

Nurse Education in Practice 63 (2022) 103386

around their self-evaluation and negotiation of their grade. This is important as student dissatisfaction with feedback requires a change in approach (Carless and Boud, 2018). The two-way collegial conversation in the consensus marking enabled students to self-identify where they could improve and the student-centred approach to the feedback dialogue resulted in greater satisfaction with the provided feedback and may have been a factor in the reporting of increased satisfaction levels in the SOVAS survey. The literature around feedback dialogue is lacking on how to engage students in feedback conversations (Ossenberg, Henderson, and Mitchell, 2018). The current study adds to the discourse regarding a potential method that actively engages students in feedback dialogue while also shifting power dynamics. Participants were empowered by engaging in a feedback dialogue where they were able to justify and explain their actions or omissions during the oral viva exam. The perception of having a voice and some control over the grading could be a contributing factor to the EAS survey reporting lower anxiety levels with the consensus grading method.

Students' anxiety level was lower prior to the oral viva exam with consensus marking compared with the viva that was judged by the assessor in all three domains (performance anxiety; academic selfconcept and autonomic response; and familiar test anxiety). Anxiety has been shown to have an impact on cognitive ability and academic performance (Hooda and Saini, 2017). In this study, instances where the student believed that they would fail despite preparation was considerably less in the oral viva using consensus marking compared with the assessor judgement. The lower anxiety with consensus marking may be explained by a reduction in the perceived power imbalance between the assessor and student and might also explain the reduction in familiar test anxiety, negative academic self-concept and excessive autonomic response. However, the possibility remains that because the consensus marking oral viva was conducted after the first oral viva this may have led to a learning effect / prior exposure, which resulted in a reduction in anxiety. To mitigate this, students were provided with explicit and transparent information and a video recording on the consensus method on commencement of the unit of study. Therefore, students were aware of the two different grading methods and expectations from the beginning of the semester.

2. Study strengths and limitations

The study has several strengths. The current study is the first to compare the application of two different marking methods for online oral vivas and provides preliminary evidence of the usefulness of consensus marking in this cohort of students adding to the discourse on engaging students in feedback dialogue and developing evaluative judgement. A rigorous approach was used to analyse qualitative data, with members of the research team independent to the data collection validating codes and themes. Further, validated tools were used to measure satisfaction and anxiety. However, some limitations are accepted. First, the one group, non-randomised design of the study means that we are unable to conclusively state differences in perceptions, anxiety and satisfaction between the two marking methods, as the exposure to the first online viva and marking method may have had an impact on these variables for the subsequent marking method and oral viva. Second, the researchers acknowledge that the student-tutor relationship creates an inherent power imbalance, and that the researcher (BH) was a tutor and assessor in this project. To mitigate the risk that non-participation may have negatively affected their relationship with the tutor, students were informed that the tutor was blinded to the consenting research participants. Further, the research team used moderation, reflexive journaling, and discussion to ensure equity in the assessment process.

6. Conclusion

IQR Interquartile range; CI Confidence Interval.

Consensus marking provides an opportunity for students to reflect

and self-evaluate their own performance which supports the concept of developing evaluative judgement. The consensus marking method appeared to improve students' understanding of feedback with students perceiving a reduction in the power imbalance between assessor and student. Consensus marking resulted in less anxiety and increased student satisfaction compared with a traditional assessor assessment of a postgraduate oral viva. The findings of this study may inform a larger randomised controlled trial, investigating different assessment types and how they support students to evaluate their own performance.

Ethics

Ethical approval (no. 2106) was gained from the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee. All participants provided informed consent.

Funding

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Author contributions

Bridget Henderson and Lucy Chipchase: conceived and designed the experiments, performed the experiments, analyzed and interpreted the data, wrote the paper. Lucy Lewis: conceived and designed the experiments, analyzed and interpreted the data, wrote the paper. Robyn Aitken: conceived and designed the experiments, performed the experiments, analyzed and interpreted the data. All authors contributed to the reviewers' comments.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have influenced the work reported in this paper.

References

- Aghaie, B., Heidari, S., Abbasinia, M., Abdoli, M., Norouzadeh, R., Shamali, M., 2021. Teamwork competence and readiness of emergency nurses in the care of trauma patients: a multicenter cross-sectional study. Int. Emerg. Nurs. 59, 101073 https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ienj.2021.101073.
- Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., 2017. Researching feedback dialogue: an interactional analysis approach. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 42 (2), 252–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02602938.2015.1102863.
- Bedewy, D., Gabriel, A., 2013. Measure the severity of examination anxiety among undergraduate university students. Int. J. Educ. Psychol. 2 (1), 81–104.
- Boud, D., Ajjawi, R., Dawson, P., Tai, J., 2018. Developing Evaluative Judgement in Higher Education: Assessment for Knowing and Producing Quality Work, first ed.. Milton, Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315109251
- Boud, D., Falchickov, N., 2006. Aligning assessment with long-term learning. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 31 (4), 399–413.
- Boud, D., Soler, R., 2016. Sustainable assessment revisited. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 41 (3), 400–413. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1018133.
- Braun, V., Clarke, V., 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual. Res. Psychol. 3 (2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa.
- Braun, V., Clarke, V., 2019. Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. Qual. Res. Sport, Exerc. Health 11 (4), 589–597. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806.
- Brooks, V., 2012. Marking as judgment. Res. Pap. Educ. 27 (1), 63–80. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02671520903331008.
 Carless, D., Boud, D., 2018. The development of student feedback literacy: enabling
- Carless, D., Boud, D. , 2018. The development of student feedback liferacy: enabling uptake of feedback. Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education, 43(8), 1315–1325.
- Carter, S., 2012. English as an Additional Language (EAL) "viva voce": the EAL doctoral oral examination experience. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 37 (3), 273–284. https://doi. org/10.1080/02602938.2010.528555.
- Cathro, H., 2016. Navigating through chaos: charge nurses and patient safety. J. Nurs. Adm. 46 (4), 208–214.
- Creswell, J.W., 2018. Qualitative inquiry & research design: choosing among five approaches. In: Poth, C.N. (Ed.), Qualitative Inquiry and rEsearch Design: Choosing Among 5 Approaches, fourth ed. Sage, Los Angeles.
- Creswell, J.W., Plano Clark, V., 2011. Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research. Sage Publications,, Los Angeles.

- Furnham, A., Christopher, A., Garwood, J., Martin, N.G., 2008. Ability, demography, learning style and personality trait correlates of student preference for assessment method. Educ. Psychol. 28 (1), 15–27. (https://search.proquest.com/docview/6205 2704?accountid=10910).
- Ganji, K.K., 2017. Evaluation of reliability in structured viva voce as a formative assessment of dental students. J. Dent. Educ. 81 (5), 590–596. https://doi.org/ 10.21815/JDE.016.017.
- González-Estrada, E., Cosmes, W., 2019. Shapiro-Wilk test for skew normal distributions based on data transformations. J. Stat. Comput. Simul. 89 (17), 3258–3272. https:// doi.org/10.1080/00949655.2019.1658763.
- Henderson, B., Aitken, R., Lewis, L.K., Chipchase, L., 2021. Postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas: a qualitative study. Nurse Educ. Today 101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104881.
- Hooda, M., Saini, A., 2017. Academic anxiety: an overview. Educ. Quest 8 (3), 807–810. https://doi.org/10.5958/2230-7311.2017.00139.8.
- Hoon Lim, J., 2011. Qualitative methods in adult development and learning. In: the Oxford Handbook of Reciprocal Adult Development and Learning (Oxford Library of Psychology. In: The Oxford Handbook of Reciprocal Adult Development and Learning. Oxford University Press.
- Hume, A., Coll, R.K., 2009. Assessment of learning, for learning and as learning: New Zealand case studies. Assess. Educ. Princ. Policy Pract. 16 (3), 269–290. https://doi. org/10.1080/09695940903319661.
- Huxham, M., Campbell, F., Westwood, J., 2012. Oral versus written assessments: a test of student performance and attitudes. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 37 (1), 125–136. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2010.515012.
- Ilangakoon, C., Ajjawi, R., Endacott, R., Rees, C., 2022. The relationship between feedback and evaluative judgement in undergraduate nursing and midwifery education: an integrative review. Nurse Educ. Pract. 28, 103255 https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103255.
- Kleiven, H., Tegani, N., Sullivan, L., 2016. What is the viva experience of phase 2 radiation oncology examination candidate? survey and advice for future candidates. J. Med. Imaging Radiat. Oncol. 60, 428–432.
- Lincoln, Y., Guba, E., 1985. Naturalistic Inquiry. Sage Publications, Newbury Park CA. Merriam, S.B., 2002. Basic interpretive qualitative research. In: Merriam, S.B. (Ed.),
- Qualitative Research in Practice. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, CA, pp. 37–39.
 Merriam, S.B., 2009. Qualitative Research: a Guide to Design and Implementation. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, CA.
- Merry, S., Price, M., Carless, D., Taras, M., 2013. Reconceptualising Feedback in Higher Education: Developing Dialogue with Students. Routledge, London. https://doi.org/ 10.4324/9780203522813.
- Morse, J., 2002. Coding. A Users Guide to Qualitative Methods, third ed. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Orrock, P., Grace, S., Vaughan, B., Coutts, R., 2014. Developing a viva exam to assess clinical reasoning in pre-registration osteopathy students. BMC Med. Educ. 14 (1) https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6920-14-193.
- Ossenberg, C., Henderson, A., Mitchell, M., 2018. What attributes guide best practice for effective feedback? A scoping review. Adv. Health Sci. Educ. Theory Pr. 24 (2), 383–401. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-018-9854-x.
- Pearce, G., Lee, G., 2009. Viva voce (oral examination) as an assessment method: insights from marketing students. J. Mark. Educ. 31 (2), 120–130. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0273475309334050.
- Rasouli, R., Alipour, Z., Ebrahim, T., 2018. Effectiveness of cognitive learning strategies on test anxiety and school performance of students. Int. J. Educ. Psychol. Res. 4 (1), 20–25. https://doi.org/10.4103/jepr.jepr.84_16.
- Raymond, J.E., Homer, C.S.E., Smith, R., Gray, J.E., 2013. Learning through authentic assessment: an evaluation of a new development in the undergraduate midwifery curriculum. Nurse Educ. Pract. 13, 471–476.
- Roos, A.-L., Goetz, T., Voracek, M., Krannich, M., Bieg, M., Jarrell, A., Pekrun, R., 2020. Test anxiety and physiological arousal: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Educ. Psychol. Rev. 33 (2), 579–618. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-020-09543-z.
- Salamonson, Y., Metcalfe, L., Alexandrou, E., Cotton, A., Mcnally, S., Murphy, J., Frost, S., 2016. Measuring final-year nursing students' satisfaction with the viva assessment. Nurse Educ. Pract. 16, 91–96.
- Spielberger, C. D. (2010, January 30). Test anxiety inventory. The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology. (https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479216. corpsy0985).
- Tai, J., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Dawson, P., Panadero, E., 2018. Developing evaluative judgement: enabling students to make decisions about the quality of work. High. Educ. 76 (3), 467–481. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0220-3.
- Thomas, C.L., Cassady, J.C., Heller, M.L., 2017. The influence of emotional intelligence, cognitive test anxiety and coping strategies on undergraduate academic performance. Learn. Individ. Differ. 55, 40–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. lindif.2017.03.001.
- Thompson, J., Houston, D., Dansie, K., Rayner, T., Pointon, T., Pope, S., Grantham, H., 2017. Student & tutor consensus: a partnership in assessment for learning. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 42 (6), 942–952. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02602938.2016.1211988.
- Tong, A., Sainsbury, P., Craig, J., 2007. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int. J. Qual. Health Care 19 (6), 349–357. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzm042.
- Torrance, H., 2007. Assessment as learning? How the use of explicit learning objectives, assessment criteria and feedback in post-secondary education and training can come to dominate learning. Assess. Educ. Princ. Policy Pract. 14 (3), 281–294. https://doi. org/10.1080/09695940701591867.

B. Henderson et al.

- Vaismoradi, M., Tella, S., A Logan, P., Khakurel, J., Vizcaya-Moreno, F., 2020. Nurses' adherence to patient safety principles: a systematic review. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 17 (6), 2028. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17062028.
 Villarroel, V., Bloxham, S., Bruna, D., Bruna, C., Herrera-Seda, C., 2018. Authentic
- Villarroel, V., Bloxham, S., Bruna, D., Bruna, C., Herrera-Seda, C., 2018. Authentic assessment: creating a blueprint for course design. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 43 (5), 840–854.
- Villarroel, V., Boud, D., Bloxham, S., Bruna, D., Bruna, C., 2020. Using principles of authentic assessment to redesign written examinations and tests. Innov. Educ. Teach. Int. 57 (1), 38–49. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2018.1564882.
- Watling, C.J., Ginsburg, S., 2019. Assessment, feedback and the alchemy of learning. Med Educ. 53 (1), 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13645.
- Weigl, M., Schneider, A., 2017. Associations of work characteristics, employee strain and self-perceived quality of care in Emergency Departments: a cross-sectional study. Int. Emerg. Nurs. 30, 20–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ienj.2016.07.002.
 Yan, Z., Brubacher, S., Boud, D., Powell, M., 2020. Psychometric properties of the Self-
- Yan, Z., Brubacher, S., Boud, D., Powell, M., 2020. Psychometric properties of the Selfassessment Practice Scale for professional training contexts: evidence from confirmatory factor analysis and Rasch analysis. Int. J. Train. Dev. 24 (4), 357–373. https://doi.org/10.1111/jitd.12201.

Appendix 5.4 Ethics Approval



HUMAN ETHICS LOW RISK PANEL APPROVAL NOTICE

Dear Mrs Bridget Henderson,

The below proposed project has been **approved** on the basis of the information contained in the application and its attachments.

Project No: Project Title: Consensus study: comparing traditional and consensus marking in postgraduate nursing education

Primary Researcher: Mrs Bridget Henderson

2106

Approval Date: 02/07/2020

30/04/2021 Expiry Date:

Please note: Due to the current COVID-19 situation, researchers are strongly advised to develop a research design that aligns with the University's COVID-19 research protocol involving human studies. Where possible, avoid face-to-face testing and consider rescheduling face-to-face testing or undertaking alternative distance/online data or interview collection means. For further information, please ao to https://staff.flinders.edu.au/coronavirus- information/research-updates.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF RESEARCHERS AND SUPERVISORS

1. Participant Documentation

Please note that it is the responsibility of researchers and supervisors, in the case of student projects, to ensure that:

- all participant documents are checked for spelling, grammatical, numbering and formatting errors. The Committee does not accept any responsibility for the above mentioned errors.
- the Flinders University logo is included on all participant documentation (e.g., letters of Introduction, information Sheets, consent forms, debriefing information and questionnaires - with the exception of purchased research tools) and the current Flinders University letterhead is included in the header of all letters of introduction. The Flinders University international logo/letterhead should be used and documentation should contain international dialing codes for all telephone and fax numbers listed for all research to be conducted overseas.

Annual Progress / Final Reports

In order to comply with the monitoring requirements of the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research 2007 (updated 2018) an annual progress report must be submitted each year on the approval anniversary date for the duration of the ethics approval using the HREC Annual/Final Report Form available online via the ResearchNow Ethics & Biosafety system.

<u>Please note</u> that no data collection can be undertaken after the ethics approval expiry date listed at the top of this notice. If data is collected after expiry, it will not be covered in terms of ethics. It is the responsibility of the researcher to ensure that annual progress reports are submitted on time; and that no data is collected after ethics has expired.

If the project is completed *before* ethics approval has expired please ensure a final report is submitted immediately. If ethics approval for your project expires please <u>either</u> submit (1) a final report; <u>or</u> (2) an extension of time request (using the HREC Modification Form).

For <u>student projects</u>, the Low Risk Panel recommends that current ethics approval is maintained until a student's thesis has been submitted, assessed and finalised. This is to protect the student in the event that reviewers recommend that additional data be collected from participants.

Modifications to Project

Modifications to the project must not proceed until approval has been obtained from the Ethics Committee. Such proposed changes / modifications include:

change of project title;

- change to research team (e.g., additions, removals, researchers and supervisors)

 changes to research objectives;
- changes to research protocol;
- changes to participant recruitment methods;
- changes / additions to source(s) of participants;
- changes of procedures used to seek informed consent;

 changes to reimbursements provided to participants;
- changes to information / documents to be given to potential participants; changes to research tools (e.g., survey, interview questions, focus group questions etc); extensions of time (i.e. to extend the period of ethics approval past current expiry date).

To notify the Committee of any proposed modifications to the project please submit a Modification Request Form available online via the ResearchNow Ethics & Biosafety system. Please note that extension of time requests should be submitted prior to the Ethics Approval Expiry Date listed on this notice.

Adverse Events and/or Complaints

Researchers should advise the Executive Officer of the Ethics Committee on 08 8201-3116 or <u>human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au</u> immediately if:

- any complaints regarding the research are received;
- a serious or unexpected adverse event occurs that effects participants;
- an unforeseen event occurs that may affect the ethical acceptability of the project.

Yours Sincerely, Hendryk Flaegel *on behalf of* Human Ethics Low Risk Panel Research Development and Support <u>human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au</u> P: (+61-8) 8201 2543

Flinders University Sturt Road, Bedford Park, South Australia, 5042 GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, South Australia, 5001

http://www.flinders.edu.au/research/researcher-support/ebi/human-ethics/human-ethics_home.cfm

CONSENT FORM

Develop theoretical insights into postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of their learning experience with two different online assessments: traditional viva and viva using consensus marking.

This means you can say NO

RESEARCHERS: Bridget Henderson, Associate Professor Lucy Lewis, Professor Robyn Aitken, Professor Lucy Chipchase,

I have read the Participant Information Sheet and understand all of the information describing this study including that:

- the research is about my experience of participating in oral vivas using two different grading methods, traditional tutor judgment and consensus marking.
 - the researchers are asking for my permission to participate in an interview
 - my participation is anonymous, and information can no longer be identified, preventing anyone identifying my responses and preventing retrieval from the survey database
 - I don't have to give a reason if I choose not to participate
 - participating, or deciding not to participate at any time will not affect me in anyway, nor will it affect my current studies or future enrolment in any courses offered by Flinders University.
 - there is no direct benefit to me personally as a participant, but that by participating I might contribute to improving the way in which students are assessed in online oral vivas
 - the researchers are the only people who have access to the recorded audio data, which will be deidentified and stored in password protected computer files or locked up until it is destroyed
 - while information gained during the study may be published, I will not be identified

This research project has been approved by the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee (Project Number

2106). For more information regarding ethical approval of the project the Executive Officer of the Committee can be contacted

If you agree to participate, a copy of this form is available to download for you to keep

INFORMATION SHEET FOR PARTICIPATION IN RESEARCH

Title: Consensus study: comparing traditional and consensus marking in postgraduate nursing education.

Investigator:

Bridget Henderson PhD Candidate Lecturer College of Nursing and Health Sciences Flinders University Sturt Road, Bedford Park, South Australia, 5042 Tel: +61 8 8201 3254 E: bridget.henderson@flinders.edu.au

Supervisor(s):

Associate Professor Lucy Lewis Teaching Program Director (Self-Regulating Health Professions) Academic Lead Physiotherapy Member Caring Futures Institute College of Nursing & Health Sciences Flinders University Tel: 08 7221 8261 E: lucy.lewis@flinders.edu.au Professor Lucy Chipchase College of Nursing and Health Sciences Sturt Road, Bedford Park South Australia 5042 GPO Box 2100 Adelaide SA 5001 M: +61 412 133210 E: <u>lucy.chipchase@flinders.edu.au</u>

Professor Robyn L Aitken Deputy Dean Rural and Remote Health College of Medicine and Public Health Sturt Road, Bedford Park South Australia 5042 GPO Box 2100 Adelaide SA 5001 M: +61 417 276 112 E: robyn.aitken@flinders.edu.au

Description

The aim of this research project is to understand postgraduate emergency nursing students' perception of their experience of undertaking an oral viva examination using consensus marking and compare it to their experience of an oral viva examination using traditional tutor judgement.

How do I participate in this research project?

When you volunteer to complete four on-line surveys, one before and after each oral viva assessment for NURS8752 you can select the option to volunteer to take part in both the routine quality improvement process for evaluating the Topic, and the research project.

The anonymous data is collected by the Post Graduate Course Coordinator. When the Topic is finished and all grades are allocated, the anonymous data from all students who agreed to participate in the surveys for research are sent in a secure password protected file to the researchers to analyse.

The research team will not know if you have participated in the survey for quality improvement purposes or whether your data will be included or not included in the research project.

What if I do not want to participate in this research project?

There is an option at the end of each survey for you to select if you do not want to participate in the study. You can select to have your survey data only used for routine quality improvement processes and not the research project. You can if you prefer, select not to answer the survey for both the quality improvement and research project.

How this project benefits you and future students

The sharing of your experience will help in the development, implementation, and evaluation of a new method of assessing oral vivas in the online medium.

Withdrawal

You can withdraw at any time. However, once you have submitted any of the surveys that data cannot be removed from the research project because the surveys are anonymous and there is no way to identify or retrieve your individual data.

Are there any risks if I am involved?

No risks or discomforts are anticipated with your participation in this project. However, if you have any concerns regarding actual or potential risks or discomforts, please inform the supervisors of this project or the ethics committee. Should you require counselling support during or after participating in this project please contact Lifeline on 13 11 14 a free of charge 24-hour service. If you are a University student, you can also contact your Universities student support services.

Findings of the research

At the conclusion of the research project an email will be sent to all students who were enrolled in NURS8752 summarising the research findings.

How do I participate?

Participation is entirely voluntary. If you require additional information please feel free to email Lucy Lewis at Lucy.lewis@flinders.edu.au . Lucy is the primary supervisor for Bridget's PhD project.

Thank you for reading this information sheet and we hope you will accept our invitation to be involved in this research project.

This research project has been approved by the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee (Project Number 2106). For more information regarding ethical approval of the project the Executive Officer of the Committee can be contacted by telephone on 8201 2543, or by email human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au



Office of Graduate Research Room 003. Registry Building Bedford Park, SA 5042 GPO Box 2100, Adelaide 5001 Australia Email: hdrexams@flinders.edu.au Phone: (08) 8201 3854 Website: https://students.flinders.edu.au/my-course/hdr CRICOS Provider: 00114A

CO-AUTHORSHIP APPROVALS

In accordance with Clause 5, 7 and 8 in the HDR Thesis Rules, a student must sign a declaration that the thesis does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text or footnotes. There can be no exception to this rule.

- a. Publications or significant sections of publications (whether accepted, submitted or in manuscript form) arising out of work conducted during candidature may be included in the body of the thesis, or submitted as additional evidence as an appendix, on the following conditions:
 - I. they contribute to the overall theme of the work, are conceptually linked to the chapters before and after, and follow a logical sequence
 - they are formatted in the same way as the other chapters (i.e. not presented as reprints unless as an П. appendix), whether included as separate chapters or integrated into chapters
 - Ш they are in the same typeface as the rest of the thesis (except for reprints included as an appendix)
 - published and unpublished sections of a chapter are clearly differentiated with appropriate IV. referencing or footnotes, and
 - v unnecessary repetition in the general introduction and conclusion, and the introductions and conclusions of each published chapter, is avoided.
- b. Multi-author papers may be included within a thesis, provided:

 - the student is the primary author
 there is a clear statement in prose for each publication at the front of each chapter, recording the П. percentage contribution of each author to the paper, from conceptualisation to realisation and documentation.
 - The publication adheres to Flinders Research Publication, Authorship and Peer Review Policy, and
 - IV. each of the other authors provides permission for use of their work to be included in the thesis on the form below
- c. Papers where the student is not the primary author may be included within a thesis if a clear justification for the paper's inclusion is provided, including the circumstances relating to production of the paper and the student's position in the list of authors. However, it is preferable to include such papers as appendices, rather than in the main body of the thesis.

STUDENT DETAILS

Student Name	Bridget Henderson
Student ID	2082153
College	College of Nursing & Health Sciences
Degree	PhD
Title of Thesis	Developing nursing students' evaluative judgement: exploring the pedagogical concept in nursing education

CO-AUTHORSHIP APPROVALS FOR HDR THESIS EXAMINATION

PUBLICATION 3

This section is to be completed by the student and co-authors. If there are more than four co-authors (student plus 3 others), only the three co-authors with the most significant contributions are required to sign below.

Please note: A copy of this page will be provided to the Examiners.

r

Full Publication Details	Henderson, B., Chipchase, L., Golder, F., & Lewis, L. K. (2023). Developing student nurses' evaluative judgement in clinical practice tertiary education: A systematic scoping review of teaching and assessment methods. Nurse Education in Practice, 73, 103818–103818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2023.103818			
Section of thesis where publication is referred to	Chapter 5	pages	102-158	
Student's contribution to the publication	80 85 75	% %	Research design Data collection and analysis Writing and editing	

Outline your (the student's) contribution to the publication:

Bridget Henderson contributed to the conceptualisation of the research questions and research design with input from the supervisory team. Bridget Henderson conducted the data collection, screening of the literature was conducted by Bridget Henderson and Fleur Golder. Analysis of the results of the literature review was conducted by Bridget Henderson with input from the supervisory team. Bridget Henderson completed the initial draft of the manuscript the supervisory team edited multiple versions of the manuscript.

APPROVALS

By signing the section below, you confirm that the details above are an accurate record of the students contribution to the work.

Name of Co-Author 1	Lucy Lewis	Signed	Johns	Date	18/09/2024
Name of Co-Author 2	Lucy Chipchase	Signed	Uninda Bin	Date	20/09/2024
Name of Co-Author 3	Robyn Aitken	Signed	Rad	Date	26/09/2024

Appendix 6.2 Journal Permission

From: Permissions Helpdesk <permissionshelpdesk@elsevier.com>
Sent: Thursday, 2 May 2024 9:39 PM
To: Bridget Henderson <bridget.henderson@flinders.edu.au>
Subject: Re: Request permission in writing for my thesis [240501-006631]

Dear Bridget Henderson

We hereby grant you permission to reprint the material below at no charge in your thesis subject to the following conditions:

RE:

- Consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement: Comparing assessor and students, Nurse Education in Practice, Volume 63, 2022, Henderson et al.
- Developing student nurses' evaluative judgement in clinical practice tertiary education: A systematic scoping review of teaching and assessment methods, Nurse Education in Practice, Volume 73, 2023, Henderson et al.

1. If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgment to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies.

2. Suitable acknowledgment to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"This article was published in Publication title, Vol number, Author(s), Title of article, Page Nos, Copyright Elsevier (or appropriate Society name) (Year)."

3. Your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form.

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given. The material may not be reproduced or used in any other way, including use in combination with an artificial intelligence tool (including to train an algorithm, test, process, analyse, generate output and/or develop any form of artificial intelligence tool), or to create any derivative work and/or service (including resulting from the use of artificial intelligence tools).

5. This permission is granted for non-exclusive world English rights only. For other languages please reapply separately for each one required. Permission excludes use in an electronic form other than submission. Should you have a specific electronic project in mind please reapply for permission.

6. As long as the article is embedded in your thesis, you can post/share your thesis in the University repository.

7. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

8. Posting of the full article/ chapter online is not permitted. You may post an abstract with a link to the Elsevier website <u>www.elsevier.com</u>, or to the article on ScienceDirect if it is available on that platform.

Kind regards,

Roopa Lingayath

Senior Copyrights Specialist

ELSEVIER | HCM - Health Content Management

Visit Elsevier Permissions

Nurse Education in Practice 73 (2023) 103818



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Nurse Education in Practice



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/issn/14715953

Developing student nurses' evaluative judgement in clinical practice tertiary education: A systematic scoping review of teaching and assessment methods

Bridget Henderson^{*}, Lucy Chipchase, Fleur Golder, Lucy K. Lewis

Caring Futures Institute, College of Nursing and Health Sciences, Flinders University, Sturt Road, Bedford Park, 5042, GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, SA 5100, Australia

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T		
Keywords: Evaluative judgement Nursing Clinical practice Higher education Systematic review	Objectives: This review aimed to systematically scope undergraduate or postgraduate tertiary higher education nursing students' clinical practice teaching and assessment methods to identify features that align with promoting students' evaluative judgement. Introduction: Evaluative judgement is a new concept to nursing tertiary education. Currently, there are no published reviews of evaluative judgement in nursing clinical practice education. This review aims to assist nursing educators to operationalise the concept of evaluative judgement in clinical practice education. As such the starting point was to determine features of evaluative judgement in current clinical teaching and assessment designs. Inclusion criteria: Peer reviewed qualitative or quantitative studies that have evaluated teaching and/or assessment of tertiary (university/higher education) pre-registration (undergraduate) or post-registration (post-graduate) nursing students' clinical practice. Methods: The systematic scoping review was prospectively registered systematic review (OSF DOI 10.17605/OSF. IO/PYWZ6) reported using PRISMA guidelines. A systematic search of five databases (Medline, Scopus, Web of Science, ProQuest, CINAHL) was conducted, limited from 1989 onwards and in English. Two reviewers independently screened titles and abstracts, then full text, with disagreements resolved with a		
	third independent author. Data were extracted, including the frequency and methods of developing students' evaluative judgement across the categories of discerning quality, judgement process, calibration and feedback. A narrative synthesis was performed. <i>Results:</i> Seventy-one studies were included (n=53 teaching, n=18 assessment). Most of the included studies, included some, but not all, of the features to develop nursing students' evaluative judgment. For teaching methods, the most identified evaluative judgement features in the included studies were discerning quality (n=47), feedback (n=41) and judgement process (n=21). Only three studies included a method of calibration. For the assessment methods, feedback (n=16), discerning quality (n=15), judgement process (n=9) and calibration (n=4) were included. Many clinical practice teaching and assessment methods in nursing included features that develop students' evaluative judgement, with methods relating to discerning quality and feedback well embedded. Further adjustments are required to include methods to assist students to judge and calibrate their own performance. <i>Conclusion::</i> This systematic scoping review identified that evaluative judgement in current nursing clinical teaching and assessment design, nursing students could be better supported to develop their ability to judge the value of their own work.		

1. Background

On completion of their studies, nurses enter the workforce as

registered professional practitioners. This transition to clinical practice is often daunting as they no longer have access to clinical tutors or facilitators to provide direction and feedback on their performance

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* bridget.henderson@flinders.edu.au (B. Henderson).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2023.103818

Received 8 May 2023; Received in revised form 5 October 2023; Accepted 21 October 2023 Available online 31 October 2023 1471-5953/© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). (Hampton et al., 2020). Moreover, nursing regulatory standards expect qualified nurses to be reflective practitioners, able to recognise when they lack knowledge or skills, seek support and be lifelong learners to safeguard patient safety (NMBA, 2022). Thus, it is incumbent on higher education providers to support students to develop these capabilities. One concept that provides a foundation for the development of these capabilities is evaluative judgement and while not new, provides a language that could be embraced in assessment and teaching design (Fischer, 2019; Boud et al., 2018).

The concept of self-evaluation was initially raised by Sadler, (1989) pg.110) who theorised that "for students to be able to improve, they must develop the capacity to monitor the quality of their own work". This concept has been raised again in context of modern education and the term evaluative judgement has been introduced as "the capability to make decisions about the quality of work of self and others" and is increasingly viewed as an important graduate attribute for all health professionals (Hampton et al., 2020; Henderson et al., 2015; Tai et al., 2018). This is because developing evaluative judgement is thought to support the transition from student to practitioner where structured support and feedback from educators is no longer available (Boud et al., 2018).

Nursing students' clinical practice is supervised by clinical educators, preceptors or facilitators who provide students with feedback on their performance (Ford et al., 2016). Feedback methods in clinical practice education often fail to provide students with opportunities to engage in a dialogue with educators where they can explore and understand the assessment of their performance (Alfehaid et al., 2018; Atmaca, 2016; Bijami et al., 2016; Henderson et al., 2019; Nuuyoma, 2021; Paterson et al., 2020; Wong and Shorey, 2022). This deviates from contemporary theories on feedback practices (Boud and Molloy, 2013; Dawson et al., 2018; Molloy & Van De Riddler, 2018). Feedback should be positioned to provide students with opportunity for reflection, self-evaluation and active participation in their learning, supporting the concept of developing evaluative judgement (Henderson et al., 2021, 2022; Johnson et al., 2016; Ilangakoon et al., 2021). Evaluative judgement as a defined graduate attribute is relatively new in nursing education (Ilangakoon et al., 2022). Many activities in current nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment methods are well positioned to support students' development of evaluative judgement, such as, reflection, self-evaluation/assessment, peer review and co-creating assessments (Ibarra-Sáiz et al., 2020). This systematic scoping review will focus on the teaching and assessment methods used in clinical practice to assist nursing educators and curriculum designers operationalise the concept of evaluative judgement in clinical practice education. However, developing evaluative judgement is more than providing a selection of teaching activities or engaging students in reflection, self-assessment, or feedback conversations as it is a complex theoretical concept that involves orientating the learning pedagogies to include developing evaluative judgement as a learning outcome and should be scaffolded throughout the curricula (Boud et al., 2018).

Scholars in this field have identified several features needed to support students to develop this important capability (Boud et al., 2018; Gladovic et al., 2022; Johnson et al., 2016). Four features (discerning quality, judgement process, calibration and feedback) have been identified as having potential to provide educators with a framework for designing teaching and assessment activities to develop students' evaluative judgement. See Table 1 for the statement of meaning and examples of each feature.

Empirical research on evaluative judgement is limited (Khosravi et al., 2020) and research on observing students' evaluative judgement through teaching and assessing activities has been identified as a potential starting point for qualitative research (Gladovic et al., 2022). Integral to nursing education is the clinical teaching and learning activities where students can translate theory into practice (Jamshidi et al., 2016; Sweet and Broadbent, 2017). How students are socialised to the profession can be influenced by the quality of the clinical practice educational experience (Erlam et al., 2018). The introduction of

Table 1

Statement of meaning and key features of evaluative judgement

Features of Evaluative Judgement	Statement of meaning	Examples demonstrating methods of delivery
Discerning quality	Providing students with an understanding of what good work looks like as a benchmark to judge their own work against (Boud et al. 2018)	Students are provided with t following to help them identi what good quality work lool like: Standards or protocols Guidelines (including policie Demonstration (including video recordings, practical demonstration from experts) Instructions (including writt instructions) Discussion (about the expectations or requirement with educators or peers) For assessment methods - Exemplar/ or rubric (include examples of assignments, marking guides) Pre assessment discussion (includes any discussions in class or online about the requirements of the assessme
The judgement process	Providing students with opportunities to practice judging their work. before expert judgement is given (Boud et al. 2018)	peers) Students were provided the following ways to judge thei work: Self-evaluate (including self- assessment) Peer review (before grading expert) Comparison with others wor (Others include, other students, peers, experts, to assist in self-evaluation befor their work is judged) Grade predicting (students self-assess with the purpose grading their work before it
Calibration	Reviewing students' self- evaluation to challenge bias in the judgement process (Boud et al. 2018). Challenging where the work was sub-standard and identifying where work met the standard, in partnership with the student, supports students to develop evaluative judgement (llangakoon et al. 2022)	graded by an educator) Calibration occurred if the se evaluation/self-assessment was reviewed by the educate with the student.
Feedback	How feedback is delivered is key to successful engagement in fostering evaluative judgement (Molloy and Boud, 2012) Facilitating a feedback conversation to help students adjust their judgement and calibrate to the required standard (Molloy and Boud, 2012). Engaging students in reflection, self-evaluation, and feedback-dialogue to develop their skills in evaluative judgement (Ajjawi and Boud, 2017; Ilangakoon et al. 2022).	The feedback process was described as: Feedback conversation (students were engaged in a verbal exchange with the educator) Debriefing (students engaged in debriefing after a teaching or assessment activity) Coaching (students were coached on how to improve following a teaching or assessment activity) Written/Automated, (written feedback was provided eithe asynchronously or synchronously or synchronously, or answers were given after completing quiz, or answers/suggestioner

activity)

evaluative judgement to the clinical learning environment is particularly important to support students' clinical judgement (Høegh-Larsen, 2023). As such the starting point was to find the features of evaluative judgement in current clinical teaching and assessment designs.

This systematic scoping review focusses on the teaching and assessment methods used in clinical practice to assist nursing educators and curriculum designers operationalise the concept of evaluative judgement in clinical practice education. The aim was to systematically scope undergraduate and postgraduate tertiary higher education nursing students clinical practice teaching and assessment methods to identify the presence and type of features that align with promoting students' evaluative judgement.

The review question was: "What is known about the inclusion of features of evaluative judgement in undergraduate and postgraduate tertiary higher education nursing students clinical practice teaching and assessment methods"?

The findings from this review will inform educators on clinical practice teaching and assessment methods that may be adapted or replicated to support nursing students to develop evaluative judgement in clinical practice education.

2. Method

The review protocol was registered prospectively with the Open Science Framework DOI 10.17605/OSF.IO/ PYWZ6 and reported using PRISMA guidelines for systematic reviews (Rethlefsen et al., 2021). The review followed the methodology outlined by Peters et al. (2015) for systematic scoping reviews. The review questions were developed using a Population, Concept, Context (PCC) framework.

The concepts evaluative judgement, clinical practice, teaching and assessment methods were developed to search the literature for any evidence of evaluative judgement as an overt or unstated concept of clinical practice teaching and assessment methods.

2.1. Search strategy

Five electronic databases were searched from 1989 to April 27, 2022 (Medline, Scopus, Web of Science, ProQuest and CINAHL) using a peerreviewed search strategy supported by an academic librarian (Table 3). The search strategy included common terms for all PCC components, including the population and context (lines 1–2), evaluative judgement (line 4), clinical practice (lines 6–7) and teaching and assessment methods (lines 9–11, 13–14). In addition, line 9 of the strategy sought to capture the features of evaluative judgement, including feedback and self-evaluation, judgement, reflection, evaluation and self-assessment. Calibration as an activity is normally embedded in feedback, self-regulation and self-evaluation and was therefore not explicitly included as an individual search term. Wherever possible, both keyword and subject heading searches were completed in the databases. Citations were exported into Covidence© software and duplicates removed.

2.2. Study screening and selection

Two reviewers (BH/FG) screened 10 title and abstract citations independently and then met to discuss and compare interpretation of the eligibility criteria. Following this, the two reviewers independently

Table 2	
PCC Framework.	
ITEMS	OBJECT
Population	Nursing students
Concept 1	Evaluative judgement
Concept 2	Clinical practice
Concept 3	Teaching methods
Concept 4	Assessment methods
Context	University/tertiary higher education

Table 3

Search strategy (Ovid Medline).

Search Strategy	
-----------------	--

1 (nurs* adj2 (student* or trainee* or postgrad* or undergrad*)).ti,ab.

- 3 1 or 2
- 4 ("life long learn*" or "self regulate*" or "sustainable assess*" or "assessment for learning*" or "evaluative judgement").ti,ab
- 5 3 and 4
- 6 ("clinical practice" or "clinical competency" or "clinical skills" or "psychomotor skills" or "clinical knowledge" or competenc* or skill or ability* or aptitude or performance or capab* or proficien*).ti,ab.
 7 Clinical competence/ or Preceptorship/
- 8 6 or 7
- 9 (("clinical skill*" or "practical skill*" or "clinical knowledge") adj3 (assess* or judge* or reflect* or regulat* or evaluat* or grade or mark or feedback or "peer review" or "self evaluat*" or "self asses*")).ti,ab
- 10 ("clinical perform*" or "clinical practice" or "competency assessment" or "nurs* assessment*" or survey or report or measure or questionnaire or instrument or tool or scale or report).ti,ab.
- 11 educations measurement/ or curriculum/ or clinical education/ or nursing, practical/
- 12 9 or 10 or 11
- 13 ((teach* or learn*) adj2 ("clinical skill*" or "clinical pract*" or pract* or clinical or "psychomotor skill*" or "procedural skill*")).ti,ab
- 14 Simulation training/ or psychomotor performance/ or nursing, practice/
- 15 13 or 14
- 16 5 or (3 and 8 and 12 and 15)

screened all titles and abstracts. For any citations where the abstract was unavailable, or ambiguity existed, the citation was retained for full text screening. Conflicts were resolved through discussion between the reviewers and a third independent reviewer (LKL). Full text screening was similarly completed by two independent reviewers (BH/FG), with the third independent reviewer (LKL) consulted where conflicts were unable to be resolved.

3. Eligibility criteria

3.1. Inclusion

To be included, studies must have used an empirical design (qualitative or quantitative) and have evaluated teaching and/or assessment (formative or summative) of pre-registration (undergraduate) or postregistration (postgraduate) tertiary higher education (university) nursing students' clinical practice. Postgraduate students are registered nurses who have graduated with an entry level nursing qualification and are seeking to further their skills and knowledge in a particular area. The search was limited from 1989 onwards, as the key concept of evaluative judgement was established in the literature by Sadler in 1989. This timeframe was also chosen to capture more contemporary and sustainable approaches to teaching and assessment in nursing clinical practice education. Only English studies were included. Peer-reviewed published studies were selected as they are scrutinised by experts in the field and are recognised as scholarly, scientific and of high quality (Kelly et al., 2014).

Nursing clinical practice was defined as direct and indirect clinical activities. Direct clinical practice activities included any intervention or treatment that was being learnt through patient contact (Kakushi and Martinez Evora, 2014; Lee and Park, 2016) such as taking blood pressure, medication administration, conducting a health or physical assessment and therapeutic communication. Thus, studies that were in a clinical setting, such as a hospital, clinic or surgery were included. Studies that were in a clinical teaching setting that mimicked the real clinical environment, such as simulation with manikins or actors role-playing patients, computer-based low, high or mixed fidelity simulated programs and standardised patient scenarios were also included (Cant and Cooper, 2017). Education around indirect clinical practice activities such as leadership, documentation, or activities on

² students, nursing/
behalf of the patient in the absence of the patient were also included (Peddle et al., 2019).

3.2. Exclusion

Citations were excluded if they were non-nursing, reported theoretical approaches to clinical practice teaching or assessment, or focused solely on student experiences related to clinical practice placements. Studies reporting on Higher Degree by Research students, or students in vocational programs such as nursing assistants were excluded. All grey literature, theses, reports and conference abstracts / papers were excluded because there is no gold standard approach for rigorous systematic searching of grey literature (Adams et al., 2016; Godin et al., 2015). Grey literature does not go through the peer-review process as such the risk of bias may be higher (Higgins et al., 2011; Wong et al., 2013).

4. Data extraction

Two reviewers (BH & LKL) extracted the data from all eligible articles. Data were extracted including study characteristics, country of origin, aims, student characteristics, educational framework, teaching or assessment method and features of evaluative judgement – discerning quality, judgement process, calibration and feedback. The narrative descriptions and content of the clinical practice teaching and assessing methods were extracted to identify the reported number of features of evaluative judgement, as well as the specific method for delivering each feature, for example, the feature of 'discerning quality' may have been included in a teaching method with the inclusion of written instructions for students as the method of delivery (please refer to Table 1 for examples of methods demonstrating each of the features of developing evaluative judgement). After data extraction, two authors (BH & LKL) conducted a check to identify any inconsistencies in the data extraction. Inconsistencies were resolved in consultation with the third author (LC).

4.1. Data synthesis

A narrative synthesis was conducted to address the aims of the review, with data from the included studies organised in terms of frequency of occurrence of the features of evaluative judgement (Joanna Briggs Institute, 2022) and exploration of the clinical practice teaching and assessment methods under the framework of the features of evaluative judgement (Table 1). Critical appraisal to determine risk of bias was not completed, as the primary aim of the review related to identifying the features of evaluative judgement in the clinical practice teaching and assessment methods, rather than determining the effectiveness of these methods. Therefore, the appraisal related to appraising each of the teaching or assessment methods against the four features of evaluative judgement (Boud et al., 2018; Boud and Molloy, 2013; Gladovic et al., 2022; Johnson et al., 2016; Tai et al., 2018).

Studies reporting on teaching methods were separated from those reporting on assessment methods. For studies which reported multiple teaching and/or assessment methods, all were examined to determine the presence or absence of methods relating to the features of developing students' evaluative judgement.

5. Results

5.1. Study selection

A total of 3422 records were retrieved from the e-database search. Fig. 1 shows the flow of studies through the review. Following removal of duplicates, 2873 titles and abstracts were screened, followed by 318



Fig. 1. PRISMA Flow diagram. Adapted from: Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021;372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71.

full text articles. Seventy-one studies met the eligibility criteria and were included in the review. Of these, 53 included teaching methods in clinical practice education (Appendix 1) and 18 assessment methods in clinical practice education (Appendix 2).

5.2. Study characteristics

The 71 included studies were from the Middle East (n=22), Europe (n=18), Americas (n=16), Asia (n=11) and Australia and Oceania (n=4). Most of the studies (n=49) were published from 2011 to 2020, followed by 19 studies from 2021 to 2022 and three studies from 2000 to 2010. Sixty-one of the included studies included undergraduate (UG) student participants (n=22 1st year, seven=7 2nd year, n=13 3rd year n=2 4th year, n=16 not reported) and eight studies included postgraduate (PG) student participants (n=3 1st year, n=1 2nd year, n=3 not reported). Three further studies (Kielo-Viljamaa et al., 2021; Lee et al., 2020a, 2020b; Sterling-Fox et al., 2020) did not report whether student participants were UG or PG. The mean age of student participants in the included studies was 22 years. For studies which reported multiple teaching and/or assessment methods, data were extracted from the 'main' teaching or assessment method, with alternative methods, either in the same group, or a comparator group, not including information related to any of the features of evaluative judgement.

The results are presented in order of the aims. Data related to teaching methods is presented first followed by data related to assessment methods.

6. Results of individual studies: teaching methods in clinical practice education

Fifty-three of the 71 included studies reported a clinical practice teaching method for UG or PG nursing students (a full description of these studies is included in Appendix 1). Most of these studies used quantitative research designs (n=40), with a further seven qualitative studies and six studies using mixed methods.

The teaching methods included web based and virtual reality gaming (n=15), simulation using high and low fidelity manikins (n=15), simulation using manikins and using video recording for demonstration or self-evaluation of practice (n=14), standardised patients using actors (n=5), clinical skill practice using real patients (n=1), clinical skill practice using peers (n=1), simulation using imagery (n=1), case studies and peer to peer learning (n=1). Teaching activities were conducted face to face only (n=33), online only (n=11) and both face to face and online (n=9).

7. Evaluative judgement: teaching methods in clinical practice education

The 53 included studies reporting teaching methods in clinical practice education were evaluated for evidence of demonstrating the features of evaluative judgement, as outlined in Table 1 which were discerning quality, judgement process, calibration and feedback (Boud et al., 2018). A summary of the features and characteristics of evaluative judgement identified in the teaching methods is included in Table 4. The most identified evaluative judgement features in the included studies were discerning quality (n=47), followed by feedback (n=41), judgement process (n=21) and calibration (n=3).

7.1. Discerning Quality: method by which students can identify what quality work looks like

Eighty-seven per cent (n=47) of the studies reporting teaching methods were deemed to include the evaluative judgement feature of 'discerning quality'. These teaching methods provided students with a means to understand the standard that was required. The most common method to assist students with understanding quality work was through

demonstration (n=39), followed by standards and protocols, (n=15) and guidelines (n=15). Providing students with instructions was included in 68% of the studies reporting teaching methods. Thirty-six studies (68%) used two or more methods to assist students to understand what was required of them and what quality work looked like. Eleven studies only provided one method. Six studies did not report any method by which students could understand the standard that was required or provide an example of quality work.

7.2. Judgement process: method by which students can judge the quality of their work – before others pass judgement

Forty per cent (n=21) of teaching method studies reported a method by which students could judge their performance before they were given feedback or judged by the clinical educator. The most common methods were self-evaluation (n=13) and peer review (n=12).

7.3. Calibration: if self-evaluation occurred did the educator review the student's self-evaluation to help calibrate them to the required standard

Of the 13 studies which facilitated self-evaluation of clinical practice (identified under the judgement process feature), only three studies provided students with the opportunity to discuss their self-evaluation with a supervisor or educator so they could explore their perspective of performance against what was required.

7.4. Feedback: how did students receive feedback on their performance

Seventy-seven per cent (n=41) of the included teaching method studies reported how feedback was given. The most common methods were debriefing (n=22), written feedback (n=14) and automated feedback (n=10). The least common method for students to receive feedback on their performance was through feedback conversations (n=6).

Three studies reported teaching methods including all of the features to develop students' evaluative judgement (Aggar et al., 2018; Hardie et al., 2021; Smallheer et al., 2017). A further 12 studies included three of the four features for students to develop evaluative judgement (Basak et al., 2019; Chang et al., 2022; Hart et al., 2014; Hernández-Padilla et al., 2016; Higgins et al., 2019; Ravik et al., 2017; Rim and Shin, 2022; Sezgunsay and Basak, 2020; Stayt et al., 2015; Sterling-Fox et al., 2020; Strand et al., 2017; Surabenjawong et al., 2020) most commonly including characteristics relating to discerning quality, judgement process and feedback. The studies which reported three or more of the evaluative judgement features all used simulation laboratories commonly found in most nursing higher education facilities. Two studies (Chang et al., 2022; Rim and Shin, 2022), also reported three features of evaluative judgement for their teaching method which used virtual reality gaming and game-based platforms.

8. Results of individual studies: assessment methods in clinical practice education

Eighteen of the 71 included studies reported an assessment method for pre-registration undergraduate (UG) or post-registration (PG) nursing students. A full description of these studies is included in Appendix 2. Most these studies used quantitative research designs (n=11), with seven using qualitative designs. The assessment methods used were OSCE (n=7), case-based assessments (n=5), simulated and individual skill observation (n= 4), oral viva (n=1), peer assessment (n=1). Assessment activities were conducted face to face (n=14) and (n=4) were online. In terms of resources and time required for the assessment methods in the included studies, 12 used high or low fidelity simulation laboratories and three studies used case-based scenarios online. Two studies used virtual reality computer software to assess students. One study assessed students' clinical skills capability using real patients in the clinical placement setting of the student.

В.	
Henderson	
et	
al.	

6

Author	Discernin	g Quality					Judgeme	nt process				Calibration	Feedback	I.				
	Occurred	Standards or	Guide lines	Demonstration	Instructions	Discussion	Occurred	Self- evaluate	Peer review	Comparison with others	Grade predicting	Occurred	Occurred	Feedback conversation	Debriefing	Coaching	Written	Automated, (e.g quiz)
		protocols								work								
Aggar, et al. (2018)	Yes	х		х		х	Yes	х	x			Yes	Yes		х			
Aksoy and Pasli Gurdogan 2021	Yes			х	х		Yes	х				No	No					
Ali and John (2019)	Yes			x			No					No	No					
Arabpur et al. (2022)	Yes	х		x	x		No					No	Yes				х	
Bahar et al. (2017)	Yes			x			No					No	No					
Basak et al. 2018	Yes	х	х	x	x		Yes	х				No	Yes		х		х	
Bayram and Caliskan, (2019)	Yes			x	х		No					No	Yes				x	
Cardoso et al. (2012)	Yes			х			No					No	No					
Carrero-Planells et al. (2021)	Yes			х	x		No					No	Yes		х			
Chang et al. (2022)	Yes	х	х	х	х		Yes			х		No	Yes			х		x
Choi et al. (2021)	Yes			х	х		No					No	Yes	x				х
de Lima Lopes et al. (2019)	Yes			х	x		No					No	No					
Eyikara and Baykara, (2018)	Yes			х	x		No					No	Yes		x			x
Gray et al. (2019)	No						Yes		х			No	Yes		x			
Gunay Ismailoglu and Zaybak, (2018)	Yes			x	x		No					No	Yes				x	
Hardie et al. (2021)	Yes		х			х	Yes	х				Yes	Yes		х			
Hart et al. (2014)	Yes	х	х	x	x		Yes	х				No	Yes	x	х			
et al. (2016)	res			X	x		res		x	X		NO	res			x	x	x
Higgins et al. (2019)	res	x	х	x			Yes	x	x	x		No	Yes		x			
Hill et al. (2000) Holland et al. (2012)	NO			v	v		Yes	х	v	v		No	No					
Hošniak et al. (2013)	Ves			x	x		No		л	х		No	Ves				v	
Ismailoğlu et al. 2020	Yes			x	A		No					No	Yes		x		А	
Jaberi and	Yes			x	x		No					No	No					
Momennasab, (2019)																		
Johnson et al. (2014)	No						Yes	x				No	Yes					х
Jones et al. (2014)	Yes	х		х	x		No					No	Yes				х	
Keys et al. (2021)	Yes			х			No					No	Yes					х
Kim and Suh, (2018)	Yes			х			No					No	Yes					x
Kim et al. (2017) Kurt and Ozturk.	Yes Yes	х	х	x x	x x		No No					No No	Yes Yes				x	х
(2021)	Voc	w.			-		No					No	Voc				-	
McWilliams et al	No	А		л			Yes	v		x		No	Yes	x	л х			
(2021)	110						103	А		А		110	103	А	А			
Mehdipour –Rabori et al. (2021)	Yes	x		x	x		No					No	Yes		х	x	x	
Miranda et al. (2017)	Yes		x	х	x		No					No	Yes		х			
Onturk et al. (2019)	Yes		x		х		No					No	Yes		х			х
Oz and Ordu, (2021)	Yes			х	x		No					No	Yes					x
Prentice and	Yes				х		No					No	Yes		х			
O'Rourke, (2013) Rahnavard et al.	No						No					No	Yes			x		
(2013)																		

Table 4 (continued)

7

Author	Discerning Quality						Judgement process				Calibration	Feedback							
	Occurred	Standards or protocols	Guide lines	Demonstration	Instructions	Discussion	Occurred	Self- evalu	Pe ate re	eer eview	Comparison with others work	Grade predicting	Occurred	Occurred	Feedback conversation	Debriefing	Coaching	Written	Automated, (e.g quiz)
Ravik et al. (2017)	Yes	x	x		x		Yes	х					No	Yes	x	x	x		
Rim and Shin, (2022)	Yes	х	x	х	x		yes	x x					No	Yes		x		x	
Sarvan and Efe,	Yes			х	х		No						No	No					
Sezgunsay and Basak, (2020)	Yes	x		x	x		Yes	x					No	Yes		x		x	
Sheahan et al. (2015)	Yes	x	x	x	x	х	No						No	Yes	х	x			
Smallheer et al. (2017)	Yes				x		Yes	x x					Yes	Yes	x				
Smith and Hamilton, (2015)	No						No						No	No					
Stayt et al. (2015)	Yes	х	х	х			Yes					х	No	Yes				x	
Sterling-Fox et al. (2020)	Yes			x	x		Yes	хх					No	Yes				x	
Stone et al. (2020)	Yes		x	х	x		No						No	No					
Strand et al. 2016	Yes		x	х	x		Yes	x x					No	Yes		х			
Surabenjawonget al. 2020	Yes		х	x	x		Yes	Х					No	Yes		х			
Tan et al. (2017)	Yes				x		No						No	Yes				x	
Valizadeh et al. 2022	Yes				x		No						No	Yes		х			
Wright et al. (2008)	Yes				x		No						No	No					
Total	47	15	15	39	36	3	21	13 1	2		5	1	3	41	6	22	5	14	10

Key: Yes = this key feature was identified in the literature X = denotes what method was used.

Table 5

8

Features of evaluative judgement identified in studies of assessment methods in clinical practice education (n=18).

Author	Discernin	ng Quality						Judgeme	nt process	6			Calibration	Feedback	L C				
	Occurred	Exemplar/ or rubric	Standards or protocols	Guide lines	Demon stration	Instructions	Pre assessment discussion	Occurred	Self- evaluate	Peer review	Comparison with others work	Grade predicting	Occurred	Occurred	Feedback conversation	Debrie fing	Coaching	Written	Automated, (e.g quiz)
Avraham A	Yes					x		Yes	x				Yes	Yes	x	x			
et al. 2021 Borg Sapiano et al. (2018)	Yes			x		x		No					No	Yes				x	
Chong et al.	Yes	x	x	x		x		Yes	х				No	Yes	x				
(2010) Cormack et al. (2018)	Yes	x	x			x		Yes	x				Yes	Yes	x	x		x	
Dogru and Aydin, (2020)	Yes	x	х	x	x		x	No					No	Yes			x		
Henderson	Yes	x						Yes	x				Yes	Yes	x			x	
et al. (2021) Kielo-Viljamaa et al. (2021)	Yes					x		No					No	Yes	x	x			
Lee et al., (2020a), (2020b)	Yes	x						No					No	Yes				x	
Lynga et al. (2019)	Yes		x			x		Yes		x			No	Yes			x		
Marquez- Hernandez et al. (2019)	No							No					No	Yes		x			
Meskell et al. (2015)	No							No					No	Yes				x	
Ositadimma Oranye et al. (2012)	yes					x		No					No	No					
Rush et al. (2012)	Yes	x	x	x	x	x		Yes		x			No	Yes		x			
Solheim et al. (2017)	No							Yes	x	x			No	Yes		x			
Unsworth et al. (2016)	Yes					x	x	Yes	x		x		Yes	Yes		x			
Uzellli Yilmaz and Sari 2021	Yes		х	x	x	x		No					No	Yes				x	
Watts et al. (2009)	Yes				x	x		Yes	x				No	No					
Yildiz and Demiray, (2022)	Yes		x			x		No					No	Yes					x
Total	15	6	7	5	4	12	2	9	7	3	1	0	4	16	5	7	2	6	1

Key: Yes = this key feature was identified in the literature X = denotes the method used.

9. Evaluative judgement: assessment methods in clinical practice education

The 18 included studies reporting assessment methods were evaluated for evidence of demonstrating the features of evaluative judgement, including discerning quality, judgement process, calibration and feedback (Boud et al., 2018). A summary of the features and characteristics of evaluative judgement identified in the assessment methods is included in Table 1. The most commonly identified evaluative judgement features in the included studies were feedback (n=16), followed by discerning quality (n=15), judgement process (n=9) and calibration (n=4).

9.1. Discerning Quality: Method by which students can identify what quality work looks like

Eighty-three per cent (n=15) of the studies reporting assessment methods included the evaluative judgement feature of 'discerning quality'. These assessment methods provided students with a means to understand the standard that was required. The most common method to assist students with understanding quality work was through written or verbal instructions (n=12), followed by professional standards or protocols (n=7) and exemplars / marking rubrics, (n=6). The use of preassessment discussion, demonstration and guidelines were used less frequently. Fifty-six per cent (n=10) used two or more methods to assist students to understand what was required of them and what quality work looked like. Only four studies provided one method and three studies did not report any method by which students could understand what standard was required and what quality work looks like.

9.2. Judgement process: Method by which students can judge the quality of their work – before others pass judgement

Fifty per cent (n=9) of assessment method studies reported a method by which students could judge their performance before they were given feedback or judged by the clinical educator. The most common methods were self-evaluation (n=7) and peer review (n=3). One study provided opportunity for both self-evaluation and peer review before judgement was given by the clinical educator (Unsworth et al., 2016).

9.3. Calibration: If self-evaluation occurred did the educator review the student's self-evaluation to help calibrate them to the required standard

Of the nine studies which facilitated self-evaluation of clinical practice (identified under the judgement process feature), only four studies provided students with the opportunity to discuss their selfevaluation with a supervisor or educator so they could explore their perspective of performance against what is required.

9.4. Feedback: How did students receive feedback on their performance

Eighty-nine per cent (n=16) of the included assessment method studies reported how feedback was given. The most common methods were debriefing (n=7), written feedback (n=6) and feedback conversations (n=5). The least common method for students to receive feedback on their performance is through coaching and automated methods, e.g., quiz results or computer-generated responses, (n=1).

9.5. Assessment methods with high evaluative judgement components

Four studies reported assessment methods including all of the features to develop students' evaluative judgment (Avraham et al., 2021; Cormack et al., 2018; Henderson et al., 2021; Unsworth et al., 2016). A further three studies included three of the four features for students to develop evaluative judgement (Chong et al., 2016; Lynga et al., 2019; Rush et al., 2012). The most commonly included characteristics related to discerning quality, the judgement process and feedback. Five of the studies which reported three or more of the evaluative judgement features used simulation laboratories commonly found in most nursing higher education facilities. One study (Chong et al., 2016) situated the assessment in the clinical environment using real patients. One study (Henderson et al., 2021) used a simulated scenario online.

10. Discussion

This review aimed to systematically scope pre and post registration nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment methods to identify features that align with promoting students' evaluative judgement.

Implementing the concept of developing evaluative judgment into the teaching and assessment of nursing clinical practice could begin with embedding the four features discerning quality, judgement process, calibration and feedback into higher education curriculum design (Boud et al., 2018). Formative assessment has been identified as a place to introduce the concept of developing evaluative judgment (Tai et al., 2018). However, teaching clinical practice provides many opportunities for students to practice self-evaluation and for educators to engage in calibrating students understanding of quality work and professional standards. Therefore, to isolate developing evaluative judgement only to assessment of clinical practice is a missed opportunity in curriculum design. Fostering students' ability to recognise quality work in their own and others' work is not achieved by introducing a few activities. It requires scaffolding to achieve development over time including multiple opportunities for students to judge themselves and their peers and to be supported by educators who focus on developing students' evaluative judgement as a learning aim (Boud et al., 2018; Soledad Ibarra-Saiz et al., 2020; Yoshida et al., 2023). Most identified studies included some, but not all, of the features believed to promote the capability of evaluative judgment in nursing students.

10.1. Discerning quality

Most of the selected studies provide students with an understanding of what quality work looks like and the standard required to achieve quality work. The first feature discerning quality is important because if students are asked to judge their performance, they need to know what the standard is and what quality work looks like. Providing students with a benchmark to judge their performance in clinical practice teaching methods was most commonly achieved by providing a demonstration. Using video recordings and/or educators to demonstrate the clinical skill. In assessment methods, the most common methods to support students to understand the required standard was written or verbal instructions.

10.2. The judgement process

Providing students with opportunity to self-evaluate and judge themselves against the required standard before the educator provides judgement on their performance is an important step in fostering students' ability to recognise what quality work looks like and if their work is quality work. Developing this skill supports the concepts of reflective practice and life-long learning. Across the included teaching and assessment methods, the feature of 'judgement process' was rarely reported, with students seldom provided an opportunity to judge their own performance. Without a purposeful reflective approach to the judgement process opportunity to refine and explore that judgement is lost.

10.3. Calibration

Of the few studies that reported student self-evaluation, most did not describe whether students were able to discuss this with educators. This may represent a missed opportunity as self-evaluation and calibration is thought to facilitate students to develop their understanding of quality work (discerning quality). Students who miss this opportunity may continue to over or underestimate their own abilities (Høegh-Larsen et al., 2023). It was interesting that so few of the included teaching and assessment methods incorporated methods to develop students' judgement and calibration of their own performance. Facilitating students to judge and calibrate their own performance takes time and effort from both the student and the clinical educator (Lee et al., 2020a, 2020b). It is possible that methods of developing evaluative judgement were not prioritised due to perceptions of the time and resource burden. However, the seven studies that did include reviewing the students' self-evaluation did not report any additional time or resources.

10.4. Feedback

Most of the selected studies reported that they provided students with feedback. This is in line with most university requirements and existing evidence on the value of feedback for learning (Ajjawi and Boud, 2017; Molloy and Boud, 2012).

Methods of feedback appeared most often in the form of a 'debrief' as expected in the clinical simulation environment. Interestingly the 22 studies that included three or more of the features of evaluative judgement in teaching and assessment activities were simulation based. Clinical simulation can serve as an effective educational method to provide nursing students with experience and learning opportunities in a safe environment. Clinical simulation in nursing most commonly consists of a briefing, simulation conduct and a debriefing (Nyström et al., 2016). Specifically, the debriefing aims to foster students' performance, ability to identify and correct errors, clinical reasoning, decision making and clinical judgement (Dreifuerst, 2009; Fanning and Gaba, 2007). Debriefing has been shown to improve nursing student learning in clinical simulation(Lee et al., 2020a, 2020b), however, effective debriefing methods vary depending on the learning outcomes, the target learner and the context. While debriefs are commonly used in simulation, educators may not always provide students sufficient "air time" to discuss their perceptions of their own performance (Blatt et al., 2008). As most of the included studies did not report how feedback or debriefing were conducted, it was difficult to explore whether students could engage in a 2-way feedback dialogue or if they calibrated their self-evaluation. Simulation using debriefing is well positioned to foster students' evaluative judgement if educators provide opportunities for students to reflect and judge their own performance before judgement is given and for the students' self-evaluation to be calibrated using a bidirectional feedback conversation (Lee et al., 2020).

Learning is a dynamic process where students construct meaning and by engaging in verbal feedback, students can reason and explore through a social interaction with the clinical educator (Carless and Chan, 2017). However, not all feedback is provided as a verbal conversation. This does not suggest that only verbal feedback is effective or can be used to provide students with opportunities to develop their evaluative judgement. The features of developing evaluative judgement include facilitating students to practice recognising what quality work looks like and judging their work, supported by educators, who calibrate their understanding through feedback. Therefore, feedback could be verbal or written and there is no evidence to support one over the other in fostering nursing students' evaluative judgment. From an evaluative judgement lens, a feedback method should enable students to explore and reason with the clinical educator to better understand if their work is quality work and what quality work looks like.

11. Implications

This review has identified that current teaching and assessment methods in nursing clinical practice education have not widely embraced the concept of evaluative judgement in teaching and assessment design. Including the features of "judgement process and calibration" to current teaching and assessment designs has potential to foster and improve students' ability to recognise the value and quality of their work, thus developing their evaluative judgement. There are many implications for future research. This review provides a useful foundation regarding the presence of and methods for delivering each of the features of evaluative judgement in nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment methods. Future research should focus on the effectiveness of different methods of delivery and explore whether some aspects are more effective than others. Such an approach should also consider the views of educators and students, exploring student and educator satisfaction and resources required in the implementation of methods to develop evaluative judgement in nursing clinical practice education.

12. Strengths and limitations

This systematic review had several methodological strengths. A rigorous search strategy was developed, and peer reviewed by an academic librarian and PRISMA reporting guidelines were used (Page et al., 2021). The protocol was registered prospectively. The search was prospectively planned to identify relevant studies from 1989 onwards, as this is when the term 'evaluative judgement' first appeared in the literature. It is possible that this may have resulted in missing studies which may have explored the features of evaluative judgement before this time. However, given there were no relevant studies identified in the decade from 1989 to 1999, we are confident that the findings represent the current evidence for evaluative judgement features in studies reporting contemporary nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment activities. Limitations of the study are linked to the lack of research in nursing on embedding evaluative judgement in educational practice.

13. Conclusions

Many nursing clinical practice teaching and assessment activities in the literature included features that develop students' evaluative judgement, with methods relating to discerning quality and feedback well embedded. Importantly, this review found that the features of judgement process and calibration are rarely conducted and/or reported in nursing clinical practice education. As such students may miss opportunities to self-evaluate and judge their performance. Without this opportunity, it could be argued that students are not practicing reflective or lifelong learning skills both of which are important graduate qualities.

Without addressing the students' evaluation of performance to calibrate their understanding of the quality of their work students are unlikely to improve their judgement process over time and will likely continue to under or overestimate their performance. Embedding the features of evaluative judgement in teaching and assessment design has potential to support students as they transition from student to autonomous professional where they will need to be able to judge the value of their work without an educator providing that judgement for them.

Future research should explore the effectiveness of different clinical practice education approaches that aim to foster students' evaluative judgement and whether incorporating all four features aids student development of evaluative judgement. Future teaching and assessment activities for nursing students should explicitly aim to develop students' evaluative judgement, with a clear need for the development, implementation and evaluation of these activities in the tertiary context, as well as exploring transitions into the workforce.

Funding sources

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial

Appendix

Appendix 1

Included studies teaching methods in clinical practice education (n=53)

Author/year/country	Design	Aim	Sample UG or PG/year level/n=	Main findings
Aggar et al. (2018) Australia	Quantitative - Quasi-experimental	To examine the effectiveness of a time management intervention using simulation to improve nursing students' preparedness for medication administration in a clinical setting	UG/ 2nd year/ n=92 intervention group n=88 comparison group	The integration of time management and prioritisation strategies into clinical skills learning activities can effectively enhance students' preparedness for and confidence in medication administration in clinical practice
Aksoy and Pasli Gurdogan (2022) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	Examining effects of the flipped classroom approach on motivation, learning strategies, urinary system knowledge, and urinary catheterization skills of first-year nursing students	UG/1st year/ n=47	The skill and theoretical knowledge levels of the experimental group increased significantly compared to the control group. Test anxiety was lower in the experimental group
Ali and John (2019) Kingdom of Bahrain	Mixed methods - action research methodology	To examine the competency scores of practicing a clinical skill and the satisfaction level of nursing students on three instructional methods	PG/2nd year/n26	Unlimited access to an online self-paced video contributes to increased satisfaction among nursing students compared with other methods of teaching clinical skills but not to contribute significantly to increase their competency levels
Arabpur et al. (2022) Iran	Quantitative - RCT	To compare the effectiveness of demonstration using hybrid simulation versus tasktrainer for training nursing students in using pulse-oximeter and suction following cardiac arrest	UG/2nd year/n=45	The students who did not have an educational intervention did not perform as well as those who had the hybrid simulation and the task trainer simulation
Bahar et al. (2017) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	To examine the effects of the use of supported educational videos on the nursing student's skills to administer parenteral medication.	UG/1st year/n=80	The experimental group scores were higher than the control group and most of the students who were experimental group were quite satisfied
Basak et al. (2018) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	To compare the effects of standardized patient and low-fidelity mannequin use in teaching hygiene care	UG/1st year/n=80	The scores, satisfaction and confidence of the students in the experimental group were significantly higher than the control group. The students also felt they transferred the skills to the real setting feeling more prepared
Bayram and Caliskan (2019) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	Determining the effect of a game-based virtual reality phone application on tracheostomy care education for nursing students	UG/1st year/n=86	The first and last peristomal skin care skill performance scores of the students in the experimental group were higher than those of the control group
Cardoso et al. (2012) Brazil	Quantitative - Quasi-experimental study	To evaluate the effect of a video on the puncture and heparinization of TIAP in the development of cognitive and technical competencies	UG/3rd year/n=24	The use of an educational video with a simulation of puncture and heparinization of TIAP proved to be a strategy that increased both cognitive and technical knowledge
Carrero-Planells et al. (2021) Spain	Mixed-methods study.	To ascertain the degree of student satisfaction and explore how teachers perceive the inclusion of HFS as a teaching method	UG/2nd year/n=91	High-fidelity simulation produces good academic outcomes and is highly satisfying for students and teachers
Chang et al. (2022) Taiwan	A quasi- experimental	investigated integrating online game-based learning with the watch summarize- question strategy to improve nursing students' learning achievement, self-efficacy, learning engagement, and learning satisfaction in sputum suction skill training	UG/1st year/n=24	The experimental group, achieved statistically significant higher learning achievement, self- efficacy, learning engagement, and learning satisfaction than the control group
Choi et al. (2021) South Korea	Mixed methods study	To evaluate Flipped Classrooms feasibility in delivering respiratory system assessment content in a health assessment course and explored the changes in nursing students' perceptions regarding student-centeredness and active learning environments before and after applying FC	UG/2nd year/n=91	Increased student perception of teaching and social presences on their learning environment before and after Flipped Classroom, although these changes were not statistically significant
de Lima Lopes et al. (2019) Brazil	Quantitative - RCT	Test the efficacy of a video-assisted bed bath simulation on improving the performance of psychomotor skills of undergraduate nursing students	UG/2nd year/n=56	Video assisted bed bath simulation is associated with additional improvement of psychomotor skills
Eyikara and Baykara (2018) Turkey	Quantitative	To identify the impact of simulation on first-year nursing students' ability to learn vital signs	UG/1st year/n=90	Simulation had a positive effect on the ability of nursing students to measure vital signs
Gray et al. (2019) Australia	Qualitative exploratory study	To explore the experiences of first and second year nursing students in practicing clinical skills at using the peer-to-peer SNAPS	UG/1st and 2nd year/ n=47	Peer to peer teaching is an effective approach in supporting nursing students to apply and integrate nursing knowledge

(continued on next page)

the work reported in this paper.

endix 1 (continued) A

Author/year/country	Design	Aim	Sample UG or PG/year level/n=	Main findings
Günay İsmailoğlu and Zaybak (2018) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	compare the effectiveness of a virtual intravenous simulator with a plastic arm model in teaching intravenous catheter insertion skills to pursing students	UG/2nd year/n=66	The virtual simulator was an effective and reliable teaching tool and contributed to higher levels of student skill and satisfaction and lower levels of fear sumptoms
Hardie et al. (2021) Ireland	Mixed methods	To examine what is the student's evaluation of a blended learning strategy that used RLOs and simulation and does the application of online RLOs prepare students for practical simulation	UG/2nd year/n=167	The study supports the use of blended learning that incorporates RLOs and a practice simulation laboratory for medication management teaching and learning
Hart et al. (2014) USA	Quantitative quasi- experimental	To evaluate the effectiveness of a structured education curriculum with simulation to improve performance in recognizing and responding to APD events	UG/1st year/n=48	Findings support that the use of combined teaching strategies is effective in improving students' performance in managing clinical deterioration
Hernández-Padilla et al. (2016) Spain	Quantitative quasi- experimental	To evaluate whether a short simulation-based workshop in radial artery puncture would improve nursing students' competence to a level in which they could practise the procedure on a live patient without compromising patient safety	UG/3rd year/n=86	After the intervention, a total of 61.1% of the participants showed the level of competence required to safely practice radial artery puncture on a live patient under supervision
Higgins et al. (2019) USA	Quantitative - RCT	To compare an online teaching method to traditional face to face teaching of clinical skills	PG/1st year/n=129	The findings of this project, indicate no significant difference in the performance of the students from the two groups
Hill et al. (2000) USA	Quantitative	To determine if video playback would improve performance of psychomotor clinical skills and increase participant satisfaction with the learning process while requiring minimal instructor time	UG/NR/n=21	Results showed improved performance and learner satisfaction
Holland et al. (2013) UK	Mixed methods	To evaluate the use of an online best practice exemplar as an adjunct to the clinical skills	UG/1st year/n=509	Improves student assessment results and satisfaction ratings. Also reported to positively influence all themes identified in Classroom Learning and was perceived to promote the Transfer to Practice of teaching input
Hošnjak et al. (2019) Croatia	Quantitative prospective RCT	To determine how teacher demonstrations and video content affect the development of practical skills in the administration of intravenous therapy by nursing undergraduate students	UG/1st year/n=48	Video demonstrations are an excellent aid for revising already acquired knowledge and skills, but not as the primary means of teaching, without explanation and practice, especially for those students encountering certain skills for the first time
Ismailoğlu et al. (2020) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	To compare the effect of the virtual simulator and video assisted teaching on the level of intravenous catheterization skills and self-confidence of nursing students	UG/2nd year/n=60	The results suggest that when compared with video teaching, teaching with the VIS contributed to the students' skills while it has no effect on knowledge levels, there was no difference in confidence levels between to two groups
Jaberi and Momennasab (2019) Iran	Quantitative - RCT	to evaluate the effect of using Standardised patients on the performance of nursing students in the physical examination of the abdomen	UG/3rd year/n=87	The study demonstrated that the SP method is as effective as the lecture-based education method in performing the physical Examination. The method was more attractive and enjoyable to the students
Johnson et al. (2014) USA	Quantitative quasi- experimental	Comparing the students' level of knowledge and skill relating to managing acutely ill patients using web based and simulation	PG/NR/NR	Students in the Web training group had significantly higher performance evaluation scores post-training as compared with pre- training evaluation scores
Jones et al. (2014) USA	Quantitative - RCT	To examine the effectiveness of two training methods for peripheral intravenous (IV) cannulation; one using rubber mannequin IV training arms, and the other consisting of students performing the procedure on each other	UG/NR/n=178	The data suggest that using rubber mannequin IV arms for IV skills training may be just as effective as training students using traditional methods
Keys et al. (2021) Canada	Quantitative - RCT	To evaluate the effect of a resuscitation-oriented VSG, when implemented as a pre- simulation preparation adjunct, on the performance of senior level nursing students during an advanced cardiac life support clinical simulation	UG/4th year/n=20	A significant difference in the performance of nursing students undergoing a resuscitation- oriented clinical simulation after having only been provided the VSG for four days
Kim and Suh (2018) South Korea	Quantitative - RCT	To evaluate the effect of an interactive nursing skills mobile application for nursing students	UG/NR/n=66	Nursing knowledge, self-efficacy, and nursing skills performance were enhanced after learning through the use of an ICNS app
Kim et al. (2017) South Korea	Quantitative - RCT	To develop a smartphone-based application and to evaluate the effectiveness of the application	UG/3rd year/n=73	The smartphone-based education group showed significantly higher scores on skills and confidence in performance. Satisfaction with the learning method were higher than for the control group, but the differences were not statistically significant
Kurt and Ozturk (2021) Turkey	Quantitative	To evaluate the effect of Mobile Augmented Reality (MAR) educational materials on the knowledge and skill levels of nursing students on injection practices	UG/1st year/n=122	It was determined that MAR applications had a positive effect on the knowledge and skill levels of nursing students regarding injection practices

(continued on next page)

pendix 1 (continued)

Author/year/country	Design	Aim	Sample UG or PG/year level/n=	Main findings
				and provided persistence in the learned knowledge and skills
Lee et al. (2019) Taiwan	Quantitative	To explore the effects of simulation-based learning (SBL) on nursing student competences and performance in the clinical setting	UG/2nd year/n=100	Scores in the intervention groups were consistently higher than those in the control
McWilliams et al. (2021) USA	Quantitative - RCT	To explore if the learner simulation order (LSO) within the cooperative learning team as 1st, 2nd or 3rd learner, had an impact on nursing students' performance on the haptic IV simulator while learning IV catheter insertion	PG/1st year/n=90	This study indicates that cooperative learning is useful framework for structuring team learning in clinical simulation context. LSO is an important variable to consider when structurin clinical simulation teams
Mehdipour –Rabori et al. (2021) Iran	Quasi-experimental study	Assess the effect of simulation-based mastery learning on the clinical skills of undergraduate nursing students from 2017 to 2019	UG/3rd year/n=105	Mastery method of teaching was more effective in training clinical skills and these students achieved higher grades
Miranda et al. (2017) Brazil	Quantitative - RCT	To evaluate the effectiveness of a simulated bed bath scenario on improving cognitive knowledge, practical performance and satisfaction among nursing students	UG/NR/n=58	The teaching strategy based on a simulated scenario of a bed bath proved to be effective for the acquisition of cognitive knowledge regardin bed baths in clinical practice and improved student satisfaction with the teaching process
Onturk et al. (2019) Pakistan	Semi-experimental study	To evaluate the effects of simulation techniques on learning outcomes in the teaching of safe drug applications	UG/1st year/n=58	Simulation had a positive effect on learning outcomes
Dz and Ordu (2021) Turkey	Semi-experimental study	To review the effects of Kahoot usage within the framework of web-based education evaluation regarding the intramuscular injection knowledge and skills of nursing students	UG/1st year/n=110	The findings showed that the experimental grou had significantly higher mean scores in knowledge scores and skill performance for intramuscular injection
Prentice and O'Rourke (2013) Canada	Quantitative	Quality improvement project to increase student nurses knowledge and skill in caring for clients receiving a blood transfusion	UG/2nd year/n=62	Engaging students in the high-fidelity blood transfusion simulation learning experience increases their knowledge of the process and content related to reacting to these types of patient responses
Rahnavard et al. (2013) Iran	Quantitative	To investigate the effectiveness of the application of the clinical teaching associate (CTA) model in nursing students' clinical skills and to assess the participants' level of satisfaction with the CTA model and with achieving the educational goal	UG/3rd year/n104	The CTA model is an effective method for developing clinical skills in nursing students in Iran as a developing country
Ravik et al. (2017) Norway	Qualitative	Explore, describe and compare learning actions that nursing students used during peripheral vein cannulation training on a latex arm or each other's arms in a clinical skills centre	UG/2nd year/n=9	Nursing students engaged primarily in 'seeking and giving support'. Students training on a latex arm were engaged mainly in student-centred interactions, while those training on each other's arms were involved mainly in teacher-centred
Rim and Shin (2022) Korea	Mixed methods	To develop a multi-user virtual simulation program for metacognition and evaluate the students' satisfaction, clinical judgment, and nursing competencies	UG/NR/n=45	The findings suggest that the use of virtual simulation is effective in enhancing nursing competence by enhancing metacognition
Jarvan and Efe (2022) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	Determining the impact of integrating serious game simulation (SGS) into neonatal resuscitation training on the neonatal resuscitation related knowledge, skills, satisfaction with training, and self confidence in learning of nursing students	UG/3rd year/n=90	Serious game simulation application used in neonatal resuscitation training was effective in raising the students' ventilation and compressio performing skills
Sezgunsay and Basak (2020) Turkey	Quantitative	To investigate the effectiveness of moulage in improving clinical skills of nursing students for the assessment of pressure injury according to Kirkpatrick's model (levels 1–3)	UG/4th year/n=73	Simulation with moulage was effective in improving the skills of nursing students who received training for pressure injury assessmen and in transferring what they learned to the clinical setting
Sheahan et al. (2015) Ireland	Quantitative - RCT	To test the effectiveness of teaching clinical skills using a multiple intelligences teaching approach (MITA) compared with the	UG/1st year/n=90	The study findings support the use of MITA for clinical skills teaching and advance the understanding of how MI teaching approaches may be used to available advance the
mallheer et al. (2017) USA	Qualitative	To provide an opportunity for students to engage in a video-recorded peer-to-peer evaluation activity for both physical examination and psychomotor skills checkoffs	UG/NR/n=14	Self- and peer evaluation and reflection throug the use of video-recorded student performances provide opportunities for studen to learn from their own mistakes in a safe environment
mith and Hamilton (2015) USA	Quantitative	To evaluate the effectiveness of VR simulation as a teaching strategy for preparation of students for successful performance and validation of Foley catheter insertion by generic associate degree nursing (ADN) students	UG/NR/n=20	Findings from this study support use of virtual reality simulation as a supplemental tool for teaching students' critical steps in clinical skills such as the insertion of a Foley catheter
Stayt et al. (2015) UK	Quantitative - RCT	To explore the effectiveness of clinical simulation in improving the clinical performance of	UG/3rd year/n=98	The intervention group performed significantly better in the post objective structured clinical examination and was

(continued on next page)

Appendix 1 (continued)

Author/year/country	Design	Aim	Sample UG or PG/year level/n=	Main findings
		recognizing and managing an adult deteriorating patient in hospital		significantly more satisfied with their teaching method. There was no significant difference in the post intervention General Perceived Self Efficacy and Self-Reported Competency scores
Sterling-Fox et al. (2020) USA	Qualitative	To explore an innovative teaching activity of using video selfie to improv psychomotor nursing skills	NR/NR/n=15	Students demonstrated confidence to perform the skills and to accurately list each step required to perform the skills
Stone et al. (2020) Australia	Qualitative	To explore the meaning of undergraduate nursing students' experiences of using video podcast as an adjunct to existing teaching methods in developing confidence in clinical skills	UG/2nd year/n=10	This study provides an insight into the students' engagement with video podcasts in relation to their confidence in clinical skills development, and indicate that students value the use of video podcasts in their learning of clinical skills
Strand et al. (2016) Norway	Qualitative	To get information on how nursing students react to, think about and learn from digital recordings in the skills laboratory as learning and teaching method over time	UG/1st year/n=55	The use of cameras proved to be useful, as an expressive tool for peer learning because video recording enhances self-assessment, reflection, sensing, psychomotor performance and discovery learning
Surabenjawong et al. (2020) Thailand	Quantitative	To evaluate whether peer-to peer teaching is not inferior to standard teaching in basic airway management	UG/NR/n=48	Nursing students trained in basic airway management by the peer-to-peer method did not show inferiority compared with the standard group
Tan et al. (2017) Singapore	Quantitative - RCT	To describe the development and evaluation of a serious game to improve nursing students' knowledge, confidence, and performance in blood transfusion	UG/2nd year/n=111	The study provided evidence on the effectiveness of a serious game in improving the knowledge and confidence of nursing students on blood transfusion practice
Valizadeh et al., (2021) Iran	Quantitative	To compare the effects of role play simulation and demonstration on paediatric PVC insertion skill among baccalaureate nursing students	UG/3rd year/n=45	The findings showed that both demonstration and role play simulation significantly improved paediatric PVC insertion skill among nursing students, but no significant difference was found between these two methods
Wright et al. (2008) UK	Quantitative	To evaluate the effect of PETTLEP-based imagery training on nursing skill performance	UG/NR/n=56	Students who received PETTLEP training for blood pressure measurement performed statistically significantly better than those who did not. The training did not have a statistically significant effect for aseptic techniques

Appendix 2 Included studies assessment methods in clinical practice education (n=18)

Author	Design	Aim	Sample UG or PG/year level/n=	Main findings
Avraham et al. (2021) Israel	Quantitative	To examine the influence of simulation-based learning of the medication administration process, on satisfaction, self-perception of preparedness, and clinical performance of students who practice simulation either individually or in a group	UG/3rd year/ n=128	The simulation experience increased participants' preparedness both when designed for an individual student and for a group of students. The association between simulation performance and clinical performance was mediated by preparedness after simulation in the individual sample, but not in the group sample
Borg Sapiano et al. (2018) Malta	Quantitative	To investigate the effectiveness of virtual simulation in improving student nurses' knowledge and performance during rapid patient deterioration	UG/2nd and 3rd year/ n=335	A statistically significant improvement in the participants' knowledge scores was observed
Chong et al. (2016) Singapore	Quantitative	To examine the use of authentic assessment pedagogy and its impact on the improvements in nursing students' learning domains during clinical practice	UG/1st year/ n=54	The findings confirmed that learning outcomes of the nursing students were enhanced through the early introduction of the authentic assessment pedagogy in the clinical setting
Cormack et al. (2018) USA	Quantitative	To evaluate the effectiveness of implementing a 360 Degree Evaluation of clinical competency of graduate advanced practice nursing students	PG/NR/n=54	The 360 Degree Evaluation Model provided a comprehensive evaluation of the student and critical information for the faculty ensuring individual student and cohort data and ability to analyse cohort themes
Dogru and Aydin (2020) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	To compare the effectiveness of high-fidelity simulator and traditional teaching method on nursing students' knowledge and skill development in terms of cardiac auscultation and their anxiety levels	UG/1st year/ n=72	The results showed that the use of high-fidelity simulator in nursing education was more effective than traditional method in terms of improving the students' knowledge, skill levels for cardiac auscultation and reducing their anxiety
Henderson et al. (2021) Australia	Qualitative	To explore postgraduate nursing students' perceptions about their experience of online oral viva examination and the use of consensus marking	PG/1st year/ n=13	Students perceived that the online viva creating some anxiety but was relatable to their workplace and they preferred this assessment method to others. Students perceived that consensus marking enabled self-evaluation and reflection provided an opportunity for beneficial critical reflective discussions, and facilitated a positive shift in the power dynamics between the student and assessor

(continued on next page)

_

Appendix 2 (continued)

ppenan = (conustacu))			
Author	Design	Aim	Sample UG or PG/year level/n=	Main findings
Kielo- Viljamaa et al. (2021) Finland	Qualitative	To describe the development and use of a wound care simulation assessing RNs' and graduating student nurses' practical wound care competence and to describe observations of participants' wound care competence	NR/NR/ n=50	The findings demonstrated competence in consultation, dressing selection, identification of signs of wound infection, and tissue type. Shortcomings were related to pain management, asepsis, bacteria sampling, offloading, and documentation
Lee et al. (2020) Taiwan	Quantitative	To develop and validate a six-station OSCE for evaluating the clinical competency of the student nurses before graduation	UG/3rd year/ n=100	The mean OSCE score of students who passed the registered nurses' examination was significantly higher than that of students who failed. Significant differences in OSCE score between students who remain versus left clinical job were observed at 3, 6 and 9 months after graduation
Lynga et al. (2019) Sweden	Quantitative	To compare OSCE assessments made by student examiners and faculty examiners during the examinations of two clinical skills in undergraduate nurse education	UG/3rdy year/n=148	the level of agreement between student and faculty examiners was high when using an OSCE protocol in clinical examinations of two different clinical skill tasks. The structured checklist (OSCE protocol) was easy to use for the student examiners despite the lack of experience or training in advance
Marquez- Hernandez et al. (2019) Spain	Quantitative	To design, develop and implement a tool to evaluate the clinical skills of nursing students	UG/2nd year/n=250	In the first phase, experts confirmed that the content and technical aspects of the tool were adequate. The participants showed higher final scores in the evaluated skills section, as well as shorter evaluation time and a greater number of observations and registered incidents. The students of indicated a greater degree of satisfaction with the evaluation system used
Meskell et al. (2015) Ireland	Quantitative	To explore electronic OSCE delivery and evaluate the benefits of using an electronic OSCE management system. To explore assessors' perceptions of and attitudes to the computer based package	PG/1st year/ n=230	Assessors' satisfaction with the software was high. Analysis of assessment results can highlight issues around internal consistency being moderate and examiners variability
Ositadimma Oranye et al. (2012) Malaysia	Quantitative	To assess the clinical competence of practising nursing students' through OSCE	PG/NR/ n=311	The findings revealed that 14% of the nurses had level four competence, which indicated that they could perform the tasks correctly and complete. However, 12% failed the OSCE, even though they had more than 10 years experience in nursing and post basic qualifications
Rush et al. (2012) UK	Qualitative	To implement a peer assessment scheme for clinical skills within a skills laboratory and the link between peer assessment and clinical skills development	UG/1st year/ n=NR	Students identified giving and receiving peer feedback, reflection and working with peers in small groups as being particularly valuable in clinical skills learning. Increased confidence was also a dominant finding as was the value of repeated practice in a simulation setting on skills development
Solheim et al. (2017) Norway	Quantitative	To develop a tool for formative assessment with structured concepts for excellent practice of clinical skills to enhance students' learning process. To evaluate use of the formative assessment tool during clinical skills training using high-fidelity simulation	UG/1st year/ n=129	The tool provided a structure for self-assessment and made visible items that are important to be aware of in clinical skills
Unsworth et al. (2016) UK	Quantitative	To explore the discovery of discrepancy between the student's current and perceived optimal performance following participation in simulation exercises	UG/2nd year/n=70	There was also a statistically significant difference in the scores following each simulation session suggesting improved performance
Uzellli Yilmaz and Sari (2021) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	To examine the effect of simulation-based learning on IV therapy administration knowledge, performance and clinical assessment skills of first-year nursing students	UG/1st year/ n=62	There was a statistically significant difference between groups in terms of knowledge, IV catheter insertion performance in simulation and clinical assessment to classify IV therapy complications on real patients. Satisfaction and self-confidence scale scores were significantly higher. There was no significant difference in simulation design scale scores between the two groups
Watts et al. (2009) Canada	Qualitative	To pilot an approach to self-assessment using video taped self-assessment	UG/1st year/ n=86	Students overrated their performance and assessed themselves more favourably than faculty
Yildiz and Demiray (2022) Turkey	Quantitative	Investigate the use of virtual reality in nursing student training for intravenous catheterization and fluid delivery	UG/NR/ n=52	It was found that virtual reality technology had a positive effect on students' achievement levels in developing intravenous catheterization and fluid delivery application skill

References

- Adams, J., Hillier-Brown, F.C., Moore, H.J., Lake, A.A., Araujo-Soares, V., White, M., Summerbell, C., 2016. Searching and synthesising "grey literature" and "grey information" in public health: Critical reflections on three case studies. Syst. Rev. 5, 164 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-016-0337-y.
 Aggar, C., Bloomfield, J.G., Frotjold, A., Thomas, T.H.T., Koo, F., 2018. A time management intervention using simulation to improve nursing students' preparedness for medication administration in the clinical existing: a querier for the studies.
- preparedness for medication administration in the clinical setting: a quasi-

experimental study. Collegian 25, 105-111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. colegn.2017.04.004

- Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., 2017. Researching feedback dialogue: an interactional analysis approach. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 42, 252-265. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02602938.2015.1102863.
- Aksoy, B., Pasli Gurdogan, E., 2022. Examining effects of the flipped classroom approach on motivation, learning strategies, urinary system knowledge and urinary catheterization skills of first-year nursing students. e12469-n/a Jpn. J. Nurs. Sci. 19. https://doi.org/10.1111/jjns.12469.

Ali, N.S., John, B., 2019. Examining the efficacy of online self-paced interactive videorecordings in nursing skill competency learning: seeking preliminary evidence through an action research. Med. Sci. Educ. 29, 463-473. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 40670-019-00714-4

- Alfehaid, L.S., Qotineh, A., Alsuhebany, N., Alharbi, S., Almodaimegh, H., 2018. The perceptions and attitudes of undergraduate healthcare sciences students of feedback: a qualitative study. Health Prof. Educ. 4, 186–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j pe.2018.03.002
- Arabpur, A., Farsi, Z., Butler, S., Habibi, H., 2022. Comparative effectiveness of demonstration using hybrid simulation versus task-trainer for training nursing students in using pulse-oximeter and suction: a randomized control trial. Nurse Educ. Today 110, 105204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.105204.

Atmaca, C., 2016. Contrasting perceptions of students and teachers: written corrective feedback. J. Lang. Linguist. Stud. 12, 166-182.

Avraham, R., Shor, V., Kimhi, E., 2021. The influence of simulated medication administration learning on the clinical performance of nursing students: a comparative quasi-experimental study. Nurse Educ. Today 103. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104947.

Bahar, A., Arslan, M., Gokgoz, N., Ak, H., Kaya, H., 2017. Do parenteral medication administration skills of nursing students increase with educational videos materials? Int. J. Caring Sci. 10, 1514-1525.

Basak, T., Aciksoz, S., Unver, V., Aslan, O., 2019. Using standardized patients to improve the hygiene care skills of first-year nursing students: a randomized controlled trial. Collegian 26, 49-54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2018.03.005.

Bayram, S.B., Caliskan, N., 2019. Effect of a game-based virtual reality phone application on tracheostomy care education for nursing students: a randomized controlled trial. Nurse Educ. Today 79, 25-31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.05.010.

Bijami, M.A., Pandian, M.K.M., Singh, 2016. The relationship between Teacher's written feedback and student's' writing performance: sociocultural perspective. Int. J. Educ. Lit. Stud. 4, 59-66.

Blatt, B., Confessore, S., Kallenberg, G., Greenberg, L., 2008. Verbal interaction analysis: viewing feedback through a different lens. Teach. Learn. Med. 20, 329-333. https:// doi.org/10.1080/10401330802384789

Borg Sapiano, A., Sammut, R., Trapani, J., 2018. The effectiveness of virtual simulation in improving student nurses' knowledge and performance during patient deterioration: a pre and post test design. Nurse Educ. Today 62, 128-133. https:// doi.org/10.1016/i.nedt.2017.12.025.

Boud, D., Ajjawi, R., Dawson, P., Tai, J., 2018. Developing Evaluative Judgement in Higher Education: Assessment for Knowing and Producing Quality Work, first ed. Milton: Routledge,, Milton. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315109251

Boud, D., Molloy, D., 2013. Rethinking models of feedback for learning: the challenge of design. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 38, 698–712.

Cant, R.P., Cooper, S.J., 2017. Use of simulation-based learning in undergraduate nurse education: an umbrella systematic review. Nurse Educ. Today 49, 63-71. https:// doi.org/10.1016/i.nedt.2016.11.015.

Cardoso, A.F., Moreli, L., Braga, F., Vasques, C.I., Santos, C.B., Carvalho, E.C., 2012. Effect of a video on developing skills in undergraduate nursing students for the management of totally implantable central venous access ports. Nurse Educ. Today 32, 709-713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2011.09.012. Carless, D., Chan, K.H., 2017. Managing dialogic use of exemplars. Assess. Eval. High.

Educ. 42 (6), 930–941.

Carrero-Planells, A., Pol-Castañeda, S., Alamillos-Guardiola, M.C., Prieto-Alomar, A., Tomás-Sánchez, M., Moreno-Mulet, C., 2021. Students and teachers' satisfaction and perspectives on high-fidelity simulation for learning fundamental nursing procedures: a mixed-method study. Nurse Educ. Today 104. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104981.

Chang, Chung, M.H., Yang, J.C., 2022. Facilitating nursing students' skill training in distance education via online game-based learning with the watch-summarizequestion approach during the COVID-19 pandemic: a quasi-experimental study. Nurse Educ. Today 109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.105256

Choi, J., Lee, S.E., Bae, J., Kang, S., Choi, S., Tate, J.A., Yang, Y.L., 2021. Undergraduate nursing students ' experience of learning respiratory system assessment using flipped classroom: a mixed methods study. Nurse Educ. Today 98. https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.nedt.2020.104664

Chong, E.J.M., Lim, J.S.W., Liu, Y., Lau, Y.Y.L., Wu, V.X., 2016. Improvement of learning domains of nursing students with the use of authentic assessment pedagogy in clinical practice. Nurse Educ. Pract. 20, 125-130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. 6.08.002

Cormack, C.L., Jensen, E., Durham, C.O., Smith, G., Dumas, B., 2018. The 360-degree evaluation model: A method for assessing competency in graduate nursing students. A pilot research study. Nurse Educ. Today 64, 132-137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. edt.2018.01.027

de Lima Lopes, J., Negrao Baptista, R.C., Takao Lopes, C., Bertelli Rossi, M., Swanson, E. A., Bottura Leite de Barros, A.L., 2019. Efficacy of a video during bed bath simulation on improving the performance of psychomotor skills of nursing undergraduates: a randomized clinical trial. Int. J. Nurs. Stud. 99, 103333 https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.04.001.

Dogru, B.V., Aydin, L.Z., 2020. The effects of training with simulation on knowledge, skill and anxiety levels of the nursing students in terms of cardiac auscultation: a randomized controlled study. Nurse Educ. Today 84, 104216. https://doi.org 10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104216.

Dreifuerst, K.T., 2009. The essentials of Debriefing in simulation learning: a concept analysis. Nurs. Educ. Perspect. 30, 109-114.

Erlam, G., Smythe, L., Wright-St Clair, V., 2018. Action research and millennials: improving pedagogical approaches to encourage critical thinking. Nurse Educ. Today 61, 140-145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.11.023

- Eyikara, E., Baykara, Z.G., 2018. Effect of simulation on the ability of first year nursing students to learn vital signs. Nurse Educ. Today 60, 101-106. https://doi.org, 10.1016/i.nedt.2017.09.023
- Fanning, R.M., Gaba, D.M., 2007. The role of debriefing in simulation-based learning. Simul. Healthc. J. Soc. Med. Simul. 2, 115-125. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SIH.0b013e3180315539.
- Fischer, J. 2019. Evaluative judgement: what, why and how? CRADLE Seminar Series. (https://blogs.deakin.edu.au/cradle/2019/03/06/evaluative-judgement-what-whyhow-cradle-seminar-series/>

Gladovic, C., Tai, J.H.-M., Dawson, P., 2022. Qualitative approaches to researching evaluative judgement in pedagogical activities: a case study. Assess. Eval. High. Educ. 47, 231-244. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2021.1901854

Godin, K., Stapleton, J., Kirkpatrick, S.I., Hanning, R.M., Leatherdale, S.T., 2015. Applying systematic review search methods to the grey literature: a case study examining guidelines for school-based breakfast programs in Canada. Syst. Rev. 4, /doi.org/10.1186/s13643-015-0125-0 138 https:/

Gray, S., Wheat, M., Christensen, M., Craft, J., 2019. Snaps(+): Peer-to-peer and academic support in developing clinical skills excellence in under-graduate nursing students: an exploratory study. Nurse Educ. Today 73, 7-12. https://doi.org, 10.1016/i.nedt.2018.10.006.

Günay İsmailoğlu, E., Zaybak, A., 2018. Comparison of the effectiveness of a virtual simulator with a plastic arm model in teaching intravenous catheter insertion skills. Comput. Inform., Nurs. 36, 98-105. https://doi.org/10.1097/ CIN.000000000000405.

Hampton, K.B., Smeltzer, S.C., Ross, J.G., 2020. Evaluating the transition from nursing student to practicing nurse: an integrative review. J. Prof. Nurs. 36, 551-559. oi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2020.08.002.

Hardie, P., Donnelly, P., Greene, E., McHugh, A., Coveney, K., Murray, B., Brereton, S., 2021. The application of reusable learning objects (RLOs) in preparation for a simulation laboratory in medication management: an evaluative study. Teach. Learn. Nurs. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2021.05.002

Hart, P.L., Maguire, M.B.R., Brannan, J.D., Long, J.M., Robley, L.R., Brooks, B.K., 2014. Improving BSN students' performance in recognizing and responding to clinical deterioration. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 10, e25-e32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j ecns.2013.06.003.

Henderson, M., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Molloy, E., 2019. Why focus on feedback impact? In: Henderson, M., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Molloy, E. (Eds.), The Impact of Feedback in Higher Education. Palgrave Macmillan., Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-25112-31

Henderson, A., Ossenberg, C., Tyler, S., 2015. 'What matters to graduates': an evaluation of a structured clinical support program for newly graduated nurses. Nurse Educ. Pract. 15, 225-231, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2015.01.009.

Henderson, B., Aitken, R., Lewis, L.K., Chipchase, L., 2021. Postgraduate nursing students' perceptions of consensus marking with online oral vivas: a qualitative study. Nurse Educ. Today 101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104881.

Henderson, B., Chipchase, L., Aitken, R., Lewis, L.K., 2022. Consensus marking as a grading method for the development of evaluative judgement: comparing assessor and students. Nurse Educ. Pract. 63, 103386 https://doi.org/10.1016/j nepr.2022.103386.

Hernández-Padilla, J.M., Granero-Molina, J., Márquez-Hernández, V.V., Cortés-Rodríguez, A.E., Fernández-Sola, C., 2016. Effects of a simulation-based workshop on nursing students' competence in arterial puncture/Efeitos de um workshop de simulação sobre a competência em punção arterial de estudantes de enfermagem. Acta Paul. Enferm. 29, 678. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-0194201600095

Higgins, J.P.T., Altman, D.G., Gøtzsche, P.C., Jüni, P., Moher, D., Oxman, A.D., Savović, J., Schulz, K.F., Weeks, L., Sterne, J.A.C., 2011. The cochrane collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 343, 889-893. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmi.d5928

Higgins, K., Kirkland, T., Le-Jenkins, U., Rutledge, C., 2019. Preparing students to be ready for practice: an innovative approach to teaching advanced physical assessment skills online. J. Am. Assoc. NURSE Pract. 31, 640-647. https://doi.org/10.1097/ JXX.00000000000332.

Hill, R., Hooper, C., Wahl, S., 2000. Look, learn and be satisfied: video playback as a learning strategy to improve clinical skills performance. J. Nurses Staff Dev. 16, 232-239

Høegh-Larsen, A.M., Gonzalez, M.T., Reierson, I.Å., Husebø, S.I.E., Hofoss, D., Ravik, M., 2023. Nursing students' clinical judgment skills in simulation and clinical placement: a comparison of student self-assessment and evaluator assessment. BMC Nurs. 22, 64 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-023-01220-0.

Holland, A., Smith, F., McCrossan, G., Adamson, E., Watt, S., Penny, K., 2013. Online video in clinical skills education of oral medication administration for undergraduate student nurses: a mixed methods, prospective cohort study. Nurse Educ. Today 33, 663-670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2012.01.006

Hošnjak, A.M., Čukljek, S., Fičko, S.L., Smrekar, M., 2019. The influence of different ways of training on development of practical skills in performing parenteral therapy in full-time first year nursing students. Cent. Eur. J. Nurs. Midwifery 10, 1111-1116. https://doi.org/10.15452/CEJNM.2019.10.0021.

Ibarra-Sáiz, M.S., Rodríguez-Gómez, G., Boud, D., Rotsaert, T., Brown, S., Salinas-Salazar, M.L., Rodríguez-Gómez, H.M., 2020. The future of assessment in Higher Education. Reli. Rev. Electron. Investig. Y. Eval. Educ. 26, 1-6. https://doi.uk 10.7203/relieve.26.1.17323

Ilangakoon, C., Ajjawi, R., Endacott, R., Rees, C., 2022. The relationship between feedback and evaluative judgement in undergraduate nursing and midwifery education: An integrative review, 103255-103255 Nurse Educ. Pract. 28. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103255.

- İsmailoğlu, E.G., Orkun, N., Eşer, İ., Zaybak, A., 2020. Comparison of the effectiveness of the virtual simulator and video-assisted teaching on intravenous catheter insertion skills and self-confidence: A quasi-experimental study. Nurse Educ. Today 95, 104596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104596.
- Jaberi, A., Momennasab, M., 2019. Effectiveness of standardized patient in abdominal physical examination education: a randomized, controlled trial. Clin. Med. Res. 17, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3121/cmr.2019.1446.
- Jamshidi, N., Molazem, Z., Sharif, F., Torabizadeh, C., Najafi Kalyani, M., 2016. The challenges of nursing students in the clinical learning environment: a qualitative study. Sci. World J. 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/1846178.1846178.
- Joanna Briggs Institute. (2022). JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis. 11.2.8 Analysis of the evidence. (https://jbi-global-wiki.refined.site/space/MANUAL/4687681/11.2.8 +Analysis+of+the+evidence).

Johnson, C.E., Keating, J.L., Boud, D.J., Dalton, M., Kiegaldie, D., Hay, M., McGrath, B., McKenzie, W.A., Nair, K.B.R., Nestel, D., Palermo, C., Molloy, E.K., Identifying educator behaviours for high quality verbal feedback in health professions education: Literature review and expert refinement. BMC Med. Educ. 16, 96. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12909-016-0613-5</u>.

- Johnson, M.P., Hickey, K.T., Scopa-Goldman, J., andrews, T., Boerem, P., Covec, M., Larson, E., 2014. Manikin versus web-based simulation for advanced practice nursing students. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 10, e317–e323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecns.2014.02.004.
- Jones, R.S., Simmons, A., Boykin, G.L.S., Stamper, D., Thompson, J.C., 2014. Measuring intravenous cannulation skills of practical nursing students using rubber mannequin intravenous training arms. Mil. Med. 179, 1361–1367. https://doi.org/10.7205/ MILMED-D-13-00576.

Kakushi, L.E., Martinez Evora, Y.D., 2014. Direct and indirect nursing care time in an Intensive Care Unit. Rev. Lat. Am. Enferm. 22, 150–157. https://doi.org/10.1590/ 0104-1169.3032.2381.

Kelly, J., Sadeghieh, T., Adeli, K., 2014. Peer review in scientific publications: benefits, critiques, & a survival guide. EJIFCC 25, 227–243.

Keys, E., Luctkar-Flude, M., Tyerman, J., Sears, K., Woo, K., 2021. The integration of virtual simulation gaming into undergraduate nursing resuscitation education: a pilot randomised controlled trial. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 54, 54–61. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ecns.2021.01.013.

Khosravi, H., Gyamfi, G., Hanna, B., Lodge, J., 2020. Fostering and supporting empirical research on evaluative judgement via a crowdsourced adaptive learning system. ACM Int. Conf. Proc. Ser., LAK '20. ACM 83–88. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3375462.3375532.

Kielo-Viljamaa, E., Ahtiala, M., Suhonen, R., Stolt, M., 2021. Simulated wound care as a competence assessment method for student and registered nurses. Adv. Ski. Wound Care 34, 588–595. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ASW.0000792916.93340.68.

Kim, H., Suh, E.E., 2018. The effects of an interactive nursing skills mobile application on nursing students' knowledge, self-efficacy and skills performance: a randomized Controlled Trial. Asian Nurs. Res. (Korean Soc. Nurs. Sci.). 12, 17–25. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.anr.2018.01.001.

Kim, S.J., Shin, H.W., Lee, J.G., Kang, S.R., Bartlett, R., 2017. A smartphone application to educate undergraduate nursing students about providing care for infant airway obstruction. Nurse Educ. Today 48, 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nedt.2016.10.006.

Kurt, Y., Ozturk, H., 2021. The effect of mobile augmented reality application developed for injections on the knowledge and skill levels of nursing students: an experimental controlled study. Nurse Educ. Today 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nedt.2021.104955.

Lee, B.-O., Liang, H.-F., Chu, T.-P., Hung, C.-C., 2019. Effects of simulation-based learning on nursing student competences and clinical performance. Nurse Educ. Pract. 41, 102646 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2019.102646.

Lee, E., Park, H., 2016. Comparison of indirect nursing interventions performed by korean and u.s. nurses using the nursinginterventionsclassification (NIC) system. Int. J. Nurs. Knowl. 27, 149–155. https://doi.org/10.1111/2047-3095.12093.

Lee, J.H., Lee, H., Kim, S., Choi, M., Ko, I.S., Bae, J.Y., Kim, S.H., 2020a. Debriefing methods and learning outcomes in simulation nursing education: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nurse Educ. Today 87, 104345. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.nedt.2020.104345.

Lee, K.-C., Ho, C.-H., Yu, C.-C., Chao, Y.-F., 2020b. The development of a six-station OSCE for evaluating the clinical competency of the student nurses before graduation: a validity and reliability analysis. Nurse Educ. Today 84, 1. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104247.

Lynga, P., Masiello, I., Karlgren, K., Joelsson-Alm, E., 2019. Experiences of using an OSCE protocol in clinical examinations of nursing students - a comparison of student and faculty assessments. Nurse Educ. Pract. 35, 130–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nepr.2019.02.004.

Marquez-Hernandez, V.V., Gutierrez-Puertas, L., Granados-Gamez, G., Rodriguez-Garcia, M.C., Gutierrez-Puertas, V., Aguilera-Manrique, G., 2019. Development of a web-based tool to evaluate competences of nursing students through the assessment of their clinical skills. Nurse Educ. Today 73, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nedt.2018.11.010.

McWilliams, L.A., McIntyre, T., Dudley, W.N., 2021. Examining the impact of cooperative learner simulation order on performance outcomes of nursing students using a haptic intravenous simulator. Nurse Educ. Pract. 53, 103070 https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.nepr.2021.103070.

Mehdipour – Rabori, R., Bagherian, B., Nematollahi, M., 2021. Simulation-based mastery improves nursing skills in BSc nursing students: a quasi-experimental study. BMC Nurs. 20, 10 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-020-00532-9.

Meskell, P., Burke, E., Kropmans, T.J.B., Byrne, E., Setyonugroho, W., Kennedy, K.M., 2015. Back to the future: an online OSCE management Information System for nursing OSCEs. Nurse Educ. Today 35, 1091–1096. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nedt.2015.06.010.

- Miranda, R.P.R., Chaves, E.D.L., Lima, R.S., Braga, C.G., Simoes, I.A.R., Fava, S., Iunes, D. H., 2017. The effectiveness of a simulated scenario to teach nursing students how to perform a bed bath: a randomized clinical trial. Nurse Educ. Today 57, 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.06.008.
- Molloy, E., Boud, D., 2012. Changing conceptions of feedback. pp. 11–33. https://doi. org/10.4324/9780203074336.

NMBA 2022. Nursing and Midwifery Board registered nurses standards for practice. (https://www.nursingmidwiferyboard.gov.au/codes-guidelines-statements/professi onal-standards/registered-nurse-standards-for-practice.aspx).

Nuuyoma, V., 2021. Feedback in clinical settings: nursing students' perceptions at the district hospital in the southern part of Namibia. Curationis 44, 2147. (https://doi. org/10.4102/curationis.v44i1.2147).

Nyström, S., Dahlberg, J., Edelbring, S., Hult, H., Abrandt Dahlgren, M., 2016. Debriefing practices in interprofessional simulation with students: a sociomaterial perspective. BMC Med. Educ. 16, 148 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-016-0666-5.

Onturk, Z.K., Ugur, E., Kocatepe, V., Ates, E., Ocaktan, N., Unver, V., Karabacak, U., 2019. Use of simulation from high fidelity to low fidelity in teaching of safemedication practices. J. Pak. Med. Assoc. 69, 195–200.

Ositadimma Oranye, N., Ahmad, C., Ahmad, N., Abu Bakar, R., 2012. Assessing nursing clinical skills competence through objective structured clinical examination (OSCE) for open distance learning students in Open University Malaysia. Contemp. Nurse a J. Aust. Nurs. Prof. 41, 233–241. https://doi.org/10.5172/conu.2012.41.2.233.

Oz, G.O., Ordu, Y., 2021. The effects of web based education and Kahoot usage in evaluation of the knowledge and skills regarding intramuscular injection among nursing students. Nurse Educ. Today 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nedt.2021.104910.

Page, M.J., McKenzie, J.E., Bossuyt, P.M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T.C., Mulrow, C.D., et al., 2021. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ: 372 n71. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n71.

Paterson, C., Paterson, N., Jackson, W., Work, F., 2020. What are students' needs and preferences for academic feedback in higher education? a systematic review. Nurse Educ. Today 85, 104236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104236.

Peddle, M., Bearman, M., Mckenna, L., Nestel, D., 2019. Exploring undergraduate nursing student interactions with virtual patients to develop 'non-technical skills' through case study methodology. Adv. Simul. 4 (1) https://doi.org/10.1186/ s41077-019-0088-7.

Prentice, D., O'Rourke, T., 2013. Safe practice: using high-fidelity simulation to teach blood transfusion reactions. J. Infus. Nurs. 36, 207–210. https://doi.org/10.1097/ NAN.0b013e318288a3d9.

Rahnavard, Z., Eybpoosh, S., Alianmoghaddam, N., 2013. Effect of clinical teaching associate model on nursing students' clinical skills and nurses' satisfaction. Contemp. Nurse.

Ravik, M., Havnes, A., Bjørk, I.T., 2017. Defining and comparing learning actions in two simulation modalities: students training on a latex arm and each other's arms. J. Clin. Nurs. 26, 4255–4266. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13748.

Rethlefsen, M.L., Kirtley, S., Waffenschmidt, S., Ayala, A.P., Moher, D., Page, M.J., Koffel, J.B., 2021. PRISMA-S: an extension to the PRISMA statement for reporting literature searches in systematic reviews. Syst. Rev. 10, 39 https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13643-020-01542-z.

Rim, D., Shin, H., 2022. Development and assessment of a multi-user virtual environment nursing simulation program: a mixed methods research study. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 62, 31–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2021.10.004.

Rush, S., Firth, T., Burke, L., Marks-Maran, D., 2012. Implementation and evaluation of peer assessment of clinical skills for first year student nurses. Nurse Educ. Pract. 12, 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2012.01.014.

Sadler, D.R., 1989. Formative assessment and the design of instructional systems. Instr. Sci. 18, 119–144. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00117714.

Sarvan, S., Efe, E., 2022. The effect of neonatal resuscitation training based on a serious game simulation method on nursing students' knowledge, skills, satisfaction and self-confidence levels: a randomized controlled trial. Nurse Educ. Today 111, 105298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2022.105298.

Sezgunsay, E., Basak, T., 2020. Is Moulage effective in improving clinical skills of nursing students for the assessment of pressure injury? Nurse Educ. Today 94, 1. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104572.

Sheahan, L., While, A., Bloomfield, J., 2015. An exploratory trial exploring the use of a multiple intelligences teaching approach (MITA) for teaching clinical skills to first year undergraduate nursing students. Nurse Educ. Today 35, 1148–1154. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2015.05.002.

Smallheer, B.A., Stone, E., Hicks, J., Galbreath, C., 2017. Use of video recording to facilitate peer-to-peer learning in a prelicensure nursing program. Teach. Learn. Nurs. 12, 158–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2017.02.003.

Smith, P.C., Hamilton, B.K., 2015. The effects of virtual reality simulation as a teaching strategy for skills preparation in nursing students. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 11, 52–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2014.10.001.

Soledad Ibarra-Saiz, M., Rodriguez-Gomez, G., Boud, D., 2020. Developing student competence through peer assessment: the role of feedback, self-regulation and evaluative judgement. High. Educ. 80 (1), 137–156. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10734-019-00469-2.

Solheim, E., Plathe, H.S., Eide, H., 2017. Nursing students' evaluation of a new feedback and reflection tool for use in high-fidelity simulation – formative assessment of clinical skills. A descriptive quantitative research design. Nurse Educ. Pract. 27, 114–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2017.08.021.

Stayt, L.C., Merriman, C., Ricketts, B., Morton, S., Simpson, T., 2015. Recognizing and managing a deteriorating patient: a randomized controlled trial investigating the

effectiveness of clinical simulation in improving clinical performance in undergraduate nursing students. J. Adv. Nurs., Comment in: Evid Based Nurs. 2016 Apr;19(2):55 PMID: 26494851 [https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/

- 26494851] 71, 2563–2574. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jan.12722. Sterling-Fox, C., Smith, J.P., Gariando, O., Charles, P., 2020. Nursing skills video selfies: an innovative teaching and learning strategy for undergraduate nursing students to master psychomotor skills, 2377960820934090–2377960820934090 SAGE Open Nurs. 6. https://doi.org/10.1177/2377960820934090.
- Stone, R., Cooke, M., Mitchell, M., 2020. Exploring the meaning of undergraduate nursing students' experiences and confidence in clinical skills using video. Nurse Educ. Today 86, 104322. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2019.104322.
- Strand, I., Gulbrandsen, L., Slettebo, A., Naden, D., 2017. Digital recording as a teaching and learning method in the skills laboratory. J. Clin. Nurs. 26, 2572–2582. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13632.
- Surabenjawong, U., Phrampus, P.E., Lutz, J., Farkas, D., Gopalakrishna, A., Monsomboon, A., Limsuwat, C., O'Donnell, J.M., 2020. Comparison of innovative peer-to-peer education and standard instruction on airway management skill training. Clin. Simul. Nurs. 47, 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2020.06.009.
- Sweet, L., Broadbent, J., 2017. Nursing students' perceptions of the qualities of a clinical facilitator that enhance learning. Nurse Educ. Pract. 22, 30–36. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.nepr.2016.11.007.
- Tai, J., Ajjawi, R., Boud, D., Dawson, P., Panadero, E., 2018. Developing evaluative judgement: enabling students to make decisions about the quality of work. High. Educ. 76, 467–481. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-017-0220-3.
- Tan, A.J.Q., Lee, C.C.S., Lin, P.Y., Cooper, S., Lau, L.S.T., Chua, W.L., Liaw, S.Y., 2017. Designing and evaluating the effectiveness of a serious game for safe administration of blood transfusion: A randomized controlled trial. Nurse Educ. Today 55, 38–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.04.027.

- Unsworth, J., Melling, A., Tuffnell, C., Allan, J., 2016. Improving performance amongst nursing students through the discovery of discrepancies during simulation. Nurse Educ. Pract. 16, 47–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2015.07.003.
- Uzelli Yilmaz, D., Sari, D., 2021. Examining the effect of simulation-based learning on intravenous therapy administration' knowledge, performance and clinical assessment skills of first-year nursing students. Nurse Educ. Today 102, 104924. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104924.
- Valizadeh, L., Akbarzadeh, B., Ghiyasvandiyan, S., KuchakiNejad, Z., Zamanzadeh, V., Aghajari, P., Jabbarzadeh, F., Crowley, M., 2021. The effects of role play simulation and demonstration on pediatric peripheral venous catheter insertion skill among nursing students: a three group experimental study. Nurs. Midwifery Stud. 10 (1), 6. https://doi.org/10.4103/nms.nms.94.18.
- Watts, W.E., Rush, K., Wright, M., 2009. Evaluating first-year nursing students' ability to self-assess psychomotor skills using videotape. Nurs. Educ. Perspect. 30, 214–219.
- Wong, G., Greenhalgh, T., Westhorp, G., Buckingham, J., Pawson, R., 2013. RAMESES publication standards: realist syntheses. BMC Med 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1741-7015-11-21.
- Wong, B.S.H., Shorey, S., 2022. Nursing students' experiences and perception of peer feedback: a qualitative systematic review. Nurse Educ. Today 116, 105469. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2022.105469.
- Wright, C., Hogard, E., Ellis, R., Smith, D., Kelly, C., 2008. Effect of PETTLEP imagery training on performance of nursing skills: pilot study. J. Adv. Nurs. 63, 259–265. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04706.x.
- Yildiz, H., Demiray, A., 2022. Virtual reality in nursing education 3D intravenous catheterization E-learning: a randomized controlled trial. Contemp. Nurse a J. Aust. Nurs. Prof. 58, 125–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/10376178.2022.2051573.
- Yoshida, H., Nishizuka, K., Arimoto, M., 2023. Examining the process of developing evaluative judgement in Japanese elementary schools-utilising the co-regulation and evaluative judgement model. Assess. Educ.: Princ., Policy Pract. 30 (2), 151–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2023.2193332.

Appendix 6.4 Included studies teaching methods in clinical practice education (n=53)

Author/year/country	Design	Aim	Sample UG or PG/year level/n=	Main findings
Aggar et al. (2018) Australia	Quantitative - Quasi- experimental	To examine the effectiveness of a time management intervention using simulation to improve nursing students' preparedness for medication administration in a clinical setting	UG/ 2 nd year/ n=92 intervention group n=88 comparison group	The integration of time management and prioritisation strategies into clinical skills learning activities can effectively enhance students' preparedness for and confidence in medication administration in clinical practice
Aksoy and Pasli Gurdogan (2021) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	Examining effects of the flipped classroom approach on motivation, learning strategies, urinary system knowledge, and urinary catheterization skills of first-year nursing students	UG/1 st year/ n=47	The skill and theoretical knowledge levels of the experimental group increased significantly compared to the control group. Test anxiety was lower in the experimental group
Ali and John (2019) Kingdom of Bahrain	Mixed methods - action research methodology	To examine the competency scores of practicing a clinical skill and the satisfaction level of nursing students on three instructional methods	PG/2 nd year/n26	Unlimited access to an online self-paced video contributes to increased satisfaction among nursing students compared with other methods of teaching clinical skills but not to contribute significantly to increase their competency levels
Arabpur et al. (2022) Iran	Quantitative - RCT	To compare the effectiveness of demonstration using hybrid simulation versus tasktrainer for training nursing students in using pulse-oximeter and suction following cardiac arrest	UG/2 nd year/n=45	The students who did not have an educational intervention did not perform as well as those who had the hybrid simulation and the task trainer simulation
Bahar et al. (2017) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	To examine the effects of the use of supported educational videos on the nursing student's skills to administer parenteral medication.	UG/1 st year/n=80	The experimental group scores were higher than the control group and most of the students who were experimental group were quite satisfied
Basak et al. (2018) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	To compare the effects of standardized patient and low-fidelity mannequin use in teaching hygiene care	UG/1 st year/n=80	The scores, satisfaction and confidence of the students in the experimental group were significantly higher than the control group. The students also felt they transferred the skills to the real setting feeling more prepared
Bayram and Caliskan (2019) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	Determining the effect of a game-based virtual reality phone application on tracheostomy care education for nursing students	UG/1 st year/n=86	The first and last peristomal skin care skill performance scores of the students in the experimental group were higher than those of the control group

Cardoso et al. (2012) Brazil Carrero-Planells et al. (2021) Spain	Quantitative - Quasi- experimental study Mixed-methods study.	To evaluate the effect of a video on the puncture and heparinization of TIAP in the development of cognitive and technical competencies To ascertain the degree of student satisfaction and explore how teachers perceive the inclusion of HFS as a teaching method	UG/3 rd year/n=24 UG/2 nd year/n=91	The use of an educational video with a simulation of puncture and heparinization of TIAP proved to be a strategy that increased both cognitive and technical knowledge High-fidelity simulation produces good academic outcomes and is highly satisfying for students and teachers
Chang et al. (2022) Taiwan	A quasi-experimental	investigated integrating online game- based learning with the watch summarize- question strategy to improve nursing students' learning achievement, self- efficacy, learning engagement, and learning satisfaction in sputum suction skill training	UG/1 st year/n=24	The experimental group, achieved statistically significant higher learning achievement, self-efficacy, learning engagement, and learning satisfaction than the control group
Choi et al. (2021) South Korea	Mixed methods study	To evaluate Flipped Classrooms feasibility in delivering respiratory system assessment content in a health assessment course and explored the changes in nursing students' perceptions regarding student-centeredness and active learning environments before and after applying FC	UG/2 nd year/n=91	Increased student perception of teaching and social presences on their learning environment before and after Flipped Classroom, although these changes were not statistically significant
de Lima Lopes et al. (2019) Brazil	Quantitative - RCT	Test the efficacy of a video-assisted bed bath simulation on improving the performance of psychomotor skills of undergraduate nursing students	UG/2 nd year/n=56	Video assisted bed bath simulation is associated with additional improvement of psychomotor skills
Eyikara and Baykara (2018) Turkey	Quantitative	To identify the impact of simulation on first-year nursing students' ability to learn vital signs	UG/1 st year/n=90	Simulation had a positive effect on the ability of nursing students to measure vital signs
Gray et al. (2019) Australia	Qualitative exploratory study	To explore the experiences of first and second year nursing students in practicing clinical skills at using the peer- to-peer SNAPS	UG/1 st and 2 nd year/n=47	Peer to peer teaching is an effective approach in supporting nursing students to apply and integrate nursing knowledge
Günay İsmailoğlu and Zaybak (2018) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	compare the effectiveness of a virtual intravenous simulator with a plastic arm model in teaching intravenous catheter insertion skills to nursing students	UG/2 nd year/n=66	The virtual simulator was an effective and reliable teaching tool and contributed to higher levels of student skill and satisfaction and lower levels of fear symptoms

Hardie et al. (2021) Ireland	Mixed methods	To examine what is the student's evaluation of a blended learning strategy that used RLOs and simulation and does the application of online RLOs prepare students for practical simulation	UG/2 nd year/n=167	The study supports the use of blended learning that incorporates RLOs and a practice simulation laboratory for medication management teaching and learning
Hart et al. (2014) USA	Quantitative quasi- experimental	To evaluate the effectiveness of a structured education curriculum with simulation to improve performance in recognizing and responding to APD events	UG/1 st year/n=48	Findings support that the use of combined teaching strategies is effective in improving students' performance in managing clinical deterioration
Hernández-Padilla et al. (2016) Spain	Quantitative quasi- experimental	To evaluate whether a short simulation- based workshop in radial artery puncture would improve nursing students' competence to a level in which they could practise the procedure on a live patient without compromising patient safety	UG/3 rd year/n=86	After the intervention, a total of 61.1% of the participants showed the level of competence required to safely practice radial artery puncture on a live patient under supervision
Higgins et al. (2019) USA	Quantitative - RCT	To compare an online teaching method to traditional face to face teaching of clinical skills	PG/1 st year/n=129	The findings of this project, indicate no significant difference in the performance of the students from the two groups
Hill et al. (2000) USA	Quantitative	To determine if video playback would improve performance of psychomotor clinical skills and increase participant satisfaction with the learning process while requiring minimal instructor time	UG/NR/n=21	Results showed improved performance and learner satisfaction
Holland et al. (2013) UK	Mixed methods	To evaluate the use of an online best practice exemplar as an adjunct to the clinical skills	UG/1 st year/n=509	Improves student assessment results and satisfaction ratings. Also reported to positively influence all themes identified in Classroom Learning and was perceived to promote the Transfer to Practice of teaching input
Hošnjak et al. (2019) Croatia	Quantitative prospective RCT	To determine how teacher demonstrations and video content affect the development of practical skills in the administration of intravenous therapy by nursing undergraduate students	UG/1 st year/n=48	Video demonstrations are an excellent aid for revising already acquired knowledge and skills, but not as the primary means of teaching, without explanation and practice, especially for those students encountering certain skills for the first time
Ismailoğlu et al. (2020) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	To compare the effect of the virtual simulator and video assisted teaching on the level of intravenous catheterization skills and self-confidence of nursing students	UG/2 nd year/n=60	The results suggest that when compared with video teaching, teaching with the VIS contributed to the students' skills

				while it has no effect on knowledge levels, there was no difference in confidence levels between to two groups
Jaberi and Momennasab (2019) Iran	Quantitative - RCT	to evaluate the effect of using Standardised patients on the performance of nursing students in the physical examination of the abdomen	UG/3 rd year/n=87	The study demonstrated that the SP method is as effective as the lecture- based education method in performing the physical Examination. The method was more attractive and enjoyable to the students
Johnson et al. (2014) USA	Quantitative quasi- experimental	Comparing the students' level of knowledge and skill relating to managing acutely ill patients using web based and simulation	PG/NR/NR	Students in the Web training group had significantly higher performance evaluation scores post-training as compared with pre-training evaluation scores
Jones et al. (2014) USA	Quantitative - RCT	To examine the effectiveness of two training methods for peripheral intravenous (IV) cannulation; one using rubber mannequin IV training arms, and the other consisting of students performing the procedure on each other	UG/NR/n=178	The data suggest that using rubber mannequin IV arms for IV skills training may be just as effective as training students using traditional methods
Keys et al. (2021) Canada	Quantitative - RCT	To evaluate the effect of a resuscitation- oriented VSG, when implemented as a pre- simulation preparation adjunct, on the performance of senior level nursing students during an advanced cardiac life support clinical simulation	UG/4 th year/n=20	A significant difference in the performance of nursing students undergoing a resuscitation-oriented clinical simulation after having only been provided the VSG for four days
Kim and Suh (2018) South Korea	Quantitative - RCT	To evaluate the effect of an interactive nursing skills mobile application for nursing students	UG/NR/n=66	Nursing knowledge, self-efficacy, and nursing skills performance were enhanced after learning through the use of an ICNS app
Kim et al. (2017) South Korea	Quantitative - RCT	To develop a smartphone-based application and to evaluate the effectiveness of the application	UG/3 rd year/n=73	The smartphone-based education group showed significantly higher scores on skills and confidence in performance. Satisfaction with the learning method were higher than for the control group, but the differences were not statistically significant
Kurt and Ozturk (2021) Turkey	Quantitative	To evaluate the effect of Mobile Augmented Reality (MAR) educational materials on the knowledge and skill levels of nursing students on injection practices	UG/1 st year/n=122	It was determined that MAR applications had a positive effect on the knowledge and skill levels of nursing students regarding injection practices and provided persistence in the learned knowledge and skills

Lee et al. (2019) Taiwan	Quantitative	To explore the effects of simulation- based learning (SBL) on nursing student competences and performance in the clinical setting	UG/2nd year/n=100	Scores in the intervention groups were consistently higher than those in the control group
McWilliams et al. (2021) USA	Quantitative - RCT	To explore if the learner simulation order (LSO) within the cooperative learning team as 1st, 2nd or 3 rd learner, had an impact on nursing students' performance on the haptic IV simulator while learning IV catheter insertion	PG/1 st year/n=90	This study indicates that cooperative learning is a useful framework for structuring team learning in clinical simulation context. LSO is an important variable to consider when structuring clinical simulation teams
Mehdipour –Rabori et al. (2021) Iran	Quasi-experimental study	Assess the effect of simulation-based mastery learning on the clinical skills of undergraduate nursing students from 2017 to 2019	UG/3 rd year/n=105	Mastery method of teaching was more effective in training clinical skills and these students achieved higher grades
Miranda et al. (2017) Brazil	Quantitative - RCT	To evaluate the effectiveness of a simulated bed bath scenario on improving cognitive knowledge, practical performance and satisfaction among nursing students	UG/NR/n=58	The teaching strategy based on a simulated scenario of a bed bath proved to be effective for the acquisition of cognitive knowledge regarding bed baths in clinical practice and improved student satisfaction with the teaching process
Onturk et al. (2019) Pakistan	Semi-experimental study	To evaluate the effects of simulation techniques on learning outcomes in the teaching of safe drug applications	UG/1 st year/n=58	Simulation had a positive effect on learning outcomes
Oz and Ordu (2021) Turkey	Semi-experimental study	To review the effects of Kahoot usage within the framework of web-based education evaluation regarding the intramuscular injection knowledge and skills of nursing students	UG/1 st year/n=110	The findings showed that the experimental group had significantly higher mean scores in knowledge scores and skill performance for intramuscular injection
Prentice and O'Rourke (2013) Canada	Quantitative	Quality improvement project to increase student nurses knowledge and skill in caring for clients receiving a blood transfusion	UG/2 nd year/n=62	Engaging students in the high-fidelity blood transfusion simulation learning experience increases their knowledge of the process and content related to reacting to these types of patient responses
Rahnavard et al. (2013) Iran	Quantitative	To investigate the effectiveness of the application of the clinical teaching associate (CTA) model in nursing students' clinical skills and to assess the participants' level of satisfaction with the CTA model and with achieving the educational goal	UG/3 rd year/n104	The CTA model is an effective method for developing clinical skills in nursing students in Iran as a developing country
Ravik et al. (2017) Norway	Qualitative	Explore, describe and compare learning actions that nursing students used during peripheral vein cannulation	UG/2 nd year/n=9	Nursing students engaged primarily in 'seeking and giving support'. Students training on a latex arm were engaged mainly in student-centred interactions,

		training on a latex arm or each other's arms in a clinical skills centre		while those training on each other's arms were involved mainly in teacher-centred
Rim and Shin (2022) Korea	Mixed methods	To develop a multi-user virtual simulation program for metacognition and evaluate the students' satisfaction, clinical judgment, and nursing competencies	UG/NR/n=45	The findings suggest that the use of virtual simulation is effective in enhancing nursing competence by enhancing metacognition
Sarvan and Efe (2022) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	Determining the impact of integrating serious game simulation (SGS) into neonatal resuscitation training on the neonatal resuscitation related knowledge, skills, satisfaction with training, and self confidence in learning of nursing students	UG/3 rd year/n=90	Serious game simulation application used in neonatal resuscitation training was effective in raising the students' ventilation and compression performing skills
Sezgunsay and Basak (2020) Turkey	Quantitative	To investigate the effectiveness of moulage in improving clinical skills of nursing students for the assessment of pressure injury according to Kirkpatrick's model (levels 1–3)	UG/4 th year/n=73	Simulation with moulage was effective in improving the skills of nursing students who received training for pressure injury assessment and in transferring what they learned to the clinical setting
Sheahan et al. (2015) Ireland	Quantitative - RCT	To test the effectiveness of teaching clinical skills using a multiple intelligences teaching approach (MITA) compared with the conventional teaching approach	UG/1 st year/n=90	The study findings support the use of MITA for clinical skills teaching and advance the understanding of how MI teaching approaches may be used in nursing education
Smallheer et al. (2017) USA	Qualitative	To provide an opportunity for students to engage in a video-recorded peer-to- peer evaluation activity for both physical examination and psychomotor skills checkoffs	UG/NR/n=14	Self- and peer evaluation and reflection through the use of video-recorded student performances provide opportunities for students to learn from their own mistakes in a safe environment
Smith and Hamilton (2015) USA	Quantitative	To evaluate the effectiveness of VR simulation as a teaching strategy for preparation of students for successful performance and validation of Foley catheter insertion by generic associate degree nursing (ADN) students	UG/NR/n=20	Findings from this study support use of virtual reality simulation as a supplemental tool for teaching students' critical steps in clinical skills such as the insertion of a Foley catheter
Stayt et al. (2015) UK	Quantitative - RCT	To explore the effectiveness of clinical simulation in improving the clinical performance of recognizing and managing an adult deteriorating patient in hospital	UG/3 rd year/n=98	The intervention group performed significantly better in the post objective structured clinical examination and was significantly more satisfied with their teaching method. There was no significant difference in the post intervention General Perceived Self

				Efficacy and Self-Reported Competency scores
Sterling-Fox et al. (2020) USA	Qualitative	To explore an innovative teaching activity of using video selfie to improv psychomotor nursing skills	NR/NR/n=15	Students demonstrated confidence to perform the skills and to accurately list each step required to perform the skills
Stone et al. (2020) Australia	Qualitative	To explore the meaning of undergraduate nursing students' experiences of using video podcast as an adjunct to existing teaching methods in developing confidence in clinical skills	UG/2 nd year/n=10	This study provides an insight into the students' engagement with video podcasts in relation to their confidence in clinical skills development, and indicate that students value the use of video podcasts in their learning of clinical skills
Strand et al. (2016) Norway	Qualitative	To get information on how nursing students react to, think about and learn from digital recordings in the skills laboratory as learning and teaching method over time	UG/1 st year/n=55	The use of cameras proved to be useful, as an expressive tool for peer learning because video recording enhances self- assessment, reflection, sensing, psychomotor performance and discovery learning
Surabenjawong et al. (2020) Thailand	Quantitative	To evaluate whether peer-to peer teaching is not inferior to standard teaching in basic airway management	UG/NR/n=48	Nursing students trained in basic airway management by the peer-to-peer method did not show inferiority compared with the standard group
Tan et al. (2017) Singapore	Quantitative - RCT	To describe the development and evaluation of a serious game to improve nursing students' knowledge, confidence, and performance in blood transfusion	UG/2 nd year/n=111	The study provided evidence on the effectiveness of a serious game in improving the knowledge and confidence of nursing students on blood transfusion practice
Valizadeh et al. (2022) Iran	Quantitative	To compare the effects of role play simulation and demonstration on paediatric PVC insertion skill among baccalaureate nursing students	UG/3 rd year/n=45	The findings showed that both demonstration and role play simulation significantly improved paediatric PVC insertion skill among nursing students, but no significant difference was found between these two methods
Wright et al. (2008) UK	Quantitative	To evaluate the effect of PETTLEP- based imagery training on nursing skill performance	UG/NR/n=56	Students who received PETTLEP training for blood pressure measurement performed statistically significantly better than those who did not. The training did not have a statistically significant effect for aseptic techniques

Author	Design	Aim	Sample UG or PG/year level/n=	Main findings
Avraham et al. (2021) Israel	Quantitative	To examine the influence of simulation-based learning of the medication administration process, on satisfaction, self-perception of preparedness, and clinical performance of students who practice simulation either individually or in a group	UG/3 rd year/n=128	The simulation experience increased participants' preparedness both when designed for an individual student and for a group of students. The association between simulation performance and clinical performance was mediated by preparedness after simulation in the individual sample, but not in the group sample
Borg Sapiano et al. (2018) Malta	Quantitative	To investigate the effectiveness of virtual simulation in improving student nurses' knowledge and performance during rapid patient deterioration	UG/2 nd and 3 rd year/n=335	A statistically significant improvement in the participants' knowledge scores was observed
Chong et al. (2016) Singapore	Quantitative	To examine the use of authentic assessment pedagogy and its impact on the improvements in nursing students' learning domains during clinical practice	UG/1 st year/n=54	The findings confirmed that learning outcomes of the nursing students were enhanced through the early introduction of the authentic assessment pedagogy in the clinical setting
Cormack et al. (2018) USA	Quantitative	To evaluate the effectiveness of implementing a 360 Degree Evaluation of clinical competency of graduate advanced practice nursing students	PG/NR/n=54	The 360 Degree Evaluation Model provided a comprehensive evaluation of the student and critical information for the faculty ensuring individual student and cohort data and ability to analyse cohort themes
Dogru and Aydin (2020) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	To compare the effectiveness of high- fidelity simulator and traditional teaching method on nursing students' knowledge and skill development in terms of cardiac auscultation and their anxiety levels	UG/1 st year/n=72	The results showed that the use of high-fidelity simulator in nursing education was more effective than traditional method in terms of improving the students' knowledge, skill levels for cardiac auscultation and reducing their anxiety
Henderson et al. (2021) Australia	Qualitative	To explore postgraduate nursing students' perceptions about their experience of online oral viva examination and the use of consensus marking	PG/1 st year/n=13	Students perceived that the online viva creating some anxiety but was relatable to their workplace and they preferred this assessment method to others. Students perceived that consensus marking enabled self-evaluation and reflection provided an opportunity for beneficial critical reflective discussions, and facilitated a positive shift in the power dynamics between the student and assessor
Kielo- Viljamaa et al. (2021) Finland	Qualitative	To describe the development and use of a wound care simulation assessing RNs' and graduating student nurses'	NR/NR/n=50	The findings demonstrated competence in consultation, dressing selection, identification of signs of wound infection, and tissue type

Appendix 6.5 Included studies assessment methods in clinical practice education (n=18)

		practical wound care competence and to describe observations of participants' wound care competence		Shortcomings were related to pain management, asepsis, bacteria sampling, offloading, and documentation
Lee et al. (2020) Taiwan	Quantitative	To develop and validate a six-station OSCE for evaluating the clinical competency of the student nurses before graduation	UG/3 rd year/n=100	The mean OSCE score of students who passed the Registered nurses' examination was significantly higher than that of students who failed. Significant differences in OSCE score between students who remain versus left clinical job were observed at 3, 6 and 9 months after graduation
Lynga et al. (2019) Sweden	Quantitative	To compare OSCE assessments made by student examiners and faculty examiners during the examinations of two clinical skills in undergraduate nurse education	UG/3rdy year/n=148	the level of agreement between student and faculty examiners was high when using an OSCE protocol in clinical examinations of two different clinical skill tasks. The structured checklist (OSCE protocol) was easy to use for the student examiners despite the lack of experience or training in advance
Marquez- Hernandez et al. (2019) Spain	Quantitative	To design, develop and implement a tool to evaluate the clinical skills of nursing students	UG/2 nd year/n=250	In the first phase, experts confirmed that the content and technical aspects of the tool were adequate. The participants showed higher final scores in the evaluated skills section, as well as shorter evaluation time and a greater number of observations and registered incidents. The students of indicated a greater degree of satisfaction with the evaluation system used
Meskell et al. (2015) Ireland	Quantitative	To explore electronic OSCE delivery and evaluate the benefits of using an electronic OSCE management system. To explore assessors' perceptions of and attitudes to the computer based package	PG/1 st year/n=230	Assessors' satisfaction with the software was high. Analysis of assessment results can highlight issues around internal consistency being moderate and examiners variability
Ositadimma Oranye et al. (2012) Malaysia	Quantitative	To assess the clinical competence of practising nursing students' through OSCE	PG/NR/n=311	The findings revealed that 14% of the nurses had level four competence, which indicated that they could perform the tasks correctly and complete. However, 12% failed the OSCE, even though they had more than 10 years experience in nursing and post basic qualifications
Rush et al. (2012) UK	Qualitative	To implement a peer assessment scheme for clinical skills within a skills laboratory and the link between peer assessment and clinical skills development	UG/1 st year/n=NR	Students identified giving and receiving peer feedback, reflection and working with peers in small groups as being particularly valuable in clinical skills learning. Increased confidence was also a dominant finding as was the value of repeated practice in a simulation setting on skills development

Solheim et al. (2017) Norway	Quantitative	To develop a tool for formative assessment with structured concepts for excellent practice of clinical skills to enhance students' learning process. To evaluate use of the formative assessment tool during clinical skills training using high-fidelity simulation	UG/1 st year/n=129	The tool provided a structure for self-assessment and made visible items that are important to be aware of in clinical skills
Unsworth et al. (2016) UK	Quantitative	To explore the discovery of discrepancy between the student's current and perceived optimal performance following participation in simulation exercises	UG/2 nd year/n=70	There was also a statistically significant difference in the scores following each simulation session suggesting improved performance
Uzellli Yilmaz and Sari (2021) Turkey	Quantitative - RCT	To examine the effect of simulation- based learning on IV therapy administration knowledge, performance and clinical assessment skills of first-year nursing students	UG/1 st year/n=62	There was a statistically significant difference between groups in terms of knowledge, IV catheter insertion performance in simulation and clinical assessment to classify IV therapy complications on real patients. Satisfaction and self-confidence scale scores were significantly higher. There was no significant difference in simulation design scale scores between the two groups
Watts et al. (2009) Canada	Qualitative	To pilot an approach to self- assessment using video taped self- assessment	UG/1 st year/n=86	Students overrated their performance and assessed themselves more favourably than faculty
Yildiz and Demiray (2022) Turkey	Quantitative	Investigate the use of virtual reality in nursing student training for intravenous catheterization and fluid delivery	UG/NR/n=52	It was found that virtual reality technology had a positive effect on students' achievement levels in developing intravenous catheterization and fluid delivery application skill

Appendix 7.1 Authorship Declaration



Office of Graduate Research Room 003, Registry Building Bedford Park, SA 5042 GPO Box 2100, Adelaide 5001 Australia Email: hdrexams@flinders.edu.au Phone: (08) 8201 3854 Websile: https://students.flinders.edu.au/my-course/hdr CRICOS Provider: 00114A

CO-AUTHORSHIP APPROVALS FOR HDR THESIS FOR EXAMINATIONS

In accordance with Clause 5, 7 and 8 in the <u>HDR Thesis Rules</u>, a student must sign a declaration that the thesis does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text or footnotes. There can be no exception to this rule.

- a. Publications or significant sections of publications (whether accepted, submitted or in manuscript form) arising out of work conducted during candidature may be included in the body of the thesis, or submitted as additional evidence as an appendix, on the following conditions:
 - they contribute to the overall theme of the work, are conceptually linked to the chapters before and after, and follow a logical sequence
 - II. they are formatted in the same way as the other chapters (i.e. not presented as reprints unless as an appendix), whether included as separate chapters or integrated into chapters
 - III. they are in the same typeface as the rest of the thesis (except for reprints included as an appendix)
 - IV. published and unpublished sections of a chapter are clearly differentiated with appropriate referencing or footnotes, and
 - V. unnecessary repetition in the general introduction and conclusion, and the introductions and conclusions of each published chapter, is avoided.
- b. Multi-author papers may be included within a thesis, provided:
 - I. the student is the primary author
 - there is a clear statement in prose for each publication at the front of each chapter, recording the percentage contribution of each author to the paper, from conceptualisation to realisation and documentation.
 - III. The publication adheres to Flinders <u>Research Publication, Authorship and Peer Review Policy</u>, and
 - IV. each of the other authors provides permission for use of their work to be included in the thesis on the form below.
- c. Papers where the student is not the primary author may be included within a thesis if a clear justification for the paper's inclusion is provided, including the circumstances relating to production of the paper and the student's position in the list of authors. However, it is preferable to include such papers as appendices, rather than in the main body of the thesis.

STUDENT DETAILS

Student Name	Bridget Henderson
Student ID	2082153
College	College of Nursing & Health Sciences
Degree	PhD
Title of Thesis	Developing nursing students' evaluative judgement: exploring the pedagogical concept in nursing education

CO-AUTHORSHIP APPROVALS FOR HDR THESIS EXAMINATION

PUBLICATION 4

This section is to be completed by the student and co-authors. If there are more than four co-authors (student plus 3 others), only the three co-authors with the most significant contributions are required to sign below.

Please note: A copy of this page will be provided to the Examiners.

Full Publication Details	Exploring student, academic and clinical educator perspective of feedback as a process to develop nursing students' evaluative judgement in clinical practice education: a qualitative study				
Section of thesis where publication is referred to	Chapter 6	o pages	s 159-194		
Student's contribution to the publication	80 75 75	_ % _ %	Research design Data collection and analysis Writing and editing		

Outline your (the student's) contribution to the publication:

Bridget Henderson contributed to the conceptualisation of the research questions and research design with input from the supervisory team. Bridget Henderson conducted the data collection and analysis. The supervisory team provided input into the data collection and analysis. Bridget Henderson completed the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors edited multiple revisions of the manuscript.

APPROVALS

By signing the section below, you confirm that the details above are an accurate record of the students contribution to the work.

Name of Co-Author 1	Lucy Lewis	Signed	Jesaus	Date	19/09/2024
Name of Co-Author 2	Lucy Chipchase	Signed	Unida Big	Date	20/09/2024
Name of Co-Author 3	Robyn Aitken	Signed	200)	Date	26/09/2024

Appendix 7.2 Ethics Approval



HUMAN ETHICS LOW RISK PANEL APPROVAL NOTICE

Dear Mrs Bridget Henderson,

The below proposed project has been approved on the basis of the information contained in the application and its attachments.

Project No:	5806
Project Title: method.	Fostering evaluative judgement and building an educational alliance: codesigning a clinical feedback
Chief Investigator:	Mrs Bridget Henderson
Approval Date:	21/12/2022
Expiry Date:	18/12/2023
Approved Co-Investigator/s:	Professor Lucy Lewis, Professor Lucy Chipchase,
Professor Robyn Aitken Supe	rvisory Panel: Professor Lucy Chipchase, Professor
Robyn Aitken, Professor Lucy	Lewis Conditions of Approval: None

Please note: Due to COVID-19, researchers should try to avoid face-to-face testing where possible and consider undertaking alternative distance/online data or interview collection means. For further information, please go to <u>https://staff.flinders.edu.au/coronavirus-information</u>.

Please note: For all research projects wishing to recruit Flinders University students as participants, approval needs to be sought from the Office to the Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Students). To seek approval, please provide a copy of the Ethics approval for the project and a copy of the project application (including Participant Information and Consent Forms, advertising materials and questionnaires etc.) to the Office of the Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Students) via <u>dvcsoffice@dl.flinders.edu.au</u>.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF RESEARCHERS AND SUPERVISORS

Participant Documentation

Please note that it is the responsibility of researchers and supervisors, in the case of student projects, to ensure that:

- all participant documents are checked for spelling, grammatical, numbering and formatting errors. The Committee does not accept any responsibility for the above mentioned errors.
- the Flinders University logo is included on all participant documentation (e.g., letters of Introduction, information Sheets, consent forms, debriefing information and questionnaires – with the exception of purchased research tools) and the current Flinders University letterhead is included in the header of all letters of introduction. The Flinders University international logo/letterhead should be used and documentation should contain international dialing codes for all telephone and fax numbers listed for all research to be conducted overseas.

Annual Progress / Final Reports

In order to comply with the monitoring requirements of the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research 2007 (updated 2018) an annual progress report must be submitted each year on the approval anniversary date for the duration of the ethics approval using the HREC Annual/Final Report Form available online via the ResearchNow Ethics & Biosafety system. Please note that no data collection can be undertaken after the ethics approval expiry date listed at the top of this notice. If data is collected after expiry, it will not be covered in terms of ethics. It is the responsibility of the researcher to ensure that annual progress reports are submitted on time; and that no data is collected after ethics has expired.

If the project is completed before ethics approval has expired please ensure a final report is submitted immediately. If ethics approval for your project expires please either submit (1) a final report; or (2) an extension of time request (using the HREC Modification Form).

For student projects, the Low Risk Panel recommends that current ethics approval is maintained until a student's thesis has been submitted, assessed and finalised. This is to protect the student in the event that reviewers recommend that additional data be collected from participants.

3. Modifications to Project

Modifications to the project must not proceed until approval has been obtained from the Ethics Committee. Such proposed changes / modifications include:

change of project title;

change to research team (e.g., additions, removals, researchers and supervisors) changes to research objectives;

changes to research protocol;

changes to participant recruitment methods;

changes / additions to source(s) of participants;

changes of procedures used to seek informed consent; changes to reimbursements provided to participants;

changes to information / documents to be given to potential participants;

changes to research tools (e.g., survey, interview questions, focus group questions etc); extensions of time (i.e. to extend the period of ethics approval past current expiry date).

To notify the Committee of any proposed modifications to the project please submit a Modification Request Form available online via the ResearchNow Ethics & Biosafety system. Please note that extension of time requests should be submitted prior to the Ethics Approval Expiry Date listed on this notice.

4.Adverse Events and/or Complaints

Researchers should advise the Executive Officer of the Human Research Ethics Committee on at

human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au immediately if:

any complaints regarding the research are received;

a serious or unexpected adverse event occurs that effects participants;

an unforeseen event occurs that may affect the ethical acceptability of the project.

Yours sincerely, Camilla Dorian on behalf of

Human Ethics Low Risk Panel Research Development and Support human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au

Flinders University

Sturt Road, Bedford Park, South Australia, 5042 GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, South Australia, 5001 http://www.flinders.edu.au/research/researcher-support/ebi/human-ethics/human-ethics home.cfm

Appendix 7.3 Consent Form



CONSENT FORM - Academics and Clinical Educators

Fostering evaluative judgement and building an educational alliance: codesigning a clinical feedback method. Project number 5806

CONSENT FORM

Consent Statement

I have read and understood the information about the research, and I understand I am being
asked to provide informed consent to participate in this research study. I understand that I
can contact the research team if I have further questions about this research study.

- I am not aware of any condition that would prevent my participation, and I agree to participate in this project.
- I understand that I am free to withdraw at any time during the study.
- I understand that I can contact Flinders University's Research Ethics & Compliance Office if I have any complaints or reservations about the ethical conduct of this study.
- I understand that my involvement is confidential, and that the information collected may be published. I understand that I will not be identified in any research products.
- I understand that I will be unable to withdraw my data and information from this project. I also understand that this data <u>will be used</u> for this research study.

I further consent to:



PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

Title: Fostering evaluative judgement and building an educational alliance: codesigning a clinical

feedback method.

Chief Investigator

Bridget Henderson PhD Candidate Senior Lecturer College of Nursing and Health Sciences Flinders University Sturt Road, Bedford Park, South Australia, 5042 +61 8 8201 3254 E: bridget.henderson@flinders.edu.au

Primary Supervisor

Professor Lucy Lewis College of Nursing & Health Sciences Sturt Road, Bedford Park South Australia 5042 GPO Box 2100 Adelaide SA 5001 Tel: 08 7221 8261 E: <u>lucy.lewis@flinders.edu.au</u>

Supervisor

Professor Lucy Chipchase College of Nursing and Health Sciences Sturt Road, Bedford Park South Australia 5042 GPO Box 2100 Adelaide SA 5001 M: +61 412 133210 E: <u>lucy.chipchase@flinders.edu.au</u>

Supervisor

Professor Robyn Aitken College of Medicine and Public Health Health Sciences Building, Bedford Park SA 5042 GPO Box 2100 Adelaide SA 5001 Ph: +61 8201 8655 E: robyn.aitken@flinders.edu.au

Description

This project will investigate key stakeholders experience and ideas about how feedback is delivered to and received by students on their clinical practice. Also, to work with key stakeholders to explore a new method of delivering feedback that fosters an educational alliance and develop students' evaluative judgement. This project is supported by Flinders University College of Nursing and Health Sciences.

Purpose of the study

The aim of this study is to engage stakeholders to codesign a feedback method that provides nursing students with opportunities to self-evaluate and engage in a feedback dialogue to develop their evaluative judgement in clinical practice.

Benefits of the study

The sharing of your experience will help in the development, implementation, and evaluation of a method of delivering feedback to students who are on clinical placement or in clinical laboratories that supports the development of self-evaluation and creates a feedback dialogue

Participant involvement and potential risks

If you agree to participate in this research project you will be asked to complete an online questionnaire that will ask you questions about you, your experience of clinical education and feedback methods. Also, to engage in 2 (two hour long) workshops with other participants to review current feedback methods used in clinical education and working in groups to design a feedback method that helps to develop students' ability to self-evaluate their performance and engage in a feedback dialogue with their clinical educator. If you consent to participate the research team will send you an email with details of the time and venue of the workshops.

The researchers do not expect the online questions or participation in the workshops to cause any harm or discomfort to you. However, if you experience feelings of distress because of participation in this study, please let the research team know immediately. You can also contact the following services for support:

- Lifeline 13 11 14, www.lifeline.org.au
- Beyond Blue 1300 22 4636, www.beyondblue.org.au

Withdrawal Rights

You may decline to take part in this research study. If you decide to take part and later change your mind, you may, withdraw at any time without providing an explanation. To withdraw, please contact the Chief Investigator or you may leave the workshop and not participate in exercises at any time. Any data collected during the workshop may not be able to be destroyed, therefore, any data generated by you up to the point that you withdraw will be used in the research project.

Confidentiality and Privacy

Only researchers listed on this form have access to the individual information provided by you. Privacy and confidentiality will be assured at all times. The research outcomes may be presented at conferences, written up for publication or used for other research purposes. However, the privacy and confidentiality of individuals will be protected at all times. You will not be named, and your individual information will not be identifiable in any research products.

No data, including identifiable, non-identifiable and de-identified datasets, will be shared or used in future research projects without your explicit consent.

Data Storage

The information collected may be stored securely on a password protected computer and/or Flinders University server throughout the study. Any identifiable data will be de-identified for data storage purposes unless indicated otherwise. All data will be securely transferred to and stored at Flinders University for five years after publication of the results. Following the required data storage period, all data will be securely destroyed according to university protocols.

Recognition of Contribution / Time / Travel costs

If you would like to participate, in recognition of your contribution and participation time, you will be provided with a \$60.00 Coles/Myer voucher. After completing the online questionnaire and participating in both workshops. The voucher will be provided to you face-to-face by the workshop facilitator at the end of workshop 2. Light refreshment (tea, coffee) will be provided during the workshops.

How will I receive feedback?

On project completion, a short summary of the outcomes will be provided to all participants via email or published on Flinders University's website.

Ethics Committee Approval

The project has been approved by Flinders University's Human Research Ethics Committee Project number 5806

Queries and Concerns

Queries or concerns regarding the research can be directed to the research team. If you have any complaints or reservations about the ethical conduct of this study, you may contact the Flinders University's Research Ethics & Compliance Office team via telephone 08 8201 2543 or email <u>human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au</u>.

Thank you for taking the time to read this information sheet which is yours to keep. If you accept our invitation to be involved, please sign the Consent Form.